

Diagnosis, prevention and treatment in diabetic nephropathy - volume II

Edited by Federico Biscetti, Maria Margherita Rando and Vinod Tiwari

Published in Frontiers in Endocrinology Frontiers in Public Health





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-549-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-549-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Diagnosis, prevention and treatment in diabetic nephropathy - volume II

Topic editors

Federico Biscetti — Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy Maria Margherita Rando — Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy Vinod Tiwari — Indian Institute of Technology (BHU), India

Citation

Biscetti, F., Rando, M. M., Tiwari, V., eds. (2023). *Diagnosis, prevention and treatment in diabetic nephropathy - volume II.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-549-5



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Diagnosis, prevention and treatment in diabetic nephropathy, volume II

Andrea Leonardo Cecchini, Federico Biscetti, Maria Margherita Rando and Andrea Flex

08 Association of Serum 25 (OH) Vitamin D With Chronic Kidney Disease Progression in Type 2 Diabetes

Suyan Duan, Fang Lu, Buyun Wu, Chengning Zhang, Guangyan Nie, Lianqin Sun, Zhimin Huang, Honglei Guo, Bo Zhang, Changying Xing and Yanggang Yuan

21 Comparisons of the Relationships Between Multiple Lipid Indices and Diabetic Kidney Disease in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Study

> Chun-feng Lu, Wang-shu Liu, Zhen-hua Chen, Ling-yan Hua, Xue-qin Wang and Hai-yan Huang

28 REG1A and RUNX3 Are Potential Biomarkers for Predicting the Risk of Diabetic Kidney Disease

Xinyu Wang, Han Wu, Guangyan Yang, Jiaqing Xiang, Lijiao Xiong, Li Zhao, Tingfeng Liao, Xinyue Zhao, Lin Kang, Shu Yang and Zhen Liang

39 An overview of the efficacy and signaling pathways activated by stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in diabetic kidney disease

Yongda Lin, Qian Yang, Jiali Wang, Xiutian Chen, Yiping Liu and Tianbiao Zhou

- 50 The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equations perform less well in an older population with type 2 diabetes than their non-diabetic counterparts Shimin Jiang, Danyang Zhang and Wenge Li
- 59 Research progress on ferroptosis in diabetic kidney disease You Wu and Yan Chen
- 67 Urinary IL-18 is associated with arterial stiffness in patients with type 2 diabetes

Caifeng Shi, Aiqin He, Xiaomei Wu, Lulu Wang, Xueting Zhu, Lei Jiang, Junwei Yang and Yang Zhou

74 Diabetic kidney disease progression is associated with decreased lower-limb muscle mass and increased visceral fat area in T2DM patients

Xiaopu Lin, Zhenguo Chen, Haishan Huang, Jingyi Zhong and Lingling Xu

82 Development and internal validation of a risk model for hyperuricemia in diabetic kidney disease patients Guoging Huang, Mingcai Li, Yushan Mao and Yan Li

- 93 A systematic review and meta-analysis of gut microbiota in diabetic kidney disease: Comparisons with diabetes mellitus, non-diabetic kidney disease, and healthy individuals Shisheng Han, Min Chen, Pei Cheng, Zeng Zhang, Yan Lu, Yanqiu Xu and Yi Wang
- 107 Stratification of diabetic kidney diseases via data-independent acquisition proteomics-based analysis of human kidney tissue specimens Qinghua Huang, Xianming Fei, Zhaoxian Zhong, Jieru Zhou, Jianguang Gong, Yuan Chen, Yiwen Li and Xiaohong Wu

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Åke Sjöholm, Gävle Hospital, Sweden

*CORRESPONDENCE Federico Biscetti Maganetia federico.biscettia policlinicogemelli.it

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 11 January 2023 ACCEPTED 11 January 2023 PUBLISHED 19 January 2023

CITATION

Cecchini AL, Biscetti F, Rando MM and Flex A (2023) Editorial: Diagnosis, prevention and treatment in diabetic nephropathy, volume II. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1142285. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1142285

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cecchini, Biscetti, Rando and Flex. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Diagnosis, prevention and treatment in diabetic nephropathy, volume II

Andrea Leonardo Cecchini, Federico Biscetti*, Maria Margherita Rando and Andrea Flex

Cardiovascular Internal Medicine Unit, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli IRCCS, Roma, Italy

KEYWORDS

diabetes mellitus, diabetic nephropathy, chronic kidney disease, end stage kidney disease (ESKD), kidney

Editorial on the Research Topic

Diagnosis, prevention and treatment in diabetic nephropathy, volume II

The number of diabetic patients worldwide has more than tripled in the past two decades, and approximately one-third of people with diabetes mellitus (DM) eventually develop diabetic kidney disease (DKD), of which approximately 50% may progress to end-stage disease (ESRD). DKD is the most relevant microvascular complication of diabetes together with retinopathy and neuropathy. ESRD is associated with a high cardiovascular mortality rate, risk of hospitalization, and all-cause mortality in patients with diabetes and places a huge economic burden on patients and society. In addition, ESRD harms patients' psychological status due to disabling morbidity and a large amount of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs).

While the global spread of DKD and its consequences are certain, a full understanding of the pathophysiology, diagnosis, and treatment of this condition is still lacking.

So far, a combination of inflammation and insulin resistance was thought to be responsible for the development of DKD and its cardiovascular (CV) complications, including death. Furthermore, clinical assessment and traditional biomarkers (such as eGFR and proteinuria) have been considered convenient tools to suspect DKD and monitor CKD progression. While pathological sample analysis has remained the gold standard method for diagnosis. The introduction of a new panel of biomarkers into clinical practice has been hampered by the resulting poor accuracy and specificity achieved until now. Finally, comprehensive management of DKD-promoting risk factors has been considered the cornerstone recommendation of current CKD treatment guidelines in DM.

However, recently an increasing body of evidence is showing critical gaps and open questions about this interesting Research Topic, and these new findings could change our current certainties, particularly regarding the diagnosis and treatment of DKD. Nearly 50% of patients with type 2 DM in stage 3 chronic kidney disease (CKD) remain undiagnosed. Traditional biomarkers, considered solid tools for diagnosis, are lacking in terms of sensitivity and specificity and the limitations of their therapeutic and prognostic value significantly condition their role in clinical practice. Additionally, the renal puncture is not widely available due to its invasiveness. Furthermore, even when DKD is diagnosed, there is still no effective therapy, and the only treatment options for late-stage DKD include dialysis or

kidney transplantation, which are expensive and significantly increase personal and social burdens. Moreover, DKD displays such clinical heterogeneity that it increases the difficulty of treatment, and even considerable effort to control risk factors and manage blood glucose has limited efficacy in preventing DKD progression. Therefore, there is an urgent need for sensitive diagnostic tools to successfully identify people at risk for DKD, and effective preventive and therapeutic strategies to improve patient outcomes.

Fortunately, recent technological advancement and cost reductions for modern diagnostic tests can promisingly help clinicians obtain a timely diagnosis of DKD that can delay its progression to ESRD. Furthermore, new insights into the pathogenic mechanisms of DKD could provide more possible directions for new therapies for DKD.

A deep understanding of the pathogenic process behind the development of DKD could open up new disease-modifying therapies, and remarkable discoveries have recently emerged.

Prebiotics, probiotics, diet, and antibiotic use influence microbial composition. However, also DKD promotes dysbiosis, which has been shown to contribute to renal disease progression by activating intrarenal RAS, promoting inflammation and fibrosis through increased TMAO production, and worsening tubulointerstitial damage through regulation of cholesterol homeostasis. Han et al. were the first to comprehensively characterize the different bacterial compositions in DKD compared to non-DKD subjects. In particular, an enrichment of Hungatella and Escherichia genera and depletion of butyrate-producing bacteria was observed. This could be a new revealing pathogenic condition associated with developing DKD.

DKD promotes impairment of mechanisms regulating oxidative stress and Wu and Chen observed an increase in intracellular iron accumulation, glutathione depletion, and lipid peroxidation in patients with CKD and DM. This phenomenon is called ferroptosis and is defined as iron-dependent regulated cell death, which involves the regulation of genes and proteins.

UA is an independent, modifiable risk factor for chronic kidney disease and a cause of CV and non-CV complications in DKD. Huang et al. found that this "old new biomarker" can also accurately reflect abnormal glomerular and/or tubular function since approximately 90% of its excretion is due to the kidneys.

Lastly, lipid metabolism is known to cause CVD, but Lu et al. showed how new lipid biomarkers and lipid indices may be associated with an increased risk of DKD.

Diagnosis is an open challenge for DKD. An accurate estimation of the glomerular filtration rate is critical for diagnosis and is also crucial for the classification and management of patients with CKD. However, measuring glomerular filtration rate using clearance of inulin, technetium-99m-diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid, iohexol, or 125I-iothalamate is invasive, inconvenient, and expensive to use in daily practice.

Estimation of eGFR using equations (including those recommended in guidelines such as the CKD-EPIcr-cys equation) has limitations regarding accuracy in older adults and has shown significantly lower accuracy in individuals with diabetes than in the non-diabetic group. Specifically, Jiang et al. observed that CKD-EPIcr and CKD-EPIcys overestimated and underestimated GFR, respectively.

In recent years, technological progress has reduced the costs of highly innovative diagnostic techniques. For example, whole genome

transcriptome analysis has been used extensively in the field of DKD and could prove crucial in identifying a simplified panel of serum biomarkers that can predict the risk of developing DKD. Indeed, Wang et al. achieved high diagnostic efficacy with the combination of two markers. The expression of REG1A and RUNX3 was significantly increased in blood samples from DKD patients and may be a novel predictor of renal disease in DM.

Furthermore, proteomics-based analysis facilitated the identification of novel target proteins suitable for DKD diagnosis and progression. In particular, Huang et. al through pressure circulation technology and pulseDIA proteomic analysis identified additional sensitive markers for early detection of kidney disease from the blood and urine of diabetic patients with CKD. Specifically, the authors found that autophagy-related protein NBR1 was significantly upregulated in early and advanced DKD, while ATG4B and VPS37A were significantly downregulated with the progression of DKD.

Also traditional well-known biomarkers have also shown a promising new role in diagnosis. Lu et al. found that apolipoprotein A1 (Apo A1), apolipoprotein B (Apo B), and lipid ratios may be associated with the onset of DKD to support diagnosis using readily available, noninvasive biomarkers.

At present, treatment options for DKD are limited and progression to ESRD appears inevitable. However, new findings on the pathogenesis of DKD could lead to promising new therapies. For instance, Wu and Chen noted that treating the processes underlying ferroptosis by modulating intracellular signaling pathways or using iron-chelating agents could be a new treatment option to slow the progression of DKD.

Lin et al. studied extracellular vesicles (EVs). They observed their beneficial effects on kidney injury stemming from their antiapoptotic, anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and anti-fibrotic role and their ability to modulate podocyte autophagy.

Furthermore, statins appear to exert some sort of beneficial effect on kidney damage by reducing proteinuria along with their ability to protect diabetic patients from cardiovascular events. However, they fail to delay the progression of DKD. Thus, novel therapies targeting novel lipid biomarkers could be a potent treatment for DKD(4).

Finally, promising new ways to monitor DKD progression and stratify individual risk can significantly change patient outcomes.

Shi et al. found that urinary IL-18 is associated with impaired carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (cf-PWV), which is the current clinical gold standard measure of arterial stiffness and established cardiovascular risk marker in patients with T2D with DKD.

Interestingly, DKD affects body composition causing a gradual quantitative and qualitative deterioration of muscle mass. Therefore, sarcopenia is a common complication of DKD and worsens patient outcomes. Lin et al. observed a significant association between decreased rectus femoris cross-sectional area/increased visceral fat area and DKD progression, resulting in a promising and easily obtainable biomarker of prognosis.

Nutrition is confirmed to be one of the most relevant aspects to be investigated in our patients with chronic renal insufficiency. Indeed, as noted by Duan et al., T2DM patients with a reduced 25(OH) vitamin D level had worse renal function with an increased risk of DKD progression.

Finally, Huang et al. developed a new risk model that includes traditional risk factors that contribute to the early identification and prevention of complications in patients with DKD.

Overall, the published articles contribute to enriching current knowledge on the pathogenesis of DKD and the authors' innovative findings could answer the open questions regarding the need for sensitive diagnostic tools and effective therapeutic strategies. It is hoped that this is a promising step towards significantly improving the prognosis and outcomes of patients with DKD.

Author contributions

ALC, MMR, FB and AF wrote the article. FB and MMR participated as guest editors for manuscripts of the Research Topic, where they were not coauthors themselves. All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.



Association of Serum 25 (OH) Vitamin D With Chronic Kidney Disease Progression in Type 2 Diabetes

Suyan Duan[†], Fang Lu[†], Buyun Wu, Chengning Zhang, Guangyan Nie, Lianqin Sun, Zhimin Huang, Honglei Guo, Bo Zhang^{*†}, Changying Xing^{*†} and Yanggang Yuan^{*†}

Department of Nephrology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing Medical University,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nanjing, China

Maria Margherita Rando, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

William B. Grant, Sunlight Nutrition and Health Research Center, United States Conghui Guan, First Hospital of Lanzhou University, China

*Correspondence:

Yanggang Yuan ygyuan@njmu.edu.cn Bo Zhang zhangbo@jsph.org.cn Changying Xing cyxing62@126.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 27 April 2022 Accepted: 30 May 2022 Published: 30 June 2022

Citation:

Duan S, Lu F, Wu B, Zhang C, Nie G, Sun L, Huang Z, Guo H, Zhang B, Xing C and Yuan Y (2022) Association of Serum 25 (OH) Vitamin D With Chronic Kidney Disease Progression in Type 2 Diabetes. Front. Endocrinol. 13:929598. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.929598 **Objectives:** Growing evidence demonstrated that vitamin D levels had been linked to

Objectives: Growing evidence demonstrated that vitamin D levels had been linked to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and chronic kidney disease (CKD) in light of various extraskeletal effects. Therefore, the present study aimed to evaluate the association of 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] level with the clinicopathological features and CKD progression in T2DM.

Methods: A total of 182 patients with T2DM with CKD stages 1 through 4 (G1–G4) were retrospectively included. Identification of the serum 25(OH)D level associated with CKD progression was executed by Kaplan–Meier survival analysis and Cox proportional hazards models. We further performed sensitivity analyses with a time-weighted average (TWA) of the serum 25(OH)D level in 75 participants to reinforce the findings.

Results: The median serum 25(OH)D level was 26 (IQR, 14; 39) nmol/L in the study participants. Median follow-up time was 42 months, during which 70 (38%) patients confronted CKD progression. Cumulative kidney outcomes were significantly higher in the lowest tertile of the serum 25(OH)D level in Kaplan–Meier analyses (P < 0.001). Consistently, the analyses of Cox proportional hazards regression models indicated a significantly greater risk for CKD progression in the lowest tertile of the serum 25(OH)D level compared with the highest tertile of the serum 25(OH)D level (P = 0.03). These relationships remained robust with further sensitivity analysis of data with TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level, showing an independent association between lower TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level and an unfavorable renal outcome in patients with T2DM with CKD.

Conclusions: Our findings demonstrated that patients with T2DM with a decreased 25 (OH)D level had deteriorated renal function. Both lower levels of baseline and TWA of serum 25(OH)D were associated with an increased risk of CKD progression in patients with T2DM, which suggested that the long-term maintenance of optimal vitamin D levels from early in life might be associated with reduced future risk of CKD development in T2DM.

Keywords: 25-hydroxyvitamin D, type 2 diabetes mellitus, CKD progression, diabetic kidney disease, non-diabetic kidney disease

INTRODUCTION

The increasing prevalence of diabetes and its major microvascular complication, chronic kidney disease (CKD), has emerged globally as a substantial public health burden (1). The 10th edition of the International Diabetes Federation Atlas estimates that diabetes affected 537 million people in 2021 and is expected to reach 783 million by 2045, with the majority being type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Current data from the United States suggest that 37% of patients with diabetes were in coexistence with CKD stages 1 through 4 (G1-G4) and that 38% of end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) cases were on account of diabetes (2). In China, diabetes has been the primary cause of CKD since 2011, with an estimated 24.3 million diabetic patients living with CKD (3). Although significant progress has been made in the past three decades in the comprehensive treatment strategy, patients with T2DM remain at continuing high risk for progression of CKD, which is associated with increased cardiovascular complications, morbidity, and mortality (1, 2, 4). Individuals with T2DM plus superimposed CKD have been associated with approximately a three-fold increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and death than those with T2DM alone (5). Therefore, there is a compelling need to discover potential clinical indicators or prognostic factors to identify individuals at risk of CKD progression in T2DM who may benefit from early diagnosis and timely risk intervention in clinical practice.

As a pleiotropic steroid hormone, Vitamin D (VD) can exert various effects through binding to VD receptors (6). The primary function of VD is the regulation of calcium and phosphorus homeostasis to ensure adequate mineralization and bone growth (7). In addition, it plays a vital role in modulating cell proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation, inflammation response, immune function, and vascular and metabolic properties such as insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity (8-10). 25hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] is synthesized by 25-hydroxylase catalyzing VD, which is considered as the best indicator of VD status (11, 12). In recent years, lower serum 25(OH)D level has been implicated in the incidence of T2DM, which may rely on its association with impaired glucose and insulin metabolism (12, 13). More importantly, VD deficiency increases the risk of T2DM development and the incidence of its complication (14, 15). In particular, the prevalence of VD deficiency is very high in patients with CKD and the survival rates could be enhanced by active VD treatment (6, 16). A previous study reported that low 25(OH)D levels were associated with the development of ESKD (17). Nevertheless, it has not been fully elucidated about the relationship of the serum 25(OH)D level with kidney clinicopathologic features and renal outcomes in patients with T2DM. Furthermore, no literature has ever addressed the association between the time-weighted average (TWA) serum 25(OH)D level and CKD progression in patients with T2DM.

Hence, the current study set out to evaluate the significance of the serum 25(OH)D level for clinicopathological features and kidney progression, which was defined as a double increase in serum creatinine (D-Scr) from baseline values or occurrence of ESKD in T2DM with CKD. Further, to reinforce the point, the prospective association of TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level with the risk of CKD progression in T2DM was also investigated.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

A total of 254 patients with diabetes mellitus (T2DM) with kidney diseases from January 2011 to December 2020 at the renal department of The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University were retrospectively reviewed. Finally, 182 patients were included and categorized into two groups: 141 patients with biopsy-proven diabetic kidney disease (DKD) and 41 patients with biopsy-proven non-DKD (NDKD) (Figure 1). T2DM was diagnosed according to the American Diabetes Association (18). The inclusion criteria were all patients diagnosed with T2DM complicated with CKD, defined as abnormalities of kidney structure or function, present for ≥ 3 months by the Kidney Disease:Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Clinical Practice Guidelines. They had undergone renal biopsy pathological examination after excluding contraindications (19, 20). In addition, they should have intact information on the baseline serum 25(OH)D level. Exclusion criteria were as follows (1): advanced heart failure [the New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional classification III or IV]; (2) cirrhosis; (3) polycystic kidney disease; (4) other types of DM; (5) malignancies; (6) women with pregnancy; (7) acute inflammation or infections; (8) the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) \leq 15 ml/min/1.73 m²; and (9) patients with new-onset diabetes after transplantation and those who underwent renal replacement therapy before the biopsy. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University.

Clinical and Laboratory Parameters

The complete clinical and laboratory information of enrolled patients was collected at the time of renal biopsy, including age, gender, blood pressure, duration of diabetes, diabetic retinopathy, hypertension, body mass index (BMI), eGFR, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), serum creatinine (Scr), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), 25 (OH)D, serum albumin, serum calcium and phosphorus, fasting blood glucose (FBG), glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c), triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), parathyroid hormone (PTH), 24-h urinary calcium and phosphorus excretion, serum immunoglobulin A (IgA), serum immunoglobulin G (IgG), complement C3, complement C4, serum and urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NAGL), urinary N-acetyl-β-D glucosaminidase (uNAG), and retinol-binding protein (RBP).

Serum 25(OH)D measurements in the follow-up period were averaged into TWA serum 25(OH)D level for each patient. The TWA value was derived as an aggregate area under the curve divided by the cumulative time exposure for each patient. The area under the curve was measured as an integrated expression over time using a positive incremental



method, without imputation for missing time points. The calculated formula is as follows: TWA serum $25(OH)D = \{[(X_1 + X_2) (T_2 - T_1) + (X_2 + X_3) (T_3 - T_2) + ... + (X_{n-1} + X_n) (T_n - T_{n-1})]/[2 \times (T_n - T_1)]\}$, where T_n is nth time point and X_n is the serum 25(OH)D level at T_n (21).

The current medications of participants were also recorded, including blood pressure-lowering therapy [renin-angiotensinaldosterone system inhibitor (RAASi), β-blocker, diuretic and calcium-channel blocker (CCB), statins, insulin, and oral hypoglycemic agents]. The serum 25(OH)D level was determined by electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (Roche Diagnostic GmBH, Germany). According to the Endocrine Society clinical practice (ESC) guidelines (22) and the UK Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) (23), VD status was defined as follows: severely deficient for 25(OH)D <25 nmol/L, deficient for 25 nmol/L≤ 25(OH)D <50 nmol/L, insufficient for 50 nmol/L ≤25(OH)D <75 nmol/L, and sufficient for 25(OH)D ≥75 nmol/L. The Institute of Medicine (IOM) established serum VD values ≥ 50 nmol/L as sufficient, values between 30 and 50 nmol/L as insufficiency, and values <30 nmol/L as deficiency (24). eGFR was estimated using Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation (25). In addition, CKD stage was evaluated according to the K/DOQI guidelines.

Kidney Histopathology

Routine examination of every renal biopsy specimen was performed by light microscopy, electron microscopy, and immunofluorescence. Glomerular, tubulointerstitial, and vascular lesions were scored according to the DKD pathologic classification (26). The glomerular classifications were as follows: class I, glomerular basement membrane (GBM) thickening; class IIa, mild mesangial expansion; class IIb, severe mesangial expansion; class III, nodular sclerosis; and class IV, global glomerulosclerosis in >50% of glomeruli. Semi-quantitative scores for interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IFTA) were obtained according to the affected proportion of the tubulointerstitial compartment (0, none; 1, <25%; 2, 25%-50%; and 3, >50%), and the scale of interstitial inflammation (0, absent; 1, infiltration only in areas related to IFTA; and 2, infiltration in areas without IFTA). Scores for vascular lesions were based on large-vessel arteriosclerosis and arteriolar hyalinosis. Semi-quantitative rank for the intensity of IgG, IgA, IgM, complement 1q (C1q), C3, and C4 staining in each renal tissue section by direct immunofluorescence was classified into four categories (0, negative; 1, weak staining; 2, moderate staining; and 3, strong staining). Any scoring differences between two pathologists were repeatedly reviewed until a consensus was obtained.

Kidney Outcomes

The primary outcome was the composite kidney outcome, defined as a double increase in serum creatinine (D-Scr) from baseline values or the occurrence of ESKD. ESKD was defined as the initiation of maintenance dialysis or kidney transplantation. Patients who did not reach the endpoint were recorded using the information of their last follow-up visit. Survival time was calculated from the enrollment to the occurrence of the event or the last follow-up. Patient visits usually occurred at intervals of 3–6 months except for those with CKD stage 3 and stage 4 who were under close observation and followed at 1–3 months.

Statistical Analysis

We divided the study population into tertiles according to baseline serum 25(OH)D level. Data were presented as mean ± SD, median and interquartile range, or percentage. As appropriate, comparisons between groups were performed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), Kruskal-Wallis test, or $\chi 2$ test. Pearson's or Spearman correlations were calculated to characterize the associations between baseline characteristics and serum 25(OH)D level. Kaplan-Meier analysis and the log-rank test were used to assess renal survival differences among groups. Hazard ratios for the serum 25(OH)D level with CKD progression were estimated using Cox proportional hazards regression models with followup time. The assumption of proportionality was tested using Schoenfeld residuals and interaction terms with time for each exposure variable and covariate. In addition, multiple covariables were adjusted. In addition, we further performed sensitivity analyses with TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level in 75 participants to reinforce the findings. Kaplan–Meier analysis and Cox proportional hazards regression models were performed to evaluate the effect of TWA of the serum 25 (OH)D level on renal outcomes. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistics were done in IBM SPSS v.24.0 and R v.4.0.2.

RESULTS

Baseline Clinical and Pathologic Characteristics According to Tertiles of the Serum 25(OH)D Level

In total, 182 patients with T2DM with DKD (141, 78%) and NDKD (41, 22%) were enrolled in this study (Figure 1). During a median follow-up time of 42 months (IQR, 24; 62 months), 70 incident kidney outcomes were identified. The clinical characteristics of the cases divided into two groups according to the later development of renal endpoints were summarized in Table 1. The mean age was 52 ± 11 years old, and most were male (75%). CKD stages and pathological types were significantly distributed between the two groups (no incidence versus the incidence of renal endpoints, P < 0.001). Compared with patients without renal outcomes, significantly higher levels of systolic blood pressure, urinary protein, serum creatinine (Scr), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), total cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C, C3, C4, PTH, serum NAGL, urinary NAGL, and 24-h uNAG were observed in patients with D-Scr or development of ESKD, along with lower levels of eGFR, serum albumin, hemoglobin, 25(OH)D, and serum calcium. Moreover, RAASi and oral hypoglycemic agents were significantly more prevalent among patients without D-Scr or ESKD. Insulin, β-blocker, and CCB were used more in patients with D-Scr or ESKD.

The clinical characteristics of the study population according to tertiles of the serum 25(OH)D levels are presented in Table 2. The median serum 25(OH)D level was 26 (IQR, 14; 39) nmol/L in the study participants. During follow-up, the incidence of composite kidney outcomes in the lowest tertile was the highest among groups (P < 0.001), with 35 patients (58%) progressing to ESKD and four patients (6.7%) progressing to D-Scr from the time of renal biopsy. Consistently, kidney function was better when the serum 25(OH)D level was higher, wherein eGFR was significantly increased in the highest tierce, which had the lowest levels of Scr, BUN, and uric acid (all P < 0.05). In addition, blood pressure (including systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and mean arterial pressure), CKD stages, 24-h urinary protein, levels of TC, LDL-C, and urinary NAGL reduced, whereas levels of serum albumin, hemoglobin, serum calcium, and 24-h urinary calcium rose across the increasing tertile of serum 25(OH)D (all P < 0.05). Moreover, significant differences in the current use of RAASi, oral hypoglycemic agents, diuretic, and statins were observed among the tertiles at baseline (all P < 0.05).

In terms of pathological types, patients with DKD had significantly lower serum 25(OH)D levels than those with NDKD (P < 0.01, Wilcoxon test, Figure 2A). Moreover, there was a significant decrease in 25(OH)D at stage G1 relative to later CKD stages (G1 vs. G3a: P < 0.05; G1 vs. G3b: P < 0.01; G1 vs. G4: *P* < 0.05). Moreover, only eight (4.4%) patients and 15 (8.2%) patients showed sufficient (\geq 75 nmol/L) and insufficient 25(OH) D levels (50-75 nmol/L) according to the ESC guideline, with 12.6% exhibiting 25(OH)D sufficiency (\geq 50 nmol/L) according to the IOM guideline. The prevalence of VD deficiency (25-50 nmol/L) in patients with DKD was higher than that in patients with NDKD (51.5% vs. 31.7%), whereas VD severe deficiency (<25 nmol/L) ratios were similar between two groups (40% vs. 41.5%) in accordance with the ESC and SACN guidelines (Figure 2B). In addition, with the standard of IOM guideline, 64.5% of patients with DKD were at risk of deficiency relative to bone health (<30 nmol/L), higher than patients with NDKD (39%) (Figure 2C). Table 3 displays the baseline pathological features of the recruited study population, both overall and stratified by the serum 25(OH)D level. DKD was common in the lowest tertile, whereas NDKD in the highest. In addition, there were significant differences in the glomerular class of DKD, pathological classification of NDKD, and vascular lesion score among groups (all P < 0.05). Moreover, patients in the lowest tertile of serum 25(OH)D tended to have a greater proportion of glomerular IgM, C3, and C4 deposition, especially in DKD cases (all P < 0.05). On the other hand, those with the highest tertile of serum 25(OH)D tended to have stronger staining of glomerular IgA deposition, especially in NDKD cases (all P < 0.05).

Correlation Between the Serum 25(OH)D Level and Clinicopathological Characteristics

On further analyses by Spearman test (**Table 4**), the serum 25 (OH)D level was negatively correlated with proteinuria (r = -0.62, P < 0.001), Scr (r = -0.26, P < 0.001), BUN (r = -0.17, P = 0.02), TC (r = -0.48, P < 0.001), LDL-C (r = -0.46, P < 0.001), HDL-C

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics and laboratory data for all enrolled patients.

Parameter	Total (n = 182)	D-Scr or ESKD (n = 70)	No D-Scr and no ESKD (n = 112)	P-value
Age (years)	52 ± 11	49 ± 11	54 ± 11	0.005
Gender (male/female)	137/45	55/15	82/30	0.52
Duration of diabetes (years)	8.0 (3.0, 14.0)	9.0 (3.3, 14.5)	8.0 (2.0, 14.5)	0.73
Composite renal outcome (%)	70 (38)	70 (100)	O (O)	<0.001
Double of serum creatinine (%)	7 (3.8)	7 (10)	O (O)	<0.001
ESKD (%)	63 (35)	63 (90)	O (O)	<0.001
Comorbid disease				
CKD stage (1/2/3a/3b/4)	43/60/23/27/29	8/19/10/12/21	35/41/13/15/8	<0.001
DKD/NDKD (cases)	141/41	68/2	73/39	<0.001
Diabetic retinopathy (%)	45 (25)	21 (30)	24 (21)	0.26
Diabetic neuropathy (%)	13 (7.1)	7 (10.0)	6 (5.0)	0.38
Cardiovascular diseases (%)	17 (9.3)	2 (2.8)	15 (13.4)	0.03
Hypertension (%)	136 (75)	51 (73)	85 (76)	0.78
Clinical parameter	100 (10)	0.1 (1.0)		0110
Body mass index (kg/m2)	25 (23, 27)	25 (23, 27)	25 (23, 27)	0.42
SBP (mmHg)	140 (130, 157)	144 (133, 163)	139 (126, 154)	0.050
DBP (mmHg)	85 (74, 94)	85 (78, 95)	83 (74, 92)	0.20
Laboratory parameter	00 (11, 01)	00 (10, 00)	33 (11, 32)	0.20
Urinary protein (g/d)	2.9 (1.3, 7.0)	5.5 (2.9, 9.0)	2.0 (0.8, 5.8)	<0.001
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	65 (38, 88)	51 (28, 73)	72 (47, 97)	<0.001
BUN (mmol/L)	8.9 (6.5, 11.6)	6.6 (5.0, 9.0)	9.9 (7.5, 11.6)	<0.001
Scr (µmol/L)	108 (82, 171)	145 (100, 213)	97 (71, 133)	<0.001
Uric acid (mmol/L)	369 (316, 425)	388 (335, 442)	357 (315, 418)	0.08
()		30 ± 7.2		0.08
Serum albumin (g/L)	32 ± 7.9		33 ± 8.1	
ALP (U/L)	83 (61, 105)	88 (70, 105)	78 (59, 102)	0.28
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)	6.4 (4.8, 8.3)	6.9 (5.1, 8.3)	6.3 (4.6, 8.2)	0.32
Glycosylated hemoglobin (%)	7.1 (6.3, 8.1)	6.7 (6.2, 7.7)	7.2 (6.5, 8.6)	0.04
Triglyceride (mmol/L)	1.5 (1.1, 2.3)	1.7 (1.1, 2.3)	1.5 (1.1, 2.5)	0.70
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.0 (4.0, 6.0)	5.3 (4.4, 6.4)	4.8 (3.8, 5.9)	0.02
LDL-C (mmol/L)	3.2 (2.6, 3.9)	3.5 (2.8, 4.3)	3.1 (2.5, 3.7)	0.008
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.04 (0.87, 1.31)	1.10 (0.93, 1.43)	1.00 (0.85, 1.24)	0.04
Hemoglobin (g/L)	115 ± 23	106 ± 18	120 ± 24	< 0.001
IgA (g/L)	2.4 (1.8, 3.0)	2.4 (2.0, 3.0)	2.4 (1.7, 3.0)	0.44
IgG (g/L)	9.6 (7.6, 12)	9.5 (7.1, 11)	9.9 (7.7, 12)	0.28
C3 (g/L)	1.05 (0.95, 1.18)	1.06 (0.98, 1.21)	1.03 (0.90, 1.17)	0.04
C4 (g/L)	0.30 ± 0.10	0.31 ± 0.08	0.27 ± 0.09	0.02
PTH (pg/ml)	44 (27, 70)	49 (32, 82)	37 (24, 53)	0.01
25(OH)D (nmol/L)	26 (14, 39)	16 (10, 30)	32 (20, 46)	<0.001
Serum calcium (mmol/L)	2.13 (2.00, 2.23)	2.07 (1.96, 2.17)	2.16 (2.04, 2.27)	0.004
Serum phosphorus (mmol/L)	1.23 (1.12, 1.38)	1.26 (1.15, 1.42)	1.22 (1.12, 1.37)	0.37
24-h urinary calcium (mmol/d)	1.60 (0.88, 3.18)	1.47 (0.72, 2.66)	1.62 (0.94, 3.64)	0.24
24-h urinary phosphorus (mmol/d)	16.7 (12.3, 23.0)	16.5 (13.0, 19.6)	16.7 (11.6, 23.6)	0.86
Serum NAGL (ng/mL)	218 (141, 304)	243 (183, 414)	180 (126, 266)	0.003
Urinary NAGL (ng/mL)	53 (25, 92)	78 (25, 194)	25 (25, 71)	<0.001
24-h uNAG (U/L)	15 (10, 24)	20 (14, 28)	14 (9.3, 23)	0.002
RBP (mg/L) Medications	60 (43, 73)	66 (55, 84)	56 (40, 69)	0.002
	1/7 (01)	16 (66)	101 (00)	- 0.001
RAAS inhibitor (%)	147 (81)	46 (66)	101 (90)	< 0.001
Oral hypoglycemic agents (%)	90 (50)	24 (34)	66 (59) 70 (62)	0.002
Insulin (%)	129 (71)	59 (84)	70 (63)	0.003
β -blocker (%)	52 (29)	29 (41)	23 (21)	0.004
Diuretic (%)	21 (12)	8 (11)	13 (12)	1.00
CCB (%)	118 (65)	54 (77)	64 (57)	0.01
Statins (%)	78 (43)	27 (39)	51 (46)	0.44
Calcium supplements (%)	30 (16)	15 (21)	15 (13)	0.22

DKD, diabetic kidney disease; NDKD, non-diabetic kidney disease; D-Scr, doubling of serum creatinine level; ESKD, end-stage kidney disease; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; Scr, serum creatinine; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; IgA, immunoglobulin A; IgG, immunoglobulin G; C3, complement 3; C4, complement 4; 24-h UV, 24-h urinary volume; PTH, parathyroid hormone; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxy vitamin D; RAAS, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; CCB, calcium-channel blocker.

Data were presented as the mean ± standard, the median with interquartile range, or counts and percentages. A two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and presented in bold.

(r= -0.19, *P* = 0.01), PTH (r = -0.20, *P* = 0.02), serum phosphorus (r = -0.24, *P* = 0.008), serum C4 level (r = -0.17, *P* = 0.03), 24-h uNAG (r = -0.49, *P* < 0.001), CKD stage (r = -0.26, *P* < 0.001), and vascular lesion score (r = -0.16, *P* = 0.04), whereas it was

positively correlated with eGFR (r = 0.26, P < 0.001), serum albumin (r = 0.66, P < 0.001), serum calcium (r = 0.28, P = 0.002), serum IgG (r = 0.46, P < 0.001), 24-h urinary calcium (r = 0.28, P = 0.002), and 24-h urinary phosphorus (r = 0.24, P = 0.008).

TABLE 2 | Clinical characteristics and laboratory findings of all enrolled patients according to tertiles of vitamin D level.

Parameter	Tertiles of the serum 25(OH)D level (nmol/L)				
	T1 (≤17) (n = 60)	T2 (17-35) (n = 62)	T3 (>35) (n = 60)		
Age (years)	51 ± 12	52 ± 12	54 ± 9.7	0.32	
Gender (male/female)	45/15	45/17	47/13	0.79	
Comorbid disease					
CKD stage (1/2/3a/3b/4)	7/17/11/12/13	15/20/7/10/10	21/23/5/5/6	0.001	
Duration of diabetes (years)	8.5 (3.0, 14)	10 (4.3, 12)	7.0 (3.8, 15)	0.91	
Diabetic retinopathy (%)	19 (32)	15 (24)	11 (18)	0.25	
Diabetic neuropathy (%)	7 (12)	3 (4.8)	3 (5.0)	0.29	
Hypertension (%)	39 (65)	49 (79)	48 (80)	0.11	
Cardiovascular diseases (%)	1 (1.7)	8 (13)	8 (13)	0.04	
Clinical parameter					
BMI (kg/m ²)	25 (23, 27)	24 (23, 27)	26 (24, 28)	0.14	
SBP (mmHg)	146 (136, 167)	140 (127, 155)	135 (127, 145)	0.005	
DBP (mmHg)	87 (79, 99)	83 (72, 90)	81 (73, 93)	0.01	
MAP (mmHg)	109 ± 16	102 ± 14	101 ± 12	0.002	
Laboratory parameter					
Urinary protein excretion (g/d)	6.9 (4.7, 11)	2.9 (1.7, 5.6)	1.1 (0.31, 2.7)	<0.001	
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m²)	53 (32, 72)	66 (38, 87)	78 (55, 99)	0.001	
BUN (mmol/L)	9.3 (7.4, 12)	9.5 (6.5, 13)	7.7 (5.7, 11)	0.04	
Scr (µmol/L)	129 (101, 198)	108 (82, 171)	93 (71, 124)	0.001	
Uric acid (mmol/L)	350 (314, 415)	397 (347, 472)	351 (312, 417)	0.02	
Serum albumin (g/L)	26 ± 6.6	33 ± 6.1	38 ± 5.9	<0.001	
ALP (U/L)	88 (67, 106)	74 (61, 92)	87 (62, 100)	0.44	
Serum 25(OH)D (nmol/L)	10 (7.8, 14)	26 (22, 30)	47 (39, 60)	<0.001	
Serum calcium (mmol/L)	1.97 (1.89, 2.11)	2.15 (2.04, 2.21)	2.24 (2.15, 2.30)	<0.001	
Serum phosphorus (mmol/L)	1.22 (1.06, 1.38)	1.27 (1.15, 1.46)	1.19 (1.12, 1.34)	0.25	
24-h urinary calcium	0.99 (0.66, 2.24)	1.45 (0.86, 2.28)	2.41 (1.40, 4.36)	0.002	
(mmol/d)					
24-h urinary phosphorus	12.3 (9.0, 16.9)	17.9 (14.2, 23.9)	17.1 (13.2, 24.0)	0.001	
(mmol/d)					
FBG (mmol/L)	6.6 (5.1, 10)	6.2 (4.6, 8.2)	6.3 (4.7, 7.9)	0.44	
HbA1c (%)	6.8 (6.1, 8.1)	7.1 (6.5, 8.4)	7.1 (6.3, 8.0)	0.49	
TG (mmol/L)	1.7 (1.2, 2.6)	1.6 (1.3, 2.4)	1.4 (1.0, 2.1)	0.12	
TC (mmol/L)	5.7 (5.0, 7.1)	5.2 (4.2, 6.0)	4.1 (3.5, 4.9)	<0.001	
LDL-C (mmol/L)	3.8 (3.1, 4.9)	3.3 (2.7, 4.0)	2.6 (2.0, 3.2)	<0.001	
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.11 (0.97, 1.48)	0.99 (0.84, 1.24)	1.01 (0.86, 1.22)	0.02	
Hemoglobin (g/L)	105 ± 20	115 ± 23	123 ± 21	<0.001	
PTH (pg/mL)	57 (34, 100)	42 (28, 62)	36 (23, 46)	0.007	
Serum IgA (g/L)	2.5 (1.9, 3.1)	2.2 (1.7, 2.7)	2.5 (1.8, 3.1)	0.16	
Serum IgG (g/L)	7.5 (6.1, 9.9)	10 (7.8, 13)	11 (9.1, 14)	<0.001	
Serum C3 (g/L)	1.08 (0.98, 1.20)	1.03 (0.86, 1.13)	1.04 (0.94, 1.19)	0.10	
Serum C4 (g/L)	0.31 ± 0.09	0.26 ± 0.09	0.28 ± 0.08	0.01	
Serum NAGL (ng/mL)	228 (115, 390)	222 (171, 362)	159 (135, 250)	0.21	
Urinary NAGL (ng/mL)	95 (57, 190)	53 (25, 77)	25 (25, 38)	<0.001	
24-h uNAG (U/L)	22 (18, 36)	15 (10, 25)	12 (8.2, 17)	<0.001	
RBP (mg/L)	58 (44, 71)	62 (48, 76)	58 (41, 72)	0.57	
Medications	•				
RAAS inhibitor (%)	42 (70)	53 (86)	52 (87)	0.04	
Oral hypoglycemic agents (%)	17 (28)	34 (55)	39 (65)	<0.001	
Insulin (%)	47 (78)	45 (73)	37 (62)	0.12	
β-blocker (%)	22 (37)	17 (27)	13 (22)	0.19	
Diuretic (%)	13 (22)	5 (8.1)	3 (5.0)	0.01	
CCB (%)	44 (73)	38 (61)	36 (60)	0.24	
Statins (%)	30 (50)	30 (48)	18 (30)	0.048	
Calcium supplements (%)	13 (22)	12 (19)	5 (8.3)	0.11	

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Parameter	Tert	iol/L)	P-value	
	T1 (≤17) (n = 60)	T2 (17-35) (n = 62)	T3 (>35) (n = 60)	
Progression				
Composite renal outcome (%)	39 (65)	20 (32)	11 (18)	<0.001
D-Scr (%)	4 (6.7)	1 (1.6)	2 (3.3)	0.31
ESKD (%)	35 (58)	19 (31)	9 (15)	<0.001

CKD, chronic kidney disease; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; MAP = (systolic blood pressure+2×diastolic blood pressure)/3; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; Scr, serum creatinine; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxyvitamin D; FBG, fasting blood glucose; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; TG, triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; PTH, parathyroid hormone; IgA, immunoglobulin A; IgG, immunoglobulin G; C3, complement 3; C4, complement 4; NAGL, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin; uNAG, urinary N-acetyl-β-D glucosaminidase; RBP, retinol-binding protein; RAAS, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; CCB, calcium-channel blocker. D-Scr, doubling of serum creatinine level; ESKD, end-stage kidney disease. Data were presented as the mean ± standard, the median with interquartile range, or counts and percentages. A two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and presented in bold.



different stages of CKD, respectively. (**B**, **C**). Vitamin D status in all patients with DKD and NDKD, respectively. (**B**) Four categories according to the Endocrine Society clinical practice (ESC) guidelines and the UK Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN). (**C**) Three categories according to the Institute of Medicine (IOM). *P < 0.05 between all groups. **P < 0.01 between groups. DKD, diabetic kidney disease; NDKD, non-diabetic kidney disease; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxyvitamin D.

Effect of the Serum 25(OH)D Level on Kidney Outcomes

In the Kaplan-Meier survival analysis (Figure 3), the cumulative incidence of kidney outcomes decreased across increasing tertiles of serum 25(OH)D (P < 0.001), which suggested that patients with a lower serum 25(OH)D level had a worse kidney outcome. More specifically, in pairwise comparison using the Log-rank test, the P-value was 0.001 (the lowest vs. middle tertile), <0.001 (the lowest vs. highest tertile), and 0.008 (the middle vs. highest tertile), respectively. The association between the 25(OH)D level and risks for composite kidney outcomes were further determined by Cox proportional hazards regression model (Table 5). In unadjusted models, compared with the highest tertile, the risk of kidney outcomes was higher in the lowest tertile [HR, 6.3 (3.2, 12.4), P < 0.001] and also relatively higher in the middle tertile [HR, 2.6 (1.2, 5.4), P = 0.01] (model 1 in Table 5). After adjustment for baseline eGFR, we also observed a significantly greater risk for CKD progression in the lowest tertile of the serum 25(OH)D level [HR, 5.2 (2.5, 10.7), P < 0.001] compared with the highest tertile of the serum 25(OH)D level

(model 2 in **Table 5**). This increased risk remained in the lowest tierce, even after extensive adjustment for baseline age, gender, HbA1c, 24-h urinary protein, systolic blood pressure, use of RAASi, oral hypoglycemic agents, and insulin [HR, 3.2 (1.3, 7.8), P = 0.01, model 3 in **Table 5**, **Figure 4**].

Effect of TWA of the Serum 25(OH)D Level on Kidney Outcomes

Seventy-five patients received serum 25(OH)D measurements from two to nine times during follow-up. To substantiate our findings, we calculated the TWA of serum 25(OH)D in these 75 patients and further performed sensitivity analyses. We divided the patients into tertiles according to TWA of the serum 25(OH) D level (**Supplementary Tables 1, 2**). During a median follow-up time of 41 months (IQR, 24; 52 months), 31 outcome events occurred, including four events of D-Scr and 27 events of ESKD. Compared with the lowest tertile of TWA, Kaplan–Meier analyses demonstrated that the cumulative incidence of kidney outcomes was significantly lower in the highest tertile of TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level (P < 0.001) (**Figure 5**). In addition, we TABLE 3 | Pathological features of all enrolled patients according to tertiles of vitamin D level.

Pathological feature	Total (n = 182)	Tertiles	of the serum 25(OH)D leve	l (nmol/L)	P-value
		T1 (≤17) (n = 60)	T2 (17-35) (n = 62)	T3 (>35) (n = 60)	
DKD/NDKD (cases)	141/41	53/7	49/13	39/21	0.009
Glomerular class of DKD (I/IIa/IIb/III/IV)	0/12/33/73/23	0/1/10/35/7	0/4/9/25/11	0/7/14/13/5	0.01
Pathological					
classification of NDKD					
IgAN/MCD/FSGS/MN/LN/CGN (cases)	18/1/9/9/1/3	1/0/2/4/0/0	3/0/3/4/1/2	14/1/4/1/0/1	0.004
IFTA Score (0/1/2/3)	12/65/37/66	2/18/12/26	6/21/14/21	4/26/12/19	0.18
DKD subtype	6/40/34/61	2/14/12/25	2/13/14/20	2/13/8/16	0.74
NDKD subtype	6/25/3/5	0/4/0/1	4/8/0/1	2/13/3/3	0.14
Interstitial inflammation (0/1/2/3)	23/101/55/1	10/25/22/1	5/43/14/0	8/33/19/0	0.63
DKD subtype	17/79/44/1	8/24/20/1	4/33/12/0	5/22/12/0	0.65
NDKD subtype	6/22/11/0	2/1/2/0	1/10/2/0	3/11/7/0	0.80
Vascular lesion Score (0/1/2)	38/58/84	8/21/29	11/16/35	19/21/20	0.02
DKD subtype	13/44/84	5/19/29	2/12/35	6/13/20	0.08
NDKD subtype	25/14/0	3/2/0	9/4/0	13/8/0	0.89
Global sclerosis, %	25 (7.3, 42)	26 (13, 39)	22 (6.9, 50)	28 (11, 46)	0.74
DKD subtype	25 (9.6, 45)	25 (12, 39)	20 (6.9, 46)	30 (12, 46)	0.62
NDKD subtype	21 (0.0, 33)	32 (31, 43)	15 (6.7, 33)	20 (0.0, 33)	0.44
Glomerular IgG deposition (0/1/2/3)	119/45/9/6	34/17/6/1	40/16/2/3	45/12/1/2	0.16
DKD subtype	93/40/7/1	32/16/4/1	33/14/2/0	28/10/1/0	0.41
NDKD subtype	26/5/2/5	2/1/2/0	7/2/0/2	17/2/0/2	0.18
Glomerular IgM deposition (0/1/2/3)	39/31/42/67	6/8/13/31	17/12/9/23	16/11/20/13	0.002
DKD subtype	29/22/33/57	5/5/13/30	14/11/6/18	10/6/14/9	0.002
NDKD subtype	10/9/9/10	1/3/0/1	3/1/3/5	6/5/6/4	0.47
Glomerular IgA deposition (0/1/2/3)	103/32/19/25	34/14/6/4	41/5/10/5	28/13/3/16	0.046
DKD subtype	88/31/14/8	31/13/6/3	35/5/6/3	22/13/2/2	0.51
NDKD subtype	15/1/5/17	3/1/0/1	6/0/4/2	6/0/1/14	0.046
Glomerular C3 deposition (0/1/2/3)	93/17/16/53	19/8/6/25	38/5/5/13	36/4/5/15	0.002
DKD subtype	73/13/14/41	15/7/6/25	34/3/5/7	24/3/3/9	< 0.001
NDKD subtype	20/4/2/12	4/1/0/0	4/2/0/6	12/1/2/6	0.21
Glomerular C4 deposition (0/1/2/3)	136/18/13/12	39/6/6/7	45/10/3/3	52/2/4/2	0.04
DKD subtype	103/16/11/11	34/6/6/7	35/9/3/2	34/1/2/2	0.049
NDKD subtype	33/2/2/1/	5/0/0/0	10/1/0/1	18/1/2/0	0.64
Glomerular C1g deposition (0/1/2/3)	112/27/21/19	31/9/9/9	38/13/3/7	43/5/9/3	0.11
DKD subtype	87/19/18/17	27/8/9/9	34/7/2/6	26/4/7/2	0.10
NDKD subtype	25/8/3/2	4/1/0/0	4/6/1/1	17/1/2/1	0.04

DKD, diabetic kidney disease; NDKD, non-diabetic kidney disease; IgAN, IgA nephropathy; MCD, minimal change disease; FSGS, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis; MN, membranous nephropathy; LN, lupus nephritis; CGN, crescentic glomerulonephritis; IFTA, interstitial inflammation.

A two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and presented in bold.

created a Cox proportional hazards regression model with tertiles of TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level in the same manner as above. Patients in the lowest tertile of TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level were associated with a higher risk for CKD progression [HR, 9.5 (2.8, 32.7), P < 0.001, model 1 in **Table 6**] compared with those in the highest tertile. This association remained significant after adjustment for baseline eGFR in model 2 [HR, 8.6 (2.5, 30.1), P = 0.001 for the lowest tertile, model 2 in **Table 6**]. After adjustment for baseline age, gender, HbA1c, 24-h urinary protein, systolic blood pressure, use of RAASi, oral hypoglycemic agents, and insulin, the risk for kidney outcomes increased with the reduction of 25(OH)D level (P for trend = 0.02, model 3 in **Table 6**).

DISCUSSION

The current study was specifically powered on the serum 25(OH) D level and T2DM with CKD. The principal finding of this study

is that lower serum 25(OH)D level was significantly associated with an increased risk of CKD progression in patients with T2DM. This association was independent of other established important covariables, including baseline eGFR, age, HbA1c, 24-h urinary protein, blood pressure, use of RAASi, oral hypoglycemic agents, and insulin. In addition, these relationships remained robust with further sensitivity analysis of data with TWA of the serum 25(OH) D level, showing an independent association between lower TWA of the serum 25(OH)D level and an unfavorable kidney outcome in patients with T2DM with CKD.

Surveys conducted in Chinese cities among patients with T2DM reported the proportions of VD deficiency were about 62.7%–83.5% (27–29). In addition, VD deficiency may be a prominent element of CKD due to that reduced CYP27B1 activity in human renal PTECs inhibits the production of 1,25 (OH)2D and impairs the function of reabsorption of 25(OH)D (6, 30). Here, we reported 87.4% [25(OH)D <50 nmol/L], 40.4% [25 (OH)D <25 nmol/L], or 58.8% [25(OH)D <30 nmol/L] of patients with T2DM with CKD in Nanjing, which is located in eastern

TABLE 4 | Correlations between serum 25(OH)D and clinicopathological parameters.

Parameter	25(OH)D
	r	P-value
Clinical parameter		
Urinary protein excretion (g/d)	-0.62	<0.001
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m²)	0.26	<0.001
BUN (mmol/L)	-0.17	0.02
Scr (µmol/L)	-0.26	<0.001
Serum albumin (g/L)	0.66	<0.001
FBG (mmol/L)	-0.13	0.08
HbA1c (%)	-0.03	0.69
TG (mmol/L)	-0.15	0.05
TC(mmol/L)	-0.48	<0.001
LDL-C (mmol/L)	-0.46	<0.001
HDL-C (mmol/L)	-0.19	0.01
PTH(pg/mL)	-0.20	0.02
Serum calcium (mmol/L)	0.28	0.002
Serum phosphorus (mmol/L)	-0.24	0.008
Serum IgA (g/L)	-0.01	0.85
Serum IgG (g/L)	0.46	<0.001
Serum C3 (g/L)	-0.09	0.25
Serum C4 (g/L)	-0.17	0.03
Serum NAGL (ng/mL)	-0.08	0.40
Urinary NAGL (ng/mL)	-0.48	<0.001
24-h uNAG (U/L)	-0.49	<0.001
24-h urinary calcium	0.28	0.002
(mmol/d)		
24-h urinary phosphorus	0.24	0.008
(mmol/d)		
RBP (mg/L)	-0.003	0.97
CKD stage (1/2/3a/3b/4)	-0.26	<0.001
Pathological feature		
IFTA Score (0/1/2/3)	-0.12	0.13
Interstitial inflammation (0/1/2/3)	-0.03	0.65
Vascular lesion Score (0/1/2)	-0.16	0.04
Global sclerosis, %	0.04	0.63

DKD, diabetic kidney disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; Scr, serum creatinine; FBG, fasting blood glucose; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; TG, triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; IgA, immunoglobulin A; IgG, immunoglobulin G; C3, complement 3; C4, complement 4; NAGL, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin; uNAG, urinary N-acetyl-β-D glucosaminidase; RBP, retinol-binding protein; IFTA, interstitial inflammation.

A two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and presented in bold.

coastal China (latitude 31°–33°N), had VD deficiency according to those international guidelines. By dividing into pathological subgroups, up to 91.5% of patients with DKD were affected by VD deficiency and insufficiency, presenting decreased the serum 25(OH)D levels than those with NDKD. The findings suggested VD homeostasis might be related to the etiology and pathogenesis of DKD in patients with T2DM. The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) to assess people with diabetes demonstrated an independent association between VD deficiency and DKD (31). In addition, the insufficiency of VD is more serious when DKD is progressing (32).

Previous studies were mainly focused on T2DM population to explore the relationship of VD levels and the presence of DKD (12, 13, 28). Recent studies have indicated that hypovitaminosis D was associated with a higher risk of developing DKD in T2DM (15). The included population of our current study was patients with T2DM complicated with biopsy-proven CKD, which was allowed to assess the clinical and pathological features in strata of VD levels and better illustrate the relationship between the development of renal function through pre-dialysis stages with different levels of VD. More importantly, our data strongly suggest that in patients with T2DM complicated with CKD, lower serum 25(OH)D levels were associated with an increased risk of CKD progression. The findings are robust because we showed consistent results with baseline and time-updated patterns of 25(OH)D levels. Patients with both lower baseline and TWA of 25(OH)D levels were almost three times risk to CKD progression compared with those with higher 25(OH)D levels after adjustment for multiple risk factors. This is the first study in patients with T2DM with CKD highlighting TWA of 25 (OH)D levels, representing a sensitivity analysis that supports our primary hypothesis regarding the association between lower 25(OH)D levels and adverse kidney-related outcomes. These results might suggest that the long-term maintenance of optimal VD concentrations early in life has been associated with reduced future risk of CKD development in T2DM.

In the present study, we observed that 25(OH)D levels were positively correlated with serum calcium, 24-h urinary calcium and phosphorus excretion, whereas negatively correlated with PTH level and vascular lesion score. The VD endocrine system is



critical for human health. VD and its active metabolite are steroid hormones, contributing to regulating the metabolism of calcium and phosphate and playing a critical role in maintaining bone health (33). The best characterized features of CKD associated with VD deficiency are defects in mineral metabolism, including intestinal calcium absorption and renal phosphate excretion (34). Low serum 25(OH)D levels contribute to reduced 1,25(OH)2D levels by providing less substrate for conversion (35). Subsequently, lower 1,25(OH)2D levels reduce calcium absorption from the gastrointestinal tract, promoting PTH secretion, which is associated with abnormal bone remodeling and the propensity to vascular calcifications (30, 34). Therefore, in the present study, the 25(OH)D levels were positively associated with serum calcium and 24-h urinary calcium excretion, whereas negatively correlated with PTH level and vascular lesion score. In addition, VD, PTH, FGF 23, and klotho form a complex endocrine network to maintain phosphate homeostasis (34). Previous studies reported that active VD induces expression of the FGF23 and α -klotho genes to attenuate the pro-aging effects of hyperphosphatemia and maintain the plethora of anti-aging and pro-survival actions of renal and circulating klotho (34). Taken together, in T2D with CKD, low 25(OH)D levels may have a role in electrolyte imbalance and vascular lesions, which need further well-designed studies to elucidate the mutual relationship and their detailed molecular mechanisms.

Variable		P-value for trend		
	T1 (≤17) (n = 60)	T2 (17–35) (n = 62)	T3 (>35) (n = 60)	
Number of events, %	39 (65)	20 (32)	11 (18)	<0.001
Model 1 HR (95%CI)	6.3 (3.2, 12.4)	2.6 (1.2, 5.4)	1 [reference]	<0.001
P-value	<0.001	0.01		
Model 2 HR (95%CI)	5.2 (2.5, 10.7)	2.3 (1.1, 4.8)	1 [reference]	<0.001
P-value	<0.001	0.04		
Model 3 HR (95%CI)	3.2 (1.3, 7.8)	1.7 (0.8, 3.9)	1 [reference]	0.03
P-value	0.01	0.19		

TABLE 5 | Effect of serum 25(OH)D on renal outcomes

Hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals were derived from Cox proportional hazards regression models.

CKD, chronic kidney disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; RAAS, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; SBP, systolic blood pressure. Model 1: unadjusted.

Model 2: adjusted for eGFR.

Model 3: Model 2 plus age, gender, HbA1c, 24-h urinary protein, SBP, use of RAAS inhibitor, oral hypoglycemic agents, and insulin.

A two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and presented in bold.

Characteristics	HR(95%CI)	P-value		
Age(years)	1.0 [0.9, 1.0]	0.01	•	
Gender				
Female				
Male	1.1 [0.6, 2.1]	0.74	H + 1	
Systolic pressure				
≤140mmHg				
>140mmHg	1.1 [0.6, 2.0]	0.77	H + -1	
HbA1c(%)	1.2 [1.0, 1.3]	0.05	•	
Serum 25(OH)D				
>35nmol/L				
17-35nmol/L	1.7 [0.8, 3.9]	0.19	H +	
≤17nmol/L	3.2 [1.3, 7.8]	0.01	F • · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
eGFR				
≥45ml/min/1.73m2				
<45ml/min/1.73m2	1.5 [0.8, 2.6]	0.19	+++	
Proteinuria				
<3.5g/d				
≥3.5g/d	2.0 [1.0, 3.9]	0.04		
Use of RAAS inhibitor				
NO				
YES	0.9 [0.5, 1.7]	0.82	H +	
Use of Oral hypoglycemic agents				
NO				
YES	0.9 [0.5, 1.8]	0.82	H 4 -1	
Use of Insulin				
NO				
YES	1.3 [0.6, 2.8]	0.47	⊢ ●1	
			- 	٦

FIGURE 4 | Association of the serum 25(OH)D levels with HR of CKD progressions. Hazard ratios were adjusted for baseline age, gender, HbA1c, 24-h urinary protein, systolic blood pressure, use of RAASi, oral hypoglycemic agents, and insulin. eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; RAASi, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitor.



FIGURE 5 | Cumulative incidence of CKD progression in strata of tertiles of TWA of the serum 25(OH)D levels. Kaplan–Meier curves compare different strata of tertiles of TWA of the serum 25(OH)D levels in enrolled patients. TWA, time weighted average.

TABLE 6 | Effect of time weighted average of serum 25(OH)D on renal outcomes.

Variable		P-value for trend		
	T1 (≤22) (n = 25)	T2 (22–34) (n = 25)	T3 (>34) (n = 25)	
Number of events, %	39 (65)	20 (32)	11 (18)	<0.001
Model 1 HR (95%CI)	9.5 (2.8, 32.7)	3.2 (0.9, 11.8)	1 [reference]	<0.001
P-value	<0.001	0.08		
Model 2 HR (95%CI)	8.6 (2.5, 30.1)	2.5 (0.6, 9.7)	1 [reference]	<0.001
P-value	0.001	0.18		
Model 3 HR (95%CI)	3.7 (0.8, 17.4)	1.0 (0.2, 5.2)	1 [reference]	0.02
P-value	0.10	0.96		

Hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals were derived from Cox proportional hazards regression models.

TWA, time weighted average; CKD, chronic kidney disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; RAAS, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; HbAc1, glycosylated hemoglobin; SBP, systolic blood pressure.

Model 1: unadjusted.

Model 2: adjusted for eGFR.

Model 3: Model 2 plus age, gender, HbA1c, 24-h urinary protein, SBP, use of RAAS inhibitor, oral hypoglycemic agents, and insulin.

A two-tailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and presented in bold.

Several limitations of our study should be considered. First, the current study is observational in nature. It precludes conclusions concerning causality and cannot exclude the possibility of residual confounding. We conducted an additional multivariable logistic regression analysis with TWA of 25(OH)D levels to further ameliorate the imbalance in potential confounders. However, some bias inherent to retrospective studies may play. Second, this study was conducted in a single center, and the sample size was limited. Third, although serum and 24-h urinary calcium and phosphorus levels, PTH, and renin-angiotensin blocker were analyzed, other potential confounding factors affecting 25(OH) D levels were not included, such as outdoor exercise, sun exposure, nutritional status, seasonal alternation, dietary habits, and bone metabolism markers. In addition, direct measurement of free 25(OH)D and DBP were not routinely performed in clinical practice.

In conclusion, our data suggested that patients with T2DM with a decreased 25(OH)D level had deteriorated renal function. Both lower baseline and TWA of the serum 25(OH)D levels were associated with increased risk of CKD progression in patients with T2DM after adjusting numerous potential confounders, which suggested that the long-term maintenance of optimal VD levels from early in life might be associated with reduced future risk of CKD development in T2DM.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SD designed the research and contributed to the writing. FL analyzed the data and performed statistical analysis. BW, CZ, GN, LS, ZH, and HG reviewed the manuscript. CX and BZ conceived and coordinated the study and had responsibility for its final content. YY is the guarantor of this work who had complete access to all the data in the study and takes ultimate responsibility for the study design and integrity of data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 82170699 and 81870469 to YY and No. 82100767 to SD), the Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (BK20191075 to SD), "PRO•Run" Fund of the Nephrology Group of CEBM, Project of clinical capability improvement of the First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, the "333 Project" of Jiangsu Province, the Six Talent Peaks Project in Jiangsu Province (WSN-010 to YY), "Yiluqihang·Shenmingyuanyang" Medical Development and Scientific Research Fund Project on Kidney Diseases (SMYY20220301001 to YY), and the Priority Academic Program Development (PAPD) of Jiangsu Higher Education Institution.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2022. 929598/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Jin Q, Ma RCW. Metabolomics in Diabetes and Diabetic Complications: Insights From Epidemiological Studies. *Cells* (2021) 10(11):2832. doi: 10.3390/cells10112832
- Chaudhuri A, Ghanim H. Improving the Residual Risk of Renal and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Diabetic Kidney Disease: A Review of Pathophysiology, Mechanisms, and Evidence From Recent Trials. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2022) 24(3):365–76. doi: 10.1111/dom.14601
- Zhang L, Long J, Jiang W, Shi Y, He X, Zhou Z, et al. Trends in Chronic Kidney Disease in China. New Engl J Med (2016) 375(9):905–6. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc1602469
- Reutens AT. Epidemiology of Diabetic Kidney Disease. Med Clin North Am (2013) 97(1):1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2012.10.001
- Afkarian M, Sachs MC, Kestenbaum B, Hirsch IB, Tuttle KR, Himmelfarb J, et al. Kidney Disease and Increased Mortality Risk in Type 2 Diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24(2):302–8. doi: 10.1681/asn.2012070718
- Lei M, Liu Z. The Emerging Role of Vitamin D and Vitamin D Receptor in Diabetic Nephropathy. *Biomed Rest In* (2020) 2020:4137268. doi: 10.1155/ 2020/4137268
- Prietl B, Treiber G, Pieber TR, Amrein K. Vitamin D and Immune Function. Nutrients (2013) 5(7):2502–21. doi: 10.3390/nu5072502
- Bouillon R, Marcocci C, Carmeliet G, Bikle D, White JH, Dawson-Hughes B, et al. Skeletal and Extraskeletal Actions of Vitamin D: Current Evidence and Outstanding Questions. *Endocr Rev* (2019) 40(4):1109–51. doi: 10.1210/ er.2018-00126
- Sintov AC, Yarmolinsky L, Dahan A, Ben-Shabat S. Pharmacological Effects of Vitamin D and its Analogs: Recent Developments. *Drug Discovery Today* (2014) 19(11):1769–74. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2014.06.008
- Grammatiki M, Rapti E, Karras S, Ajjan RA, Kotsa K. Vitamin D and Diabetes Mellitus: Causal or Casual Association? *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2017) 18 (2):227–41. doi: 10.1007/s11154-016-9403-y
- 11. Borella E, Nesher G, Israeli E, Shoenfeld Y. Vitamin D: A New Anti-Infective Agent? *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2014) 1317:76–83. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12321
- Liang Q, Hu H, Wu H, Chen X, Wang W, Le Y, et al. A Nonlinear Relationship Between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Urine Albumin to Creatinine Ratio in Type 2 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Study in China. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2021) 14:2581–93. doi: 10.2147/dmso.s308390
- Hong SH, Kim YB, Choi HS, Jeong TD, Kim JT, Sung YA. Association of Vitamin D Deficiency With Diabetic Nephropathy. *Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 36(1):106–13. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2020.826
- Chiu KC, Chu A, Go VL, Saad MF. Hypovitaminosis D Is Associated With Insulin Resistance and Beta Cell Dysfunction. Am J Clin Nutr (2004) 79 (5):820–5. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/79.5.820
- Grammatiki M, Karras S, Kotsa K. The Role of Vitamin D in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Diabetes Mellitus: A Narrative Review. *Hormones (Athens)* (2019) 18(1):37–48. doi: 10.1007/s42000-018-0063-z
- Yang S, Li A, Wang J, Liu J, Han Y, Zhang W, et al. Vitamin D Receptor: A Novel Therapeutic Target for Kidney Diseases. *Curr Med Chem* (2018) 25 (27):3256–71. doi: 10.2174/0929867325666180214122352
- Melamed ML, Astor B, Michos ED, Hostetter TH, Powe NR, Muntner P. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels, Race, and the Progression of Kidney Disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20(12):2631–9. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2009030283
- Association AD. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2017 Abridged for Primary Care Providers. *Clin Diabetes* (2017) 35(1):5–26. doi: 10.2337/cd16-0067
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Glomerular Diseases Work Group. KDIGO 2021 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Glomerular Diseases. *Kidney Int* (2021) 100(4s):S1–276. doi: 10.1016/ j.kint.2021.05.021
- Rovin BH, Adler SG, Barratt J, Bridoux F, Burdge KA, Chan TM, et al. Executive Summary of the KDIGO 2021 Guideline for the Management of Glomerular Diseases. *Kidney Int* (2021) 100(4):753–79. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2021.05.015
- Panwar R, Tarvade S, Lanyon N, Saxena M, Bush D, Hardie M, et al. Relative Hypotension and Adverse Kidney-Related Outcomes Among Critically Ill Patients With Shock. A Multicenter, Prospective Cohort Study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2020) 202(10):1407–18. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201912-2316OC

- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96(7):1911–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0385
- Vitamin D and Health (2016). Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/sacn-vitamin-d-and-health-report.
- 24. AC Ross, CL Taylor, AL Yaktine, HB Del Valle eds. *Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D.* Washington (DC: The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health (2011).
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A New Equation to Estimate Glomerular Filtration Rate. Ann Internal Med (2009) 150(9):604–12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006
- Tervaert TW, Mooyaart AL, Amann K, Cohen AH, Cook HT, Drachenberg CB, et al. Pathologic Classification of Diabetic Nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2010) 21(4):556–63. doi: 10.1681/asn.2010010010
- Xiao Y, Wei L, Xiong X, Yang M, Sun L. Association Between Vitamin D Status and Diabetic Complications in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Cross-Sectional Study in Hunan China. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2020) 11:564738. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.564738
- Xie S, Huang L, Cao W, Hu Y, Sun H, Cao L, et al. Association Between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Diabetic Kidney Disease in Chinese Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *PLos One* (2019) 14(4):e0214728. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0214728
- Peng Y, Li LJ. Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Level and Diabetic Nephropathy in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Int Urol Nephrol* (2015) 47(6):983– 9. doi: 10.1007/s11255-015-0983-3
- Galuška D, Pácal L, Kaňková K. Pathophysiological Implication of Vitamin D in Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Blood Press Res* (2021) 46(2):152–61. doi: 10.1159/000514286
- 31. de Boer IH, Ioannou GN, Kestenbaum B, Brunzell JD, Weiss NS. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels and Albuminuria in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). Am J Kidney Dis (2007) 50 (1):69–77. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2007.04.015
- 32. Chokhandre MK, Mahmoud MI, Hakami T, Jafer M, Inamdar AS. Vitamin D & its Analogues in Type 2 Diabetic Nephropathy: A Systematic Review. *J Diabetes Metab Disord* (2015) 14:58. doi: 10.1186/s40200-015-0186-6
- Holick MF. The Vitamin D Deficiency Pandemic: Approaches for Diagnosis, Treatment and Prevention. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2017) 18(2):153–65. doi: 10.1007/s11154-017-9424-1
- Dusso AS, Bauerle KT, Bernal-Mizrachi C. Non-Classical Vitamin D Actions for Renal Protection. Front Med (Lausanne) (2021) 8:790513. doi: 10.3389/ fmed.2021.790513
- 35. Cozzolino M, Bernard L, Csomor PA. Active Vitamin D Increases the Risk of Hypercalcaemia in Non-Dialysis Chronic Kidney Disease Patients With Secondary Hyperparathyroidism: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin Kidney J* (2021) 14(11):2437–43. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfab091

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Duan, Lu, Wu, Zhang, Nie, Sun, Huang, Guo, Zhang, Xing and Yuan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Comparisons of the Relationships Between Multiple Lipid Indices and Diabetic Kidney Disease in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Federico Biscetti, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Hala Raslan, National Research Centre, Egypt Yaoming Xue, Southern Medical University, China

*Correspondence:

Chun-feng Lu lcf0413cwl1030@126.com Xue-qin Wang wangxueqin108@163.com Hai-yan Huang hy_huang7@126.com

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 03 March 2022 Accepted: 06 June 2022 Published: 06 July 2022

Citation:

Lu C-f, Liu W-s, Chen Z-h, Hua L-y, Wang X-q and Huang H-y (2022) Comparisons of the Relationships Between Multiple Lipid Indices and Diabetic Kidney Disease in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Study. Front. Endocrinol. 13:888599. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.888599 Chun-feng Lu^{1*†}, Wang-shu Liu^{1†}, Zhen-hua Chen^{2†}, Ling-yan Hua³, Xue-qin Wang^{1*} and Hai-yan Huang^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Affiliated Hospital 2 of Nantong University and First People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China, ² Department of Neurosurgery, Affiliated Hospital 2 of Nantong University and First People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China, ³ Department of Ophthalmology, Affiliated Hospital 2 of Nantong University and First People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China

Background: Dyslipidemia is a well-recognized risk factor for diabetic kidney disease (DKD) in patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D). Growing evidences have shown that compared with the traditional lipid parameters, some lipid ratios may provide additional information of lipid metabolism. Thus, the present study aimed to investigate which lipid index was most related to DKD.

Methods: This study was a cross-sectional study that enrolled patients with T2D from January 2021 to October 2021. Each participant was screened for DKD, and the diagnostic criterion for DKD is estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) < 60 ml/min/ 1.73 m^2 or urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (UACR) \geq 30 mg/g for 3 months. Fasting blood was collected to determine lipid profiles by an automatic biochemical analyzer, and lipid ratios were calculated based on corresponding lipid parameters. Spearman's correlation analyses were conducted to assess the correlations between lipid indices and kidney injury indices, and binary logistic regression analyses were conducted to explore the relationship between lipid indices and the risk of DKD.

Results: A total of 936 patients with T2D were enrolled in the study, 144 (15.38%) of whom had DKD. The LDL-C/Apo B ratios were positively correlated with eGFR (r = 0.146, p < 0.05) and inversely correlated to cystatin C and UACR (r = -0.237 and -0.120, both p < 0.001). Multiple logistic regression demonstrated that even after adjusting for other clinical covariates, the LDL-C/Apo B ratios were negatively related to DKD, and the odds ratio (95% confidence interval) was 0.481 (0.275–0.843). Furthermore, subgroup analyses revealed that compared with patients with normal lipid profiles and a high LDL-C/Apo B ratio, the odds ratio of DKD in patients with normal lipid metabolism and a low LDL-C/Apo B ratio was 2.205 (1.136-4.280) after adjusting for other clinical covariates.

Conclusion: In patients with T2D, the LDL-c/Apo B ratio was most closely associated with DKD among various lipid indices, and a lower LDL-C/Apo B ratio was associated with increased risks of DKD among patients with T2D.

Keywords: type 2 diabetes, diabetic kidney disease, lipid indices, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol/ apolipoprotein B ratio, small dense low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

INTRODUCTION

As one of the major microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (T2D), diabetic kidney disease (DKD) affects about 20% of patients with T2D (1). The presence of DKD not only is susceptible to progress to end-stage renal disease requiring dialysis (2), but also significantly increases the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) (3), thus creating a great impaction on patients with T2D. An integrated approach should be taken for the prevention and control of DKD for the fact that DKD is a multifactorial disease. Among them, lipid metabolism disorder exerts key roles on the pathogenesis of DKD and functions as an important target for DKD prevention and treatment. Dyslipidemia in patients with T2D is typically characterized with high levels of triglyceride (TG) and lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and low level of highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) (4). Statins, the mainstay of current lipid-lowering drugs, reduce plasma levels of LDL-C and TG through inhibiting cholesterol synthase (5). However, although statins are recommended by all available guidelines and can reduce proteinuria and all-cause mortality, they fail to delay the progression of end-stage renal disease (6). Therefore, it is plausible that it is not fully to reflect the risk of DKD based on the traditional lipid indices, and it is desirable to search for new lipid-lowering therapeutic targets.

In recent years, growing evidences have shown that compared with the traditional lipid indices, apolipoprotein A1 (Apo A1), apolipoprotein B (Apo B) and lipid ratios may provide additional information of lipid metabolism. Apo A1 and Apo B are structural components of HDL-C and atherosclerotic lipoprotein respectively (7), thus the Apo B/Apo A1 ratio is a surrogate maker of the cholesterol balance between atherogenic and antiatherogenic lipoprotein particles. Multiple studies have demonstrated that the Apo B/Apo A1 ratio is closely associated with cardiac vulnerable plaques (8), and in-stent restenosis (9). Zhao et al. also revealed that a high level of Apo B/Apo A1 ratio can predict the progression of DKD (10). Moreover, the TG/ HDL-C ratio, HDL-C/Apo A1 ratio and LDL-C/Apo B ratio have drawn extensive attention. TG/HDL-C ratio is identified as an atherosclerosis index, and a longitudinal follow-up study showed that the TG/HDL-C ratio was a predictor of microvascular complications in patients with T2D (11). Other research has shown that the HDL-C/Apo A1 ratio and LDL-C/Apo B ratio are closely related to the deterioration of glycemia and the onset of T2D (12). In a word, these lipid indices may be more conducive to DKD risk stratification in patients with T2D, but few studies have focused on comparing the relationships between these parameters and DKD in patients with T2D. Therefore, the

present study was designed to explore which lipid index is optimal-related to DKD in patients with T2D.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

In this observational cross-sectional study, patients diagnosed with T2D according to the statement of the American Diabetes Association and screened for DKD were enrolled from the inpatient department of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Nantong University from January 2021 to October 2021 (13). The following cases were excluded: type 1 diabetes, secondary diabetes, previous and current malignant tumors, chronic hepatitis and heart failure, acute diabetic complications and other kidney diseases and urinary tract infection. Finally, 936 patients with T2D were included in the present study. After full understanding of the present study protocol, each subject signed written informed consent. The study was in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the medical research ethics committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Nantong University.

Basic Data Collection

At enrollment, all subjects completed a questionnaire with the assistance of experienced physicians to collect the demographic data, lifestyle, medication history and diagnosis history of diseases. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as the weight/ height squared. Blood pressure was measured by a standard mercury sphygmomanometer, and the average of three recordings was recorded.

Laboratory Examination and Calculation

After enrollment, fasting blood samples and fresh first-void morning urine samples were taken for measurement of laboratory parameters, urinary albumin and urinary creatinine, respectively. Lipid profiles and urinary creatinine were measured by an automated biochemical analyzer (Model 7600, Hitachi), and lipid ratios were calculated based on corresponding lipid parameters. Urinary albumin level was evaluated by the immunoturbidimetry method (Immage 800, Beckman Coulter). The algorithm of urinary albumin creatinine ratio (UACR) was the ratio of urinary albumin to urinary creatinine. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated based on the CKD-EPI creatinine-cystatin C equation (2012) (14). If a patient with T2D has an eGFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 m² or a UACR \geq 30

mg/g lasted for more than 3 months, a DKD diagnosis can be made (15).

Grouping Criteria

To explore the relationship between low LDL-C/Apo B ratio and the risk of DKD in T2D patients with normal lipid profiles, the total population was divided into A, B, C and D four groups according to lipid profiles and LDL-C/Apo B ratio. In our laboratory, the reference ranges of lipid metabolism parameters TG, TC, HDL-C and LDL-C were respectively 0.2 - 2.0 mmol/L, 2.9 - 6.0 mmol/L, 1.1 - 1.7 mmol/L and 1.55 - 3.35 mmol/L. Therefore, dyslipidemia was defined as any lipid parameter above the normal ranges described above. Then, a low or a high LDL-C/Apo B ratio (2.8804). Ultimately, group A, B, C and D respectively represented normal lipid profile with a high LDL-C/ Apo B ratio, normal lipid profile with a low LDL-C/Apo B ratio, abnormal lipid profile with a high LDL-C/Apo B ratio, and abnormal lipid profile with a low LDL-C/Apo B ratio.

Statistical Analysis

The clinical characteristics of the participants grouped by DKD status were described by mean ± SD, median (25 and 75% interquartile) and frequencies (percentages) for the normally and skewed distributed continuous variables and the categorical variables, respectively. We adopted Student's t-test to compare differences in normally distributed data, the Mann-Whitney test to compare differences in skewed distributed data and the chisquare test to compare categorical data. Spearman's bivariate correlation analyses were conducted to analyze the correlations of multiple lipid indices with DKD indicators. As the LDL-C/ Apo B ratio was the only parameter related to DKD, multivariate logistic regression analyses were performed to investigate the impact of the LDL-C/Apo B ratio on DKD. Furthermore, the differences in the proportion and odds ratio (OR) were compared among group A, B, C and D by the chi-square test and multivariate logistic regression analyses. All analyses were performed using SPSS statistical software 18.0 (IBM SPSS Inc., USA). A value of p < 0.05 was defined as statistical significance.

RESULTS

Clinical Characteristics of the Study Participants

Among the recruited 936 T2D patients, patients combined with DKD accounted for 15.38%. As shown in **Table 1**, T2D patients with DKD had older ages, longer diabetic durations, higher systolic blood pressures, a higher prevalence of hypertension, higher prevalence of insulin, and statins users, higher blood urea nitrogen (BUN) levels, creatinine (Cr) levels, uric acid (UA) levels, cystatin C levels, UACR levels, lower eGFRs, and lower LDL-C/Apo B ratios (all p < 0.05) than T2D patients without DKD. There were no differences in proportion of males, BMI, diastolic blood pressures, uses of other antidiabetic treatments other than

insulin, HbA1c levels and lipid indices other than LDL-C/Apo B ratio between patients with and without DKD (p > 0.05).

Relationships Between Lipid Indices and Kidney Damage Indices in Patients With T2D

Table 2 shows that the LDL-C/Apo B ratio was positively correlated with eGFR (r = 0.146, p < 0.05), and negatively correlated with cystatin C levels and UACR (r = -0.237 and -0.120, both p < 0.05). Cystatin C levels were significantly correlated with HDL-C levels, Apo B levels, HDL-C/Apo A1 ratios and Apo B/Apo A1 ratios (r = -0.102, 0.074, 0.084, -0.129 and 0.116, respectively, all p < 0.05). UACR were positively correlated with TG levels and TG/HDL-C ratios (r = 0.127 and 0.123, both p < 0.05). However, there were no significant correlations between kidney damage indices and total cholesterol (TC) levels and Apo A1 levels (all p > 0.05).

Association of the LDL-C/Apo B Ratio With DKD in Patients With T2D

As the LDL-C/Apo B ratio was the only parameter correlated with all kidney damage indices, we thereby constructed multivariate logistic regression analyses to analyze the association between the LDL-C/Apo B ratio and DKD in patients with T2D. As illustrated in **Table 3**, DKD was significantly associated with the LDL-C/Apo B ratio [OR (95% CI), 0.560 (0.409-0.766)] in the basal unadjusted model 0. Even in the fully adjusted model 2, the LDL-C/Apo B ratio was still independently associated with DKD [OR (95% CI), 0.481 (0.275-0.843)].

Proportion and ORs of DKD Based on Subgroup Analyses

There were significant differences in the proportion of patients with DKD among Group A, B, C and D (8.7%, 21.3%, 12.8% and 19.7%, respectively, *p* for trend < 0.05). In **Table 4**, compared with Group A, the ORs of DKD in Group B, C and D were 2.850 (1.705-4.763), 1.557 (0.855-2.837) and 2.597 (1.538-4.385), respectively. After adjusting for other clinical factors, the ORs of DKD in Group B, C and D were 2.205 (1.136-4.280), 2.315 (1.078-4.974) and 3.513 (1.762-7.004) vs Group A, respectively (**Figure 1**).

DISCUSSION

In the current study, we evaluated the associations between multiple lipid indices with the risk of DKD in patients with T2D. We found that patients with DKD had a lower level of LDL-C/Apo B ratio than patients without DKD. The LDL-C/ Apo B ratio was significantly associated with eGFR, UACR and cystatin C. We also demonstrated that the LDL-C/Apo B ratio is independently related to the prevalence of DKD. Moreover, we revealed that even in patients with normal lipid profiles, a low level of LDL-C/Apo B ratio was relevant to an increased risk of DKD.

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics of the study participants.

Variables		T2D		<i>p</i> value	
	Total	Without DKD	With DKD		
n	936	792	144		
Age (years)	57.65 ± 13.60	55.59 ± 13.20	68.98 ± 9.65	<0.001	
Male, n (%)	533 (56.9)	458 (57.8)	75 (52.1)	0.202	
Diabetic duration (years)	6.0 (1.0-10.0)	5.0 (1.0-10.0)	10.0 (5.8-20.0)	< 0.001	
Smoking history, n (%)	85 (9.1)	68 (8.6)	17 (11.8)	0.210	
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.62 ± 3.94	25.63 ± 4.04	25.55 ± 3.36	0.842	
Hypertension, n (%)	345 (36.9)	260 (32.8)	85 (59.0)	<0.001	
SBP (mmHg)	134 (123-147)	132 (123-145)	142 (126-157)	<0.001	
DBP (mmHg)	81.37 ± 11.04	81.43 ± 10.50	81.08 ± 13.69	0.726	
Antidiabetic treatments					
Insulin treatment, n (%)	242 (25.9)	182 (23.0)	60 (41.7)	0.001	
Metformin, n (%)	415 (44.3)	350 (44.2)	65 (45.1)	0.856	
Acarbose, n (%)	82 (8.8)	68 (8.6)	14 (9.7)	0.632	
Insulin-secretagogues, n (%)	284 (30.3)	239 (30.2)	45 (31.3)	0.844	
Insulin-sensitisers, n (%)	77 (8.2)	64 (8.1)	13 (9.0)	0.741	
DPP-4 inhibitors, n (%)	44 (4.7)	35 (4.4)	9 (6.3)	0.389	
SGLT-2 inhibitors, n (%)	66 (7.1)	52 (6.6)	14 (9.7)	0.213	
Antihypertensive treatments	× ,				
CCB, n (%)	230 (24.6)	169 (21.4)	61 (42.4)	<0.001	
ARB, n (%)	188 (20.1)	145 (18.3)	43 (29.9)	0.002	
β-blockers, n (%)	45 (4.8)	26 (3.3)	19 (13.2)	<0.001	
Diuretics, n (%)	76 (8.1)	54 (6.8)	22 (15.3)	0.001	
Statins medications, n (%)	58 (6.2)	35 (4.4)	23 (16.0)	<0.001	
HbA1c (%)	9.32 ± 2.16	9.35 ± 2.14	9.14 ± 2.27	0.284	
BUN (mmol/L)	5.23 (4.32-6.62)	5.11 (4.20-6.26)	7.13 (5.32-9.16)	< 0.001	
Cr (umol/L)	56.0 (47.0-67.0)	54.0 (46.0-63.0)	86.0 (68.0-116.0)	<0.001	
Serum UA (umol/L)	301.0 (241.0-375.0)	290.5 (232.3-354.8)	380.0 (313.0-472.0)	<0.001	
Cystatin C (mg/L)	0.83 (0.67-1.02)	0.78 (0.64-0.93)	1.33 (1.15-1.65)	< 0.001	
eGFR (ml/min/1.73m ²)	102.93 ± 29.22	110.58 ± 23.22	58.60 ± 19.31	<0.001	
UACR (mg/g)	16.25 (8.10-47.65)	13.60 (7.70-31.98)	141.45 (24.15-897.55)	<0.001	
TG (mmol/L)	1.64 (1.07-2.67)	1.62 (1.06-2.59)	1.79 (1.14-2.83)	0.357	
TC (mmol/L)	4.34 (3.72-5.01)	4.36 (3.74-5.03)	4.27 (3.57-4.96)	0.121	
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.12 (0.95-1.31)	1.12 (0.96-1.31)	1.12 (0.92-1.30)	0.360	
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.73 ± 0.88	2.75 ± 0.86	2.61 ± 1.00	0.071	
Apo A1 (mmol/L)	1.06 (0.97-1.19)	1.07 (0.97-1.20)	1.05 (0.94-1.19)	0.115	
Apo B (mmol/L)	0.94 (0.75-1.09)	0.94 (0.75-1.09)	0.93 (0.77-1.07)	0.885	
TG/HDL-C (mmol/mmol)	1.44 (0.88-2.72)	1.43 (0.86-2.72)	1.59 (0.94-2.82)	0.239	
LDL-C/Apo B (mmol/mmol)	2.88 (2.56-3.3)	2.91 (2.59-3.34)	2.74 (2.38-3.08)	<0.001	
HDL-C/Apo A1 (mmol/mmol)	1.03 (0.93-1.13)	1.03 (0.93-1.13)	1.02 (0.92-1.12)	0.909	
Apo B/Apo A1 (mmol/mmol)	0.88 ± 0.27	0.87 ± 0.27	0.90 ± 0.29	0.204	

Normally distributed values in the table are given as the mean ± SD, skewed distributed values are given as the median (25 and 75% interquartiles), and categorical variables are given as frequency (percentage).

T2D, type 2 diabetes; DKD, diabetic kidney disease; BMI, body mass index; SBP/DBP, systolic/diastolic blood pressure; DPP-4 inhibitors, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors; SGLT-2 inhibitors, sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors; CCB, calcium channel blockers; ARB, angiotensin receptor blockers; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin A1c; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; Cr, creatinine; Serum UA, serum uric acid; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; UACR, urine albumin/creatinine ratio; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Apo A1, apolipoprotein A1; Apo B, apolipoprotein B.

Hyperlipidemia is a well-recognized risk factor for DKD in patients with T2D. Hyperlipidemia can facilitate apoptosis of podocytes, a specialized kidney epithelial cell, thus damaging the integrity of the glomerular filtration barrier and eventually causing the onset of proteinuria (16). In addition to podocytes, hyperlipidemia can also promote glomerulosclerosis, interstitial fibrosis and accelerate the progression of proteinuria by affecting glomerular endothelial cells and mesangial cells and promoting the accumulation of collagen and fibronectin (17). Renal tubular injury is a vital component of DKD, and even precedes the occurrence of glomerular injury (18). Hyperlipidemia can cause renal tubular injury when combined with proteinuria by the mechanism that albumin can act as a carrier of fatty acids and promote the deposition of fatty acids in kidney (19). Additionally, ectopic deposition of lipids in kidney can induce local oxidative stress and inflammation *via* generating excess adipokines and activating a variety of signaling pathways (20). The present study demonstrated that the LDL-C/Apo B ratio was closely related to the prevalence of DKD in patients with T2D.

There have been many studies focused on investigating the relationships between lipid indices and DKD, but there are discrepancies among these studies. In a 2.9 years follow-up study, high levels of TG and low levels of HDL-C at baseline, but not levels of LDL-C could predict the decline of renal function (21). Slightly different from the above study, Retnakaran R et al. showed that serum TG and LDL-C levels were predictors of proteinuria in

TABLE 2 | Relationships between lipid indices and kidney damage indices in patients with T2D.

Lipid indices	Cystatin C		UACR		eGFR	
	r	p value	r	<i>p</i> value	r	p value
TG	-0.150	0.668	0.127	<0.001	0.046	0.190
TC	-0.130	0.210	0.034	0.311	0.119	0.245
HDL-C	-0.102	0.004	-0.027	0.420	0.026	0.454
LDL-C	0.074	0.028	-0.032	0.347	-0.077	0.329
Apo A1	-0.043	0.227	0.015	0.669	0.025	0.483
Apo B	0.084	0.017	0.050	0.143	-0.013	0.718
TG/HDL-C	0.017	0.621	0.123	< 0.001	0.031	0.376
LDL-C/Apo B	-0.237	< 0.001	-0.120	< 0.001	0.146	< 0.001
HDL-C/Apo A1	-0.129	< 0.001	-0.045	0.191	0.051	0.152
Apo B/Apo A1	0.116	0.001	0.031	0.362	-0.039	0.267

r spearman's correlation coefficient

T2D, type 2 diabetes; UACR, urine albumin/creatinine ratio; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Apo A1, apolipoprotein A1; Apo B, apolipoprotein B.

TABLE 3 | Multivariate logistic regression analysis to identify the association of LDL-C/Apo B ratio with DKD.

Models	В	SE	Wald	p	OR	95% CI
Model 0	-0.580	0.160	13.193	<0.001	0.560	0.409-0.766
Model 1	-0.620	0.205	9.124	0.003	0.538	0.360-0.804
Model 2	-0.731	0.286	6.546	0.011	0.481	0.275-0.843

Model 0: unadjusted model.

Model 1: adjusted for age, male, diabetic duration, smoking history, BMI, hypertension, SBP, DBP.

Model 2: additionally adjusted for HbA1c, antidiabetic treatments, antihypertensive treatments, statins medications.

TABLE 4 | ORs (95% CIs) of DKD according to the four subgroups.

Variable	Group A	Group B	Group C	Group D	P value
LDL-C/Apo B ratio range	2.881-7.387	0.732-2.879	2.881-7.387	0.732-2.879	_
Number	289	240	179	228	-
DKD	25 (8.7)	51 (21.3)	23 (12.8)	45 (19.7)	< 0.001
Model 0	1-reference	2.850 (1.705-4.763)	1.557 (0.855-2.837)	2.597 (1.538-4.385)	< 0.001
Model 1	1-reference	2.190 (1.167-4.113)	2.235 (1.066-4.684)	3.743 (1.955-7.167)	0.001
Model 2	1-reference	2.205 (1.136-4.280)	2.315 (1.078-4.974)	3.513 (1.762-7.004)	0.005

Group A: normal lipid profile with a high LDL-C/Apo B ratio (> 2.880); Group B: normal lipid profile with a low LDL-C/Apo B ratio (< 2.880); Group C: abnormal lipid profile with a high LDL-C/Apo B ratio (> 2.880); Group D: abnormal lipid profile with a low LDL-C/Apo B ratio (< 2.880).

Model 0: unadjusted model.

Model 1: adjusted for age, male, diabetic duration, smoking history, BMI, hypertension, SBP, DBP.

Model 2: additionally adjusted for HbA1c, antidiabetic treatments, antihypertensive treatments, statins medications.

patients with T2D (22). In a longitudinal study involving a large Japanese population, the TG/HDL-C ratio was positively associated



with the increase of proteinuria and the decline of eGFR (23). In contrast, no associations were observed between lipid indices and DKD or DKD markers in other studies (24-26). UACR, eGFR and cystatin C, respectively reflecting glomerular filtration barrier, glomerular filtration function and tubular function, all are important indicators of kidney function (27). In this study, we observed that both TG and TG/HDL-C ratio were only positively associated with UACR, while Apo B/Apo A1 ratio was only positively associated with cystatin C, which indicated that these lipid indices were insufficient to comprehensively assess renal injury in patients with T2D. These inconsistencies among these studies and our study may be attributed to differences in the included population, uses of statin. In this study, the LDL-C/Apo B ratio was significantly correlated with kidney injury indices, suggesting that LDL-C/Apo B ratio was most closely correlated with DKD among multiple lipid indices.

A review published in 2020 suggested that hyperlipidemia may promote atherosclerosis independent of LDL-C concentration, which may be partly attributed to the presence of small dense LDL-C (sd-LDL-C) (28). LDL-C is a group of apolipoproteins with greater heterogeneity, and LDL-C with small particle size and high density is named as sd-LDL-C (29). Methods such as nuclear magnetic resonance and hypervelocity centrifugation can be used to evaluate sd-LDL-C, but these methods are not suitable for clinical practice due to high costs and lengthy processes (30). The LDL-C/Apo B ratio widely used in clinical and research studies has been identified as a surrogate marker for sd-LDL-C, and the smaller the LDL-C/ Apo B ratio, the greater the proportion of sd-LDL-C (31). The present study found that even in patients with normal lipid profiles, having a low LDL-C/Apo B ratio significantly increased the risk of DKD in patients with T2D.

Compared with other LDL-Cs, less sd-LDL-Cs binding to LDL-C receptors result in sd-LDL-C staying in the circulation longer (32), and sd-LDL-Cs tend to be oxidized and modified to form oxidized LDL (33). Oxidized LDL, a marker of endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress, can be excessively uptaken by multiple types of kidney cells, thus promoting glomerulosclerosis and kidney fibrosis, eventually accelerating the process of DKD (34). In addition, macrophages can be attracted by oxidized LDL, chemotaxis and phagocytosis oxidized LDL to form foam cells. Subsequently, the accumulation of foam cells in renal arterioles aggravates local renal hemodynamic disorders (35). Sodiumglucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors are a novel class of hypoglycemic agents recommended for type 2 diabetic patients with DKD by a group of guidelines, and a clinical study showed that the use of SGLT2 inhibitors could significantly reduce the level of sd-LDL-C in patients with T2D (36). These results together suggested that a low LDL-C/Apo B ratio was an important risk factor and a potential target for DKD in patients with T2D.

This study had several limitations. First, as this study was a cross-sectional study, the causal relationship between the LDL-C/Apo B ratio and DKD could not be fully elucidated. Second, the LDL-C/Apo B ratio was a proxy for evaluating sd-LDL-C rather than the gold standard, but the large sample size of this study compensated for this deficiency. Third, the generalizability of this study was limited by that this study was based on a

REFERENCES

- Domingueti CP, Dusse LM, Carvalho Md, de Sousa LP, Gomes KB, Fernandes AP. Diabetes Mellitus: The Linkage Between Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, Hypercoagulability and Vascular Complications. J Diabetes Complications (2016) 30:738–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.12.018
- Hosny SS, Bekhet MM, Hebah HA, Mohamed NR. Urinary Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin in Type 2 Diabetes: Relation to Nephropathy and Retinopathy. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* (2018) 12:1019–24. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2018.06.017
- Adler AI, Stevens RJ, Manley SE, Bilous RW, Cull CA, Holman RR, et al. Development and Progression of Nephropathy in Type 2 Diabetes: The United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS 64). *Kidney Int* (2003) 63:225–32. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755

Chinese population. Therefore, longitudinal and intervention studies are needed to address the above limitations.

In summary, the LDL-C/Apo B ratio was closely associated with the risk of DKD, and a lower LDL-C/Apo B ratio might be a potent risk factor and therapeutic target for prevention and treatment of DKD in patients with T2D. Even in type 2 diabetic patients with normal lipid profile, the LDL-C/Apo B ratio should be routinely assessed.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The medical research ethics committee of Second Affiliated Hospital of Nantong University. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

C-FL and Z-HC participated in the design of the study, data collection, analysis of the data, and drafting of the manuscript. X-QW and H-YH conceived of the study, participated in its design and revised the manuscript. W-SL and L-YH participated in data collection. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

The study was supported by the Medical Research Project of Health Commission of Nantong (MB2020012, MA2020004) and the Science and Technology Support Program of Nantong (JCZ20127, JCZ21099, JC2020037).

- Taskinen MR. Diabetic Dyslipidaemia: From Basic Research to Clinical Practice. Diabetologia (2003) 46:733–49. doi: 10.1007/s00125-003-1111-y
- Bussolati B, Deregibus MC, Fonsato V, Doublier S, Spatola T, Procida S, et al. Statins Prevent Oxidized LDL-Induced Injury of Glomerular Podocytes by Activating the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/AKT-Signaling Pathway. J Am Soc Nephrol (2005) 16:1936–47. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2004080629
- Zhang Z, Wu P, Zhang J, Wang S, Zhang G. The Effect of Statins on Microalbuminuria, Proteinuria, Progression of Kidney Function, and All-Cause Mortality in Patients With non-End Stage Chronic Kidney Disease: A Meta-Analysis. *Pharmacol Res* (2016) 105:74–83. doi: 10.1016/ j.phrs.2016.01.005
- Gao L, Zhang Y, Wang X, Dong H. Association of Apolipoproteins A1 and B With Type 2 Diabetes and Fasting Blood Glucose: A Cross-Sectional Study. BMC Endocr Disord (2021) 21:59. doi: 10.1186/s12902-021-00726-5

- Deng F, Li D, Lei L, Yang Q, Li Q, Wang H, et al. Association Between Apolipoprotein B/A1 Ratio and Coronary Plaque Vulnerability in Patients With Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease: An Intravascular Optical Coherence Tomography Study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2021) 20:188. doi: 10.1186/s12933-021-01381-9
- Akutsu N, Hori K, Mizobuchi S, Ogaku A, Koyama Y, Fujito H, et al. Clinical Importance of the LDL-C/apolipoprotein B Ratio for Neointimal Formation After Everolimus-Eluting Stent Implantations. J Atheroscler Thromb (2022) 29:536–50. doi: 10.5551/jat.60954
- Zhao WB, Alberto P. Serum Apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1 Ratio is Associated With the Progression of Diabetic Kidney Disease to Renal Replacement Therapy. *Int Urol Nephrol* (2020) 52:1923–8. doi: 10.1007/ s11255-020-02550-7
- Zoppini G, Negri C, Stoico V, Casati S, Pichiri I, Bonora E. Triglyceride-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol is Associated With Microvascular Complications in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Metabolism* (2012) 61:22–9. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.05.004
- Fizelova M, Miilunpohja M, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Kuusisto J, Ala-Korpela M, et al. Associations of Multiple Lipoprotein and Apolipoprotein Measures With Worsening of Glycemia and Incident Type 2 Diabetes in 6607 non-Diabetic Finnish Men. *Atherosclerosis* (2015) 240:272–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2015.03.034
- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care (2013) 36 Suppl 1:S67–74. doi: 10.2337/dc13-S067
- Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, Eckfeldt JH, Feldman HI, Greene T, et al. Estimating Glomerular Filtration Rate From Serum Creatinine and Cystatin C. N Engl J Med (2012) 367:20–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114248
- Tuttle KR, Bakris GL, Bilous RW, Chiang JL, de Boer IH, Goldstein-Fuchs J, et al. Diabetic Kidney Disease: A Report From an ADA Consensus Conference. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37:2864–83. doi: 10.2337/dc14-1296
- Russo G, Piscitelli P, Giandalia A, Viazzi F, Pontremoli R, Fioretto P, et al. Atherogenic Dyslipidemia and Diabetic Nephropathy. J Nephrol (2020) 33:1001–8. doi: 10.1007/s40620-020-00739-8
- Chen X, Yin Q, Ma L, Fu P. The Role of Cholesterol Homeostasis in Diabetic Kidney Disease. Curr Med Chem (2021) 28:7413–26. doi: 10.2174/ 0929867328666210419132807
- Vijay S, Hamide A, Senthilkumar GP, Mehalingam V. Utility of Urinary Biomarkers as a Diagnostic Tool for Early Diabetic Nephropathy in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* (2018) 12:649–52. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2018.04.017
- Weinberg JM. Lipotoxicity. *Kidney Int* (2006) 70:1560-6. doi: 10.1038/ sj.ki.5001834
- Thongnak L, Pongchaidecha A, Lungkaphin A. Renal Lipid Metabolism and Lipotoxicity in Diabetes. Am J Med Sci (2020) 359:84–99. doi: 10.1016/ j.amjms.2019.11.004
- Muntner P, Coresh J, Smith JC, Eckfeldt J, Klag MJ. Plasma Lipids and Risk of Developing Renal Dysfunction: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. *Kidney Int* (2000) 58:293–301. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00165.x
- Retnakaran R, Cull CA, Thorne KI, Adler AI, Holman RRUKPDS Study Group. Risk Factors for Renal Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes: U.K. Prospective Diabetes Study 74. *Diabetes* (2006) 55:1832–9. doi: 10.2337/db05-1620
- 23. Tsuruya K, Yoshida H, Nagata M, Kitazono T, Iseki K, Iseki C, et al. Impact of the Triglycerides to High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Ratio on the Incidence and Progression of CKD: A Longitudinal Study in a Large Japanese Population. Am J Kidney Dis (2015) 66:972–83. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.05.011
- 24. Russo GT, De Cosmo S, Viazzi F, Pacilli A, Ceriello A, Genovese S, et al. Plasma Triglycerides and HDL-C Levels Predict the Development of Diabetic Kidney Disease in Subjects With Type 2 Diabetes: The AMD Annals Initiative. *Diabetes Care* (2016) 39:2278–87. doi: 10.2337/dc16-1246
- 25. Tu ST, Chang SJ, Chen JF, Tien KJ, Hsiao JY, Chen HC, et al. Prevention of Diabetic Nephropathy by Tight Target Control in an Asian Population With

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A 4-Year Prospective Analysis. Arch Intern Med (2010) 170:155–61. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.471

- Lin J, Hu FB, Mantzoros C, Curhan GC. Lipid and Inflammatory Biomarkers and Kidney Function Decline in Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetologia* (2010) 53:263– 7. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1597-z
- Öberg CM, Lindström M, Grubb A, Christensson A. Potential Relationship Between Egfr_{cystatin} _C/eGFR_{creatinine} -Ratio and Glomerular Basement Membrane Thickness in Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Physiol Rep* (2021) 9: e14939. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14939
- Mechanick JI, Farkouh ME, Newman JD, Garvey WT. Cardiometabolic-Based Chronic Disease, Adiposity and Dysglycemia Drivers: JACC State-Of-the-Art Review. Am Coll Cardiol (2020) 75:525–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.11.044
- 29. Koba S, Yokota Y, Hirano T, Ito Y, Ban Y, Tsunoda F, et al. The Small, Dense LDL Phenotype and the Risk of Coronary Heart Disease: Epidemiology, Patho-Physiology and Therapeutic Aspects. *Diabetes Metab* (1999) 25:199–211.
- Kaneva AM, Potolitsyna NN, Bojko ER. Usefulness of the LDL-C/apo B Ratio in the Overall Evaluation of Atherogenicity of Lipid Profile. Arch Physiol Biochem (2017) 123:16–22. doi: 10.1080/13813455.2016.1195411
- 31. Tani S, Saito Y, Anazawa T, Kawamata H, Furuya S, Takahashi H, et al. Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol/Apolipoprotein B Ratio may be a Useful Index That Differs in Statin-Treated Patients With and Without Coronary Artery Disease: A Case Control Study. *Int Heart J* (2011) 52:343–7. doi: 10.1536/ihj.52.343
- 32. Li G, Wu HK, Wu XW, Cao Z, Tu YC, Ma Y, et al. Small Dense Low Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol and Cholesterol Ratios to Predict Arterial Stiffness Progression in Normotensive Subjects Over a 5-Year Period. *Lipids Health Dis* (2018) 17:27. doi: 10.1186/s12944-018-0671-2
- Hirayama S, Miida T. Small Dense LDL: An Emerging Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Disease. *Clin Chim Acta* (2012) 414:215–24. doi: 10.1016/ j.cca.2012.09.010
- 34. Roumeliotis S, Georgianos PI, Roumeliotis A, Eleftheriadis T, Stamou A, Manolopoulos VG, et al. Oxidized LDL Modifies the Association Between Proteinuria and Deterioration of Kidney Function in Proteinuric Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Life (Basel)* (2021) 11:504. doi: 10.3390/life11060504
- 35. Yang Y, Xu P, Liu Y, Chen X, He Y, Feng J. Vascular Inflammation, Atherosclerosis, and Lipid Metabolism and the Occurrence of non-High Albuminuria Diabetic Kidney Disease: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Diabetes Vasc Dis Res* (2021) 18:1479164121992524. doi: 10.1177/1479164121992524
- 36. Hayashi T, Fukui T, Nakanishi N, Yamamoto S, Tomoyasu M, Osamura A, et al. Dapagliflozin Decreases Small Dense Low-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol and Increases High-Density Lipoprotein 2-Cholesterol in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: Comparison With Sitagliptin. Cardiovasc Diabetol (2017) 16:8. doi: 10.1186/s12933-016-0491-5

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lu, Liu, Chen, Hua, Wang and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



REG1A and RUNX3 Are Potential Biomarkers for Predicting the Risk of Diabetic Kidney Disease

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Federico Biscetti, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Chuanrui Ma, Tianjin University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, China Guobing Chen, Jinan University, China

*Correspondence:

Zhen Liang liang.zhen@szhospital.com Shu Yang yang.shu@szhosptial.com Lin Kang kang.lin@szhospital.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 May 2022 Accepted: 17 June 2022 Published: 22 July 2022

Citation:

Wang X, Wu H, Yang G, Xiang J, Xiong L, Zhao L, Liao T, Zhao X, Kang L, Yang S and Liang Z (2022) REG1A and RUNX3 Are Potential Biomarkers for Predicting the Risk of Diabetic Kidney Disease. Front. Endocrinol. 13:935796. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.935796 Xinyu Wang^{1†}, Han Wu^{2†}, Guangyan Yang^{1†}, Jiaqing Xiang¹, Lijiao Xiong¹, Li Zhao³, Tingfeng Liao¹, Xinyue Zhao⁴, Lin Kang^{1,5*}, Shu Yang^{1,6*} and Zhen Liang^{1,6*}

¹ Department of Geriatrics, The Second Clinical Medical College of Jinan University, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ² Department of Endocrinology, The Second Clinical Medical College of Jinan University, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ³ Department of Health Management, The Second Clinical Medical College of Jinan University, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ⁴ Department of Nephrology, The Second Clinical Medical College of Jinan University, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ⁵ The Biobank of National Innovation Center for Advanced Medical Devices, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ⁶ Shenzhen Clinical Research Center for Aging, Shenzhen, China

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is the leading cause of end-stage renal disease. Clinical features are traditionally used to predict DKD, yet with low diagnostic efficacy. Most of the recent biomarkers used to predict DKD are based on transcriptomics and metabolomics; however, they also should be used in combination with many other predictive indicators. The purpose of this study was thus to identify a simplified class of blood biomarkers capable of predicting the risk of developing DKD. The Gene Expression Omnibus database was screened for DKD biomarkers, and differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in human blood and kidney were identified via gene expression analysis and the Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator regression. A comparison of the area under the curve (AUC) profiles on multiple receiver operating characteristic curves of the DEGs in DKD and other renal diseases revealed that REG1A and RUNX3 had the highest specificity for DKD diagnosis. The AUCs of the combined expression of REG1A and RUNX3 in kidney (AUC = 0.929) and blood samples (AUC = 0.917) of DKD patients were similar to each other. The AUC of blood samples from DKD patients and healthy individuals obtained for external validation further demonstrated that REG1A combined with RUNX3 had significant diagnostic efficacy (AUC=0.948). REG1A and RUNX3 expression levels were found to be positively and negatively correlated with urinary albumin creatinine ratio and estimated glomerular filtration rate, respectively. Kaplan-Meier curves also revealed the potential of REG1A and RUNX3 for predicting the risk of DKD. In conclusion, REG1A and RUNX3 may serve as biomarkers for predicting the risk of developing DKD.

Keywords: diabetic kidney disease, biomarkers, diagnosis, gene expression omnibus, disease risk prediction

With the increasing incidence of diabetes mellitus (DM) worldwide, diabetic kidney disease (DKD) has become the leading cause of end-stage renal disease with a high mortality rate (1). Approximately one-quarter of people with DM end up developing DKD (2). DKD diagnosis is primarily based on renal pathology and/or clinical manifestations and involves the determination of glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) and urinary protein levels in addition to clinical features such as the duration of DM and the presence of diabetic retinopathy (3, 4). However, eGFR and albuminuria are deficient in terms of sensitivity and specificity, while renal puncture is not widely available due to its invasiveness. Therefore, markers associated with DKD risk need to be identified for successful diagnosis and prevention. A metaanalysis showed that urinary transferrin excretion rate was a good predictor of DKD occurrence (5). Kidney injury molecule 1 is a membrane protein expressed in the apical membrane of proximal tubule cells and is of great value in assessing the progression of DKD (6). After 12 years of follow-up in a cohort study of 628 patients with DM, plasma tumor necrosis factor levels were found to be associated with early decline in eGFR was strongly correlated (7). Older age, male sex, prolonged diabetes duration, hypertension, glycated hemoglobin levels (HbA_{1c}), and plasma triglyceride levels were identified as risk factors for proteinuria in patients with type 2 DM in a previous meta-analysis of 13 studies (8). Several biomarkers to assess DKD risk have been identified as a result of recent advancements in analytical techniques as well. Mayer et al. also identified nine serum markers associated with decreased GFR in Type 2 DM, including chitinase 3-like protein 1, growth hormone 1, hepatocyte growth factor, matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2), MMP7, MMP8, MMP13, tyrosine kinase, and tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 (9). The surrogate markers for micro- and macro-vascular hard endpoints for innovative diabetes tools study further identified five serum markers (fibroblast growth factor 21, symmetric-to-asymmetric dimethylarginine ratio, β2microglobulin, C16-acylcarnitine, and kidney injury molecule 1) with significant prediction potential for GFR decline in patients with type 2 DM (10). Although traditional clinical characteristics are easily determined, their prognostic value is limited. In general, serum biomarkers have a higher predictive efficacy than clinical characteristics; however, multiple biomarkers should be used in combination to achieve such efficacy. Simple biomarker combinations often lack specificity. Thus, widespread application of serum biomarkers is hindered.

Genome-wide transcriptome analysis has been widely used in the field of DKD to help gain insight into disease pathogenesis, molecular classification and identification of biomarkers (11). These gene expression matrices are included in the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database to facilitate integration and reanalysis by researchers. The goal of this study was to establish a simplified class of blood biomarkers for predicting the risk of DKD. The study flow is illustrated in **Figure 1**.



FIGURE 1 | Flowchart. DKD, diabetic kidney disease; CKD, Chronic kidney disease.

METHOD

Data Acquisition

We acquired gene expression profile datasets GSE30122 (11), GSE142153 (12), and GSE72326 (13) from the GEO database (14) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/), and performed gene ID and symbol conversions *via* Perl scripts (15). GSE30122 included kidney tissue from patients with pathologically confirmed DKD stage 4-5, with healthy kidney tissue as a control. GSE142153 incorporates peripheral blood from patients with a clinical diagnosis of DKD stages 3-5, with healthy human blood as a control. GSE142153 included peripheral blood from patients with confirmed CKD, with blood from people without kidney disease as a control.

Identification of Differentially Expressed Genes

R software (version 4.1.0, http://r-project.org/) was used for data analysis and plotting. The "limma" R package (16) was used to screen for DEGs, and heatmap and volcano plots of DEGs were constructed by the "ggplot2" package (17) to visualize the expression levels of DEGs. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Screening and Validation of Diagnostic Markers

The Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) method, as implemented in the "glmnet" software package, was used for reduction of data dimensionality and selection of predictive features for DKD patients (18, 19). The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve method is used for evaluation of diagnostic performance (20). The area under the curve (AUC) of ROCs of single or multiple factors was calculated using the " pROC" software package (21). Calibration curves were plotted using the "rms" software package to assess whether the predicted probability of the model approximated the true probability (22, 23).

Correlation of Diagnostic Markers With Clinical Characteristics

The "ggstatsplot" package was used to perform Spearman correlation analysis of diagnostic markers and clinical features (24), and the results were subsequently visualized using the "ggplot2" package.

Analysis of the Prognostic Potential of Identified Biomarkers

Kaplan-Meier (KM) curves were constructed using "survival" and "survminer" software packages to assess the probability of DKD occurring at specific time periods, and log-rank tests were used to determine differences between groups (25). The prognostic value of the diagnostic markers was assessed using univariate or multivariate Cox proportional hazards models.

Clinical Statistics

A total of 141 human blood samples from patients with DKD, DM (without DKD), and healthy individuals, were collected from the biospecimen bank of Shenzhen People's Hospital. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shenzhen People's Hospital. Data are expressed as mean plus/minus standard deviation (SD) or median and interquartile range for continuous variables and as percentages for categorical variables. The Mann-Whitney U-test or t-test was performed to compare the differences between the two groups depending on whether the data conformed to a normal distribution. Chi-square test was applied to compare frequencies. This work was approved by the Institutional Review Board and the Ethics Committee of the Shenzhen People's Hospital (No. LL-KT-2018338) and informed written consent was obtained from all participants.

Quantitative Real-Time PCR Analysis

Trizol (Invitrogen) was used to extract total RNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) according to manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription of RNA was performed using the RevertAid RT Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Quantitative PCR was performed using PowerUp SYBR Green Master Mix (Thermo Scientific). The results were standardized using GAPDH. qPCR was conducted using an ABI 7500 real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Fold-change was determined as $2-^{\triangle \triangle Ct}$ for gene expression. Gene-specific PCR primers are listed in **Table 1**.

RESULTS

Screening for DEGs Shared Across Blood and Kidney Samples

Figure 2 shows the screening process for DEGs shared across blood and kidney biopsy samples from patients with DKD. Using the healthy control samples (HC) as basis, 679 (GSE142153: HC, n=10, DKD, n=23) and 499 (GSE30122: HC, n=50, DKD, n=19) DEGs were identified in blood and kidney samples from patients with DKD, respectively. A total of 38 DEGs were found to be shared across blood and kidney biopsy samples from patients with DKD.

Screening for DEGs With Consistent Expression in DKD Blood and Kidney Samples

The LASSO logistic regression algorithm was used to further screen DEGs shared across blood samples from patients with DKD (GSE142153). A total of 16 DEGs were identified as diagnostic DKD markers (Figures 3A, B), including 5 and 11 down- and upregulated genes, respectively (Figure 3C). Two of these DEGs were down-regulated whereas 14 were upregulated in kidney biopsy samples from patients with DKD (GSE30122) (Figure 3D). Ultimately, nine DEGs with consistent expression profiles in blood and kidney biopsy samples from patients with DKD were identified: which included Alpha-2A adrenergic receptor (ADRA2A), C-C motif chemokine 5 (CCL5), cholesterol 25hydroxylase (CH25H), C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), hemoglobin subunit delta (HBD), hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 3 (HCAR3), lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 1 (LPCAT1), Lithostathine-1-alpha (REG1A), and Runt-related transcription factor 3 (RUNX3). The distribution of the expression profiles of these DEGs in the blood and kidney of DKD patients (Figures 3E, F) revealed that expressions of all of them were upregulated.

Screening for Diagnostic DEGs in DKD

Two blood transcriptome datasets were analyzed to determine DKD-specific DEGs for diagnosis. In the GSE142153 dataset, several DEGs (ADRA2A, CCL5, CH25H, CXCR4, HBD, HCAR3, LPCAT1, REG1A, and RUNX3) were found to have high diagnostic efficiency in blood samples (AUC > 0.70), except for CH25H (AUC =0.67) (Figure 4A). The GSE72326 dataset [lupus nephritis (LN), n=48; ANCA-associated nephritis, n=10; focal segmental sclerosis (FSGS), n = 3; IgA nephropathy (IgAN), n = 5; microscopic disease (MCD), n = 3] was used to validate the specificity of these DEGs for DKD diagnosis, except for HCAR3, which was excluded from the analysis as it was not found in the dataset. The diagnostic efficacies of eight DEGs in patients with LN were found to be relatively low (Figure 4B). CXCR4, LPCAT1, and HBD showed high diagnostic efficacy for ANCAassociated nephritis (Figure 4C). Significant diagnostic performance of CXCR4, CCL5, and HBD was observed for

Gene	Forward	Backward	
Homo RUNX3 (Gene ID: 864)	AGGCAATGACGAGAACTACTCC	CGAAGGTCGTTGAACCTGG	
Homo REG1A (Gene ID: 5967)	ACCAGCTCATACTTCATGCTGA	CCAGGTCTCACGGTCTTCAT	
Homo GAPDH (Gene ID: 2597)	GGAGCGAGATCCCTCCAAAAT	GGCTGTTGTCATACTTCTCATGG	

patients with FSGS (**Figure 4D**). *ADRA2A*, *LPCAT1*, and *HBD* showed high diagnostic efficacy for patients with IgAN (**Figure 4E**). *CH25H* and *HBD* showed good diagnostic efficacy in patients with MCD (**Figure 4F**). In summary, the transcription level of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* in blood samples may serve as DKD-specific predictors of disease development.

DKD Diagnosis Efficacy of *RUNX3* and *REG1A* in Blood and Kidney Samples

Expression levels of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* were found to be significantly increased in blood samples of patients with DKD (**Figures 5A, B**; GSE142153). The combined diagnostic efficacy of these genes was also high (AUC=0.917, 95% CI: 0.818-1) (**Figure 5C**). Similar results have been obtained from kidney samples from DKD patients as well (**Figures 5D, E**; GSE30122, AUC=0.929, 95% CI: 0.846-1, **Figure 5F**). These findings indicate that *REG1A* and *RUNX3* have diagnostic potential for DKD in blood as well as kidney.

Diagnostic Performance of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* in the Validation Set

A total of 141 blood samples from the human biospecimen bank of Shenzhen People's Hospital were used for qPCR analysis of *REG1A* and *RUNX3*. DKD (n = 50) and HC (n = 41) groups were included in the validation set (**Table 2**). The expression of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* were found to be significantly upregulated in the DKD group compared to those in the HC group (**Figures 6A, B**). The AUC for *REG1A* and *RUNX3* were found to be 0.912 and 0.859, respectively (**Figure 6C**). When *REG1A* and *RUNX3* were fitted as a single variable, the diagnostic efficiency was found to be 0.917 (**Figure 6C**) for the development set, and even higher for the validation set (AUC=0.948, 95% CI: 0.898-0.998) (**Figure 6D**), indicating that *REG1A* and *RUNX3* have high diagnostic value. A high degree of agreement was also found between the predicted and true values of the calibration curves in both development and validation sets (**Figures 6E, F**), indicating significant efficacy of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* for predicting DKD development.

Analysis of Correlation Between Identified DEGs and Clinical Characteristics

The DKD (n=50) and DM (without DKD) groups (n=50) in the validation set were used to analyze correlation between expression levels of diagnostic DEGs and clinical characteristics (**Table 3**). Expression levels of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* were found to be significantly higher in the DKD group than those in the DM group (**Figures 7A, B**). *REG1A* was found to be positively correlated with serum creatinine (SCr), C-peptide (C-P), HbA_{1C}, fasting blood glucose (FBG), and urinary albumin creatinine ratio (UACR) and negatively correlated with eGFR level (**Figure 7C**, **Supplementary Figure 1**). *RUNX3* was positively correlated with UACR and SCr and negatively correlated with eGFR level (**Figure 7D**, **Supplementary Figure 2**). *REG1A* and *RUNX3* expression levels were found to be positively correlated as well (r=0.3) (**Supplementary Figure 1G**).

KM Analysis of Diagnostic Markers and Clinical Characteristics

The KM method was used to analyze the probability of DKD occurrence in the corresponding time periods, and the variables included diagnostic DEGs and clinical characteristics. Using





FIGURE 3 | Screening for DEGs with Consistent Expression in DKD Blood and Kidney Samples. (A) LASSO coefficient profiles of the 38 features. A coefficient profile plot was produced against the log(λ) sequence. A vertical line was drawn at the value selected using five-fold cross-validation, where the optimal lambda resulted in 16 features with nonzero coefficients. (B) Optimal parameter (λ) selection in the LASSO model used five-fold cross-validation *via* minimum criteria. The partial likelihood deviance (binomial deviance) curve was plotted versus log(λ). Dotted vertical lines were drawn at the optimal values by using the minimum criteria and the 1 SE of the minimum criteria (the 1-SE criteria). (C, D) Expression of 16 DEGs in blood and kidney. Five DEGs that were consistently expressed in blood and kidney. (E) Distribution of these 5 DEGs in DKD blood samples. (F) Distribution of the 5 DEGs in the kidney of DKD. LASSO, least absolute shrinkage and selection operator; SE, standard error.

DKD as the endpoint event, variables associated with negative prognosis included *REG1A*, *RUNX3*, total cholesterol (TC), FBG, SCr, body mass index (BMI), and UACR, whereas elevated levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), age, and eGFR

indicated a positive prognosis (**Table 4** and **Supplementary Figure 3**). Combined analysis showed that patients with high expression of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* had the worst prognosis in all four groups (HR = 6.459) (**Figure 8**).







TABLE 2 | Baseline information on diagnostic markers and clinical characteristics in the validation cohort.

	Overall	HC	DKD	р
n	91	41	50	
Female	32 (35.2)	17 (41.5)	15 (30.0)	0.358
(%)				
Age	56.00 [52.00,	54.00 [52.00,	57.00 [52.00,	0.211
(years)	66.00]	61.00]	67.00]	
RUNX3	1.49 [1.00, 2.82]	1.07 [0.74, 1.38]	2.63 [1.58, 3.66]	< 0.001
REG1A	1.68 [0.94, 2.98]	0.96 [0.84, 1.09]	2.84 [2.02, 3.82]	< 0.001

Data are shown as mean (SD), median [25% quartile, 75% quartile] or numbers (percentages).



In the present study, we found that serum RUNX3 and REG1A have potential as diagnostic markers for DKD. Patients with DM who have elevated expression of both RUNX3 and REG1A will have a much higher risk of developing DKD at about 10 years into the disease. Compared to existing studies of diagnostic markers for DKD (26, 27), we have achieved high diagnostic efficacy with the combination of only two markers. Importantly, the diagnostic efficacy of RUNX3 and REG1A in blood is not inferior to that of renal tissue, which facilitates their widespread use. RUNX3 and REG1A are more specific in the diagnosis of





	Overall	DM	DKD	р
				•
n	100	50	50	
Female (%)	30 (30.0)	15 (30.0)	15 (30.0)	1
Age (years)	57.65 (10.49)	56.40 (9.63)	58.90 (11.24)	0.235
Duration of DM	12.26 (6.59)	10.59 (5.53)	13.56 (7.10)	0.016
(years)				
BMI (kg/cm ²)	24.10 (3.15)	24.13 (3.15)	24.06 (3.18)	0.916
FBG (mmol/L)	6.84 [5.54, 8.51]	6.68 [5.61, 8.44]	7.36 [5.46, 8.48]	0.743
C-P (ng/ml)	1.65 [0.89, 2.51]	1.65 [1.24, 2.30]	1.58 [0.67, 3.07]	0.986
HbA1c (%)	8.89 (2.09)	8.54 (1.96)	9.25 (2.17)	0.092
SCr (µmol/L)	80.50 [65.00, 131.25]	69.50 [60.25, 79.50]	131.50 [86.75, 181.00]	< 0.001
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	84.21 [47.02, 101.26]	98.13 [88.74, 104.92]	46.30 [32.20, 80.08]	< 0.001
UA (µmol/L)	375.22 (110.66)	343.68 (97.29)	406.76 (115.08)	0.004
UACR (mg/g)	120.12 [7.42, 1932.66]	7.40 [4.27, 16.40]	1951.62[1025.49, 2908.83]	< 0.001
TG (mmol/L)	1.40 [0.97, 2.16]	1.23 [0.92, 2.13]	1.45 [1.10, 2.17]	0.201
TC (mmol/L)	4.53 [3.62, 5.72]	4.28 [3.63, 5.47]	4.85 [3.68, 6.11]	0.222
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.07 [0.89, 1.21]	1.08 [0.93, 1.22]	1.05 [0.82, 1.21]	0.218
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.56 [1.85, 3.73]	2.54 [1.88, 3.45]	2.63 [1.85, 3.77]	0.563
RUNX3	1.58 (1.07)	1.00 (0.62)	2.18 (1.10)	< 0.001
REG1A	1.11 (0.47)	1.00 (0.41)	1.20 (0.49)	0.02

Data are shown as mean (SD), median [25% quartile, 75% quartile], or numbers (percentages). BMI, body mass index; FBG, fasting blood glucose; C-P, C-peptide; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin A1c; SCr, serum creatinine; eGFR, estimation of glomerular filtration rate; UA, uric acid; UACR, urine albumin creatinine ratio; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoproteins cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoproteins cholesterol.

DKD compared to markers such as urinary transferrin, urinary IgG and urinary type IV collagen (28).

RUNX transcription factors regulate various biological processes, including embryonic development, cell proliferation, differentiation, cell lineage determination, and apoptosis (29). *RUNX3* plays a downstream role in the TGF- β signalling pathway (30). Smyth et al. reported that *RUNX3* methylation is significantly increased in the blood of patients with DKD (31). In high glucose-treated renal tubular epithelial cells, RUNX3 was found to regulate the TGF- β 1/Smad signalling pathway (32).



FIGURE 7 | Expression of diagnostic markers and their correlation with clinical characteristics in the DKD and DM cohort. (A, B) Box plots showed significantly higher expression levels of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* (DKD vs. DM). (C) Correlation of *REG1A* and clinical characteristics. (D) Correlation of *RUNX3* and clinical characteristics. The size of the dots represents the correlation between genes and clinical characteristics; the color of the dots represents the p-value. *p <0.05, ***P <0.001.
Biomarkers for DKD Risk Prediction

TABLE 4 Univariate COX regression of diagnostic markers and clinical
characteristics.

Variable HR		lower 95%Cl	upper 95%Cl	p-value	
RUNX3	2.50	1.43	4.36	<0.001	
REG1A	2.97	1.35	4.17	0.003	
TC	1.93	1.11	3.39	0.022	
FBG	1.78	1.01	3.12	0.029	
SCr	2.44	1.40	4.25	0.001	
HDL-C	0.51	0.29	1.02	0.022	
Age	0.4	0.22	0.75	< 0.001	
eGFR	0.34	0.19	0.61	0.002	
BMI	1.84	1.02	3.31	0.019	
UACR	5.62	3.22	9.81	< 0.001	

BMI, body mass index; FBG, fasting blood glucose; SCr, serum creatinine; eGFR, estimation of glomerular filtration rate; UACR, urine albumin creatinine ratio; TC, total cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoproteins cholesterol. Showing variables with p-values <0.05.

Inhibition of Runx3 expression ameliorates vascular endothelial dysfunction in DM mice (33). In diabetic patients, RUNX3 was similarly found to be involved in diabetic endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction (34). High expression of RUNX3 may exacerbate diabetic vascular endotheliopathy and ultimately lead to DKD. The REG family proteins are structurally similar to each other, and classified as calcium-dependent lectins (35). The mainstream view is that *REG1A* is an indicator of islet β -cell apoptosis and its elevation indicates a decline in islet function (36). In contrast, Okamoto et al. found that REG1A stimulates islet regeneration by inducing cell proliferation (37). Sobajima et al. reported significantly increased urinary REG1A levels in patients with DKD (38). Li et al. found that REG1A levels are significantly upregulated in the serum of patients with DKD, and possibly associated with renal injury as well (39). The above suggests that REG1A level is associated with impairment of islet function and DKD renal function. The above suggests that REG1A level is associated with islet and DKD renal injury. Our study also found that serum *REG1A* was significantly and positively associated with renal and islet impairment, while serum *RUNX3* was only associated with renal impairment. Our study also found that serum *REG1A* was significantly elevated in DM, whereas *RUNX3* was unchanged (**Supplementary Figure 4**). We therefore speculate that *REG1A* causes diabetes by destroying islet cells, whereas *RUNX3* causes DKD by directly destroying vascular endothelial cells.

To assess the risk of DKD development, we plotted KM curves for REG1A, RUNX3 and the clinical characteristics. The results showed that people with high REG1A and RUNX3 expression are at an increased risk of DKD after approximately 12 and 8 years of DM, respectively. Our findings are consistent with the results of most previous studies (40-44), which revealed incresaed TC, FBG, SCr, BMI, and UACR levels as risk factors for DKD, and increased eGFR and HDL-C levels are protective factors for DKD. Contrary to previous findings (45), aging was found to be a protective factor against DKD in this study. Afkarian et al. reported that youth-onset type 2 DM patients may have a higher risk of DKD (46). Figure 8 shows the KM curves for different expression levels of REG1A and RUNX3. Accordingly, the risk of DKD was found to be highest when expression levels of both REG1A and RUNX3 are high compared to other groups. Compared to patients with low expression of both REG1A and RUNX3, DM patients with high expression of both genes are at a rapidly increasing risk of developing DKD after 7-8 years of DM. Hence, REG1A and RUNX3 are potential biomarkers for predicting the risk of developing DKD.

Limitation

In this study, when comparing the diagnostic efficacy of DEGs in chronic kidney disease (GSE72326), insufficient sample size may have led to unreliable results. We plan to continue collecting blood from patients with chronic kidney disease in subsequent



studies to determine the specificity of *RUNX3* and *REG1A* in the diagnosis of DKD. We have so far only found elevated *RUNX3* and *REG1A* at the transcriptional level in the kidney and subsequent collection of kidney tissue from DKD patients for immunohistochemistry and protein immunoblotting is required.

Conclusion

REG1A and *RUNX3* were found to have high diagnostic efficacy for DK, which was proven through external validation. *REG1A* and *RUNX3* levels were positively and negatively correlated with UACR and eGFR levels, respectively. Thus, the transcription levels of *REG1A* and *RUNX3* in blood samples have potential to predict DKD risk.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Shenzhen people's hospital. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

REFERENCES

- Molitch ME, Adler AI, Flyvbjerg A, Nelson RG, So WY, Wanner C, et al. Diabetic Kidney Disease: A Clinical Update From Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes. *Kidney Int* (2015) 87(1):20–30. doi: 10.1038/ki.2014.128
- Chan L, Nadkarni GN, Fleming F, McCullough JR, Connolly P, Mosoyan G, et al. Derivation and Validation of a Machine Learning Risk Score Using Biomarker and Electronic Patient Data to Predict Progression of Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Diabetologia* (2021) 64(7):1504–15. doi: 10.1007/s00125-021-05444-0
- American Diabetes Association.Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2016: Summary of Revisions. *Diabetes Care* (2016) 39 Suppl 1:S4–5. doi: 10.2337/ dc16-S003
- Tuttle KR, Bakris GL, Bilous RW, Chiang JL, de Boer IH, Goldstein-Fuchs J, et al. Diabetic Kidney Disease: A Report From an ADA Consensus Conference. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37(10):2864–83. doi: 10.2337/dc14-1296
- Hellemons ME, Kerschbaum J, Bakker SJ, Neuwirt H, Mayer B, Mayer G, et al. Validity of Biomarkers Predicting Onset or Progression of Nephropathy in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review. *Diabetes Med* (2012) 29 (5):567–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03437.x
- Coca SG, Nadkarni GN, Huang Y, Moledina DG, Rao V, Zhang J, et al. Plasma Biomarkers and Kidney Function Decline in Early and Established Diabetic Kidney Disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2017) 28(9):2786–93. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016101101
- Gohda T, Niewczas MA, Ficociello LH, Walker WH, Skupien J, Rosetti F, et al. Circulating TNF Receptors 1 and 2 Predict Stage 3 CKD in Type 1 Diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol (2012) 23(3):516–24. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2011060628
- Kar D, Gillies C, Nath M, Khunti K, Davies MJ, Seidu S, et al. Association of Smoking and Cardiometabolic Parameters With Albuminuria in People With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Acta Diabetol* (2019) 56(8):839–50. doi: 10.1007/s00592-019-01293-x

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XW, HW and GY contributed equally to this work. XW, GY, HW and JX contributed to the acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation of data. SY and XW drafted the work or revised it critically for important intellectual content. LX, LZ, TL, and XZ, and LK analyzed the data and revised the article critically for important intellectual content. ZL and SY contributed to the conception and the study design. All authors gave their approval of the version to be published. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Key Research and Development Program of China (2018YFC2001100); the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 82000824 to SY, No. 82171556 to LK, and No. 82170842 to ZL).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2022. 935796/full#supplementary-material

- Mayer G, Heerspink HJ, Aschauer C, Heinzel A, Heinze G, Kainz A, et al. Systems Biology-Derived Biomarkers to Predict Progression of Renal Function Decline in Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(3):391–7. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2202
- Looker HC, Colombo M, Hess S, Brosnan MJ, Farran B, Dalton RN, et al. Biomarkers of Rapid Chronic Kidney Disease Progression in Type 2 Diabetes. *Kidney Int* (2015) 88(4):888–96. doi: 10.1038/ki.2015.199
- Woroniecka KI, Park AS, Mohtat D, Thomas DB, Pullman JM, Susztak K., et al. Transcriptome Analysis of Human Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Diabetes* (2011) 60(9):2354–69. doi: 10.2337/db10-1181
- Sur S, Nguyen M, Boada P, Sigdel TK, Sollinger H, Sarwal MM. FcER1: A Novel Molecule Implicated in the Progression of Human Diabetic Kidney Disease. Front Immunol (2021) 12:769972. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.769972
- Jourde-Chiche N, Whalen E, Gondouin B, Speake C, Gersuk V, Dussol B, et al. Modular Transcriptional Repertoire Analyses Identify a Blood Neutrophil Signature as a Candidate Biomarker for Lupus Nephritis. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2017) 56(3):477–87. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kew439
- Barrett T, Suzek TO, Troup DB, Wilhite SE, Ngau WC, Ledoux P, et al. NCBI GEO: Mining Millions of Expression Profiles—Database and Tools. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2005) 33(suppl_1):D562–6. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki022
- 15. Patwardhan N, Siever E, Spainhour S, Perl. O'Reilly Media, Inc. (2002).
- Smyth GK. Limma: Linear Models for Microarray Data, in Bioinformatics and Computational Biology Solutions Using R and Bioconductor. (The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Melbourne Australia: Springer) (2005) p. 397–420.
- Wickham H. Ggplot2. Wiley Interdiscip reviews: Comput Stat (2011) 3 (2):180-5. doi: 10.1002/wics.147
- Ranstam J, Cook J. LASSO Regression. J Br Surg (2018) 105(10):1348–8. doi: 10.1002/bjs.10895
- 19. Hastie T, Qian J, Tay K. Package 'Glmnet'. CRAN R Repositary. (2021).
- Park SH, Goo JM, Jo CH. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve: Practical Review for Radiologists. *Korean J Radiol* (2004) 5(1):11–8. doi: 10.3348/kjr.2004.5.1.11

- Robin X, Turck N, Hainard A, Tiberti N, Lisacek F, Sanchez JC. Package 'Proc', Vol. 09 (University of Basel, Switzerland: Package 'pROC). (2021). p. 34, 2012-09-10.
- Kramer AA, Zimmerman JE. Assessing the Calibration of Mortality Benchmarks in Critical Care: The Hosmer-Lemeshow Test Revisited. Crit Care Med (2007) 35(9):2052–6. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000275267.64078.B0
- 23. Harrell FEJr., Harrell MFEJr., Hmisc D. Package 'rms. (America: Vanderbilt University) (2017). p. 229.
- 24. Tollefson M. Graphics with the ggplot2 Package: An Introduction. In: Visualizing Data in R 4. (Berkeley, CA: Apress) (2021).
- Rich JT, Neely JG, Paniello RC, Voelker CC, Nussenbaum B, Wang EW. A Practical Guide to Understanding Kaplan-Meier Curves. *Otolaryngology— Head Neck Surg* (2010) 143(3):331–6. doi: 10.1016/j.otohns.2010.05.007
- Bjornstad P, Pyle L, Cherney DZI, Johnson RJ, Sippl R, Wong R, et al. Plasma Biomarkers Improve Prediction of Diabetic Kidney Disease in Adults With Type 1 Diabetes Over a 12-Year Follow-Up: CACTI Study. Nephrol Dial Transplant (2018) 33(7):1189–96. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfx255
- Ng DP, Salim A, Liu Y, Zou L, Xu FG, Huang S, et al. A Metabolomic Study of Low Estimated GFR in non-Proteinuric Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetologia* (2012) 55(2):499–508. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2339-6
- Morita M, Hanai K, Uchigata Y. Urinary Type IV Collagen as a Predictor for the Incidence of Microalbuminuria in Young Patients With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Med* (2014) 31(2):213–8. doi: 10.1111/dme.12317
- 29. Ito Y, Bae SC, Chuang LS. The RUNX Family: Developmental Regulators in Cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2015) 15(2):81–95. doi: 10.1038/nrc3877
- Chen F, Liu X, Bai J, Pei D, Zheng J. The Emerging Role of RUNX3 in Cancer Metastasis (Review). Oncol Rep (2016) 35(3):1227–36. doi: 10.3892/ or.2015.4515
- 31. Smyth LJ, Kilner J, Nair V, Liu H, Brennan E, Kerr K, et al. Assessment of Differentially Methylated Loci in Individuals With End-Stage Kidney Disease Attributed to Diabetic Kidney Disease: An Exploratory Study. *Clin Epigenet* (2021) 13(1):99. doi: 10.1186/s13148-021-01081-x
- 32. Mou X, Zhou DY, Zhou D, Liu K, Chen LJ, Liu WH, et al. A Bioinformatics and Network Pharmacology Approach to the Mechanisms of Action of Shenxiao Decoction for the Treatment of Diabetic Nephropathy. *Phytomedicine* (2020) 69:153192. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2020.153192
- 33. Jin Q, Lin L, Zhao T, Yao X, Teng Y, Zhang D, et al. Overexpression of E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Cbl Attenuates Endothelial Dysfunction in Diabetes Mellitus by Inhibiting the JAK2/STAT4 Signaling and Runx3-Mediated H3k4me3. J Transl Med (2021) 19(1):469. doi: 10.1186/s12967-021-03069-w
- 34. Meng S, Cao J, Zhang X, Fan Y, Fang L, Wang C, et al. Downregulation of microRNA-130a Contributes to Endothelial Progenitor Cell Dysfunction in Diabetic Patients via its Target Runx3. PloS One (2013) 8(7):e68611. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068611
- 35. Zhu X, Dong B, Reding T, Peng Y, Lin H, Zhi M, et al. Association of Serum PSP/REG Iα With Renal Function in Pregnant Women. *BioMed Res Int* (2019) 2019:6970890. doi: 10.1155/2019/6970890
- 36. Bacon S, Kyithar MP, Schmid J, Rizvi SR, Bonner C, Graf R, et al. Serum Levels of Pancreatic Stone Protein (PSP)/reg1A as an Indicator of Beta-Cell Apoptosis Suggest an Increased Apoptosis Rate in Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor 1 Alpha (HNF1A-MODY) Carriers From the Third Decade of Life Onward. BMC Endocr Disord (2012) 12:13. doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-12-13

- 37. Okamoto H, Takasawa S. Recent Advances in the Okamoto Model: The CD38-Cyclic ADP-Ribose Signal System and the Regenerating Gene Protein (Reg)-Reg Receptor System in Beta-Cells. *Diabetes* (2002) 51 Suppl 3:S462–73. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.2007.s462
- Sobajima H, Niwa T, Shikano M, Naruse S, Kitagawa M, Nakae Y, et al. Urinary Excretion of Pancreatic Stone Protein in Diabetic Nephropathy. *Intern Med* (1998) 37(6):500–3. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.37.500
- Li L, Jia D, Graf R, Yang J. Elevated Serum Level of Pancreatic Stone Protein/Regenerating Protein (PSP/reg) is Observed in Diabetic Kidney Disease. Oncotarget (2017) 8(24):38145-51. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget. 16369
- Macisaac RJ, Ekinci EI, Jerums G. Markers of and Risk Factors for the Development and Progression of Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2014) 63(2 Suppl 2):S39–62. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.10.048
- Huang WH, Chen CY, Lin JL, Lin-Tan DT, Hsu CW, Yen TH, et al. High Body Mass Index Reduces Glomerular Filtration Rate Decline in Type II Diabetes Mellitus Patients With Stage 3 or 4 Chronic Kidney Disease. *Med (Baltimore)* (2014) 93(7):e41. doi: 10.1097/MD.0000000000000041
- Altemtam N, Russell J, El Nahas M. A Study of the Natural History of Diabetic Kidney Disease (DKD). Nephrol Dial Transplant (2012) 27(5):1847–54. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr561
- Zoppini G, Targher G, Chonchol M, Ortalda V, Negri C, Stoico V, et al. Predictors of Estimated GFR Decline in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes and Preserved Kidney Function. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 7(3):401–8. doi: 10.2215/CJN.07650711
- Chang YH, et al. High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and the Risk of Nephropathy in Type 2 Diabetic Patients. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis (2013) 23(8):751–7. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2012.05.005
- 45. Elley CR, Robinson T, Moyes SA, Kenealy T, Collins J, Robinson E, et al. Derivation and Validation of a Renal Risk Score for People With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(10):3113–20. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0190
- Afkarian M. Diabetic Kidney Disease in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2015) 30(1):65–74. doi: 10.1007/s00467-014-2796-5

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wang, Wu, Yang, Xiang, Xiong, Zhao, Liao, Zhao, Kang, Yang and Liang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Dr. Vinod Tiwari, Indian Institute of Technology (BHU), India

REVIEWED BY

Laureano D. Asico, George Washington University, United States Maria Felice Brizzi, University of Turin, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Tianbiao Zhou zhoutb@aliyun.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Renal Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 06 June 2022 ACCEPTED 06 July 2022 PUBLISHED 28 July 2022

CITATION

Lin Y, Yang Q, Wang J, Chen X, Liu Y and Zhou T (2022) An overview of the efficacy and signaling pathways activated by stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in diabetic kidney disease. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:962635. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.962635

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Lin, Yang, Wang, Chen, Liu and Zhou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author

(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

An overview of the efficacy and signaling pathways activated by stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in diabetic kidney disease

Yongda Lin, Qian Yang, Jiali Wang, Xiutian Chen, Yiping Liu and Tianbiao Zhou*

Department of Nephrology, Second Affiliated Hospital, Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, China

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is one of complications of diabetes mellitus with severe microvascular lesion and the most common cause of end-stage chronic kidney disease (ESRD). Controlling serum glucose remains the primary approach to preventing and slowing the progression of DKD. Despite considerable efforts to control diabetes, people with diabetes develop not only DKD but also ESRD. The pathogenesis of DKD is very complex, and current studies indicate that mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) regulate complex disease processes by promoting pro-regenerative mechanisms and inhibiting multiple pathogenic pathways. Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are products of MSCs. Current data indicate that MSC-EVs-based interventions not only protect renal cells, including renal tubular epithelial cells, podocytes and mesangial cells, but also improve renal function and reduce damage in diabetic animals. As an increasing number of clinical studies have confirmed, MSC-EVs may be an effective way to treat DKD. This review explores the potential efficacy and signaling pathways of MSC-EVs in the treatment of DKD.

KEYWORDS

diabetic kidney disease, mesenchymal stem cells, extracellular vesicles, signaling pathway, end-stage renal disease

Introduction

The global prevalence of diabetes is projected to rise from 9.3% in 2019 to 10.9% in 2045 (1). Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is a serious complication caused by diabetes and occurs in 20-40% of people with diabetes (2, 3). Treatment of DKD has included blood pressure control with angiotensin receptor blockers or angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and strict glycemic control (4). However, many patients still progress to the stage of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (5). From 2000 to 2015, DKD as a percentage of chronic kidney disease increased from 22.1% to 31.3% (6) and is the most common cause of ESRD in many developed countries. When compared with other diabetic complications, the prevalence of DKD disease has not notably reduced over the past 20 years (7). There is an urgent need to develop effective therapeutic strategies to preserve the renal function and slow the progression of DKD.

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are a group of cells with differentiation and proliferative potential (8). When treated with appropriate compounds, they can differentiate into cells of all mesodermal lineages, such as fibroblasts, myocytes, adipocytes, osteocytes, or chondrocytes (9, 10). Studies have shown that miR-124a can stimulate the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells sourced bone marrow into islet-like cells and thus alleviate DKD (11). MSCs mainly used for DKD include adipose-derived (AD-MSCs), umbilical cord-derived (UC-MSCs), bone marrow-derived (BM-MSCs), and human urine-derived (HU-MSCs). MSCs protect the kidney in two ways. One is homing and differentiation, where MSCs recognize damaged tissue and then home and integrate into specific sites, and the other is through paracrine action. However, the main problem after direct administration of MSCs is that they do not target the target tissue. The infusion of MSCs via direct acute infusion or coupled with implanted continuous pumps directly into the kidney is the main way (12). After MSCs are injected into the tail vein of rats, most of the stem cells appear in the lungs (13). To determine whether MSCs exist in rat tissues, DNA was extracted from rat organs and a human Alu sequence was detected. Human Alu sequences were detected in the peritubular region, lung, and spleen in rats within 24 hours after injection of labeled MSCs, but rarely in the glomerulus and pancreas (14). Implanted continuous pumps directly into the kidney have the advantage of local tissue effect, but it is difficult to implement and difficult to popularize clinically. As only minimal numbers of donor MSCs are detected in the renal tissue, the therapeutic effect of MSCs on kidney injury appears to be attributable to lots of paracrine factors. These factors facilitate the renal repair by paracrine-mediated actions, including cell-cell interactions reactivating endogenous repair systems, and the release of extracellular vesicles (EVs) (15). This review explores the potential efficacy and signaling pathways of MSC-EVs in the treatment of DKD.

Characteristics of stem cell products

MSC-conditioned medium (MSC-CM) is rich in EVs secreted by MSCs. As stem cell products, EVs are generally classified into three categories: apoptotic bodies, microvesicles (MVs), and exosomes (Exos), which vary in size, origin, and release mechanism (16, 17). MVs are 50 nm-1000 nm in diameter and are shed directly from the cytoplasmic membrane (16, 18, 19). Their release is initiated by budding outward from the membrane surface (16, 19). Apoptotic bodies are released during apoptosis. The diameter of apoptotic vesicles is reported to range between 1000 nm and 5000 nm (20). The reported diameter of Exos is between 40 and 150 nm (21). Exos carry complex molecular cargoes such as proteins, lipids and nucleic acids (e.g., DNA, miRNA, circRNA) (Figure 1). A series of studies have shown that stem cell Exos protect the kidney from damage through multiple pathways involving anti-apoptotic, antiinflammatory, anti-oxidative, anti-fibrotic roles and regulate podocyte autophagy (22, 23).

Amelioration of podocyte injury by stem cell products

Podocytes, important intrinsic cells of the glomerulus, are involved in protein filtration in the glomerulus and play an important role in the maintenance of kidney function (23, 24). Podocyte injury is an important characteristic of DKD. Podocyte loss contributes to the development of DKD (25). MSC-EVs are found that they can protect the podocytes in DKD in multiple ways, including inhibition of apoptosis and fibrosis and enhancement of autophagy, all perhaps due to the presence of a large number of growth factors and miRNAs in MSC-EVs (26).

High glucose (HG)-induced podocyte damage in vitro can mimic the state of podocytes in patients with DKD. Jiang et al. (27) conducted a study on human podocytes, and reported that HU-MSC-EVs reduced HG-induced podocyte apoptosis in vitro. UC-MSCs secrete EVs carrying bone morphogenetic protein-7 (BMP-7) and high levels of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Table 1). The activation of cytokines such as BMP-7 or VEGF is important for the survival of podocyte. VEGFA is highly expressed in the podocytes and is required to maintain endothelial cell function (46). However, VEGFA is overexpressed in the early stage of DN, and blocking VEGFA reduces proteinuria in DN (47). Duan et al. (28) showed that silencing of VEGF attenuates podocyte inflammation and reduces apoptosis. Moreover, miR-16-5p encapsulated within HU-MSCs can inhibit VEGFA expression in podocytes induced by HG, promote podocyte viability and decrease the rate of apoptosis (Table 1). AD-MSC-EVs can transfer miR-26a-5p to



mouse podocytes *in vitro* to inhibit podocyte apoptosis by downregulating nuclear factor kappa-B (NF- κ B)/VEGFA and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) signaling pathways (29). Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 (PDK4) is a molecular target of miR-15b-5p (48). Zhao et al. (30) reported that AD-MSC-CM miR-15b-5p directly binds to PDK4 in podocytes from mouse and inhibits the expression of PDK4 mRNA and protein. Inhibition of PDK4 can reduce the activation of VEGFA and downregulate the inflammation and cell apoptosis (Table 1). The results of several studies showed that stem cell products inhibit VEGFA expression through multiple pathways, thereby attenuating HGinduced damage to podocytes.

Li et al. (31) reported that AD-MSC-CM reduced podocyte apoptosis induced by HG, downregulated activated caspase-3, increased epithelial growth factor (EGF), and prevented the rearrangement and downregulation of synaptopodin. However, it did not affect the levels of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic growth factor (GDNF), insulin-like growth factor binding protein and placental growth factor (Table 1). However, a study pointed out that GDNF promotes mouse podocyte survival in vitro and protects mouse podocytes from apoptosis (49). Zhang et al. (14) confirmed this and found that HG can reduce podocytic synaptopodin, and AD-MSC-CM can increase synaptopodin expression in podocytes. After blocking GDNF in AD-MSC-CM with GDNF-NtAb, the therapeutic effect of podocytic synaptopodin was partly abolished (Table 1). These studies demonstrated that stem cell products reduce podocytic apoptosis by modulating cytokines.

Autophagy is a lysosomal degradation pathway in cells for maintaining cellular homeostasis and cellular health under various stress conditions (50). Evidence suggests that podocytes have high levels of basal autophagy, which may be a mechanism to maintain cellular homeostasis (51). Jin et al. (32) showed that AD-MSC-EVs can inhibit p-mTOR/mTOR, Smad1, p62, and apoptosis, but they can increase Beclin1 and LC3 (Table 1). AD-MSC-EVs ameliorate podocyte damage by inhibiting the miR-486/Smad1/mTOR signaling pathway. This suggested that stem cell products can regulate the autophagy of podocytes.

HG may induce podocyte epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) through multiple pathways (52). Jin et al. (33) showed that, with podocyte dysfunction, several EMT-related miRNAs, including miR-3066-5p, miR-879-5p, miR-251-5p, and miR-7a-5p, were increased by the addition of AD-MSC-EVs (Table 1). Potentially, AD-MSC-EVs can mediate the shuttling of miR-215-5p to podocytes, possibly through inhibiting the transcription of zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 2 (ZEB2), thereby attenuating EMT of podocytes.

Stem cell products ameliorate fibrosis in mesangial cells

The signaling pathway of TGF- β can play an important role in the fibrogenesis, especially in DKD renal fibrosis, and can be activated by high glucose (53). Endothelin-1 (ET-1) promotes fibrosis and inflammation in DKD (54). ET-1 and TGF- β 1 induce collagen I production by fibroblasts (55). Li et al. (34) found that blocking TGF- β 1 by UC-CM inhibited the expression of collagen I and fibronectin in mesangial cells treated with HG. Antifibrotic effects of MSC paracrine in DN may be detected by EVs shed by MSCs. BM-MSC-CM treatment remarkably reduced expressions of TGF- β and TGF- β -induced glucose transporter 1, thus inhibiting fibrosis and oxidative stress. A large amount of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) was detected in CM, and the effects of CM on TGF- β and TGF- β -induced glucose transporter expression could be blocked by the addition of neutralizing antibodies

Author Cell model		Stem cell type	Treatment effect
	Podocyte		
Jiang et al. (27)	HPDCs	USC-EVs	Reduce podocyte apoptosis (BMP-7, VEGF, TGF- β and angiogenin \uparrow)
Duan et al. (28)	HPDCs	HUC-EVs	Increase podocyte viability and reduce rate of apoptosis (miR-16-5p $\uparrow \rightarrow$ VEGFA $\downarrow)$
Duan et al. (29)	MPC5	ASC-EVs	Inhibit podocyte apoptosis (miR-26a-5p $\uparrow \rightarrow$ TLR4 $\downarrow \rightarrow$ NF- κ B/VEGFA \downarrow)
Zhao et al. (30)	MPC5	ASC-CM	Inhibit podocyte apoptosis and inflammation (miR-15b-5p $\uparrow \rightarrow$ PDK4 $\downarrow \rightarrow$ VEGFA \downarrow)
Li et al. (31)	MPC5	ASC-CM	Reduce podocyte apoptosis (EGF↑)
Zhang et al. (14)	MPC5	ASC-CM	Reduce podocyte apoptosis (GDNF↑)
Jin et al. (32)	MPC5	ASC-EVs	Promote autophagy and inhibit podocyte apoptosis (miR-486 $\uparrow \rightarrow$ Smad1 $\downarrow \rightarrow$ mTOR \downarrow)
Jin et al. (33)	MPC5	ASC-EVs	Attenuate EMT of Podocytes (miR-215-5p $\uparrow \rightarrow ZEB2\downarrow$)
	Mesangial cells		
Li et al. (34)	SV40-MES-13	USC-CM	Alleviate Fibrosis (MAPK \downarrow and PI3K/Akt $\downarrow \rightarrow$ MMP2 and MMP9 \uparrow)
Lv et al. (35)	HBZY-1	BMSC-CM	Inhibit fibrosis and oxidative stress and reduce the expression of GLUT1
Bai et al. (36)	HBZY-1	BMSC-CM	Inhibit fibrosis and inflammation (LXA4 $\uparrow \rightarrow$ TGF- $\beta \downarrow$)
Gallo et al. (37)	MCs	BMSC-EVs HLSC-EVs	Inhibit fibrosis and interference with mitochondrial dysfunction (miR-222 \uparrow /miR-21 \downarrow) \rightarrow , STAT5A $\downarrow \rightarrow$, TGF- $\beta \downarrow$)
Hao et al. (38)	GMC	ASC-EVs	Inhibit fibrosis and reduce apoptosis (miR-125a^+ \rightarrow HDAC1/ET1 $\downarrow)$
	Renal tubular epithelial cells		
Nagaishi et al. (39)	PTECs	BMSC-CM	Anti-apoptotic and anti-degenerative (TGF- β 1 \downarrow , lectin and ZO-1 \uparrow)
Park et al. (40)	NRK-52E	USC-CM	Inhibited ECM and EMT (TGF- β 1 \downarrow)
Zhong et al. (41)	НК-2	HUC-MVs	Reverse EMT by restarting the blocked cell cycle (miR-451a $\uparrow \rightarrow$ P15 and P19 \downarrow)
Rao et al. (42)	НК-2	SHED-CM BMSC-CM	Inhibit AGE-induced EMT (E-cadherin↑, fibronectin and vimentin↓)
Ali et al. (43)	НК-2	WJMSCs-CM	Attenuate oxidative stress-mediated apoptosis and fibrosis (CHIP $\uparrow \rightarrow$ MAPK \downarrow)
Lee et al. (44)	НК-2	USC-CM	Reverse mitochondrial dysfunction (Arg $\downarrow \rightarrow$ M1 macrophages $\downarrow \rightarrow$ NO, IL-6, TNF- IL-1 \downarrow)
Konari et al. (45)	NRK-52E	BMSC-CM	Inhibit apoptosis and reduce ROS production by transferring mitochondria

TABLE 1 Characteristics of assessing the efficacy of MSC products for DKD in vitro.

ASC, adipose-derived MSCs; BMSC, bone marrow-derived MSCs; GMC, rat glomerular mesangial cells; HBZY-1, The rat glomerular mesangial cell line; HK-2, human proximal tubular epithelial; HLSC, human liver stem-like cells; HPDCs, Human podocytes; HUC, human urine-derived MSCs; MCs, Human mesangial cells; MPC5, A mouse podocyte clone 5; NRK-52E, renal tubularduct epithlialcells of rat; PTECs, proximal tubular epithelial cells; SHED, Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth; SV40-MES-13, mouse mesangial cell; WJMSCs, Whatton's jelly-derived MSCs; USC, umbilical cord-derived MSCs; AGEs, advanced glycation end products; Arg1, arginase-1; BMP-7, bone morphogenetic protein-7; CHIP, Carboxyl terminus of HSP70 interacting protein; CM, conditioned medium; EGF, epidermal growth factor; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition; ET-1, endothelin-1; GDNF, glial cell-derived neurotrophic growth factor; HDAC1, histone deacetylase 1; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; LXA4, lipoxin A4; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MMP, metalloproteinase; PDK4, Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4; ROS, reactive oxygen species; STAT1, Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription-1; TLR4, toll-like receptor 4; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; ZEB2,Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 2; ZO-1, zona occludens protein-1.

against HGF (Table 1) (35). This indicated that HGF in CM alleviates mesangial cells' fibrosis and oxidative stress. Coculture of BM-MSCs and mesangial cells alleviated cell fibrosis by targeting lipoxin A4 (LXA4) to modulate TGF- β / Smad signaling (36). STAT5A was identified as a transcriptional regulator of miR-21, which in turn affects collagen production and TGF- β expression in mesangial cells. MSC-EV-miR-222 regulates STAT5 expression and indirectly regulates TGF- β expression (37). Hao et al. (38) found that AD-MSC-EVs inhibit the histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1)/ET1 axis by secreting miR-125a and suppressing IL6, collagen I and fibronectin levels in HG-treated mesangial cells. All these results suggested that MSC-EVs alleviate mesangial cell fibrosis by regulating the expression of TGF- β and ET-1 (Table 1).

Stem cell products ameliorate fibrosis in renal tubular epithelial cells

Renal tubulointerstitial fibrosis, characterized by EMT of renal tubular epithelial cells (RTEC), is a major cause of diabetic renal fibrosis (56). Important roles of different tubular responses, such as partial EMT, cell cycle arrest and metabolic defects are involved in renal fibrosis (57). Nagaishi et al. (39) found that MSC-EVs can reduce intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and TGF- β 1 in RTEC isolated from streptozotocin (STZ)induced diabetic rats, and zona occludens protein-1 (ZO-1) expression was increased in RTEC cultured with EVs or MSCs. UC-MSC-CM inhibited TGF- β 1-induced EMT and extracellular matrix accumulation (ECM) in RTEC (NRK-52E) (Table 1) (40). Zhong et al. (41) further found that MSC-EV-miR-451a reverses EMT by inhibiting P15 and P19 to restart the blocked cell cycle (Table 1). Inhibition of fibrosis by regulating the cell cycle by miRNA may be a new therapeutic modality.

Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) induce apoptosis and increase the expression of inflammatory and fibrotic genes in renal tubular cells (58). Hyperglycemia-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation activates mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), which are involved in the EMT of RTEC (HK2) (59, 60). Co-cultured stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth inhibit AGE-induced EMT in HK-2 cells (Table 1) (42). Ali et al. (43) reported that the protein expression of Carboxyl terminus of HSP70 interacting protein (CHIP) was reduced under HG treatment, which can limit the therapeutic potential and survivability of Wharton's jellyderived MSCs (WJMSCs). CHIP-overexpressing WJMSCs attenuate fibrosis and cell apoptosis mediated by hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress in HK-2 cells via activation of the MAPKs (Table 1). This proves that MSC-EVs can inhibit the production of AGEs and ROS and downregulate the fibrosis of renal tubular epithelial cells.

Mitochondria have been recognized as key regulators of inflammation, cell death, metabolism and ROS production (61). M1 macrophages express pro-inflammatory cytokines, and M2 macrophages are thought to regulate inflammatory responses and promote tissue repair (62). Arginase-1 (Arg1) is a marker of M2 macrophages, and co-culture of macrophages with MSCs increases Arg1 and decreases the expression of M1 markers. UC-MSCs reverse mitochondrial function in HK-2 cells by inducing Arg1 in macrophages (44). It should be noted that AD-MSCs cannot reverse mitochondrial dysfunction, which may indicate that the beneficial effect of MSCs is limited to umbilical cord blood. Konari et al. (45) showed that BM-MSCs also transfer their mitochondria to damaged RTEC when co-cultured *in vitro*, inhibiting apoptosis and reducing ROS production of damaged RTEC (Table 1).

MSC-EVs protect HG-induced damaged kidney cells through multiple pathways, suggesting that MSC-EVs may be a potential therapeutic modality for DKD (Figure 2).

Efficacy of MSC-EVs for DKD: A preclinical model

Intravenous injection of MSC-EVs can improve renal function and histological damage in diabetic animals. Hyperglycemia is a major factor in the occurrence of DKD. EVs secreted from AD-MSCs, BM-MSCs and UC-MSCs are able to reduce blood glucose. Furthermore, EVs can reduce serum creatinine (SCr), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), urinary protein (URPO), and urine albumin-to-creatinine ratio (UACR), and increase creatinine clearance (CCR) (28, 38, 63). Hyperlipidemia is an important risk factor for vascular complications of chronic kidney disease (64). BM-MSC-EVs reduced total cholesterol (TC) and triglycerides (TG) in a DKD mouse model (65, 66). Jiang et al. (27) found that HU-MSC-EVs could reduce the urinary microalbumin excretion and urine volume of DKD rats.

Duan et al. (29) showed that AD-MSC-EVs notably alleviated the histopathological changes associated with DKD, such as reducing ECM accumulation in their kidney tissues and the thickening of basement membrane. Jiang et al. (27)found that UC-MSC-EVs could prevent cell apoptosis in diabetic rats. Further, UC-MSC-EVs treatment significantly ameliorated mesangial expansion and promoted endothelial cell proliferation from glomerulus in the early stages of impairment in DKD kidney. Ebrahim et al. (63) found that injection of EVs in DKD rats reduced histological damage. EVs alleviated diffuse thickening of glomerular basement membrane and extensive fusion and disappearance of foot process.

Inflammation and fibrosis play a key role in the pathogenesis of DKD. Xiang et al. (67) found that UC-MSC-CM or UC-MSC-EVs suppressed IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, and TGF- β in HG-injured human renal glomerular endothelial cell line (hrGECs) and RTECs (HK2 and NRK-52E). Duan et al. (28) reported that HU-MSC-EVs can reduce the expression of VEGFA, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), TNF- α and TGF- β 1 in diabetic mice. This means that the UC-MSC product can relieve inflammation in diabetic mice. MCP-1 is also known as the C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2). CCL2 can stimulate the production of TGF-β1 in mesangial cells and macrophages, and TGF-B1 feeds back to increase the CCL2 expression in mesangial cells (68). Substantial evidence indicates that TGF- β / Smad signaling takes part in the development and progression of fibrosis of kidney (69). Hao et al. (38)found that AD-MSC-EVs reduced the protein expression of the Col-I (fibrosis-related marker) and suppressed mesangial hyperplasia in DKD rats (Table 2). Mao et al. (65) found that BM-MSC-EVs miR-let-7a inhibited the expression of N-cadherin and vimentin (Table 2). Furthermore, Nagaishi et al. (39) showed that BM-MSC-CM can reduce TNF-α, ICAM-1 and increase ZO-1 (Table 2). Zhong et al. (41) showed that UC-MSC-EVs reduced α -SMA, increased E-cadherin and prevented histological damages (Table 2). Grange et al. (70) reported that human liver stem-like cells (HLSC)-EVs and BM-MSC-EVs down-regulate genes involved in the pathogenesis of fibrosis, such as tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP), metalloproteinase 3 (MMP3), collagen I, TGF- β and α -SMA, the FAS ligand, CCL3, and Snail (Table 2). This indicates that injection of MSC-EVs from various sources can alleviate fibrosis in diabetic animals.

In addition to being anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic, MSC-EVs protect DKD animals by other means. With the effecting by increased oxidative stress and reduced NO bioavailability, endothelial dysfunction is a hallmark feature of type 2 diabetes mellitus and DKD (71). Mao et al. (65) found that



The role of MSC-EVs in protecting kidney cells. AGEs, advanced glycation end products; Arg1, arginase-1; EGF, epidermal growth factor; GDNF, glial cell-derived neurotrophic growth factor; HDAC1, histone deacetylase 1; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; LXA4, lipoxin A4; MAPK, mitogenactivated protein kinase; PDK4, Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4; ROS, reactive oxygen species; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; ZEB2, Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 2.

BM-MSC-EVs suppress oxidative stress, based on decreases in NO and MDA content, and elevations of GSH-Px and SOD activities. EVs injection can alleviate the oxidative stress reaction in diabetic mice and play a protective role in DKD through down-regulation of USP22. Autophagy, a conserved and important "self-eating" pathway, is an important mechanism for maintaining glomerular and tubular homeostasis, and is involved in various aspects of renal injury, aging and disease (72). Ebrahim et al. (63) reported that BM-MSC-EVs can inhibit mTOR, and S6K1 protein expression, and increase Beclin-1, LC3-I, LC3-II, and p62 protein expression. MSC-EVs ameliorate DKD by modulating the mTOR-related autophagy pathway (Table 2). Duan et al. (29) reported that Bcl-2 protein was significantly increased by AD-MSC-EVs, whereas the protein expressions of cleaved caspase-3, caspase-3, and Bax were reduced. MiR-26a-5p produced by AD-MSC-EVs not only reduced podocyte apoptosis in vitro, but also reduced apoptosis in spontaneously diabetic mice.

Overall, through multiple studies injected with stem cell products from different sources, we found that stem cell products can alleviate kidney damage in animal models of DKD (Table 1).

TABLE 2 Characteristics of preclinical studies assessing the efficacy of MSC products for DKD in vivo.

Author	Stem cell type	Model	Treatment		Treatment effect
Hao et al. (38)	ASC-EVs	STZ SD	Exos (50µg) <i>via</i> tail vein injection	Twice a week for 3 weeks	miR-125a protected DKD in rats through inhibiting the HDAC1/ET1 axis
Mao et al. (<mark>65</mark>)	BMSC- EVs	STZ SD	Exos (100µg) <i>via</i> tail vein injection	Once a week for 12 weeks	miR-let-7a inhibited apoptosis and oxidative stress in renal cells and suppressed the expression of N-cadherin and vimentin
Nagaishi et al. (<mark>39</mark>)	BMSC- CM	STZ mice	CM (2mg/kg) <i>via</i> tail vein injection	Once a day for 8 weeks	Anti-inflammation and inhibition of EMT (TNF- α , p38-MAPK, ICAM-1, TGF- β ↓ and ZO-1 \uparrow)
Zhong et al. (<mark>41</mark>)	HUC-EVs	STZ mice	MVs (1.5mg/kg) <i>via</i> tail vein injection	Once a week for 8 weeks	miR-451a reduced renal fibrosis through down-regulation of the P15INK4b and P19INK4d
Grange et al. (70)	HLSC-EVs BMSC- EVs	STZ mice	EVs(1×10 ¹⁰ particles) <i>via</i> tail vein injection	Once a week for 4 weeks	EVs down regulated genes involved in the development of fibrosis (MMP3, collagen I, TIMP, SNA11, CCL3, Serpina1, interferon γ , Fas Ligand \downarrow).
Duan et al. (29)	ASC-EVs	C57BL/ KsJ db/db	-	Once a week for 12 weeks	miR-26a-5p reduced the pathological symptoms and cell apoptosis
Jiang et al. (27)	USC-EVs	STZ SD	Exos (100µg) <i>via</i> tail vein injection	Once a week for 12 weeks	Anti-apoptosis, promoted glomerular endothelial cell proliferation and ameliorated mesangial expansion
Ebrahim et al. (<mark>63</mark>)	BMSC- EVs	STZ SD	Exos (100µg/kg) <i>via</i> tail vein injection	Once a day for 4 weeks	Induction of autophagy through the mTOR signaling pathway

ASC, adipose-derived MSCs; BMSC, bone marrow-derived MSCs; HLSC, human liver stem-like cells; HUC, human urine-derived MSCs; USC, umbilical cord-derived MSCs; CCL3, C-C motif chemokine ligand 3; CM, conditioned medium; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition; ET-1, endothelin-1; EVs, extracellular vesicles; HDAC1, histone deacetylase 1; ICAM-1, intracellular adhesion molecule-1; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MVs, microvesicles; MMP3, metalloproteinase 3; TIMP, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases; SD, Sprague-Dawley rat; STZ, streptozotocin; ZO-1, zona occludens protein-1.

Effect of stem cell extracellular vesicles on inflammatory factors and their potential signaling pathways

Phosphorylation of signal transducers and activators of transcription-1 (STAT1) is induced by multiple TLRs (TLR2, TLR4, TLR9). Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor-6 (TRAF6) is a most important factor to activate TLR signaling. After activation of TRAF6, STAT1 is phosphorylated and translocated to the nucleus (73). Zhang et al. (74) found that UC-MSCs-derived miR-146a-5p can target the TRAF6 and significantly decreased the expression of p-STAT1. They identified that miR-146a-5p targeted the signaling pathway of TRAF6-STAT1 to inhibit renal inflammation and restore the function of kidney by promoting the polarization of M2 macrophage. Transcription factors, such as NF-KB, can regulate inflammation, immunological responses and cell proliferation (75). In DKD, the transposition of NF-KB into the nucleus can activate its target genes, including the inflammatory mediators of its downstream, such as nitric oxide synthase, TNF-B1, IL-1 and ICAM-1, which subsequently cause persistent and increased inflammation leading to overexpression of fibronectin and ECM accumulation in mesangial cells (76). Duan et al. (29) reported that AD-MSC-EV-miR-26a-5p alleviated both the ECM accumulation in kidney tissues and the thickening of basement membrane, and inhibited apoptosis in mouse podocytes in vitro by inhibiting signaling pathways of NF-KB/VEGFA and TLR4.

Autophagy promotes the degradation of excess or malfunctioning cellular components, including invasive microorganisms, misfolded proteins, damaged organelles and cells themselves (77). In DKD, autophagy represents the cooperation of related gene products of multiple autophagy (23). In general, mTORC1 is regarded as a negative regulator for the autophagy. Enhanced mTORC1 activity was observed in type 1 and type 2 DKD diseases from animal models. Treatment with rapamycin (an inhibitor of mTORC1) can suppress the progression of DKD disease induced by STZ in type 1 and type 2 diabetes from rats or mice (78, 79). Injection of MSC-EVs into the tail vein of DKD rats resulted in significant up-regulation of autophagy-related proteins (LC3II and Beclin-1), and significant down-regulation of mTOR gene expression. The results indicated that BM-MSC-EVs enhance autophagy by inhibiting mTOR (63). Jin et al. (32) found that AD-MSC-EVs inhibited p62/LC3 and mTOR signaling pathways, increased the levels of autophagyrelated proteins, and ameliorated cell damage of podocyte by inhibiting the signaling pathway of miR-486/Smad1/mTOR. Cai et al. (80) showed that miR-125b from MSC-EVs could induce the cell autophagy to inhibit HKCs apoptosis induced by HG via signaling pathway of Akt. Collectively, multiple miRNAs in EVs inhibited mTORC1 expression by inhibiting AKT and finally upregulated autophagy.

It is well known that the signaling pathway of TGF- β can play an important role in fibrogenesis and also promotes fibrosis in DKD (81). Additionally, the signaling pathway of TGF- β / Smad also affects DKD through cross-talk with other pathways, such as the MAPK and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways (82). The TGF-B/Smad signaling pathway is notably activated in renal fibrosis. Smad3 exhibits a marked collagen deposition and contributes to the progression of renal fibrosis in db/db mice, and Smad3 knockout inhibits this process (83). Nagaishi et al. (39) reported that MSC-CM inhibits tubulointerstitial fibrosis in a model of DKD by reversing the endogenously elevated or ectopically expressed TGF- β . Furthermore, Bai et al. (36) demonstrated that MSC-CM reversed DKD via LXA4 by targeting the TGF-B/Smad pathway and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Liu et al. (84) found that MSCs modified with angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) to target the damaged kidney and enhance the expression of ACE2. The modified MSCs secreted soluble ACE2 protein into the culture medium. The upregulated ACE2 can degrade the Ang II into the Ang1-7, and MSCs-ACE2 is more beneficial when compared with MSCs alone in downregulating Ang II and upregulating Ang1-7. MSCs-ACE2 inhibited the deleterious effects of the accumulation of Ang II and inhibited the TGF-B/Smad pathway. Li et al. (34) found that MSC-CM alleviated renal fibrosis in a DKD model by blocking myofibroblast transdifferentiation mediated by the signaling pathway of TGF-\u03b31/Smad2/3. MSC-CM also inhibited the proliferation of mesangial cell mediated by signaling pathways of PI3K/Akt and MAPK, and enhanced the expression of MMPs. Multiple investigations have indicated that MSC-EVs improve renal fibrosis which mediated TGF-B pathway and PI3K/Akt and MAPK signaling pathway by inhibiting the expression of TGF- β . (Figure 3).

Conclusion

The importance of DKD has been increasingly acknowledged and treatment methods have been updated and improved. However, in the past 20 years, the incidence and prognosis of DKD have not been effectively controlled. MSC-based therapy brings prospective treatment to DKD. Various growth factors and miRNAs contained in MSC-EVs seem to play an important role in the therapeutic effect of MSCs. Some studies have pointed out that MSC-EVs not only protect podocytes, renal tubular epithelial cells and mesangial cells from HG-induced injury, but also protect against DKD in animals. Moreover, some studies have shown that the treatment efficacy of ACE2-modified MSCs is more effective than MSCs alone, and MSCs combined with miRNAs treatment can enhance the protective effect of MSCs. At the same time, MSC-EVs also alleviated the DKD in animals through various regulatory signaling pathways (NF-KB, TLR, mTOR, MAPK, PI3K/Akt, TGF-B/Smad). However, it is difficult to find a



unified standard for the treatment of DKD with MSC extracellular vesicles. Different stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles, injection doses and frequencies are used in different experiments. Therefore, more research is needed to optimize the different MSC products, injection frequencies and doses to treat DKD.

Author contributions

YDL and TZ looked up a lot of pertinent papers and wrote the manuscript. QY, JW, XC and YPL reviewed and checked the article. TZ modified and polished the article, and reviewed the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This review was supported by Shantou Science and Technology Project (Shanfuke [2019] 106-4: 190606165268433),

References

1. Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the international diabetes federation diabetes atlas, 9(th) edition. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2019) 157:107843. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843

Guangdong Province Science and Technology Special Fund (shanfuke [2021]88-28: 210714086900312) and Shantou Youth Talent Project (no. 2020023).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{2.} Jadawji C, Crasto W, Gillies C, Kar D, Davies MJ, Khunti K, et al. Prevalence and progression of diabetic nephropathy in south Asian, white European and African Caribbean people with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2019) 21:658–73. doi: 10.1111/ dom.13569.

^{3.} Gao Z SA, Li XM, Li XL, Sui LN. Identification of key candidate genes and chemical perturbagens in diabetic kidney disease using integrated bioinformatics analysis. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:721202. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.721202

^{4.} Muskiet MHA, Wheeler DC, Heerspink HJL. New pharmacological strategies for protecting kidney function in type 2 diabetes. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2019) 7:397–412. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30263-8

^{5.} Huang Y, Liu W, Liu J, Guo D, Zhang P, Liu D, et al. Association of urinary sodium excretion and diabetic kidney disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A cross-sectional study. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:772073. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2021.772073

6. Cheng HT, Xu X, Lim PS, Hung KY. Worldwide epidemiology of diabetesrelated end-stage renal disease, 2000-2015. *Diabetes Care* (2021) 44:89–97. doi: 10.2337/dc20-1913

7. Gregg EW, Li Y, Wang J, Burrows NR, Ali MK, Rolka D, et al. Changes in diabetes-related complications in the united states, 1990-2010. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 370:1514–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1310799

8. Amable PR, Teixeira MV, Carias RB, Granjeiro JM, Borojevic R. Protein synthesis and secretion in human mesenchymal cells derived from bone marrow, adipose tissue and wharton's jelly. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2014) 5:53. doi: 10.1186/scrt442

9. Kariminekoo S, Movassaghpour A, Rahimzadeh A, Talebi M, Shamsasenjan K, Akbarzadeh A. Implications of mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative medicine. *Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol* (2016) 44:749–57. doi: 10.3109/21691401.2015.1129620

10. Li FX, Lin X, Xu F, Shan SK, Guo B, Lei LM, et al. The role of mesenchymal stromal cells-derived small extracellular vesicles in diabetes and its chronic complications. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:780974. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.780974

11. Sun J, Zhao F, Zhang W, Lv J, Lv J, Yin A. BMSCs and miR-124a ameliorated diabetic nephropathy *via* inhibiting notch signalling pathway. *J Cell Mol Med* (2018) 22:4840–55. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13747

12. Kundu N, Nandula SR, Asico LD, Fakhri M, Banerjee J, Jose PA, et al. Transplantation of apoptosis-resistant endothelial progenitor cells improves renal function in diabetic kidney disease. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2021) 10:e019365. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.120.019365

13. Schrepfer S, Deuse T, Reichenspurner H, Fischbein MP, Robbins RC, Pelletier MP. Stem cell transplantation: The lung barrier. *Transplant Proc* (2007) 39:573–6. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.12.019

14. Zhang L, Li K, Liu X, Li D, Luo C, Fu B, et al. Repeated systemic administration of human adipose-derived stem cells attenuates overt diabetic nephropathy in rats. *Stem Cells Dev* (2013) 22:3074–86. doi: 10.1089/scd.2013.0142

15. Hickson LJ, Abedalqader T, Ben-Bernard G, Mondy JM, Bian X, Conley SM, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of cell-based interventions in experimental diabetic kidney disease. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2021) 10:1304–19. doi: 10.1002/sctm.19-0419

16. Théry C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, Alcaraz MJ, Anderson JD, Andriantsitohaina R, et al. Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): A position statement of the international society for extracellular vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2018) 7:1535750. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2018.1535750

17. Liao C, Chen G, Yang Q, Liu Y, Zhou T. Potential therapeutic effect and mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells-extracellular vesicles in renal fibrosis. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2022) 10:824752. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2022.824752

18. Gimona M, Brizzi MF, Choo ABH, Dominici M, Davidson SM, Grillari J, et al. Critical considerations for the development of potency tests for therapeutic applications of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived small extracellular vesicles. *Cytotherapy* (2021) 23:373–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2021.01.001

19. Thery C, Ostrowski M, Segura E. Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:581–93. doi: 10.1038/nri2567

20. van der Pol E, Boing AN, Harrison P, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Classification, functions, and clinical relevance of extracellular vesicles. *Pharmacol Rev* (2012) 64:676–705. doi: 10.1124/pr.112.005983

21. Lotvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzas EI, Di Vizio D, Gardiner C, et al. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: A position statement from the international society for extracellular vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2014) 3:26913. doi: 10.3402/jev.v3.26913

22. Eirin A, Zhu XY, Puranik AS, Tang H, McGurren KA, van Wijnen AJ, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate kidney inflammation. *Kidney Int* (2017) 92:114–24. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.12.023

23. Sun B, Zhai S, Zhang L, Sun G. The role of extracellular vesicles in podocyte autophagy in kidney disease. *J Cell Commun Signal* (2021) 15:299–316. doi: 10.1007/s12079-020-00594-z

24. Zeng L, Szeto CC. Urinary podocyte markers in kidney diseases. Clin Chim Acta (2021) 523:315–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2021.10.017

25. Pagtalunan ME, Miller PL, Jumping-Eagle S, Nelson RG, Myers BD, Rennke HG, et al. Podocyte loss and progressive glomerular injury in type II diabetes. *J Clin Invest* (1997) 99:342–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI119163

26. Deng H, Sun C, Sun Y, Li H, Yang L, Wu D, et al. Lipid, protein, and MicroRNA composition within mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes. *Cell Reprogram* (2018) 20:178–86. doi: 10.1089/cell.2017.0047

27. Jiang ZZ, Liu YM, Niu X, Yin JY, Hu B, Guo SC, et al. Exosomes secreted by human urine-derived stem cells could prevent kidney complications from type I diabetes in rats. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2016) 7:24. doi: 10.1186/s13287-016-0287-2

28. Duan YR, Chen BP, Chen F, Yang SX, Zhu CY, Ma YL, et al. Exosomal microRNA-16-5p from human urine-derived stem cells ameliorates diabetic

nephropathy through protection of podocyte. J Cell Mol Med (2021) 25:10798-813. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14558

29. Duan Y, Luo Q, Wang Y, Ma Y, Chen F, Zhu X, et al. Adipose mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles containing microRNA-26a-5p target TLR4 and protect against diabetic nephropathy. *J Biol Chem* (2020) 295:12868–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA120.012522

30. Zhao T, Jin Q, Kong L, Zhang D, Teng Y, Lin L, et al. microRNA-15b-5p shuttled by mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles protects podocytes from diabetic nephropathy *via* downregulation of VEGF/PDK4 axis. *J Bioenergetics Biomembranes* (2022) 54:17–30. doi: 10.1007/s10863-021-09919-y

31. Li D, Wang N, Zhang L, Hanyu Z, Xueyuan B, Fu B, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells protect podocytes from apoptosis induced by high glucose *via* secretion of epithelial growth factor. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2013) 4:103. doi: 10.1186/scrt314

32. Jin J, Shi Y, Gong J, Zhao L, Li Y, He Q, et al. Exosome secreted from adipose-derived stem cells attenuates diabetic nephropathy by promoting autophagy flux and inhibiting apoptosis in podocyte. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2019) 10:95. doi: 10.1186/s13287-019-1177-1

33. Jin J, Wang Y, Zhao L, Zou W, Tan M, He Q. Exosomal miRNA-215-5p derived from adipose-derived stem cells attenuates epithelial-mesenchymal transition of podocytes by inhibiting ZEB2. *BioMed Res Int* (2020) 2020:2685305. doi: 10.1155/2020/2685305

34. Li H, Rong P, Ma X, Nie W, Chen Y, Zhang J, et al. Mouse umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell paracrine alleviates renal fibrosis in diabetic nephropathy by reducing myofibroblast transdifferentiation and cell proliferation and upregulating MMPs in mesangial cells. *J Diabetes Res* (2020) 2020;3847171. doi: 10.1155/2020/3847171

35. Lv S, Cheng J, Sun A, Li J, Wang W, Guan G, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells transplantation ameliorates glomerular injury in streptozotocin-induced diabetic nephropathy in rats *via* inhibiting oxidative stress. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2014) 104:143–54. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.01.011

36. Bai Y, Wang J, He Z, Yang M, Li L, Jiang H. Mesenchymal stem cells reverse diabetic nephropathy disease *via* lipoxin A4 by targeting transforming growth factor β (TGF- β)/smad pathway and pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Med Sci Monit Int Med J Exp Clin Res* (2019) 25:3069–76. doi: 10.12659/MSM.914860

37. Gallo S, Gili M, Lombardo G, Rossetti A, Rosso A, Dentelli P, et al. Stem cellderived, microRNA-carrying extracellular vesicles: A novel approach to interfering with mesangial cell collagen production in a hyperglycaemic setting. *PloS One* (2016) 11:e0162417. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162417

38. Hao Y, Miao J, Liu W, Cai K, Huang X, Peng L. Mesenchymal stem cellderived exosomes carry MicroRNA-125a to protect against diabetic nephropathy by targeting histone deacetylase 1 and downregulating endothelin-1. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2021) 14:1405–18. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S286191

39. Nagaishi K, Mizue Y, Chikenji T, Otani M, Nakano M, Konari N, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell therapy ameliorates diabetic nephropathy *via* the paracrine effect of renal trophic factors including exosomes. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:34842. doi: 10.1038/srep34842

40. Park JH, Hwang I, Hwang SH, Han H, Ha H. Human umbilical cord bloodderived mesenchymal stem cells prevent diabetic renal injury through paracrine action. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2012) 98:465-73. doi: 10.1016/ j.diabres.2012.09.034

41. Zhong L, Liao G, Wang X, Li L, Zhang J, Chen Y, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells-microvesicle-miR-451a ameliorate early diabetic kidney injury by negative regulation of P15 and P19. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood NJ)* (2018) 243:1233–42. doi: 10.1177/1535370218819726

42. Rao N, Wang X, Xie J, Li J, Zhai Y, Li X, et al. Stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth ameliorate diabetic nephropathy *In vivo* and *In vitro* by inhibiting advanced glycation end product-activated epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Stem Cells Int* (2019) 2019:2751475. doi: 10.1155/2019/2751475

43. Ali A, Shibu MA, Kuo CH, Lo JF, Chen RJ, Day CH, et al. CHIPoverexpressing wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells attenuate hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress-mediated kidney injuries in diabetic rats. *Free Radical Biol Med* (2021) 173:70-80. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2021.07.026

44. Lee SE, Jang JE, Kim HS, Jung MK, Ko MS, Kim MO, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells prevent the progression of diabetic nephropathy by improving mitochondrial function in tubular epithelial cells. *Exp Mol Med* (2019) 51:1–14. doi: 10.1038/s12276-019-0299-y

45. Konari N, Nagaishi K, Kikuchi S, Fujimiya M. Mitochondria transfer from mesenchymal stem cells structurally and functionally repairs renal proximal tubular epithelial cells in diabetic nephropathy *in vivo. Sci Rep* (2019) 9:5184. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-40163-y

46. Bailey E, Bottomley MJ, Westwell S, Pringle JH, Furness PN, Feehally J, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA expression in minimal change, membranous, and diabetic nephropathy demonstrated by non-isotopic *in situ* hybridisation. *J Clin Pathol* (1999) 52:735–8. doi: 10.1136/jcp.52.10.735

47. Vriese AS, Tilton RG, Elger M, Stephan CC, Kriz W, Lameire NH. Antibodies against vascular endothelial growth factor improve early renal dysfunction in experimental diabetes. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2001) 12:993–1000. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V125993

48. Weng Y, Shen Y, He Y, Pan X, Xu J, Jiang Y, et al. The miR-15b-5p/PDK4 axis regulates osteosarcoma proliferation through modulation of the warburg effect. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2018) 503:2749–57. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.08.035

49. Tsui CC, Shankland SJ, Pierchala BA. Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor and its receptor ret is a novel ligand-receptor complex critical for survival response during podocyte injury. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2006) 17:1543–52. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005080835

50. Kroemer G, Marino G, Levine B. Autophagy and the integrated stress response. *Mol Cell* (2010) 40:280–93. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.023

51. Hartleben B, Godel M, Meyer-Schwesinger C, Liu S, Ulrich T, Kobler S, et al. Autophagy influences glomerular disease susceptibility and maintains podocyte homeostasis in aging mice. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:1084–96. doi: 10.1172/JCI39492

52. Ying Q, Wu G. Molecular mechanisms involved in podocyte EMT and concomitant diabetic kidney diseases: an update. *Ren Fail* (2017) 39:474–83. doi: 10.1080/0886022X.2017.1313164

53. Qi W, Chen X, Zhang Y, Holian J, Mreich E, Gilbert RE, et al. High glucose induces macrophage inflammatory protein-3 alpha in renal proximal tubule cells *via* a transforming growth factor-beta 1 dependent mechanism. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2007) 22:3147–53. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfm365

54. Fukui M, Nakamura T, Ebihara I, Osada S, Tomino Y, Masaki T, et al. Gene expression for endothelins and their receptors in glomeruli of diabetic rats. *J Lab Clin Med* (1993) 122:149–56.

55. Horstmeyer A, Licht C, Scherr G, Eckes B, Krieg T. Signalling and regulation of collagen I synthesis by ET-1 and TGF-beta1. *FEBS J* (2005) 272:6297–309. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2005.05016.x

56. Sun X, Xiao H, Li S, Chen R, Lin Z, Yang Y, et al. Connexin32 ameliorates epithelial-to-mesenchymal-transition in diabetic renal tubular *via* inhibiting NOX4. *Pharmacol Res* (2022) 176:106084. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106084

57. Zhou D, Liu Y. Renal fibrosis in 2015: Understanding the mechanisms of kidney fibrosis. Nat Rev Nephrol (2016) 12:68–70. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2015.215

58. Matsui T, Yamagishi S, Takeuchi M, Ueda S, Fukami K, Okuda S. Irbesartan inhibits advanced glycation end product (AGE)-induced proximal tubular cell injury *in vitro* by suppressing receptor for AGEs (RAGE) expression. *Pharmacol Res* (2010) 61:34–9. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2009.07.004

59. Lv ZM, Wang Q, Wan Q, Lin JG, Hu MS, Liu YX, et al. The role of the p38 MAPK signaling pathway in high glucose-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition of cultured human renal tubular epithelial cells. *PloS One* (2011) 6: e22806. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022806

60. Volpe CMO, Villar-Delfino PH, Dos Anjos PMF, Nogueira-Machado JA. Cellular death, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and diabetic complications. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9:119. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0135-z

61. Yu EP, Bennett MR. Mitochondrial DNA damage and atherosclerosis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 25:481-7. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2014.06.008

62. Mills CD. M1 and M2 macrophages: Oracles of health and disease. *Crit Rev Immunol* (2012) 32:463–88. doi: 10.1615/CritRevImmunol.v32.i6.10

63. Ebrahim N, Ahmed IA, Hussien NI, Dessouky AA, Farid AS, Elshazly AM, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes ameliorated diabetic nephropathy by autophagy induction through the mTOR signaling pathway. *Cells* (2018) 7:226. doi: 10.20944/preprints201809.0153.v1

64. Molitch ME. Management of dyslipidemias in patients with diabetes and chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2006) 1:1090–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00780306

65. Mao R, Shen J, Hu X. BMSCs-derived exosomal microRNA-let-7a plays a protective role in diabetic nephropathy *via* inhibition of USP22 expression. *Life Sci* (2021) 268:118937. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118937

66. Wang S, Bao L, Fu W, Deng L, Ran J. Protective effect of exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells on rats with diabetic nephropathy and its possible mechanism. *Am J Transl Res* (2021) 13:6423–30.

67. Xiang E, Han B, Zhang Q, Rao W, Wang Z, Chang C, et al. Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells prevent the progression of early diabetic nephropathy through inhibiting inflammation and fibrosis. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2020) 11:336. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-01852-y

68. Cheng J, Diaz Encarnacion MM, Warner GM, Gray CE, Nath KA, Grande JP. TGF-beta1 stimulates monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in mesangial cells through a phosphodiesterase isoenzyme 4-dependent process. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2005) 289:C959-970. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00153.2005

69. Hills CE, Squires PE. The role of TGF-beta and epithelial-to mesenchymal transition in diabetic nephropathy. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2011) 22:131–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.06.002.

70. Grange C, Tritta S, Tapparo M, Cedrino M, Tetta C, Camussi G, et al. Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles inhibit and revert fibrosis progression in a mouse model of diabetic nephropathy. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9:4468. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41100-9

71. Goligorsky MS, Chen J, Brodsky S. Workshop: endothelial cell dysfunction leading to diabetic nephropathy : Focus on nitric oxide. *Hypertension* (2001) 37:744–8. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.37.2.744

72. Wang Z, Choi ME. Autophagy in kidney health and disease. Antioxid Redox Signal (2014) 20:519-37. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5363

73. Luu K, Greenhill CJ, Majoros A, Decker T, Jenkins BJ, Mansell A. STAT1 plays a role in TLR signal transduction and inflammatory responses. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2014) 92:761–9. doi: 10.1038/icb.2014.51

74. Zhang Y, Le X, Zheng S, Zhang K, He J, Liu M, et al. MicroRNA-146a-5pmodified human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells enhance protection against diabetic nephropathy in rats through facilitating M2 macrophage polarization. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2022) 13:171. doi: 10.1186/s13287-022-02855-7

75. Barnes PJ, Karin M. Nuclear factor-kappaB: a pivotal transcription factor in chronic inflammatory diseases. *N Engl J Med* (1997) 336:1066–71. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199704103361506

76. Jiang Q, Liu P, Wu X, Liu W, Shen X, Lan T, et al. Berberine attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced extracelluar matrix accumulation and inflammation in rat mesangial cells: Involvement of NF-kappaB signaling pathway. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2011) 331:34–40. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2010.07.023

77. Xie W, Zhou J. Aberrant regulation of autophagy in mammalian diseases. Biol Lett (2018) 14:20170540. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2017.0540

78. Lloberas N, Cruzado JM, Franquesa M, Herrero-Fresneda I, Torras J, Alperovich G, et al. Mammalian target of rapamycin pathway blockade slows progression of diabetic kidney disease in rats. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2006) 17:1395–404. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005050549

79. Mori H, Inoki K, Masutani K, Wakabayashi Y, Komai K, Nakagawa R, et al. The mTOR pathway is highly activated in diabetic nephropathy and rapamycin has a strong therapeutic potential. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) 384:471–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.04.136

80. Cai X, Zou F, Xuan R, Lai XY. Exosomes from mesenchymal stem cells expressing microribonucleic acid-125b inhibit the progression of diabetic nephropathy *via* the tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6/Akt axis. *Endocr J* (2021) 68:817–28. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ20-0619

81. Border WA, Noble NA. Transforming growth factor beta in tissue fibrosis. *N Engl J Med* (1994) 331:1286–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199411103311907

82. Zhang Y, Jin D, Kang X, Zhou R, Sun Y, Lian F, et al. Signaling pathways involved in diabetic renal fibrosis. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:696542. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.696542

83. Xu BH, Sheng J, You YK, Huang XR, Ma RCW, Wang Q, et al. Deletion of Smad3 prevents renal fibrosis and inflammation in type 2 diabetic nephropathy. *Metabolism* (2020) 103:154013. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol. 2019.154013

84. Liu Q, Lv S, Liu J, Liu S, Wang Y, Liu G. Mesenchymal stem cells modified with angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 are superior for amelioration of glomerular fibrosis in diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2020) 162:108093. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108093

Glossary

ACE2	angiotensin-converting enzyme 2
AD-MSCs	adipose-derived MSCs
AGEs	advanced glycation end products
Arg1	arginase-1
BM-MSCs	bone marrow-derived MSCs
BMP-7	bone morphogenetic protein-7
CCL2	C-C motif chemokine ligand 2
CHIP	Carboxyl terminus of HSP70 interacting protein
DKD	diabetic kidney disease
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EMT	epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ESRD	end-stage chronic kidney disease
ET-1	endothelin-1
EVs	extracellular vesicles
Exos	exosomes
GDNF	glial cell-derived neurotrophic growth factor
HDAC1	histone deacetylase 1
HG	high glucose
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
HLSC	human liver stem-like cells
HRGECs	human renal glomerular endothelial cell lines
HU-MSCs	human urinederived MSCs
ICAM-1	intracellular adhesion molecule-1
LXA4	lipoxin A4
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MMP3	metalloproteinase 3
MSCs	mesenchymal stromal cells
MVs	microvesicles
MSC-Exos	MSC exosomes
NF-kB	nuclear factor kappa-B
PDK4	Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4
PTECs	proximal tubular epithelial cells
RTEC	renal tubular epithelial cells
ROS	reactive oxygen species
STAT1	Signal Transducers and Activators of

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Vinod Tiwari, Indian Institute of Technology (BHU), India

REVIEWED BY Xuefeng Yu, Tongji Hospital, China Li Fan, The First Affiliated Hospital of Sun

*CORRESPONDENCE Wenge Li wenge_lee2002@126.com

Yat-sen University, China

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 25 May 2022 ACCEPTED 19 July 2022 PUBLISHED 10 August 2022

CITATION

Jiang S, Zhang D and Li W (2022) The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equations perform less well in an older population with type 2 diabetes than their non-diabetic counterparts.

Front. Public Health 10:952899. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.952899

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jiang, Zhang and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equations perform less well in an older population with type 2 diabetes than their non-diabetic counterparts

Shimin Jiang¹, Danyang Zhang² and Wenge Li^{1*}

¹Department of Nephrology, China-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China, ²Graduate School of Peking Union Medical College, Peking Union Medical College and Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Beijing, China

Objectives: The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equations are based on creatinine alone (CKD-EPIcr), cystatin C alone (CKD-EPIcys) and combined creatinine and cystatin C (CKD-EPIcr-cys). It remains unclear whether these equations perform differently in older adults with type 2 diabetes than they do in non-diabetic older individuals.

Methods: This single-center cross-sectional study was performed in adults aged ≥ 65 years between January 2019 and December 2021. Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was measured by technetium-99m-diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid (^{99m}Tc-DTPA) renal dynamic imaging. The bias (difference between measured and estimated GFR), precision [interquartile range (IQR) of the median difference between measured GFR and estimated GFR] and accuracy P30 (percentage of estimated GFR within 30% of measured GFR) were considered the criteria of equation performance.

Results: Finally, 476 participants were enrolled, including 243 adults with type 2 diabetes and 233 non-diabetic adults. The mean age of the included participants was 71.69 \pm 6.4 years and 262 (55%) were male. The mean measured GFR was 49.02 \pm 22.45 ml/min/1.73 m². The CKD-EPIcr-cys equation showed significantly greater bias and lower accuracy (P30) in individuals with diabetes than in the non-diabetic group (median bias, 4.08 vs. 0.41 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively, p < 0.05; P30, 63.78% vs. 78.54%, respectively, p < 0.05). The precision IQR indicated that CKD-EPIcr-cys had also lower precision in individuals with diabetes than in the non-diabetes than in the non-diabete controls (17.27 vs. 15.49 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively). Similar results were observed for CKD-EPIcr and CKD-EPIcys equations. The P30 of all three equations failed to reach 80% in diabetic and non-diabetic groups.

Conclusions: The performance of the CKD-EPI equations was lower in a group of patients aged \geq 65 years with type 2 diabetes than in non-diabetic

counterparts. However, each equation still had limitations regarding accuracy in older adults with or without diabetes.

KEYWORDS

CKD-EPI equations, glomerular filtration rate, type 2 diabetes, elderly, creatinine, cystatin C

Introduction

The number of people older than 65 years with diabetes worldwide was 135.6 million in 2019, and is projected to increase to 276.2 million by 2045 (1). The prevalence of diabetes in adults has more than tripled over the last two decades, from an estimated 151 million (4.6% of the global population) in 2000 to 537 million (10.5%) today (2, 3). The aging of the population and the increase in the prevalence of diabetes are two important factors associated with the increased incidence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) (4). Precise estimation of glomerular filtration rate (GFR) is critical for diagnosis, classification, and management of patients with CKD, particularly in those with comorbid diabetes (5).

The GFR is regarded as the best overall index of kidney function in both health and disease. However, measurement of GFR using clearance of inulin (6), iohexol (7), or 125 I-iothalamate (8) is invasive and may be too inconvenient and costly for use in everyday practice. Technetium-99m-diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid (99m Tc-DTPA) renal dynamic imaging (9), which is recommended for GFR measurement by the Nephrology Committee of the Society of Nuclear Medicine (10), has been widely used in clinical practice. However, as 99m Tc-DTPA is also inconvenient, the use of GFR-estimating equations has become more common.

In 2009, the CKD Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) initially developed a GFR-estimating equation based on serum creatinine for use in individuals with and without kidney function loss (11). Given the association between aging and physiological changes in the kidneys as well as the potential effects of muscle mass on serum creatinine, the CKD-EPI then developed two other equations based on cystatin C alone and in combination with creatinine in 2012, and demonstrated that the combined creatinine-cystatin C equation had better performance than equations based on either of these markers alone (12). However, the applicability of these equations in older Chinese adults with diabetes is unknown. This study was conducted to assess the performance of three CKD-EPI equations in a population of older individuals with type 2 diabetes in comparison with their non-diabetic counterparts.

Patients and methods

Study design

This case-control study was conducted at China-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China, between January 2019 and December 2021. Participants, who were diagnosed with acute kidney failure, receiving dialysis, or with dehydration or fluid overload were excluded. Type 2 diabetes was diagnosed according to the 2022 American Diabetes Association (ADA) criteria (13).

Data collection and measurements

Clinical information, including laboratory (serum levels of creatinine, cystatin C and albumin) and demographic data (age, sex, and disease history) were obtained from the Electronic Medical Record System of our center. Serum creatinine level was determined by enzymatic kinetic assay under fasting conditions, and cystatin C was measured using a latex particle-enhanced turbidimetric immunoassay. Patients' heights and weights were also recorded.

The reference GFR was measured using 99m Tc-DTPA renal dynamic imaging. The results were normalized to a body surface area (BSA) of 1.73 m², as described by the Dubois method: BSA (m²) = 0.007184 × body weight (kg)^{0.425} × height (cm)^{0.725} (14).

CKD-EPI equations

The eGFR was calculated using the Creatinine Equation (CKD-EPIcr 2009) (11), Cystatin C Equation (CKD-EPIcys 2012), and Creatinine-Cystatin C Equation (CKD-EPIcr-cys 2012) (12). The CKD-EPIcr equation (2009) is expressed as follows: 141 × min(Scr/ κ , 1)^{α} × max(Scr/ κ , 1)^{-1.209} × 0.993^{age}[× 1.018 if female] [× 1.159 if Black], where Scr is serum creatinine, κ is 0.7 for females and 0.9 for males, α is -0.329 for females and -0.411 for males, min is the minimum of Scr/ κ or 1, and max is the maximum of Scr/ κ or 1 (11). The CKD-EPIcy equation (2012) is expressed as follows: 133 × min(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-0.499} × max(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-1.328} × 0.996^{age} [× 0.932 if female], where Scys is serum cystatin C, min indicates



the minimum of Scys/ κ or 1, and max indicates the maximum of Scys/ κ or 1 (12). The CKD-EPIcr-cys equation (2012) is expressed as follows: 135 × min(Scr/ κ , 1)^{α} × max(Scr/ κ , 1)^{-0.601} × min(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-0.375} × max(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-0.711} × 0.995^{age} [× 0.969 if female] [× 1.08 if Black], where Scr is serum creatinine, Scys is serum cystatin C, κ is 0.7 for females and 0.9 for males, α is -0.248 for females and -0.207 for males, min indicates the minimum of Scr/ κ or 1, and max indicates the maximum of Scr/ κ or 1 (12).

Statistical analysis

Three criteria were considered in the evaluation of equation performance: bias, precision, and accuracy. Bias was expressed as the median difference (MD) between measured GFR (mGFR) and eGFR, where a negative or positive bias indicated overestimation or underestimation of eGFR, respectively. Precision was expressed as the interquartile range (IQR) of the difference between mGFR and eGFR. Accuracy was considered under two criteria: root mean square error (RMSE), defined as the square root of the average squared difference of eGFR and mGFR on a logarithmic scale; and P30, defined as the percentage of estimates within 30% of mGFR. When P30 is > 90%, the equation fulfills the requirements of clinical interpretation (6, 15, 16). By using the Wilcoxon, McNemar, and χ^2 tests, differences between equations were compared. Bland-Altman analysis was performed to examine the agreement between mGFR and eGFR. The smaller the width between 95% limits of agreement (LOA), the better agreement. Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS (version 23.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA), and MedCalc (version 20.0.15; MedCalc, Mariekerke, Belgium). Statistical significance was defined as a value of p < 0.05.

Results

Characteristics of the study population

Of an initial 652 older adults, 476 fulfilled the study criteria (Figure 1), 262 (55%) of whom were male. The mean age of the participants was 71.69 \pm 6.4 years. The mean mGFR was 49.02 \pm 22.45 ml/min/1.73 m². Participants were divided according to the presence or absence of type 2 diabetes into the diabetic group (243 participants) and non-diabetic group (233 participants). Table 1 shows the demographic and main laboratory data of the participants. Older adults with diabetes had significantly lower mGFR than the non-diabetic group (46.17 \pm 23.3 vs. 51.99 \pm 22.28 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively, p = 0.005). In addition, diabetic participants had a slightly higher level of body mass index than those without diabetes (25.08 \pm 3.03 vs. 24.35 \pm 3.34 kg/m², respectively, p = 0.027). However, there were no significant differences in age, sex, and serum albumin between the two groups (Table 1).

Performance of equations in individuals with or without diabetes

Table 2 shows the performance of the three equations in individuals with and without type 2 diabetes, determined by calculating the bias, precision and accuracy. In the overall population, the bias of CKD-EPIcr was -0.81 ml/min/1.73 m², which was smaller than each of CKD-EPIcys (3.91 ml/min/1.73 m²) and CKD-EPIcr-cys (2.24 ml/min/1.73 m²). Regarding accuracy P30, only CKD-EPIcr-cys exceeded 70%, which was significantly higher than either CKD-EPIcr (66.81%) or CKD-EPIcys (64.91%). In other words, CKD-EPIcr had the smallest bias in the overall population, but CKD-EPIcr-cys achieved the better precision and accuracy.

In individuals with diabetes, the median bias between CKD-EPIcr (1.26 ml/min/1.73 m²) and each of CKD-EPIcys (5.51 ml/min/1.73 m²) and CKD-EPIcr-cys (4.08 ml/min/1.73 m²) was significant (less bias in the former); there was also significant difference in median bias between CKD-EPIcys and CKD-EPIcr-cys (4.08 ml/min/1.73 m²). Precision IQR (P75-P25) demonstrated that the CKD-EPIcr-cys equation had higher precision (17.27 ml/min/1.73 m²) than CKD-EPIcr and CKD-EPIcys equations (18.88 and 18.51 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively). The differences in accuracy (P30) between the three CKD-EPI equations were not statistically significant (62.55, 60.08, and 63.78%, respectively). CKD-EPIcr, CKD-EPIcys, and CKD-EPIcr-cys had similar RMSE values (0.199, 0.194, and 0.193, respectively). The aforementioned results indicate that the three equations had the similar precision and accuracy although CKD-EPIcr had the smallest median bias.

	Overall $(n = 476)$	Individuals with diabetes $(n = 243)$	Individuals without diabetes $(n = 233)$	p
age, years	71.69 ± 6.40	71.54 ± 6.31	71.84 ± 6.51	0.60
males, <i>n</i> (%)	262 (55.0)	130 (53.5)	132 (56.7)	0.49
BMI, kg/m ²	24.72 ± 3.20	25.08 ± 3.03	24.35 ± 3.34	0.027
serum albumin, g/L	38.88 ± 4.87	38.57 ± 5.19	39.21 ± 4.48	0.16
serum creatinine, mg/dl	1.91 ± 1.79	2.08 ± 1.80	1.74 ± 1.76	< 0.05
serum cystatin C, mg/L	1.87 ± 1.13	2.04 ± 1.20	1.70 ± 1.01	0.001
mGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ²	49.02 ± 22.45	46.17 ± 23.30	51.99 ± 22.28	0.005
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ²				
CKD-EPIcr	49.71 ± 26.08	45.48 ± 25.51	54.12 ± 26.0	< 0.001
CKD-EPIcys	45.67 ± 25.70	41.49 ± 24.74	50.02 ± 26.01	< 0.001
CKD-EPIcr-cys	47.01 ± 25.53	42.74 ± 24.74	51.47 ± 25.63	< 0.001

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical data for participants aged 65 years and older^{*}.

*Data are presented as means and standard deviations, and counts (n) and percentages (%).

BMI, body mass index; mGFR, measured glomerular filtration rate; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; CKD-EPI, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology.

TABLE 2 Performance of the three equations in individuals with and without diabetes.

	Bias	Precision	Accuracy		
	Median	IQR (P25, P75)	P30	RMSE	
Overall ($n = 476$)	-0.81	18.75 (-9.78,	66.81	0.176	
CKD-EPIcr		8.97)			
CKD-EPIcys	3.91 ^a	18.63	64.91	0.172	
		(-5.75,12.88)			
CKD-EPIcr-cys	2.24 ^{a,b}	17.75	71.01 ^{a,b}	0.167	
		(-6.57,11.18)			
Individuals with	1.26*	18.88 (-8.33,	62.55*	0.199	
diabetes ($n = 243$)		10.55)			
CKD-EPIcr					
CKD-EPIcys	5.51 ^{a*}	18.51 (-4.02,	60.08*	0.194	
		14.49)			
CKD-EPIcr-cys	4.08 ^{a,b} *	17.27 (-4.59,	63.78*	0.193	
		12.68)			
Individuals without	-1.22	16.99 (-10.93,	71.24	0.147	
diabetes ($n = 233$)		6.06)			
CKD-EPIcr					
CKD-EPIcys	2.90 ^a	17.82 (-6.96,	69.96	0.145	
		10.86)			
CKD-EPIcr-cys	0.41 ^{a,b}	15.49 (-7.10,	78.54 ^{a,b}	0.135	
		8.39)			

P30 represents the proportion of estimated glomerular filtration rate (GFR) within 30% of measured GFR.

IQR, interquartile range; RMSE, root mean square error, the square root of (log measured GFR – log of estimated GFR)2; CKD-EPI, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology.

 $^{a}p<0.05$ vs. CKD-EPIcr in the same group of individuals.

 $^{\rm b}p < 0.05$ vs. CKD-EPIcys in the same group of individuals.

*p < 0.05 vs. corresponding equations used in individuals without diabetes.

In individuals without diabetes, the CKD-EPIcr-cys equation showed the lowest bias, and the highest precision and accuracy. The biases of CKD-EPIcr and CKD-EPIcr-cys were -1.22 and 0.41 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively, which were significantly different. Meanwhile, CKD-EPIcys had higher bias than CKD-EPIcr (2.9 vs. -1.22 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively, p < 0.05). Precision IQR showed that CKD-EPIcr-cys had the highest precision (15.49) and CKD-EPIcrys had the lowest precision (17.82). With regard to accuracy, CKD-EPIcr-cys had higher P30 (78.54%) and lower RMSE (0.135) than each of CKD-EPIcr (71.24% and 0.147, respectively) and CKD-EPIcys (69.96% and 0.145, respectively), although the differences were not significant.

Comparison of the performance of equations between individuals with and without diabetes

As shown in Table 2, the performance of CKD-EPIcr-cys was less accurate in the diabetic group than in the non-diabetic group. Regarding bias, the median bias of CKD-EPIcr-cys in the diabetic group was significantly higher than in the non-diabetic group (4.08 vs. 0.41 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively, p < 0.05). Regarding precision, CKD-EPIcr-cys had the lower in the diabetic group than in non-diabetic group (17.27 vs. 15.49 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively). Regarding accuracy, CKD-EPIcr-cys was less accurate in the diabetic group; it had the lower P30 and higher RMSE in the diabetic group than in the non-diabetic group (P30, 63.78% vs.78.54%; RMSE, 0.193



vs. 0.135). Similar results were observed for CKD-EPIcr and CKD-EPIcys equations.

Bland-Altman plots of the three equations compared to mGFR

Bland-Altman plots of the three equations in the overall population and in persons stratified by diabetes were presented in Figures 2, 3. In the overall population, Bland-Altman analysis showed that CKD-EPIcr-cys had the best agreement; it had the lowest gap between the 95% LOA (CKD-EPIcr, 52.4 ml/min/1.73 m²; CKD-EPIcys, 55.1 ml/min/1.73 m²; CKD-EPIcr-cys, 48.8 ml/min/1.73 m²) (Figures 2A–C).

As shown in Figures 3A–F, in participants with and without diabetes, the gaps between the 95% LOA of the three equations were higher in the diabetic group than in the non-diabetic group (CKD-EPIcr, 53 vs. 51.3 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively; CKD-EPIcry, 55 vs. 54.8 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively; CKD-EPIcr-cys, 49.3 vs. 47.8 ml/min/1.73 m², respectively), suggesting that the consistency of these equations is lower in older subjects with diabetes than in their non-diabetic counterparts.

Discussion

We evaluated the performance of three CKD-EPI equations in a group of older adults with type 2 diabetes in comparison with non-diabetic counterparts. This study found that the CKD-EPI equations were less reliable in estimating GFR in older adults with type 2 diabetes than in the non-diabetic group. In addition, CKD-EPIcr-cys had the least bias and the best precision and accuracy in adults without diabetes. However, there seemed to be no performance advantages in using any of these equations in diabetic counterparts, although the median bias of CKD-EPIcr was relatively small.

In actual clinical practice, determination of GFR is an important step in assessing renal function. The ADA recommends annual screening for diabetic kidney disease by assessing urinary albumin excretion and GFR (17). The modification of diet in renal disease (MDRD) equation, which was developed in CKD patients, tends to be less accurate than CKD-EPI in those with GFR \geq 60 ml/min/1.73 m² (11, 18). Thus, other equations were developed, such as CKD-EPI equation. The Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines recommend use of the CKD-EPI equations to estimate GFR in adults of any age (19), which were developed in a North American and European population (11, 12). In addition to age and sex, these equations also take race into account. Although the proportion of patients aged ≥ 65 years with the CKD-EPI development data sets was 13%, previous study has found that CKD-EPI works satisfactorily in older adults with varying levels of GFR (20).

Older adults typically show a decrease in GFR, and this group is increasing in importance due to the gradual aging of the population (1). However, there have been few studies regarding



the application of CKD-EPI equations in adults aged ≥ 65 years (6, 21, 22). As diabetes can induce renal damage and decrease GFR, it is necessary to clarify whether the CKD-EPI equations are equally applicable in older Chinese adults with and without type 2 diabetes.

In this study, GFR was measured using ^{99m}Tc-DTPA renal dynamic imaging, which was proposed by the Nephrology Committee of the Society of Nuclear Medicine (9). This method has been widely accepted as applicable for clinical evaluation of renal function (23, 24). Therefore, GFR obtained by ^{99m}Tc-DTPA renal dynamic imaging in this study was chosen as the reference GFR.

As muscle mass is frequently reduced in older adults, while plasma cystatin C is less affected, we explored the performance of CKD-EPI equations based on cystatin C alone and in combination with creatinine in older individuals with and without diabetes. All three equations showed a clinically poorer performance, with greater degrees of bias, lower precision, and lower accuracy, in older adults with diabetes than in non-diabetic controls. Our results were similar to a previous study by Camago et al. (25) in a population of 56 adult patients with type 2 diabetes and 55 healthy volunteers in whom the CKD-EPIcr equation was shown to be less accurate in the diabetic group compared to the non-diabetic controls. In a previous study, in a population of 215 diabetic and 192 non-diabetic CKD patients with a broad range of ages, Xie et al. (26) reported that CKD-EPIcr-cys showed the best performance among the CKD-EPI equations, and that eGFR equations were less accurate in the diabetic group than in the non-diabetic group. As these studies did not specifically focus on older adults, we then investigated four creatinine-based equations in people aged \geq 65 years and our results suggested that the accuracy of creatinine-based GFR-estimating equations was lower in individuals with diabetes (21). However, further investigations are required to determine whether addition of diabetes can improve the performance of CKD-EPI equations in the older population.

On the other hand, the P30 of all three equations in the study failed to reach 80% in the elderly with or without diabetes, suggesting that these equations have limitations regarding accuracy in these populations. P30 exceeding 90% indicates that the equation meets the requirements for clinical interpretation (6, 15, 16). However, care is required in interpreting P30 decline in older adults, as small errors may still indicate inconsistent equations in those with low GFR (mean mGFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 m²).

In addition, CKD-EPIcr overestimated GFR and CKD-EPIcys underestimated GFR whether in the overall population or in elderly subjects without diabetes. It may be caused by non-GFR determinants. Lower serum creatinine levels in older adults are often due to lower

muscle mass and reduced protein intake. This is because lower muscle mass and reduced protein intake in older adults may lead to a decrease in serum creatinine levels, and the inflammatory status may lead to increased serum cystatin C levels. And in people with diabetes, all equations overestimated GFR and had greater biases, which appeared to be affected by glucose levels, although not fully explainable. Another misconception about the source of serum creatinine may be that a higher body mass index in the diabetic group would be an indicator of higher muscle mass. In fact, it indicates body fat buildup, not muscle mass (27).

This study had several limitations, as the sample size was relatively small sample size and from a single institution. Therefore, further studies with larger populations are required to verify our findings. In this study, GFR was measured by ^{99m}Tc-DTPA renal dynamic imaging, and not by inulin clearance. As inulin requires continuous infusions and repeated blood collection, it is not typically used in clinical settings. Finally, since this study is retrospective, some non-GFR determinants (e.g., C-reactive proteins) are incomplete.

Conclusion

In summary, the CKD-EPI equations were less reliable in estimating GFR in older adults with type 2 diabetes than in their non-diabetic counterparts. In adults with type 2 diabetes, there seemed to be no performance advantages in the use of any of these equations, albeit CKD-EPIcr had the least bias. However, in non-diabetic people, CKD-EPIcr-cys achieved optimal performance among the three equations. Nevertheless, there were still limitations regarding accuracy regardless of the presence or absence of type 2 diabetes. In older adults, especially in those with diabetes, early referrals for CKD treatment may decrease mortality, hospitalization rates, and rates of catheter use for dialysis.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of China-Japan Friendship Hospital. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

SJ contributed to conception and design of the study, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. SJ and DZ collected the clinical data. WL revised the final version and was the guarantor of this work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from Science and Technology Project of Beijing (D171100002817002), National

References

1. Sinclair A, Saeedi P, Kaundal A, Karuranga S, Malanda B, Williams R. Diabetes and global ageing among 65-99-year-old adults: findings from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9(th) edition. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2020) 162:108078. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108078

2. International Diabetes Federation. *IDF Diabetes Atlas--10th Edition*. 2021. Available online at: https://www.diabetesatlas.org

3. Sun H, Saeedi P, Karuranga S, Pinkepank M, Ogurtsova K, Duncan BB, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global, regional and country-level diabetes prevalence estimates for 2021 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2022) 183:109119. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2021.109119

4. GBD Chronic Kidney Disease Collaboration. Global, regional, national burden óf chronic disease, 1990–2017: and kidney global burden of disease systematic analysis for the study 2017 Lancet. (2020) 395:709-33. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)3 2977-0

 Navaneethan SD, Zoungas S, Caramori ML, Chan JCN, Heerspink HJL, Hurst C, et al. Diabetes management in chronic kidney disease: synopsis of the 2020 KDIGO clinical practice guideline. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:385– 94. doi: 10.7326/M20-5938

6. da Silva Selistre L, Rech DL, de Souza V, Iwaz J, Lemoine S, Dubourg L. Diagnostic performance of creatinine-based equations for estimating glomerular filtration rate in adults 65 years and older. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2019) 179:796–804. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.0223

 Kilbride HS, Stevens PE, Eaglestone G, Knight S, Carter JL, Delaney MP, et al. Accuracy of the MDRD (Modification of Diet in Renal Disease) study and CKD-EPI (CKD Epidemiology Collaboration) equations for estimation of GFR in the elderly. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2013) 61:57–66. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.201 2.06.016

8. van Londen M, Wijninga AB, de Vries J, Sanders JF, de Jong MFC, Pol RA, et al. Estimated glomerular filtration rate for longitudinal follow-up of living kidney donors. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2018) 33:1054–64. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfx370

9. Gates GF. Split renal function testing using Tc-99m DTPA. A rapid technique for determining differential glomerular filtration. *Clin Nucl Med.* (1983) 8:400–7. doi: 10.1097/00003072-198309000-00003

10. Blaufox MD, Aurell M, Bubeck B, Fommei E, Piepsz A, Russell C, et al. Report of the radionuclides in nephrourology committee on renal clearance. *J Nucl Med.* (1996) 37:1883–90.

11. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF. 3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med.* (2009) 150:604–12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006

Key Clinical Specialty Capacity Building Project (2019-542), and National Key R&D Program of China (2018YFC1704304).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, Eckfeldt JH, Feldman HI, Greene T, et al. Estimating glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine and cystatin C. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 367:20–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114248

 American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee.
Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes-2022. *Diabetes Care*. (2022) 45:S17–38. doi: 10.2337/dc2 2-S002

14. Du Bois D, Du Bois EF. A formula to estimate the approximate surface area if height and weight be known. 1916. *Nutrition*. (1989) 5:303–11.

15. Stevens PE, Levin A. Evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease: synopsis of the kidney disease: improving global outcomes 2012 clinical practice guideline. *Ann Intern Med.* (2013) 158:825–30. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-11-201306040-00007

AS, Inker LA. filtration 16. Levey Assessment of glomerular health of rate in and disease: state the review art а (2017) Pharmacol 102:405-19. doi: 10.1002/c Clin Ther. pt.729

17. American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee. 11. Chronic kidney disease and risk management: standards of medical care in diabetes-2022. *Diabetes Care*. (2022) 45:S175–84. doi: 10.2337/dc2 2-S011

18. Veronese FV, Gomes EC, Chanan J, Carraro MA, Camargo EG, Soares AA, et al. Performance of CKD-EPI equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate as compared to MDRD equation in South Brazilian individuals in each stage of renal function. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2014) 52:1747–54. doi: 10.1515/cclm-201 4-0052

19. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Glomerular Diseases Work Group. KDIGO 2021 clinical practice guideline for the management of glomerular diseases. *Kidney Int.* (2021) 100:S1–276. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2021. 05.021

20. Jha V, Garcia-Garcia G, Iseki K, Li Z, Naicker S, Plattner B, et al. Chronic kidney disease: global dimension and perspectives. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:260–72. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)6 0687-X

21. Jiao Y, Jiang S, Zhou J, Zhang D, Li W. Diabetes influences the performance of creatinine-based equations for estimating glomerular filtration rate in the elderly population. *Eur J Int Med.* (2022) 100:146–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2022. 02.018

22. Chen A, Sun Y, Li W, Yang J, Yao Z, Shi L. et al. Application of GFR estimation equations in elderly patients with measured GFR below $60\,$

mL/min/173 m². Aging Clin Exp Res. (2020) 32:415–22. doi: 10.1007/s40520-019-0 1218-2

23. Li DY, Yin WJ, Yi YH, Zhang BK, Zhao J, Zhu CN, et al. Development and validation of a more accurate estimating equation for glomerular filtration rate in a Chinese population. *Kidney Int.* (2019) 95:636–46. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.201 8.10.019

24. Xu Q, Li X, Gao B, Xu Y, Wang Y, Zhang N, et al. Comparative performance of four equations estimating glomerular filtration rate in adult Chinese diabetics. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2013) 36:293–7. doi: 10.3275/8524

25. Camargo EG, Soares AA, Detanico AB, Weinert LS, Veronese FV, Gomes EC, et al. The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology

Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation is less accurate in patients with Type 2 diabetes when compared with healthy individuals. *Diabet Med.* (2011) 28:90–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010.03161.x

26. Xie D, Shi H, Xie J, Ding Y, Zhang W, Ni L, et al. A validation study on eGFR equations in Chinese patients with diabetic or non-diabetic CKD. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:581. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019. 00581

27. Flegal KM, Shepherd JA, Looker AC, Graubard BI, Borrud LG, Ogden CL, et al. Comparisons of percentage body fat, body mass index, waist circumference, and waist-stature ratio in adults. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 89:500–8. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008. 26847

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Vinod Tiwari, Indian Institute of Technology (BHU), India

REVIEWED BY Ana Stancic, Siniša Stanković Institute for Biological Research, University of Belgrade, Serbia Shuang Shen, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yan Chen cheny99@jlu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 17 May 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 29 September 2022

CITATION

Wu Y and Chen Y (2022) Research progress on ferroptosis in diabetic kidney disease. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:945976. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.945976

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wu and Chen. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Research progress on ferroptosis in diabetic kidney disease

You Wu and Yan Chen*

Department of Endocrinology, the Second Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China

Ferroptosis is a newly discovered form of cell death that differs from other forms of regulated cell death at morphological, biochemical, and genetic levels, and is characterized by iron-dependent accumulation of lipid peroxides. Ferroptosis is closely related to intracellular metabolism of amino acids, lipids, and iron. Hence, its regulation may facilitate disease intervention and treatment. Diabetic kidney disease is one of the most serious complications of diabetes, which leads to serious psychological and economic burdens to patients and society when it progresses to end-stage renal disease. At present, there is no effective treatment for diabetic kidney disease. Ferroptosis has been recently identified in animal models of diabetic kidney disease. Herein, we systematically reviewed the regulatory mechanism of ferroptosis, its association with different forms of cell death, summarized its relationship with diabetic kidney disease, and explored its regulation to intervene with the progression of diabetic kidney disease or as a treatment.

KEYWORDS

iron-dependent cell death, iron metabolism, diabetic kidney disease, lipid peroxidation, diabetes mellitus

Introduction

The number of diabetic patients worldwide has more than doubled during the past 20 years (1). About 30-40% of these patients can develop diabetic kidney disease (DKD), of which about 50% can progress to end-stage renal disease (ESRD). DKD is the most common cause of ESRD, and is associated with increased incidence and mortality in diabetic patients. Timely diagnosis and treatment can delay its progression. However, a study by US scholars in 2021 showed that about 50% of patients with type 2 diabetes in CKD 3 stage are undiagnosed (2). In addition, there are differences between the animal models used in the preclinical study of DKD and the clinical studies in terms of age, renal function at the onset of the disease, and combination drugs, which leads to poor predictive value of animal experiments on the results of clinical trials, which increases the difficulty of treatment, so the control of DKD progression is not ideal (3). Current

treatments for DKD include controlling blood pressure and blood glucose, and the use of drugs that inhibit the reninangiotensin system. However, these methods have limited effectiveness in preventing DKD progression. Therefore, deeper understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms of DKD is needed to develop better therapies. Long-term high blood glucose level induces the expression of advanced glycation end-products, cytokines, growth factors, etc., activates signal transduction pathways, and promotes inflammation, endoplasmic reticulum stress, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and expression of autophagyrelated genes, which constitute the main pathogenesis of DKD (4, 5). Ferroptosis is defined as iron-dependent regulated cell death, involving regulation at gene and protein levels, and is associated with abnormal accumulation of lipid reactive oxygen species (ROS), resulting in oxidative stress and cell death (6). Ferroptosis is ubiquitous in the body, and is involved in various physiological and pathological processes. In the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes, ferroptosis not only leads to insulin secretion disorder, β-cell damage, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and production of ROS but also participates in the development of diabetes-related complications (7). In this review, we discussed the specific mechanism of ferroptosis and its role in DKD.

Discovery of ferroptosis

In 2003, Dolma et al. found that a novel compound erastin, selectively kills cancer cells differentially expressing RAS compared to other cells. In 2012, Dixon et al. investigated the mechanism by which erastin kills cancer cells using RAS mutations, and formally named this cell death process as "ferroptosis" (8). There are no morphological changes in the cell membrane and chromatin during ferroptosis, which are mainly manifested as decreased mitochondrial volume and mitochondrial crest, and increased mitochondrial membrane density (9). Biochemically, ferroptosis mainly manifests as declined glutathione peroxidase-4 activity, depletion of intracellular glutathione, and increased ROS level. Iron accumulation, glutathione depletion, and lipid peroxidation are indispensable and occur simultaneously during ferroptosis (10).

Association between ferroptosis and other forms of cell death

Ferroptosis was previously thought to be genetically and biologically different from other forms of cell death, but has been subsequently proven to share a common pathway with these forms (1). Apoptosis: It is now known that reactive oxygen species-induced lipid peroxidation plays an important role in

apoptosis, mainly manifesting as lipid peroxidation products, which can be combined with extracellular signal-modulating kinase, p38 and other complexes to activate mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) to activate caspase signal to initiate apoptosis. In addition, protein kinase C (PKC) can also be activated to amplify the apoptosis cascade. Since ferroptosis is accompanied by the formation of ROS and lipid peroxidation products, whether interfering with ferroptosis to reduce the production of ROS and subsequent lipid peroxidation plays a regulatory role in apoptosis needs to be further studied (11). Moreover, a recent study has indicated that ferroptosis-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress is associated with apoptosis. Protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic kinase (PERK) eukaryotic initiator 2α (EIF 2α) - activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4) pathway-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress is involved in regulation of enhancer binding protein (C/EBP[CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein] homologous protein] homologous protein, CHOP) and other target genes. Previous studies have shown that CHOP binds to the promoter of the pro-apoptotic protein p53-upregulated apoptotic factor (PUMA) during endoplasmic reticulum stress and induces the expression of PUMA, while trace analysis data have shown that the ferroptosis inducer artesunate (ART) can induce AFT4dependent gene CHOP expression. In summary, ferroptosis inducers may promote the expression of pro-apoptotic protein PUMA through the PERK-EIF2α-ATF4-CHOP pathway. Interestingly, ART does not induce the expression of other pro-apoptotic proteins such as BCL-2 to promote apoptosis, that is, ferroptosis inducers do not promote apoptosis, which suggests antagonism in the induction of ferroptosis and apoptosis. Further research is needed to understand the role of ferroptosis inducers in PUMA activation for apoptosis (12). Whether a synergistic effect exists between ferroptosis inhibitors and apoptosis remains unknown but is likely based on the common characteristics ROS production and lipid peroxidation. Future research on regulating ferroptosis intervention-related diseases needs to focus on the apoptosis signal transduction pathway. (2) Autophagy: Autophagy is an evolutionarily conserved lysosomal-dependent degradation pathway. Nuclear receptor coactivator 4 (NCOA4)-mediated ferritinophagy can lead to ferroptosis by providing available labile iron. Lipid peroxides in ferroptosis induce autophagy by inhibiting adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), while knockout of autophagy-related genes such as Atg5 and Atg7 can reduce lipid peroxidation and intracellular Fe²⁺ inhibition of ferroptosis (11, 13). Autophagy, lipid peroxides, and ferroptosis involve complex interactions. Inhibition of ferritinophagy can interrupt ferroptosis in metabolic diseases. For example, NCOA4 knockout inhibits erastin-induced ferroptosis, while NCOA4 overexpression may be sufficient for ferroptosis. It is necessary to study the molecular regulatory mechanism of ferritinophagy in diseases (14). A new ferroptosis inhibitor 9a can act on NCOA4 to ameliorate ischemicreperfusion injury of the nervous system *via* the ferroptosis regulatory pathway, suggesting that NCOA4 is a promising drug target (15). In summary, apoptosis, autophagy and ferroptosis are closely linked by lipid peroxides. Different forms of cell death have unique morphological and biochemical characteristics, but there are some crosstalks between the regulators and components of these processes that jointly regulate cell death, and complete understanding of the interactions between the above processes can provide new insights on ferroptosisrelated diseases.

Regulatory mechanism of ferroptosis

Induction of ferroptosis

It is currently believed that the main mechanism of ferroptosis is the catalytic lipid peroxidation of highly expressed unsaturated fatty acids on the cell membrane under the action of unstable Fe²⁺ or lipoxygenase, thereby inducing cell death. In addition, ferroptosis is also manifested by the reduction of the core enzyme GPX4 of the antioxidant glutathione system (1). Role of active iron: Under normal circumstances, the iron entering the body is bound with transferrin in the form of Fe^{3+} , enters the cell via transferrin receptor 1 on the cell membrane, and is reduced to Fe²⁺ by six-transmembrane epithelial antigen of the prostate 3 (STEAP3). The majority of iron is stored in the form of ferritin, and the minority is transported to a labile iron pool (LIP) in the cytoplasm via divalent metal transporter 1 (16). The intracellular iron output is mainly mediated by ferroportin (FPN), the main reason is that during iron overload in the body, a large amount of free iron in the LIP in the cells, i.e., Fe²⁺, can provide hydroxyl radicals through the Fenton reaction and participate in lipid peroxidation, resulting in ferroptosis. The use of iron chelating agents (deferoxamine) to inhibit ferroptosis corroborates the role of iron overload in the process of ferroptosis, so ferroptosis is closely related to the steady state of iron metabolism in the body. Hepcidin can regulate FPN expression and affect the iron level in the system, while iron reaction elements (IREs)/iron regulatory proteins 1, 2 (IRP1, IRP2) regulate iron homeostasis at the cellular level (17). The imbalance of iron intake, storage, utilization, and outflow in the body affects the sensitivity of cells to ferroptosis. In addition to common iron transporters, heat shock proteins, contain iron enzymes such as heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), which regulate ferroptosis through other pathways such as lipid peroxidation (18). (2) Main processes of lipid peroxidation: The peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids on the cell membrane is the key process of ferroptosis. Polyunsaturated fatty acids first form PE-PUFA under the actions of Acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) and lysophosphatidylcholine

acyltransferase 3 (LPACT3), followed by formation of PE-PUFA-OOH through the action of lipoxygenase or nonenzymatically through autoxidation, which ultimately causes cell death (19). Lipid peroxidation mainly occurs in two ways: non-enzymatic radical chain reaction and enzyme catalytic occurrence, non-enzymatic radical chain reaction is mainly mediated by iron provided by hydroxyl radical through Fenton reaction, and enzyme catalytic reaction is mediated by the aloxygenases (ALOXs), especially ALOX15. Lipoxygenase was initially considered as an important driving factor of lipid peroxidation, but its low expression in some cancer cells suggested that other enzymes may mediate lipid peroxidation. Koppula et al. summarized previous studies and concluded that cytochrome P450 reductase transfers electrons from NADPH to oxygen to produce hydrogen peroxide, thereby driving lipid peroxidation, membrane rupture and ferroptosis (20). Therefore, ALOXs may not be necessary for ferroptosis, and may also function in some more complex environments or situations by supplementing the auto-oxidation pathway, which needs to be further studied. Many hypotheses have been proposed on the mechanism by which lipid peroxides cause ferroptosis, including changes in cell membrane structure and permeability affecting cell survival. Lipid peroxides that can break down to produce toxic derivatives such as malondialdehyde (MDA), causing DNA and protein damage. In addition, once lipid peroxides are formed, they may further amplify ROS signaling and drive the mitochondrial cysteine protease signaling pathway, linked to pyroptosis (19). The substrates of ferroptosis are mainly polyunsaturated fatty acids. Recent studies have found that long-chain saturated fatty acids also participate in ferroptosis, but the mechanism remains unclear. Through endogenous metabolites and genome-wide CRISPR screening, Cui et al. confirmed that peroxisomal fatty acyl-CoA reductase 1 (FAR1) is a key factor in ferroptosis mediated by long-chain saturated fatty acids (21). Interestingly, a recent study also reported that exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids suppress ferroptosis requiring acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 3 (ACSL3), which is related to the inhibition of lipid ROS accumulation and reduction of phospholipid levels of oxidizable polyunsaturated fatty acids (22). Thus, the activation of ACSL4 rather than other homologous enzymes is necessary for lipid peroxidation, and ACSL4 expression can regulate the occurrence of ferroptosis. (3) The collapse of the antioxidant system: 1) Xc system-GSH-GPX4: GPX4 is a key defense mechanism to prevent cellular ferroptosis, with selenocysteine in its active center. It reduces toxic lipid hydroperoxides to corresponding hydroxyl derivatives to inhibit ferroptosis via intracellular glutathione (23). Lipid peroxidation and subsequent ferroptosis were observed in mice with GPX4 conditional knockout, indicating that GPX4 is a key regulator of ferroptosis (24). GSH acts as an electron donor during GPX4 involvement in ferroptosis, so regulation of the GSH axis is

10.3389/fendo.2022.945976

necessary to maintain GPX4 activity. Cystine, one of the components of GSH, is the main limiting process of GSH synthesis. It is transferred into cells by the cystine/glutamate reverse transporter (Xc⁻system), which is composed of SLC7A11 and SLC3A2. Inhibition of this system can lead to depletion of cysteine in cells, and induce ferroptosis (25). The nuclear factor erythroid-related factor 2 (Nrf2) affects SLC7A11 expression to resist ferroptosis, and p53 protein also regulates its expression to affect cysteine intake, thereby blocking GSH synthesis and inducing ferroptosis (26). The active center of GSH contains selenocysteine, so the regulation of the selenium axis also affects the activity of GPX4. The mechanism of synthesis of GPX4 is not well understood. Zhang et al. found that cystine and cysteine promote GPX4 protein synthesis by activating rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1), and its inactivation sensitizes cancer cells to ferroptosis by reducing GPX4 (27). These results suggested that the synthesis of GSH can be regulated by regulating the Xc-system to affect ferroptosis. In addition, some cells can also synthesize cysteine from methionine via the transsulfuration pathway, which resists ferroptosis to some extent (28). Glutamate-cysteine ligase activity has been found to prevent the accumulation of glutamate in cells under cysteine deficiency, thereby preventing ferroptosis in non-small cell lung cancer (29). 2) Nuclear factor erythroid-related factor 2 signal pathway: NRF2 is involved in constituting and controlling defense pathways for oxidative stress and may play a role in regulating ferroptosis, given that many proteins stored and transported with iron are controlled by NRF2, which also affects enzymes associated with GSH synthesis as described above, so targeting NRF2 to regulate lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis is a viable disease intervention strategy (30, 31). Therefore, GPX4 inactivation is not the only condition for ferroptosis, and the collapse of many antioxidant mechanisms in the body leads to the occurrence of ferroptosis. In summary, ferroptosis is the result of a comprehensive process, which requires the high expression of lipid-promoting peroxidases such as ACSL4, the role of active iron, and the collapse of antioxidant systems such as GPX4. The key processes involved in ferroptosis are shown in Figure 1.

Inhibition of ferroptosis

Numerous mechanisms in the body inhibit ferroptosis: (1) NADPH-FSP1-coenzyme Q10 pathway: GPX4 is considered as a major antioxidant of ferroptosis. Different cancer cells were found to have different sensitivities to GPX4 inhibitors, and it was speculated that there were other factors controlling resistance to ferroptosis. In 2019, ferroptosis suppressor protein 1 (FSP1) was identified as an important antioxidant protein, which acts through coenzyme Q10 (ubiquinone). The reduced form of ubiquinone can capture active free radicals and



FIGURE 1

Under the actions of ACSL4, LPACT3 and ALOX15, PUFAs on the cell membrane form PE-PUFA-OOH. Under excessive iron conditions, some iron is stored in the form of ferritin, and the remaining free Fe²⁺ generates numerous ROS and hydroxyl radicals through the Fenton reaction, which induces ferroptosis on the cell membrane. However, GPX4 reduces PE-PUFA-OOH to -OH and inhibits ferroptosis *via* the effect of GSH. The synthesis of GSH is mainly regulated by the Xc⁻system, through which cystine transported into cells is reduced to cysteine to synthesize GSH. p53 can inhibit SLC7A11 expression in this system and promote ferroptosis. In addition, NRF2 can affect the expression of SLC7A11 against ferroptosis. NCOA4-mediated ferritinophagy leads to ferritin production by providing labile iron, deferoxamine can also inhibit ferroptosis by chelating active iron. PUFAs, Polyunsaturated fatty acids; GPX4, Glutathione peroxidase 4; GSH, Reduced glutathione; GSSH, Oxidized glutathione; ACSL4, Acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4; LPACT3, Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase 3; ALOX15, Arachidonic acid 15-lipoxygenase; NCOA4, Nuclear receptor coactivator-4; ROS, Reactive oxygen species; TFR1, Transferrin receptor 1; NRF2, Nuclear factor erythroid-related factor 2; DFO, Deferoxamine; STEAP3, six-transmembrane epithelial antigen of the prostate 3.

reduce the production of intracellular lipid peroxides. Moreover, FSP1 can catalyze the regeneration of coenzyme Q10 through NADPH (32). As the main effector of the FSP1 pathway, supplementation with selenium and coenzyme Q10 has been reported to reduce cardiovascular mortality in the elderly (33). In summary, NADPH-FSP1-CoQ10 exists as a parallel system independent of GPX4 action, and inhibition of FSP1 may be an effective strategy to promote death of cancer cells and other diseases. (2) GCH-1-BH4: Tetrahydrobiopterin has antioxidant effects in vitro, and its role in regulating ferroptosis has been recently clarified. Tetrahydrobiopterin can reduce lipid peroxidation by producing coenzyme Q10 to reduce oxidative damage and cause lipid remodeling (34). GTP cyclohydrolase 1 (GCH-1) is a rate-limiting enzyme regulating the synthesis of tetrahydrobiopterin. Overexpression of GCH-1 has a protective effect on RSL3-induced ferroptosis, but not on apoptotic inducers, indicating that GCH-1 selectively protects cells against ferroptosis (35) (3). Post-translational modifications (PTMs): PTMs include phosphorylation, acetylation, methylation, etc. Most PTMs are reversible. PTMs not only diversify the function of proteins but also enable cells or organisms to respond quickly and strictly to stress. The role of PTMs in ferroptosis has gradually become a research hotspot in recent years (35). Recent studies on tumor cells reported that when cells are hungry, energy stress activates the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), activates of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) phosphorylation, and further inhibits the synthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids and ferroptosis. Activating this process has been found to prevent renal ischemia-reperfusion damage. AMPK can promote ferroptosis by inhibiting the transport of SLC7A11-mediated cystine, although its role in ferroptosis remains controversial. Thus, AMPK and ferroptosis need further study (35-37). The role of AMPK in ferroptosis is related to phosphorylation. There are few studies on how other PTMs are involved in the regulation of ferroptosis. Elucidating PTMs associated with inhibition of ferroptosis under different conditions is an interesting research direction for the future.

Ferroptosis and DKD

With the increase in global prevalence of diabetes, the prevalence of chronic kidney disease caused by type 2 diabetes has increased from 1.39% in 1999 to 1.52% in 2009 and 1.74% in 2019 (38). Typically, proteinuria is considered as a biomarker of DKD, preceding the loss of renal function. However, a subset of patients have no proteinuria but develop loss of renal function, which is also known as non-proteinuria diabetic nephropathy, which indicates that DKD has clinical heterogeneity and increases the difficulty of treatment (39). The pathogenesis of traditional DKD is believed to be caused by changes in renal hemodynamics (high stress, high filtration, high perfusion), increased oxidative stress caused by ischemia and abnormal

glucose metabolism, inflammation, and hyperactivity of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. Recent molecular and cellular studies have continued to explore new areas of DKD pathogenesis, including genetic and epigenetic modifications, podocyte autophagy, and mitochondrial dysfunction, providing more possible directions for the treatment of DKD (40). The role of ferroptosis was first identified in renal ischemic-reperfusion injury, and there are limited studies on DKD. Previous studies found that iron-chelating agents could delay the progression of DKD, the underlying mechanism may be that iron chelating agents exert a protective renal effect by reducing oxidative stress, inflammation, and tubular interstitial fibrosis. However, the exact mechanism by which excessive iron promotes DKD progression remains unclear (41, 42). Because ferroptosis process is accompanied by excessive lipid ROS production, which can lead to oxidative stress, and kidney-rich mitochondrial structure is more vulnerable to oxidative stress damage, the traditional pathogenesis of DKD is also involved in oxidative stress, which suggests that ferroptosis may be associated with DKD. Many scholars have also aimed to explore new ways to control the progression of DKD based on this perspective. The mechanism of ferroptosis in DKD was initially studied mainly at the cellular and animal levels. For example, Wang et al. explored the role of ferroptosis in the progression of DKD using in vivo and in vitro experiments, and found that ferroptosis-related protein GPX4 expression was decreased, ACSL4 expression was increased, and lipid peroxide products and iron content were also increased in mouse models of DKD (43), which was similar to the results of Li et al. who also found that Nrf2 levels were decreased in the DKD animal model, which inhibited ferroptosis by upregulating Nrf2 through fenofibrate therapy and delayed the progression of DKD in mice (41), revealing the development mechanism of DKD from a new perspective. As mentioned above, the occurrence of ferroptosis is related to the NRF2 signaling pathway. Therefore, Li's research links ferroptosis more closely with DKD. Subsequently, Kim et al. also reported that ferroptosis was associated with DKD. They evaluated changes in ferroptosis-related molecules in renal biopsy tissues of patients with DKD, and found that SLC7A11 and GPX4 mRNA expression was reduced in renal tubules (44). The above studies have confirmed that ferroptosis is associated with DKD, but the mechanism is unclear. Feng et al. found that ferroptosis can damage renal tubules through hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α)/heme oxygenase (HO-1) pathway, while the selective ferroptosis inhibitor Ferostatin-1 (Fer-1) treatment inhibits the expression of HIF-1 α and HO-1, and reduces tubular damage and fibrosis in diabetic mice by reducing tubular iron overload, inhibiting ROS formation, oxidative stress, and lipid peroxidation (45). The association between ferroptosis and DKD was also studied at the clinical level. We found that the expression level of ferroptosis-related protein GPX4 was reduced in the serum of patients with DKD, while the

expression of ACSL4, PTGS2, HMGB1, ROS release and MDA generation were upregulated. The inhibition of HMGB1 was further found to promote the expression of Nrf2 to prevent glucose-induced mesangial cell ferroptosis and inhibit the inflammatory response. These findings provide new treatment strategies for DKD by HMGB1 and ferroptosis (46). High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) is a typical damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP), which are endogenous mediators causing inflammation, and can be released by apoptosis, ferroptosis, and necrosis (47). Once released, HMGB1 can further bind to receptors such as Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and glycosylation end-product specific receptor (AGER) to mediate immune responses. Therefore, inhibition of HMGB1 release and extracellular activity is a potential anti-inflammatory strategy for the treatment of diseases such as DKD (48). In summary, the above studies have shown that ferroptosis also plays a pathological role in the development of DKD. The main studies on ferroptosis with DKD are listed in Table 1.

Regulation of ferroptosis for the treatment of DKD

Ferroptosis is related to the action of active iron, lipid peroxidation, and weakened antioxidant capacity, and intervention of these processes may inhibit ferroptosis for therapeutic purposes. Current evidence indicates the following: 1) The ACSL4 inhibitor rosiglitazone reduces renal pathological damage in DKD mice by reducing lipid peroxidation (43). 2) Iron chelating agents are also an effective method of inhibiting ferroptosis by reducing excess intracellular iron, since the occurrence of ferroptosis depends on excess intracellular iron producing large amounts of ROS through the Fenton reaction. Kim and Feng et al. have demonstrated that Fer-1 mitigates kidney damage in mice with DKD (44, 45). Since the regulation of ferroptosis is a multi-pathway, more targets can be identified for the prevention and control of DKD. We present several possibilities:

1) Reduce oxidative stress: the production of numerous ROS in cells and the subsequent generation of active free radicals are the key factors mediating lipid peroxidation, and the NADPH-FSP1-CoQ10 pathway in the regulatory mechanism of ferroptosis is independent of the antioxidant mechanism existing in GPX4, mainly by reducing free radicals. Further research is needed to inform whether vitamin E supplementation can inhibit ferroptosis and reduce kidney damage to some extent by capturing active free radicals. 2) NRF2 signaling pathway: NRF2 is known to be one of the defense pathways for oxidative stress in vivo, which can neutralize ROS, regulate enzymes involved in iron metabolism and GSH synthesis in ferroptosis. However, Nrf2 overactivation was found to induce ferroptosis through the HO-1 pathway in cancer (49), which is a double-edged sword, so it is necessary to further understand the relationship between the upstream and downstream regulation of Nrf2 and ferroptosis, and mechanisms of alteration of Nrf2 levels in physiological and pathological states. 3) Inflammatory pathway: DKD is widely regarded as a chronic inflammatory disease. The ferroptosis process is accompanied by DAMPs and inflammatory factors changes. DAMPs lead to renal inflammatory cell infiltration through the immune response, and release inflammatory factors, amplify the immune response, resulting in a sustained inflammatory response, related to the progression of DKD. Ferroptosis is complemented by inflammation. For example, in mouse models of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, ferroptosis has been found to occur with the expression of proinflammatory factors such as tumor necrosis factor- α and IL-6, and treatment with deferoxidamine can significantly inhibit the progression of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, manifested by decreased lipid peroxidation levels (50). In addition, some inflammatory cytokines have also been shown to affect the activity of GPX4 in cancer cells (51), and some anti-inflammatory drugs have been found to inhibit ferroptosis in some cellular models (52). These findings suggest that controlling inflammation during ferroptosis may have a wide range of regulatory effects with clinical benefits. 4) Protein posttranslational modification: The changes of various protein activities in the process of ferroptosis may be related to PTMs. Identifying DKD-

TABLE 1 Mechanism and biochemical features of ferroptosis in DKD.

Cell/Animals/clinical	Mechanism	Biochemical features	Reference	
Animal: STZ-induced diabetic mice and db/db mice Cell: NRK-52E cells and HK-2 cells	ACSL4 regulates ferroptosis Increase in ACSL4 and MI Increase in ACSL4		Wang Y, et al. (43)	
Cell: NRK-52E cells Animal: STZ-induced diabetic mice Clinical: Kidney biopsy samples	N.A.	Decrease in xCT, GPX4 and GSH Increase in MDA, 4-HNE, iron and FTH1 Decrease in xCT and GPX4	Kim S, et al. (44)	
Animal: db/db mice	HIF-1α/HO-1 pathway might be regulated ferroptosis	Decrease in GSH-Px, CAT, SOD Elevated ferritin, HIF-1α/HO-1 and increase in MDA	Feng XM, et al. (45)	
Cell: Renal mesangial SV40-MES 13 cells Clinical: blood samples collected from DKD patients	HMGB1/Nrf2 regulates HG induced ferroptosis	Decreased GPX4 Increase in ROS, MDA, ACSL4, PTGS2 and LDH release	Wu Y, et al. (46)	

N.A., GPX4 regulates ferroptosis.

specific biomarkers to activate or inactivate the protein modifications may more easily regulate ferroptosis for therapeutic purposes. Although the main mechanism of ferroptosis is currently well understood, deeper understanding is needed to provide a better theoretical basis for the treatment of DKD and other diseases.

Conclusion

When DKD progresses to end-stage renal disease, renal replacement therapy is the only option, which also increases the risk of death, so early intervention is the key. However, the previous drugs used to treat DKD (RAAS inhibitors) have not been found to prevent the occurrence of DKD. With the advances in the pathogenesis of DKD, new drugs for the prevention and treatment of DKD, such as endothelin receptor antagonists, protein kinase C inhibitors, phosphodiesterase inhibitors, etc., are being investigated. The discovery of ferroptosis provides a new approach. However, as mentioned earlier, although ferroptosis has different morphological and biochemical characteristics from apoptosis and autophagy, it is closely linked by lipid peroxidation, and the interaction between these processes should be noted when targeting ferroptosis in the treatment of DKD, whether it is synergistic or antagonistic. Notably, the association between ferroptosis and DKD is mainly verified at the cellular level and in animal models, without any clinical trials. However, understanding the specific mechanism of ferroptosis may provide a strategy for the treatment of DKD. Finally, ferroptosis-specific biomarkers can also be investigated in the future to detect the progression of DKD.

References

1. Zimmet PZ, Magliano DJ, Herman WH, Shaw JE. Diabetes: A 21st century challenge. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2014) 2:56–64. doi: 10.1016/s2213-8587(13) 70112-8

2. Kushner P, Peach E, Wittbrodt E, Barone S, Chen H, Sanchez JJG, et al. Investigating the global prevalence and consequences of undiagnosed stage 3 chronic kidney disease: Methods and rationale for the REVEAL-CKD study. *Clin Kidney J* (2021) 15(4):738–46. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfab235

3. Anders HJ, Huber TB, Isermann B, Schiffer M. CKD in diabetes: Diabetic kidney disease versus nondiabetic kidney disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2018) 14 (6):361-77. doi: 10.1038/s41581-018-0001-y

4. Kato M, Natarajan R. Epigenetics and epigenomics in diabetic kidney disease and metabolic memory. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2019) 15:327–45. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0135-6

5. Chen Y, Lee K, Ni Z, He JC. Diabetic kidney disease: Challenges, advances, and opportunities. *Kidney Dis (Basel)* (2020) 6:215–25. doi: 10.1159/000506634

6. Hirschhorn T, Stockwell BR. The development of the concept of ferroptosis. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2019) 133:130–43. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.09.043

7. Sha W, Hu F, Xi Y, Chu Y, Bu S. Mechanism of ferroptosis and its role in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Res (2021) 2021:9999612. doi: 10.1155/2021/9999612

8. Li J, Cao F, Yin HL, Huang ZJ, Lin ZT, Mao N, et al. Ferroptosis: Past, present and future. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11:88. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-2298-2

9. Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, et al. Ferroptosis: An iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. *Cell* (2012) 149:1060–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042

Author contributions

YW wrote the original draft. YW and YC reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Youth of National Natural Science Foundation of China [Grant Number 82001480].

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10. Bertrand RL. Iron accumulation, glutathione depletion, and lipid peroxidation must occur simultaneously during ferroptosis and are mutually amplifying events. *Med Hypotheses* (2017) 101:69–74. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2017.02.017

11. Su LJ, Zhang JH, Gomez H, Murugan R, Hong X, Xu D, et al. Reactive oxygen species-induced lipid peroxidation in apoptosis, autophagy, and ferroptosis. *Oxid Med Cell Longev* (2019) 2019:5080843. doi: 10.1155/2019/5080843

12. Lee YS, Lee DH, Choudry HA, Bartlett DL, Lee YJ. Ferroptosis-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress: Cross-talk between ferroptosis and apoptosis. *Mol Cancer Res* (2018) 16:1073–76. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.Mcr-18-0055

13. Mou Y, Wang J, Wu J, He D, Zhang C, Duan C, et al. Ferroptosis, a new form of cell death: Opportunities and challenges in cancer. *J Hematol Oncol* (2019) 12:34. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0720-y

14. Ajoolabady A, Aslkhodapasandhokmabad H, Libby P, Tuomilehto J, Lip GYH, Penninger JM, et al. Ferritinophagy and ferroptosis in the management of metabolic diseases. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 32:444–62. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2021.04.010

15. Fang Y, Chen X, Tan Q, Zhou H, Xu J, Gu Q. Inhibiting ferroptosis through disrupting the NCOA4-FTH1 interaction: A new mechanism of action. *ACS Cent Sci* (2021) 7:980–89. doi: 10.1021/acscentsci.0c01592

16. Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, et al. Ferroptosis: Process and function. *Cell Death Differ* (2016) 23:369–79. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2015.158

17. Lei P, Bai T, Sun Y. Mechanisms of ferroptosis and relations with regulated cell death: A review. *Front Physiol* (2019) 10:139. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00139

18. Chen X, Yu C, Kang R, DJFiC TBiology D. Iron metabolism in ferroptosis. Front Cell Dev Biol (2020) 8:590226. doi: 10.3389/fcell 19. Yan HF, Zou T, Tuo QZ, Xu S, Li H, Belaidi AA, et al. Ferroptosis: Mechanisms and links with diseases. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2021) 6:49. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00428-9

20. Koppula P, Zhuang L, Gan B. Cytochrome P450 reductase (POR) as a ferroptosis fuel. Protein Cell (2021) 12:675–79. doi: 10.1007/s13238-021-00823-0

21. Cui W, Liu D, Gu W, Chu B. Peroxisome-driven ether-linked phospholipids biosynthesis is essential for ferroptosis. *Cell Death Differ* (2021) 28:2536–51. doi: 10.1038/s41418-021-00769-0

22. Magtanong L, Ko PJ, To M, Cao JY, Forcina GC, Tarangelo A, et al. Exogenous monounsaturated fatty acids promote a ferroptosis-resistant cell state. *Cell Chem Biol* (2019) 26:420–32.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2018.11.016

23. Krümmel B, Plötz T, Jörns A, Lenzen S, Mehmeti I. The central role of glutathione peroxidase 4 in the regulation of ferroptosis and its implications for pro-inflammatory cytokine-mediated beta-cell death. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis* (2021) 1867:166114. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2021.166114

24. Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, et al. Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. *Cell* (2014) 156:317–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010

25. Hao S, Liang B, Huang Q, Dong S, Wu Z, He W, et al. Metabolic networks in ferroptosis. *Oncol Lett* (2018) 15:5405–11. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.8066

26. Pierzynowska K, Rintz E, Gaffke L, Węgrzyn G. Ferroptosis and its modulation by autophagy in light of the pathogenesis of lysosomal storage diseases. *Cells* (2021) 10:365. doi: 10.3390/cells10020365

27. Zhang Y, Swanda RV, Nie L, Liu X, Wang C, Lee H, et al. mTORC1 couples cyst(e)ine availability with GPX4 protein synthesis and ferroptosis regulation. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12:1589. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21841-w

28. Sharma A, Flora SJS. Positive and negative regulation of ferroptosis and its role in maintaining metabolic and redox homeostasis. *Oxid Med Cell Longev* (2021) 2021:9074206. doi: 10.1155/2021/9074206

29. Kang YP, Mockabee-Macias A, Jiang C, Falzone A, Prieto-Farigua N, Stone E, et al. Non-canonical glutamate-cysteine ligase activity protects against ferroptosis. *Cell Metab* (2021) 33:174–89.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.12.007

30. Dodson M, Castro-Portuguez R, Zhang DD. NRF2 plays a critical role in mitigating lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. *Redox Biol* (2019) 23:101107. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101107

31. Kerins MJ, Ooi A. The roles of NRF2 in modulating cellular iron homeostasis. Antioxid Redox Signal (2018) 29:1756-73. doi: 10.1089/ars.2017.7176

32. Bersuker K, Hendricks JM, Li Z, Magtanong L, Ford B, Tang PH, et al. The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. *Nature* (2019) 575:688–92. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1705-2

33. Alehagen U, Johansson P, Aaseth J, Alexander J, Brismar K. Increase in insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1 after supplementation with selenium and coenzyme Q10. A prospective randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial among elderly Swedish citizens. *PloS One* (2017) 12:e0178614. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178614

34. Hadian K, Stockwell BR. SnapShot: Ferroptosis. Cell (2020) 181:1188–88.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.039

35. Wei X, Yi X, Zhu XH, Jiang DS. Posttranslational modifications in ferroptosis. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2020) 2020:8832043. doi: 10.1155/2020/8832043

36. Lee H, Zandkarimi F, Zhang Y, Meena JK, Kim J, Zhuang L, et al. Energystress-mediated AMPK activation inhibits ferroptosis. *Nat Cell Biol* (2020) 22:225– 34. doi: 10.1038/s41556-020-0461-8

37. Jiang X, Stockwell BR, Conrad M. Ferroptosis: Mechanisms, biology and role in disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2021) 22:266–82. doi: 10.1038/s41580-020-00324-8

38. Wang JS, Yen FS, Lin KD, Shin SJ, Hsu YH, Hsu CC, et al. Epidemiological characteristics of diabetic kidney disease in taiwan. *J Diabetes Investig* (2021) 12 (12):2112–23. doi: 10.1111/jdi.13668

39. Yamanouchi M, Furuichi K, Hoshino J, Ubara Y, Wada T. Nonproteinuric diabetic kidney disease. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2020) 24(7):573-81. doi: 10.1007/s10157-020-01881-0

40. Lin YC, Chang YH, Yang SY, Wu KD, Chu TS. Update of pathophysiology and management of diabetic kidney disease. *J Formos Med Assoc* (2018) 117 (8):662-75. doi: 10.1016/j.jfma.2018.02.007

41. Li S, Zheng L, Zhang J, Liu X, Wu Z. Inhibition of ferroptosis by upregulating Nrf2 delayed the progression of diabetic nephropathy. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2021) 162:435–49. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.10.323

42. Zou C, Liu X, Liu R, Wang M, Sui M, Mu S, et al. Effect of the oral iron chelator deferiprone in diabetic nephropathy rats. *J Diabetes* (2017) 9:332–40. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12420

43. Zhang X, Li X. Abnormal iron and lipid metabolism mediated ferroptosis in kidney diseases and its therapeutic potential. *Metabolites* (2022) 12:58. doi: 10.3390/metabo12010058

44. Kim S, Kang SW, Joo J, Han SH, Shin H, Nam BY, et al. Characterization of ferroptosis in kidney tubular cell death under diabetic conditions. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12:160. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-03452-x

45. Feng X, Wang S, Sun Z, Dong H, Yu H, Huang M, et al. Ferroptosis enhanced diabetic renal tubular injury via HIF- 1α /HO-1 pathway in db/db mice. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2021) 12:626390. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.626390

46. Wu Y, Zhao Y, Yang HZ, Wang YJ, Chen Y. HMGB1 regulates ferroptosis through Nrf2 pathway in mesangial cells in response to high glucose. *Biosci Rep* (2021) 41:BSR20202924. doi: 10.1042/bsr20202924

47. Murao A, Aziz M, Wang H, Brenner M, Wang P. Release mechanisms of major DAMPs. Apoptosis (2021) 26:152–62. doi: 10.1007/s10495-021-01663-3

48. Wen Q, Liu J, Kang R, Zhou B, Tang D. The release and activity of HMGB1 in ferroptosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2019) 510:278-83. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.01.090

49. Wei R, Zhao Y, Wang J, Yang X, Li S, Wang Y, et al. Tagitinin c induces ferroptosis through PERK-Nrf2-HO-1 signaling pathway in colorectal cancer cells. *Int J Biol Sci* (2021) 17(11):2703–17. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.59404

50. Qi J, Kim JW, Zhou Z, Lim CW, Kim B. Ferroptosis affects the progression of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis *via* the modulation of lipid peroxidation-mediated cell death in mice. *Am J Pathol* (2020) 190:68–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2019.09.011

51. Sun Y, Chen P, Zhai B, Zhang M, Xiang Y, Fang J, et al. The emerging role of ferroptosis in inflammation. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2020) 127:110108. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110108

52. Wang F, He J, Xing R, Sha T, Sun B. Molecular mechanisms of ferroptosis and their role in inflammation. *Int Rev Immunol* (2021) 17:1–11 doi: 10.1080/08830185.2021.2016739

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Vinod Tiwari, Indian Institute of Technology (BHU), India

REVIEWED BY Haiyan Fu, Southern Medical University, China Yatao Liu, Scientific Horizons Consulting, United States Ke Zen, Nanjing University, China Li Li, Southern Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yang Zhou zhouyang@njmu.edu.cn Junwei Yang jwyang@njmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 30 May 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 03 October 2022

CITATION

Shi C, He A, Wu X, Wang L, Zhu X, Jiang L, Yang J and Zhou Y (2022) Urinary IL-18 is associated with arterial stiffness in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:956186. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.956186

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shi, He, Wu, Wang, Zhu, Jiang, Yang and Zhou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Urinary IL-18 is associated with arterial stiffness in patients with type 2 diabetes

Caifeng Shi[†], Aiqin He[†], Xiaomei Wu[†], Lulu Wang, Xueting Zhu, Lei Jiang, Junwei Yang^{*} and Yang Zhou^{*}

Center for Kidney Disease, Second Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

Objective: Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) has been shown to be associated with an excess risk of cardiovascular death. Inflammation has been considered central to type 2 diabetes (T2D) pathophysiology, and inflammation markers have been linked to cardiovascular disease. The serum and urinary IL-18 levels were significantly elevated in patients with T2D; however, whether interleukin 18 (IL-18) are associated with the severity of arterial stiffness remains to be determined. This study examined the relationship of IL-18 levels with pulse wave velocity (PWV) as a reflector for arterial stiffness in patients with T2D.

Methods: A total of 180 participants with T2D who had undergone PWV examination were enrolled. Serum and urinary IL-18 levels were measured using sandwich enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits. Arterial stiffness was determined by carotid–femoral PWV (cf-PWV) and carotid–radial PWV (cr-PWV).

Results: The urinary IL-18 levels correlated positively with cf-PWV in patients with T2D with DKD (r = 0.418, p < 0.001); however, we found no significant correlation between urinary IL-18 and cf-PWV in diabetic subjects without DKD. In addition, we found no significant correlation between urinary IL-18 and cr-PWV in participants with T2D with or without DKD. Moreover, the association remained significant when controlling for arterial stiffness risk factors, urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio and estimated glomerular filtration rate. cf-PWV was greater in the higher group of urinary IL-18 than in the lower group. Nevertheless, we found no significant correlation between serum IL-18 and cf-PWV in participants with T2D.

Conclusion: The urinary IL-18 levels appear to be associated with greater cf-PWV, suggesting the link between urinary IL-18 and arterial stiffness in patients with T2D.

KEYWORDS

IL-18, pulse wave velocity, arterial stiffness, diabetic kidney disease, inflammation

Introduction

The association between cardiovascular disease (CVD) and diabetes has been known for decades. Clinical and experimental studies have provided evidence and probable mechanisms that link diabetes to increased atherosclerosis. In particular, patients with T2D had more extensive atherosclerotic CVD (ASCVD) and more non-calcified plaques than patients with T1D. Further experimental studies are needed to elucidate these questions (1). Greater calcification in arterial media is also found in patients with diabetes compared with control subjects, especially T2DM (2). Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) has been shown to be associated with an excess risk of premature death and CVD death (3, 4). Despite this, the reasons for this relationship are incompletely understood.

The relationship of inflammation to insulin resistance is considered central to T2DM pathophysiology (5, 6). Markers of inflammation have been linked to CVD and CVD death. Clinical trials have overwhelmingly shown beneficial effect of targeting inflammation in prevention of the incidence of CVD in human with diabetes (7, 8). Moreover, systemic inhibition of nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-like receptor thermal protein domain associated protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome was recently described to prevent increased atherosclerosis in mice with diabetes (9). IL-18 is a proinflammatory marker (10) and biomarker of kidney tubule injury and repair (11, 12). The serum and urinary IL-18 levels were significantly elevated in patients with T2D compared with control subjects (13). Elevated serum levels of IL-18 were associated with carotid intima-media thickness (13) and development of DKD in normal albuminuria subjects (14).

Unlike renal and retinal microvascular disease, there is no pathological fingerprint identifying a distinct atherosclerosis or arterial media calcification in the setting of diabetes. Pulse wave velocity (PWV) is assessed by measuring transit distance and transit time between two sites in the arterial system and taking their ratio. Carotid–femoral PWV (cf-PWV) is the current clinical gold standard measurement of arterial stiffness and has been established as a cardiovascular risk marker (15).

The aim of this study was to examine the relationship of IL-18 levels with PWV as a reflector for arterial stiffness and CVD.

Methods

Subjects

The study protocol was approved by Institutional Ethical Committee of Nanjing Medical University (approved No. 2019KY097), and written informed consent was obtained from all subjects. The study conforms to the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. A total of 180 subjects for this study were enrolled from patients with T2D of the Department of Internal Medicine at the Second Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, who had undergone PWV examination between January 2020 and December 2020. Subjects were diagnosed as having T2D according to the WHO criteria and provided multiple morning urine and blood samples for assessment of urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (UACR) and estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR). On the basis of multiple UACR and eGFR measurements, subjects were classified as T2D without DKD (T2D – DKD, n = 115) or T2D with DKD (T2D + DKD, n = 65). Subjects with acute inflammatory diseases or malignant neoplasm were excluded, because the levels of inflammation can be markedly enhanced by such disease. Hypertension was defined as a blood pressure (BP) \geq 130/80 mmHg or current use of antihypertensive medications.

Blood and urine examination

Each individual provided blood and morning spot urine samples at baseline for biochemical measurements. Samples were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm at 4°C for 15 min, and aliquots were stored at -80°C if not analyzed immediately. Serum and urinary IL-18 levels were measured using sandwich ELISA kits (DY318-05, R&D Systems). Urinary IL-18 was normalized by urinary creatinine (UCr). The intra- and inter-assay coefficient of variations (CVs) for IL-18 were both less than 10%. The sensitivity of the assay was 5.47 pg/ml. These parameters were measured twice for each individual, and geometric mean was used as the baseline value in the analysis.

Measurement of pulse wave velocity

cf-PWV and carotid-radial PWV (cr-PWV) were determined on a fasting state in the morning under room temperature (21°C-25°C) using the Complior Analyzer device (Artech Medical, Paris, France) according to the manufacturer's introduction. Coffee, tea, or nitrates were not allowed within 2 h, and long-acting nitrates were restrained for 12 h before measurement. An experienced technician from the Second Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University performed the test for all participants. Before measurement, patients rested for 10 min and had their BP measured using a validated oscillometric device (Omron HEM-7130: Omron Healthcare Co., Ltd., Kyoto, Japan). Three probes were placed in a place of palpable pulse of the carotid, femoral, and radial artery, respectively. Ten consecutive recordings were averaged to calculate the transit time using the intersecting tangent algorithm. Carotid-femoral and carotid-radial distances were calculated as direct measurements multiplied by 0.8. Any measurement with a tolerance value more than 3 ms was considered invalid.

Statistical analysis

All analyses were performed with SPSS 25 software package. Because the distribution of the IL-18 levels appeared to be leftskewed, they were normalized by log-transformation. Comparisons between groups were performed by using an unpaired Student's *t*-test for normally distributed variables and a Mann–Whitney *U*-test for non-normally distributed variables. Associations between IL-18 levels and characteristics of type 2 diabetes were examined by Pearson correlation analysis for continuous variables and by Spearman correlation test for categorical variables. Association between urinary IL-18 and cf-PWV was determined by a multivariable linear regression analysis with a stepwise backward method. Mean cf-PWV was compared across the median of the urinary IL-18 levels by the general linear model, followed by covariance analysis. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was taken to be statistically significant.

Results

Clinical characteristics in Table 1 indicate that participants with type 2 diabetes had a median age of 56.00 (47.00, 60.00) years, and 66.1% were male patients. Furthermore, participants

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics of subjects with type 2 diabetes.

had mean body mass index (BMI) of 25.01 (22.95, 27.52) kg/m², HbA1c level of 8.30% (7.00%, 10.23%), and eGFR of 101.77 (92.47, 109.48) ml/min/1.73 m². A proportion had albuminuria (35.6%) and hypertension (40%).

According to the presence or absence of DKD, as described by UACR \geq 30 mg/g and/or eGFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 m², the proportion of male sex, BMI, systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), triglyceride, and serum creatinine were all significantly higher in the group of diabetic subjects with DKD than in the group without DKD. Subjects with DKD had significantly lower levels of albumin and highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) compared with subjects without DKD. Interestingly, the urinary levels of IL-18 and cf-PWV were significantly elevated in subjects with DKD compared with those without DKD [UIL-18 193.24 (102.78, 257.81) vs. 128.28 (82.67, 204.14) pg/mg UCr, p = 0.005; cf-PWV 9.20 (7.50, 10.25) vs. 7.90 (6.80, 9.20), p < 0.001], whereas the serum IL-18 levels and cr-PWV were not different in the two groups.

By univariate linear regression analysis in Table 2, we found significant correlations between urinary IL-18 and age (r = 0.224, p = 0.002), male sex (r = -0.253, p = 0.001), duration of T2D (r = 0.259, p < 0.001), SBP (r = 0.228, p = 0.002), hemoglobin (r = -0.239, p = 0.002), albumin (r = -0.305, p < 0.001), eGFR (r = -0.237, p < 0.001), UACR ≥ 30 mg/g (r = 0.224, p = 0.003),

	Total (n = 180)	T2D - DKD (n = 115)	T2D + DKD (n = 65)	p
Age (years)	56.00 (47.00, 60.00)	56.00 (46.00, 60.00)	56.00 (47.00, 61.00)	ns
Male (n, %)	119, 66.1%	68, 59.1%	51, 78.5%	0.008
Duration of T2D (years)	4.79 (1.00, 10.72)	4.00 (1.00, 10.16)	5.00 (2.04, 13.87)	ns
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.01 (22.95, 27.52)	24.52 (22.32, 26.91)	25.65 (23.92, 28.03)	0.025
Hypertension (n, %)	72, 40%	37, 32.2%	35, 53.8%	0.004
SBP (mmHg)	134.06 ± 17.76	130.97 ± 16.20	139.54 ± 19.14	0.002
DBP (mmHg)	84.51 ± 10.59	82.33 ± 9.20	88.37 ± 11.81	0.001
FBG (mmol/L)	8.51 (6.88, 10.90)	8.51 (6.93, 10.90)	8.40 (6.84, 10.77)	ns
HbA1c (%)	8.30 (7.00, 10.23)	8.30 (7.00, 10.33)	8.30 (7.10, 10.07)	ns
Hb (g/L)	144.18 ± 17.21	143.67 ± 17.31	145.03 ± 17.14	ns
Albumin (g/L)	45.50 (41.35, 48.90)	46.90 (42.20, 49.30)	44.25 (39.78, 47.48)	0.007
TC (mmol/L)	4.66 (3.88, 5.40)	4.70 (3.98, 5.46)	4.63 (3.65, 5.26)	ns
TG (mmol/L)	1.69 (1.10, 2.64)	1.54 (1.03, 2.36)	2.02 (1.19, 2.82)	0.044
HDL (mmol/L)	1.05 (0.91, 1.27)	1.08 (0.95, 1.33)	1.00 (0.88, 1.19)	0.010
LDL (mmol/L)	2.97 (2.33, 3.63)	3.04 (2.38, 3.70)	2.81 (2.23, 3.34)	ns
Creatinine (µmol/L)	66.00 (54.35, 75.55)	63.80 (52.60, 72.00)	71.70 (59.50, 99.90)	< 0.001
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	101.77 (92.47, 109.48)	101.96 (96.51, 109.62)	97.37 (69.05, 108.38)	0.005
UACR \geq 30 mg/g (n, %)	64, 35.6%	0	64, 98.5%	-
SIL-18 (pg/ml)	163.62 (117.63, 230.97)	166.76 (122.62, 231.96)	150.17 (109.05, 218.35)	ns
UIL-18 (pg/mg UCr)	140.82 (95.29, 227.40)	128.28 (82.67, 204.14)	193.24 (102.78, 257.81)	0.005
Cf-PWV (m/s)	8.30 (7.03, 9.70)	7.90 (6.80, 9.20)	9.20 (7.50, 10.25)	< 0.001
Cr-PWV (m/s)	9.45 (8.43, 10.30)	9.30 (8.40, 10.20)	9.60 (8.60, 10.75)	ns

BMI, body mass index; cf-PWV, carotid–femoral pulse wave velocity; cr-PWV, carotid–radial pulse wave velocity; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; FBG, fast blood glucose; HDL, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Hb, hemoglobin; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; LDL, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; SIL-18, serum interleukin-18; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; T2D, type 2 diabetes; UACR, urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio; UCr, urinary creatinine; UIL-18, urinary interleukin-18. and serum IL-18 (r = 0.219, p = 0.004) in participants with T2D. However, we found no significant correlation between urinary IL-18 and BMI, DBP, fast blood glucose, HbA1c, total cholesterol, triglyceride, HDL, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), or serum creatinine in participants with T2D. In the meantime, urinary IL-18 correlates with hemoglobin (r = -0.218, p = 0.026), albumin (r = -0.466, p < 0.001), eGFR (r = -0.393, p = 0.001), and serum IL-18 (r = 0.448, p < 0.001) in diabetic subjects with DKD. On the other hand, urinary IL-18 correlates with age (r =0.209, p = 0.025), male sex (r = -0.35, p < 0.001), hemoglobin (r = -0.297, p = 0.003), and serum creatinine (r = -0.278, p =0.003) in diabetic subjects without DKD.

We performed univariate analysis of the relationships between the parameters of arterial stiffness and the IL-18 levels in patients with type 2 diabetes (Table 2). The urinary IL-18 levels correlated positively with cf-PWV (r = 0.309, p < 0.001); however, we found no significant correlation between urinary IL-18 and cr-PWV in participants with T2D. Moreover, we only found significant correlation between the urinary IL-18 levels and cf-PWV (r = 0.418, p < 0.001) in diabetic subjects with DKD. We found no significant correlation between urinary IL-18 and cf-PWV in diabetic subjects without DKD. Nevertheless, we found no significant correlation between serum IL-18 and cf-PWV or cr-PWV in participants with T2D, diabetic subjects with DKD, or diabetic subjects without DKD.

To further clarify the link between urinary IL-18 and severity of arterial stiffness, we performed multiple regression analysis (Table 3), the association between urinary IL-18 and cf-PWV remained significant when controlling for age and gender (model 1) and additionally controlling for traditional arterial stiffness risk factors (model 2). Moreover, the association was little attenuated when further controlling for UACR and eGFR (model 3). Of note, although serum IL-18 had significant correlations with urinary IL-18 (r = 0.219, p = 0.004), none of such association was significant when urinary IL-18 and the traditional cardiovascular risk factors were simultaneously included in the model (model 3).

Given the association between urinary IL-18 and cf-PWV, the median cf-PWV was compared across the median of the urinary IL-18 levels. cf-PWV was greater in the higher group of

TABLE 2	Univariate analysis of	relationship be	etween logarithmic serun	or urinary IL-18 leve	els and characteristics of type 2 diabetes.

				-									
	Total (n = 180)			T2D - DKD (n = 115)			T2D + DKD (n = 65)						
	UIL-18 ^a		SIL-18 ^a		UIL	UIL-18 ^a		SIL-18 ^a		UIL-18 ^a		SIL-18 ^a	
	r	p	r	p	r	p	r	p	r	p	r	p	
Age	0.224	0.002	0.128	ns.	0.209	0.025	0.088	ns.	0.239	ns.	0.245	ns.	
Male	-0.253	0.001	0.020	ns.	-0.350	< 0.001	0.056	ns.	-0.170	ns.	-0.010	ns.	
Duration of T2D	0.259	< 0.001	-0.110	ns.	0.171	ns.	-0.146	ns.	0.216	ns.	-0.086	ns.	
BMI	0.044	ns.	0.137	ns.	0.044	ns.	0.285	0.003	-0.124	ns.	-0.065	ns.	
Hypertension	0.170	0.023	0.105	ns.	0.128	ns.	0.114	ns.	0.125	ns.	0.119	ns.	
SBP	0.228	0.002	0.072	ns.	0.189	0.043	0.019	ns.	0.186	ns.	0.173	ns.	
DBP	0.138	ns.	0.055	ns.	0.088	ns.	0.097	ns.	0.059	ns.	0.035	ns.	
FBG	0.009	ns.	0.054	ns.	-0.028	ns.	0.200	0.038	0.107	ns.	-0.224	ns.	
HbA1c	0.047	ns.	-0.061	ns.	0.011	ns.	0.095	ns.	0.117	ns.	-0.373	0.003	
Hb	-0.239	0.002	0.070	ns.	-0.297	0.003	0.071	ns.	-0.218	0.026	0.079	ns.	
Albumin	-0.305	< 0.001	0.288	< 0.001	-0.175	ns.	0.346	< 0.001	-0.466	< 0.001	0.151	ns.	
TC	0.028	ns.	0.157	0.042	0.025	ns.	0.110	ns.	0.049	ns.	0.209	ns.	
TG	0.064	ns.	0.179	0.020	0.011	ns.	0.177	ns.	0.059	ns.	0.181	ns.	
HDL	-0.093	ns.	-0.070	ns.	-0.072	ns.	-0.074	ns.	-0.026	ns.	-0.120	ns.	
LDL	-0.026	ns.	0.190	0.014	-0.038	ns.	0.160	ns.	0.038	ns.	0.219	ns.	
Creatinine	-0.037	ns	0.121	ns	-0.278	0.003	0.135	ns.	0.246	0.048	0.206	ns.	
eGFR	-0.237	< 0.001	-0.172	0.025	-0.094	ns.	-0.162	ns.	-0.393	0.001	-0.255	0.047	
UACR \geq 30 mg/g	0.224	0.003	-0.079	ns.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
UIL-18 ^a	1	-	0.219	0.004	1	-	0.111	ns.	1	-	0.448	< 0.001	
SIL-18 ^a	0.219	0.004	1	-	0.111	ns.	1	-	0.448	< 0.001	1	-	
cf-PWV	0.309	< 0.001	0.080	ns.	0.164	ns.	-0.004	ns.	0.418	< 0.001	0.245	ns.	
cr-PWV	-0.044	ns.	-0.072	ns.	-0.002	ns.	-0.118	ns.	-0.192	ns.	0.027	ns.	

a, Urinary and serum IL-18 levels were analyzed as naturally logarithmically transformed values.

BMI, body mass index; cr-PWV, carotid-radial pulse wave velocity; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; FBG, fast blood glucose; HDL, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Hb, hemoglobin; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; LDL, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; SIL-18, serum interleukin-18; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; T2D, type 2 diabetes; UACR, urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio; UIL-18, urinary interleukin-18. ns, no significance.

urinary IL-18 than in the lower group (Table 4). Moreover, the differences persisted when adjusting traditional atherosclerotic risk factors and the presence of DKD (UACR \ge 30 mg/g and/or eGFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 m²).

Discussion

In the present study, we have found in subjects with T2D that the urinary IL-18 levels are associated with increased arterial stiffness as evaluated by cf-PWV. Moreover, the association was independent of the traditional arterial stiffness risk factors and the presence of UACR and eGFR. On the other hand, no significant correlation between serum IL-18 and cf-PWV was found in subjects with T2D. This is the first study that demonstrates the associations between the IL-18 levels and arterial stiffness in patients with T2D, with UACR and eGFR taken into account.

In current study, we found that the urinary IL-18 levels were higher in the group of diabetic subjects with DKD than in the group without DKD. This finding is approximately in line with those studies, suggesting that the higher level of urinary IL-18 has been a promise marker of kidney tubule injury (11, 12, 16). Of note, the positive correlation between the urinary IL-18 levels and cf-PWV was observed only in subjects with DKD, indicating that patients with diabetes with kidney involvement probably have a higher risk factor of CVD, and it was previously reported that subjects with DKD have the highest cardiovascular mortality compared to both patients with T2D without DKD and subjects without diabetes (17). Whether urinary IL-18 is associated with mortality or CVD requires further studies to clarify (18, 19). The serum IL-18 levels are associated with albuminuria and atherosclerosis in patients with T2D (13). Subjects with elevated serum IL-18 were prone to develop T2D (20). However, elevated serum IL-18 was not associated with a higher risk for primary cardiovascular events in total diabetic population or diabetic subjects with renal dysfunction (21). In accordance with these controversial, we found no significant correlation between serum IL-18 and cf-PWV in participants with T2D, diabetic subjects with DKD, or diabetic subjects without DKD.

We have found that the higher IL-18 levels are associated with greater cf-PWV, suggesting link with arterial stiffness. When controlling for age and gender, urinary IL-18 was significantly associated with cf-PWV, and the association was independent of traditional arterial stiffness risk factors (22). The association remains significant when further controlled for UACR and eGFR, suggesting that the association is independent of kidney function markers. To further demonstrate the associations between IL-18 and arterial stiffness, mean cf-PWV was compared between the higher and lower groups of urinary IL-18. cf-PWV was greater in patients with higher urinary IL-18 than those with lower urinary IL-18, and the difference persisted when adjusting the traditional arterial stiffness risk factors. The differences between IL-18 and cf-PWV were not virtually modified when the presence of DKD was considered, further supporting the link between IL-18 and arterial stiffness.

Urinary IL-18 is produced within the kidney tissue in response to injury and inflammation (12). Urinary IL-18 is also expressed and secreted by macrophages in kidney diseases (23). The correlation between urine molecule markers and arterial stiffness may be explained by the following factors: 1. chronic kidney disease is a well-known risk factor for CVD, which is also a risk factor for

TABLE 3 Multivariable linear regression analysis of relationship between logarithmic urinary IL-18 and cf-PWV.

Variables	Мо	del 1	Мос	del 2	Model 3		
	β	p	β	p	β	p	
UIL-18 ^a	0.098	<0.001	0.077	0.005	0.062	0.037	
Age	0.007	< 0.001	0.006	0.002	0.004	0.028	
Male	0.020	0.551	0.072	0.056	0.035	0.415	
BMI			0.001	0.837	0.001	0.963	
Duration of T2D			0.006	0.017	0.006	0.028	
Hypertension			0.130	< 0.001	0.098	0.007	
Hb			-0.002	0.041	-0.002	0.122	
Albumin			0.001	0.843	0.003	0.418	
TC			0.027	0.019	0.012	0.388	
HDL			0.027	0.649	0.054	0.400	
eGFR					-0.001	0.389	
UACR \geq 30 mg/g					0.096	0.012	
SIL-18 ^a					0.026	0.499	

eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; FBG, fast blood glucose; Hb, hemoglobin; SIL-18, serum interleukin-18; TC, total cholesterol; T2D, type 2 diabetes; UACR, urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio; UIL-18, urinary interleukin-18.

a, Urinary and serum IL-18 levels were analyzed as naturally logarithmically transformed values.

Model 1: Age and gender. Model 2: Model 1 and traditional arterial stiffness risk factors (BMI, duration of T2D, hypertension, Hb, albumin, TC, and HDL). Model 3: Model 2 and UACR, eGFR, and serum IL-18.
	UIL-18 (pg/mg UCr)		
	≤ 140.82	> 140.82	p
cf-PWV (m/s) 95%CI	8.050 (7.634, 8.466)	9.046 (8.629, 9.462)	0.001
cf-PWV (m/s) 95%CI ^a	8.142 (7.719, 8.565)	8.914 (8.561, 9.311)	0.009
cf-PWV (m/s) 95%CI $^{\rm b}$	8.475 (8.036, 8.915)	9.064 (8.679, 9.449)	0.046

TABLE 4 Median of cf-PWV for subjects with T2D grouped according to the urinary levels of IL-18.

cf-PWV, carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity; UCr, urinary creatinine; UIL-18, urinary interleukin-18. a, Controlling for age and gender.

b, Additionally controlling for traditional arterial stiffness risk factors (BMI, duration of T2D, hypertension, Hb, albumin, TC, and HDL), and the presence of DKD (UACR \geq 30 mg/g and/ or eGFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 m²).

arterial stiffness; 2. previous studies suggested that changes in markers of kidney injury often reflect renal tissue lesions and impaired renal function, which may affect the cardiovascular system and arterial stiffness through water, acid–base balance, electrolyte and mineral metabolism, endocrine, etc.; 3. urine markers reflect not only kidney disease but also the severity of systemic diseases, including diabetes, which is itself an important cardiovascular risk; 4. urine markers are likely to systematically reflect the extent of systemic lesions, that is, kidney lesions are likely to coexist with other organs in the body, including the heart, blood vessels, liver, and lung. These lesions probably progress together. Further studies may investigate the kidney-related mechanism on the development and progression of arterial stiffness in patients with diabetes and will help understand the reliability of urinary markers as specific biomarkers of CVD.

There are some limitations for the current study. First, we cannot currently determine the causal relationships between the IL-18 levels and greater arterial stiffness because of the cross-sectional design. Second, this study included substantial number of patients with T2D on medications, requiring studies to separate the effects of such medications. Furthermore, the source of urinary IL-18 in patients with T2D is not known. The elevated IL-18 levels in diabetic kidney tissue or infiltrated macrophage in the kidney may be responsible. Further experimental studies are needed to elucidate these questions.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated an association between the higher urinary IL-18 level and greater cf-PWV, suggesting the link between IL-18 and arterial stiffness in patients with T2D. This finding might offer a clue to understand the role of IL-18 in the development of CVDs.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional ethical committee of Nanjing Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

Concept the study: JY and YZ; data acquisition: CS, AH, XW, and XZ; data analysis/interpretation: CS, LW, LJ, and YZ; statistical analyses: LJ, JY, and YZ; drafting the work and revising: JY and YZ. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu province: General program BK20201497 to YZ, and National Natural Science Foundation of China: General program 81873618 to JY.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the investigators, staff, and trial participants for dedication and commitment to the trial.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Djaberi R, Schuijf JD, Boersma E, Kroft LJ, Pereira AM, Romijn JA, et al. Differences in atherosclerotic plaque burden and morphology between type 1 and 2 diabetes as assessed by multislice computed tomography. *Diabetes Care* (2009) 32 (8):1507–12. doi: 10.2337/dc09-0320

2. Yahagi K, Kolodgie FD, Lutter C, Mori H, Romero ME, Finn AV, et al. Pathology of human coronary and carotid artery atherosclerosis and vascular calcification in diabetes mellitus. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2017) 37(2):191– 204. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.306256

3. Nichols GA, Deruaz-Luyet A, Hauske SJ, Brodovicz KG. The association between estimated glomerular filtration rate, albuminuria, and risk of cardiovascular hospitalizations and all-cause mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Diabetes Complications* (2018) 32(3):291–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.12.003

4. Salinero-Fort MA, San Andres-Rebollo FJ, de Burgos-Lunar C, Abanades-Herranz JC, Carrillo-de-Santa-Pau E, Chico-Moraleja RM, et al. Carditovascular and all-cause mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in the MADIABETES cohort study: Association with chronic kidney disease. J Diabetes Complications (2016) 30(2):227–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.10.007

5. Dandona P, Aljada A, Bandyopadhyay A. Inflammation: The link between insulin resistance, obesity and diabetes. *Trends Immunol* (2004) 25(1):4–7. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2003.10.013

6. Grandl G, Wolfrum C. Hemostasis, endothelial stress, inflammation, and the metabolic syndrome. *Semin Immunopathol* (2018) 40(2):215-24. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0666-5

7. Jager A, van Hinsbergh VW, Kostense PJ, Emeis JJ, Nijpels G, Dekker JM, et al. Increased levels of soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 are associated with risk of cardiovascular mortality in type 2 diabetes: The hoorn study. *Diabetes* (2000) 49(3):485–91. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.49.3.485

 Soinio M, Marniemi J, Laakso M, Lehto S, Ronnemaa T. High-sensitivity creactive protein and coronary heart disease mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes: A 7-year follow-up study. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29(2):329–33. doi: 10.2337/diacare.29.02.06.dc05-1700

9. Sharma A, Choi JSY, Stefanovic N, Al-Sharea A, Simpson DS, Mukhamedova N, et al. Specific NLRP3 inhibition protects against diabetes-associated atherosclerosis. *Diabetes* (2021) 70(3):772–87. doi: 10.2337/db20-0357

10. Szmitko PE, Wang CH, Weisel RD, de Almeida JR, Anderson TJ, Verma S. New markers of inflammation and endothelial cell activation: Part I. *Circulation* (2003) 108(16):1917–23. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000089190.95415.9F

11. Bullen AL, Katz R, Jotwani V, Garimella PS, Lee AK, Estrella MM, et al. Biomarkers of kidney tubule health, CKD progression, and acute kidney injury in SPRINT (Systolic blood pressure intervention trial) participants. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2021) 78(3):361–8 e1. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2021.01.021

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. Ix JH, Shlipak MG. The promise of tubule biomarkers in kidney disease: A review. Am J Kidney Dis (2021) 78(5):719–27. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2021.03.026

13. Nakamura A, Shikata K, Hiramatsu M, Nakatou T, Kitamura T, Wada J, et al. Serum interleukin-18 levels are associated with nephropathy and atherosclerosis in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2005) 28 (12):2890–5. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.12.2890

14. Araki S, Haneda M, Koya D, Sugimoto T, Isshiki K, Chin-Kanasaki M, et al. Predictive impact of elevated serum level of IL-18 for early renal dysfunction in type 2 diabetes: An observational follow-up study. *Diabetologia* (2007) 50(4):867– 73. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0586-8

15. Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, Boutouyrie P, Giannattasio C, Hayoz D, et al. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: Methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur Heart J* (2006) 27(21):2588–605. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehl254

16. Malhotra R, Katz R, Jotwani V, Ambrosius WT, Raphael KL, Haley W, et al. Urine markers of kidney tubule cell injury and kidney function decline in SPRINT trial participants with CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2020) 15(3):349–58. doi: 10.2215/CJN.02780319

17. Afkarian M, Sachs MC, Kestenbaum B, Hirsch IB, Tuttle KR, Himmelfarb J, et al. Kidney disease and increased mortality risk in type 2 diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24(2):302–8. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2012070718

18. Parikh CR, Puthumana J, Shlipak MG, Koyner JL, Thiessen-Philbrook H, McArthur E, et al. Relationship of kidney injury biomarkers with long-term cardiovascular outcomes after cardiac surgery. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2017) 28 (12):3699–707. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2017010055

19. Sarnak MJ, Katz R, Newman A, Harris T, Peralta CA, Devarajan P, et al. Association of urinary injury biomarkers with mortality and cardiovascular events. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2014) 25(7):1545–53. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013070713

20. Thorand B, Kolb H, Baumert J, Koenig W, Chambless L, Meisinger C, et al. Elevated levels of interleukin-18 predict the development of type 2 diabetes: Results from the MONICA/KORA augsburg study, 1984-2002. *Diabetes* (2005) 54 (10):2932–8. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.10.2932

21. Schottker B, Herder C, Rothenbacher D, Roden M, Kolb H, Muller H, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines, adiponectin, and increased risk of primary cardiovascular events in diabetic patients with or without renal dysfunction: Results from the ESTHER study. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(6):1703–11. doi: 10.2337/dc12-1416

22. Palombo C, Kozakova M. Arterial stiffness, atherosclerosis and cardiovascular risk: Pathophysiologic mechanisms and emerging clinical indications. *Vascul Pharmacol* (2016) 77:1-7. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2015.11.083

23. Komada T, Muruve DA. The role of inflammasomes in kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol (2019) 15(8):501-20. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0158-z

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Maria Margherita Rando, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY

Leigh C Ward, The University of Queensland, Australia Guido Gembillo, University of Messina, Italy Jianping Liu, Second Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Lingling Xu lucylingl@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 24 July 2022 ACCEPTED 20 September 2022 PUBLISHED 06 October 2022

CITATION

Lin X, Chen Z, Huang H, Zhong J and Xu L (2022) Diabetic kidney disease progression is associated with decreased lower-limb muscle mass and increased visceral fat area in T2DM patients. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1002118. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1002118

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Lin, Chen, Huang, Zhong and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Diabetic kidney disease progression is associated with decreased lower-limb muscle mass and increased visceral fat area in T2DM patients

Xiaopu Lin^{1†}, Zhenguo Chen^{2,3†}, Haishan Huang^{2,3}, Jingyi Zhong^{2,3} and Lingling Xu^{2*}

¹Department of Huiqiao Medical Centre, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Endocrinology, Shenzhen Hospital, Southern Medical University, Shenzhen, China, ³The Third School of Clinical Medicine, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

Aim: This study aimed to explore the relationship between lower-limb muscle mass/visceral fat area and diabetic kidney disease (DKD) progression in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM).

Methods: A total of 879 participants with T2DM were divided into 4 groups according to the prognosis of CKD classification from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Rectus femoris cross-sectional area (RFCSA) was measured through ultrasound, and visceral fat area (VFA) was evaluated with bioelectric impedance analysis (BIA).

Results: T2DM patients with high to very high prognostic risk of DKD showed a reduced RFCSA (male P < 0.001; female P < 0.05), and an enlarged VFA (male P < 0.05; female P < 0.05). The prognostic risk of DKD was negatively correlated with RFCSA (P < 0.05), but positively correlated with VFA (P < 0.05). Receiver-operating characteristic analysis revealed that the cutoff points of T2DM duration combined with RFCSA and VFA were as follows: (male: 7 years, 6.60 cm2, and 111 cm2; AUC = 0.82; 95% CI: 0.78–0.88; sensitivity, 78.0%; specificity, 68.6%, P < 0.001) (female: 9 years, 5.05 cm2, and 91 cm2; AUC = 0.73; 95% CI: 0.66–0.81; sensitivity, 73.9%; specificity, 63.3%, P < 0.001).

Conclusion: A significant association was demonstrated between reduced RFCSA/increased VFA and high- to very high-prognostic risk of DKD. T2DM duration, RFCSA, and VFA may be valuable markers of DKD progression in patients with T2DM.

Clinical trial registration: http://www.chictr.org.cn, identifier ChiCTR2100042214.

KEYWORDS

Sarcopenia, abdominal obesity, visceral fat area, diabetic kidney disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus

Introduction

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is an important microvascular complication of diabetes, leading to increased mortality in diabetic patients (1). It has been reported that T2DM affects 8.2% of adults (2), 20%–40% of whom are expected to be diagnosed with DKD (3). The only treatment options for late stage DKD include dialysis or kidney transplantation, which are costly, significantly increasing personal and social burdens (4). Hence, identifying and managing the risk factors for DKD is of paramount importance in clinical practice.

Skeletal muscle constituting about 40% of body weight in healthy weight adults falls in quantity and quality with age (5). The mass of skeletal muscle also differs between the sexes. Sarcopenia characterized by gradual skeletal muscle strength and mass deterioration is also considered a complication of DM and has received increasing attention in recent years (6, 7). Many studies have shown that sarcopenia syndrome is commonly found in chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients, mainly those with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) who received hemodialysis (8). Although previous studies have explored sarcopenia in DM or CKD (9, 10), whether it is associated with DKD is still unclear. No unified definition of sarcopenia has been recommended so far, and the consensus by the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) is widely accepted (6, 11). The Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia (AWGS) further provided specific cutoff values for Asian population (12). The assessment of sarcopenia is complex and time-consuming, requiring simple techniques capable of monitoring changes in muscle mass as disease progresses. Douglas W. et al. demonstrated that ultrasound-derived rectus femoris cross-sectional area (RFCSA) appeared to be a reliable index of total quadriceps volume, which was a measure of muscle mass (13). Mueller et al. showed that ultrasound might be a rapid and convenient method to assess sarcopenia (14).

Obesity has become a global health problem due to its associations with coronary artery disease, T2DM, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, etc. (15, 16). Moreover, some studies have shown that abdominal obesity adversely affects renal prognosis, which is independent of diabetes (17, 18). Previous studies demonstrated that excessive visceral fat area (VFA) was related to insulin resistance and was a crucial risk factor for the development of T2DM compared with waist circumference or body mass index (BMI) (19, 20). The present study was designed to investigate the relationship between RFCSA/VFA and the prognostic risk of DKD, and to elucidate whether RFCSA/VFA was a marker for DKD progression.

Materials and methods

Study design

This controlled, open-label, cross-sectional trial was performed to explore the relationship between RFCSA/VFA

and DKD progression. A total of 879 participants were enrolled at the Department of Endocrinology, Shenzhen Hospital, Southern Medical University, China, between March 2020 and December 2021.

Patients included were more than 18 years and were diagnosed with T2DM.

The exclusion criteria were listed as follows: acute complications of diabetes, such as hyperglycemic hyperosmolar coma, hypoglycemic coma, diabetic ketoacidosis and lactic acidosis; nondiabetic nephropathy; myasthenia or muscular atrophy caused by other factors, such as central and peripheral nervous system inflammatory or degenerative diseases, congenital/hereditary diseases, cerebrovascular diseases, craniocerebral trauma, and bone and joint diseases; and malignant tumors, chronic heart failure with decreased ejection fraction, severe liver disease, uncontrolled hypertension, and pregnancy.

The patients' clinical data, such as sex, age, diabetes duration, BMI, blood pressure, history of alcohol consumption, smoking history, were recorded. Laboratory measurements, including blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine (Cr), cystatin C (CysC), serum uric acid (SUA), blood lipid profile, glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c), fasting plasma glucose (FPG), fasting Cpeptide (FCP), and fasting insulin (FINS), were tested after an 8-h fast. Also, 24-h urinary albumin excretion rate (UAER) and urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (UACR) were measured and recorded. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated using CKD-EPI (21, 22). According to the prognosis of CKD classification from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) 2020 Clinical Practice Guideline (23), the participants were divided into 4 groups as follows: low risk, moderate risk, high risk and very high-risk groups.

RFCSA assessment using ultrasound

RFCSA was measured by ultrasonography using a 3-12 MHz transducer array (Philips Ultrasound, WA, USA) as previously described (24, 25). All measurements were made by the same sonographer. The patients were asked to keep relaxed, extend legs and to be in a supine position with upper body elevated by 30°. The point 60% of the distance from the anterior superior iliac spine to the superior border of the patella was located, and the ultrasound probe was placed perpendicularly along the superior part of the right thigh to obtain the transverse images of the RF (14).

VFA assessment by BIA

Abdominal VFA was estimated using an Omron DUALSCAN BIA machine (Omron HDS-2000, Kyoto, Japan), which was a multifrequency impedance body composition analyzer. Eight-point tactile electrode method was utilized

75

following the protocol. Resistance at five specific frequencies (1, 50, 250, 500 kHz, and 1 MHz) and reactance at three specific frequencies (5, 50 and 250 kHz) were measured to obtain the reading of VFA (cm^2) on the screen. All measurements were performed by the same experienced researcher.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation for continuous variables with a normal distribution and as median (interquartile range) for nonnormal distribution variables. Categorical variables were summarized using percentage or frequency. Continuous data with normal distribution in different groups were compared using independent sample t test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), whereas the Kruskal-Wallis test was performed for parameters with a skewed distribution. Pearson's χ^2 test was employed to analyze categorical data. Spearman's correlation analysis was used to explore the association between different prognostic risks of DKD and clinical characteristics (age, duration, TG, HbA1c, RFCSA, and VFA) of patients with T2DM stratified by sex. Multivariate logistic regression was performed to determine the risk factors for high-/very highrisk prognosis of DKD. Furthermore, receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was performed to determine the optimal cutoff points of diabetes duration, RFCSA and VFA for indicating high/very high prognostic risk of DKD in male and female patients respectively. All statistical analyses were 2-tailed and a P < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Baseline characteristics of patients

In total, 941 T2DM patients underwent screening, and 879 participants were enrolled, as 62 were excluded based on exclusion criteria. Of these subjects, 270 patients (30.72%) were diagnosed with DKD according to KDIGO 2020 Clinical Practice Guideline (23). The patients were stratified into 4 groups according to KDIGO prognostic risk classification (low risk, moderate risk, high risk, and very high risk) (23). The baseline characteristics of the participants enrolled are presented in Table 1. Significant differences in sex (P < 0.05), age (P < 0.001), duration (P < 0.001), SBP (P < 0.001), DBP (P < 0.001), Cr (P < 0.001), BUN (P < 0.001), CysC (P < 0.001), SUA (P < 0.001), TG (P < 0.001), FINS (P < 0.05), HDA1c (P < 0.001), and UACR (P < 0.001) were observed among the groups. However, smoking, alcohol consumption, BMI, TC, and LDL displayed

nonsignificant differences among the groups. Considering that the muscle content distribution was different between men and women, it was necessary to conduct statistical analysis for each sex. Male or female patients were then divided into two groups: high- to very high-risk and low- to moderate-risk groups. The results showed that RFCSA of the high- to very high-risk group was lower than that of the low- to moderate-risk group (male P < 0.001; female P < 0.05), whereas VFA of the high- to very high-risk group (male P < 0.05; female P < 0.05) regardless of sex (Table 2).

Correlation analysis between the prognostic risk of DKD and clinical parameters of patients with T2DM

Spearman's correlation was conducted to analyze the relationship between the prognostic risk of DKD and clinical parameters of male and female patients separately, and similar findings were noted. The results showed that the prognostic risk of DKD was negatively correlated with RFCSA (male r = -0.138, P < 0.05; female r = -0.194, P < 0.05), and positively correlated with age (male r = 0.210, P < 0.001; female r = 0.223, P < 0.001), duration (male r = 0.291, P < 0.001; female r = 0.212, P < 0.001), TG (male r = 0.139, P < 0.05; female r = 0.124, P < 0.05), and VFA (male r = 0.139, P < 0.05; female r = 0.144, P < 0.05). However, no significant association was observed between HbA1c and the prognostic risk of DKD in male or female patients with T2DM (Table 3).

Multivariate logistic regression between the prognostic risk of DKD and clinical variables of patients with T2DM

Age and TG were excluded from multivariate logistic regression due to high inter-correlation between age and duration (P < 0.001, data not shown) and between VFA and TG (P < 0.001, data not shown). We performed multivariate logistic regression analysis using the prognostic risk of DKD as dependent variable (high-risk and very high-risk group defined as "1", and low-risk and moderate-risk group defined as "0"), and duration, RFCSA and VFA as independent variables. As shown in Table 4, duration (β 1.11, 95% CI 1.07–1.16, *P* < 0.001), RFCSA (β 0.69, 95% CI 0.57–0.83, *P* < 0.001), and VFA (β 1.01, 95% CI 1.00-1.02, P < 0.05) was found to be significantly associated with high- to very high-risk prognosis of DKD in male patients with T2DM. Similarly, duration (\$ 1.04, 95% CI 1.01-1.07, P < 0.001), RFCSA (β 0.73, 95% CI 0.59-0.91, P < 0.05), and VFA (β 1.01, 95% CI 1.00–1.02, P < 0.05) was shown to be significantly linked with high- to very high-risk prognosis of DKD in female T2DM patients (Table 4).

	Low risk(n=609)	Moderately risk (n=174)(n=174)	High risk(n=50)	Very high risk(n=46)	Р
Sex(M/F)	391/218	120/54	30/20	20/26	< 0.05*
Age (years)	53.03 ± 12.02	53.29 ± 13.89	66.50 ± 9.44	61.72 ± 12.07	< 0.001**
Duration (years)	5.0 (1.0, 10.0)	8.0 (1.0, 13.0)	10.0 (7.0, 17.0)	16.0 (8.0, 20.0)	< 0.001**
BMI (kg/m2)	20.60 ± 4.77	21.55 ± 6.03	21.26 ± 6.53	19.52 ± 7.08	>0.05
SBP (mmHg)	126.60 ± 15.46	134.55 ± 19.32	136.42 ± 18.92	139.00 ± 19.65	< 0.001**
DBP (mmHg)	78.04 ± 9.76	81.94 ± 12.99	78.18 ± 11.49	78.20 ± 11.36	< 0.001**
Alcohol (%)	17.7%	18.4%	8.0%	10.9%	>0.05
Smoking (%)	27.8%	25.3%	16.0%	15.2%	>0.05
BUN (mmol/L)	4.78 ± 1.37	5.17 ± 1.69	7.35 ± 2.45	9.39 ± 3.66	< 0.001**
Cr (µmol/L)	68.31 ± 16.18	77.25 ± 23.96	108.10 ± 26.40	153.33 ± 79.08	< 0.001**
CysC (mg/mL)	0.91 ± 0.16	1.02 ± 0.24	1.74 ± 0.98	2.90 ± 2.44	< 0.001**
SUA (µmol/L)	325.65 ± 90.39	374.12 ± 113.41	363.24 ± 103.55	362.11 ± 103.68	< 0.001**
TG (mmol/L)	1.53(1.04, 2.30)	1.82(1.24,3.18)	1.67 (0.96, 2.87)	1.76(1.42, 2.88)	< 0.001**
TC (mmol/L)	4.43 ± 1.44	4.61 ± 1.85	4.16 ± 1.20	4.47 ± 1.37	>0.05
LDL (mmol/L)	2.81 ± 1.08	3.59 ± 1.26	2.62 ± 1.08	2.61 ± 1.10	>0.05
HDL (mmol/L)	1.20 ± 0.34	1.08 ± 0.34	1.14 ± 0.36	1.16 ± 0.25	< 0.05*
HbA1C (%)	9.28 ± 2.49	9.74 ± 2.38	9.01 ± 2.66	8.77 ± 2.14	< 0.05*
FPG (mmol/L)	8.09 ± 2.94	9.09 ± 3.14	7.75 ± 3.30	7.61 ± 3.06	< 0.001**
FCP (ng/mL)	2.03 ± 1.27	2.24 ± 1.20	2.78 ± 1.73	2.80 ± 1.57	< 0.001**
FINS (µU/mL)	6.75(4.07, 11.53)	8.13(4.96, 13.05)	9.39(3.87, 16.94)	6.82(4.97, 11.61)	< 0.05*
UAER (mg/24h)	7.80 (4.84, 14.62)	55.71 (36.48, 140.15)	66.08 (18.67, 196.64)	90.96 (43.97, 1502.05)	<0.001**
UACR (mg/mmoL)	0.68 (0.41, 1.40)	4.16 (2.09, 15.19)	6.09 (2.36, 32.31)	12.50 (4.15, 171.43)	<0.001**

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics of T2DM patients with different prognosis risk of DKD.

Values were expressed as mean \pm SD for normally distributed data and median with interquartile range for non-normally distributed data, or n (%). Differences among the groups were analyzed by ANOVA for normally distributed values and by the Kruskal-Wallis test for nonparametric values. Pearson's χ 2 test was employed to analyze categorical data. BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; Cr, creatinine; CysC, Cystatin C; SUA, serum uric acid; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; FCP, fasting C-peptide; FINS, fasting insulin; UAER, urinary albumin excretion rate; UACR, urinary albumin to creatinine ratio. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.001.

ROC analysis

We performed ROC analysis to investigate the optimal cutoff points for diabetes duration, RFCSA and VFA, which could be used to distinguish a high- to very high-risk prognosis of DKD. Multivariate logistic regression analysis was carried out to assess the predictive capability of the combined parameters of diabetes duration, RFCSA and VFA, which were used as independent variables for multivariable ROC analysis. For T2DM male patients, the cutoff values of diabetes duration, RFCSA and VFA were revealed as 7 years, 6.60 cm² and 111 cm², respectively, with an AUC of 0.82 (95% CI: 0.78–0.88), a sensitivity of 78.0%, and a specificity of 68.6% (P < 0.001) (Figure 1 blue). For T2DM female patients, the cutoff of diabetes duration, RFCSA and VFA were 9 years, 5.05 cm² and 91 cm², respectively, the AUC was 0.73 (95% CI: 0.66–0.81), the sensitivity was 73.9%, and the specificity was 63.3% (P < 0.001) (Figure 1 green).

TABLE 2 RFCSA and VFA of T2DM patients with different prognosis risk of DKD.

Р
< 0.001**
< 0.05*
< 0.05*
< 0.05*

Values were expressed as mean ± SD for normally distributed data. Differences between the groups were analyzed by student's t-test for normally distributed values. RFCSA, rectus femoris cross-sectional area; VFA, visceral fat area. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.001.

TABLE 3 Spearman's correlation analysis of different prognosis risk of DKD with Clinical characteristics in T2DM patients stratified by gender.

D

		r	Р
Male	Age	0.210	<0.001**
	Duration	0.291	<0.001**
	TG	0.103	< 0.05*
	HbA1C	-0.060	>0.05
	RFCSA	-0.138	< 0.05*
	VFA	0.139	< 0.05*
Female	Age	0.223	<0.001**
	Duration	0.212	<0.001**
	TG	0.124	< 0.05*
	HbA1C	0.039	>0.05
	RFCSA	-0.194	< 0.05*
	VFA	0.144	<0.05*

TG, triglycerides; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin; RFCSA, rectus femoris cross-sectional area; VFA, visceral fat area. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.001.

Discussion

DKD is a major cause of CKD worldwide and brings enormous economic burden to patients and society (26). In addition to the use of medication to control hyperglycemia and hypertension, modifying other related factors is of great importance for the management of DKD patients. Sarcopenia is a frequent condition reported in CKD patients and is considered to be linked with an increased risk of hospitalization and all-cause mortality (27). Previous studies have shown that sarcopenia reflects progressive and cumulative effects of CKD on skeletal muscle (13, 28). Abdominal obesity is a risk factor for multiple complications of diabetes. Heng Wan et al. showed that abdominal obesity was strongly associated with DKD (29).

In the present study, the patients were divided into two groups (high- to very high-risk group and low- to moderate-risk group) to explore the relationship between RFCSA/VFA and the prognostic risk of DKD. The results showed an obviously reduced RFCSA in the high- to very high-risk group compared with the low- to moderate-risk group. Although sarcopenia has been extensively explored in patients with diabetes or CKD (9, 30, 31), the changes of RFCSA in DKD patients has not yet been reported. Many studies have shown that the incidence rate of sarcopenia in ESKD patients is higher than that in patients with early-stage renal disease, which is consistent with our results (8). Some studies reported that abdominal obesity, compared with general obesity, had a greater impact on the risk of DKD (32, 33). Chin-Hsiao Tseng demonstrated a close and independent association between abdominal obesity and elevated UAER in female patients with diabetes but not in male diabetic patients (34). Our results showed an enlarged VFA in high- to very highrisk male and female DKD patients.

Furthermore, our study showed that the prognostic risk of DKD was positively correlated with age, duration and TG, which were recognized as important factors influencing the progression of DKD. A systematic review and meta-analysis of 20 cohorts comprising 41,271 individuals showed that the independent risk factors for DKD development were duration, age, smoking status, HbA1c, TG, HDL-C, BMI, SBP, UACR, and eGFR (35). In the present study, no relationship was established between HbA1c and DKD, which was different from the conclusions of previous studies (36). This discrepancy could be explained by the fact that HbA1c only reflected glycemic control in the recent 3 months. In addition, another explanation might be that some DKD patients were complicated with renal anemia, resulting in lower HbA1c concentration compared with the actual level.

This study also showed that the prognostic risk of DKD was negatively correlated with RFCSA. The exact underlying mechanism has not been fully elucidated. However, abnormal renal function and hyperglycemia are considered essential factors for sarcopenia in patients with DKD. Firstly, sarcopenic obesity, a combination of sarcopenia and obesity, reflects a vicious link between insulin resistance and sarcopenia. Obesity-induced insulin resistance triggers a series of events that lead to a decrease in muscle glucose supply and quantitative and qualitative deterioration of muscles, further enhancing insulin resistance and creating a vicious cycle (37). Secondly, accumulation of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) and diabetic vasculopathy may also impair muscle mass and

	Independent variables	β (95% Cl)	Р
Male	Duration	1.11(1.07, 1.16)	<0.001**
	RFCSA	0.69 (0.57, 0.83)	<0.001**
	VFA	1.01 (1.00, 1.02)	< 0.05*
Female	Duration	1.04(1.01, 1.07)	<0.05*
	RFCSA	0.73 (0.59, 0.91)	<0.05*
	VFA	1.01 (1.00, 1.02)	<0.05*

RFCSA, rectus femoris cross-sectional area; VFA, visceral fat area. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.001.



strength, leading to sarcopenia (38-40). Thirdly, with the worsening of renal function, sarcopenia occurs due to accelerated protein catabolism, and reduced energy and protein intake during dialysis (8).

The relationship between DKD and abdominal obesity was investigated in many previous studies. A meta-analysis, including 2205 patients with VFA measurements from 3 crosssectional studies, demonstrated that VFA was associated with greater odds of DKD in patients with type 2 diabetes (34). Asakawa H et al. showed that VFA level was significantly higher in patients with DKD than those without DKD (41). However, some studies showed the contradictory conclusions. Man et al. (42) found that abdominal obesity had no association with DKD in patients with T2DM. Therefore, the relationship between abdominal obesity and DKD deserves further investigation. The present study found that VFA was positively correlated with the prognostic risk of DKD. Although the mechanisms underlying the linking between DKD and abdominal obesity are still unclear, several hypotheses may be proposed. Firstly, excessive visceral fat accumulation leads to systemic inflammation, which may contribute to a cascade of events such as insulin resistance, oxidative stress, and renal damage (43, 44). Secondly, the reninangiotensin system (RAS) is activated by adipose tissue, which changes sodium retention and renal hemodynamics, ultimately leading to renal damage (45, 46). Thirdly, other metabolic syndromes that are associated with obesity also play an important role in the occurrence and development of DKD (47, 48).

Based on the results of this study, we suggested that the loss of lower-limb muscle mass and the increase in VFA were closely related to the progression of DKD. The prognostic risk of DKD was high or very high for male T2DM patients, with a duration of more than 7 years, a RFCSA of less than 6.60 cm², and a VFA of more than 111 cm². The prognostic risk of DKD was also high or very high for female T2DM patients, with a duration being more than 9 years, a RFCSA being less than 5.05 cm², and a VFA being more than 91 cm². Therefore, we speculated that the modified lifestyle to increase skeletal muscle mass and reduce visceral fat accumulation might delay the progression of DKD in patients with T2DM.

This study had some limitations. Firstly, certain confounding factors, such as the level of physical activity and

the use of anti-diabetes medication, might also influence the results of the study. Secondly, the current conclusion was summarized from a cross-sectional trial. Thirdly, VFA was measured using a novel BIA device that has yet only received limited validation (49) rather than a more accurate and reliable method such as computed tomography (CT).

Conclusions

The lower-limb muscle mass of T2DM patients decreased whereas VFA increased with the progression of DKD. The prognostic risk of DKD was negatively correlated with RFCSA but positively correlated with VFA. T2DM duration, RFCSA and VFA were found to be markers of DKD progression. Based on the conclusion of this study, for patients who have not developed DKD or are in the early stage of DKD, individualized lifestyle guidance (including diet and exercise) and reasonable hypoglycemic medicine selection should be given to increase muscle content and reduce abdominal fat, which may delay the occurrence and progress of DKD. In the future, cohort study and fundamental research are needed to verify the viewpoint and further explore relevant mechanisms.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical ethics committee of Shenzhen Hospital, Southern Medical University (Approval No. NYSZYYEC20200035). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

1. Samsu N. Diabetic nephropathy: Challenges in pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. *BioMed Res Int* (2021) 2021:1497449. doi: 10.1155/2021/1497449

2. Zheng Y, Ley SH, Hu FB. Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2018) 14(2):88–98. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2017.151

3. Professional practice committee: Standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care (2018) 41(Suppl 1):S3. doi: 10.2337/dc18-Sppc01

4. Chen T, Harris DC. Challenges of chronic kidney disease prevention. *Med J Aust* (2015) 203(5):209–10. doi: 10.5694/mja15.00241

Author contributions

Each author has made an important scientific contribution to the study and is thoroughly familiar with the primary data. XL and ZC carried out the clinical studies, participated in the statistical analysis and drafted the manuscript. HH and JZ carried out the data acquisition, participated in the manuscript preparation and literature research. LX conceived of the study, and participated in its design and helped to review the manuscript. All authors listed have read the complete manuscript and have approved submission of the paper.

Funding

This study was supported by grant from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 82270895), Science and Technology Planning Project of Shenzhen (No. JCYJ20210324130204011) and Young Scientific Talents Research Project of China Endocrine and Metabolism (No.2021-N-03).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

 Kim KM, Jang HC, Lim S. Differences among skeletal muscle mass indices derived from height-, weight-, and body mass index-adjusted models in assessing sarcopenia. *Korean J Internal Med* (2016) 31(4):643–50. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2016.015

^{6.} Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European working group on sarcopenia in older people. *Age Ageing* (2010) 39 (4):412–23. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq034

^{7.} Scott D, de Courten B, Ebeling PR. Sarcopenia: A potential cause and consequence of type 2 diabetes in australia's ageing population? *Med J Aust* (2016) 205(7):329-33. doi: 10.5694/mja16.00446

8. Sabatino A, Cuppari L, Stenvinkel P, Lindholm B, Avesani CM. Sarcopenia in chronic kidney disease: What have we learned so far? *J Nephrol* (2021) 34(4):1347–72. doi: 10.1007/s40620-020-00840-y

9. Nishikawa H, Fukunishi S, Asai A, Yokohama K, Ohama H, Nishiguchi S, et al. Sarcopenia, frailty and type 2 diabetes mellitus (Review). *Mol Med Rep* (2021) 24(6):854. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2021.12494

10. Anagnostis P, Gkekas NK, Achilla C, Pananastasiou G, Taouxidou P, Mitsiou M, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with increased risk of sarcopenia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2020) 107 (5):453–63. doi: 10.1007/s00223-020-00742-y

11. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Bruyère O, Cederholm T, et al. Sarcopenia: Revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing* (2019) 48(1):16–31. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy169

12. Chen LK, Liu LK, Woo J, Assantachai P, Auyeung TW, Bahyah KS, et al. Sarcopenia in Asia: Consensus report of the Asian working group for sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2014) 15(2):95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.11.025

13. Gould DW, Watson EL, Wilkinson TJ, Wormleighton J, Xenophontos S, Viana JL, et al. Ultrasound assessment of muscle mass in response to exercise training in chronic kidney disease: A comparison with mri. *J cachexia sarcopenia Muscle* (2019) 10(4):748–55. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12429

14. Mueller N, Murthy S, Tainter CR, Lee J, Riddell K, Fintelmann FJ, et al. Can sarcopenia quantified by ultrasound of the rectus femoris muscle predict adverse outcome of surgical intensive care unit patients as well as frailty? a prospective, observational cohort study. *Ann Surg* (2016) 264(6):1116–24. doi: 10.1097/sla.00000000001546

15. Kodama S, Horikawa C, Fujihara K, Yoshizawa S, Yachi Y, Tanaka S, et al. Quantitative relationship between body weight gain in adulthood and incident type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. *Obes Rev an Off J Int Assoc Study Obes* (2014) 15 (3):202–14. doi: 10.1111/obr.12129

16. Bogers RP, Bemelmans WJ, Hoogenveen RT, Boshuizen HC, Woodward M, Knekt P, et al. Association of overweight with increased risk of coronary heart disease partly independent of blood pressure and cholesterol levels: A metaanalysis of 21 cohort studies including more than 300 000 persons. *Arch Internal Med* (2007) 167(16):1720–8. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.16.1720

17. Alicic RZ, Patakoti R, Tuttle KR. Direct and indirect effects of obesity on the kidney. Adv chronic Kidney Dis (2013) 20(2):121–7. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2012.12.006

18. Gabbay E, Slotki I, Shavit L. Weighing the evidence: Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and the risk of chronic kidney disease. *BMC Nephrol* (2015) 16:133. doi: 10.1186/s12882-015-0137-y

19. Lebovitz HE, Banerji MA. Point: Visceral adiposity is causally related to insulin resistance. *Diabetes Care* (2005) 28(9):2322–5. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.9.2322

20. Wander PL, Boyko EJ, Leonetti DL, McNeely MJ, Kahn SE, Fujimoto WY. Change in visceral adiposity independently predicts a greater risk of developing type 2 diabetes over 10 years in Japanese americans. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36 (2):289–93. doi: 10.2337/dc12-0198

21. Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. part 1: Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a who consultation. *Diabetic Med J Br Diabetic Assoc* (1998) 15 (7):539–53. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1096-9136(199807)15:7<539::aid-dia668>3.0.co;2-s

22. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Internal Med* (2009) 150(9):604–12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006

23. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Diabetes Work Group. Kdigo 2020 clinical practice guideline for diabetes management in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2020) 98(4s):S1-s115. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.06.019

24. Seymour JM, Ward K, Sidhu PS, Puthucheary Z, Steier J, Jolley CJ, et al. Ultrasound measurement of rectus femoris cross-sectional area and the relationship with quadriceps strength in copd. *Thorax* (2009) 64(5):418–23. doi: 10.1136/thx.2008.103986

25. Shrikrishna D, Patel M, Tanner RJ, Seymour JM, Connolly BA, Puthucheary ZA, et al. Quadriceps wasting and physical inactivity in patients with copd. *Eur Respir J* (2012) 40(5):1115–22. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00170111

26. Collins AJ, Foley RN, Herzog C, Chavers B, Gilbertson D, Ishani A, et al. Us renal data system 2010 annual data report. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2011) 57(1 Suppl 1): A8. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2010.10.007

27. Noce A, Marrone G, Ottaviani E, Guerriero C, Di Daniele F, Pietroboni Zaitseva A, et al. Uremic sarcopenia and its possible nutritional approach. *Nutrients* (2021) 13(1):147. doi: 10.3390/nu13010147

28. Kaltsatou A, Sakkas GK, Poulianiti KP, Koutedakis Y, Tepetes K, Christodoulidis G, et al. Uremic myopathy: Is oxidative stress implicated in muscle dysfunction in uremia? *Front Physiol* (2015) 6:102. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00102

29. Wan H, Wang Y, Xiang Q, Fang S, Chen Y, Chen C, et al. Associations between abdominal obesity indices and diabetic complications: Chinese visceral adiposity index and neck circumference. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2020) 19(1):118. doi: 10.1186/s12933-020-01095-4

30. Umegaki H. Sarcopenia and frailty in older patients with diabetes mellitus. Geriatr gerontol Int (2016) 16(3):293-9. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12688

31. Watanabe H, Enoki Y, Maruyama T. Sarcopenia in chronic kidney disease: Factors, mechanisms, and therapeutic interventions. *Biol Pharm Bull* (2019) 42 (9):1437–45. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b19-00513

32. Blaslov K, Bulum T, Duvnjak L. Waist-to-Height ratio is independently associated with chronic kidney disease in overweight type 2 diabetic patients. *Endocr Res* (2015) 40(4):194-8. doi: 10.3109/07435800.2014.987868

33. Hanai K, Babazono T, Nyumura I, Toya K, Ohta M, Bouchi R, et al. Involvement of visceral fat in the pathogenesis of albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes with early stage of nephropathy. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2010) 14(2):132–6. doi: 10.1007/s10157-009-0245-8

34. Zhao Q, Yi X, Wang Z. Meta-analysis of the relationship between abdominal obesity and diabetic kidney disease in type 2 diabetic patients. *Obes facts* (2021) 14 (4):338–45. doi: 10.1159/000516391

35. Jiang W, Wang J, Shen X, Lu W, Wang Y, Li W, et al. Establishment and validation of a risk prediction model for early diabetic kidney disease based on a systematic review and meta-analysis of 20 cohorts. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(4):925–33. doi: 10.2337/dc19-1897

36. Macisaac RJ, Ekinci EI, Jerums G. Markers of and risk factors for the development and progression of diabetic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2014) 63 (2 Suppl 2):S39–62. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.10.048

37. Chen H, Ma J, Liu A, Cui Y, Ma X. The association between sarcopenia and fracture in middle-aged and elderly people: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Injury* (2020) 51(4):804–11. doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2020.02.072

38. Chiu CY, Yang RS, Sheu ML, Chan DC, Yang TH, Tsai KS, et al. Advanced glycation end-products induce skeletal muscle atrophy and dysfunction in diabetic mice *Via* a rage-mediated, ampk-Down-Regulated, akt pathway. *J Pathol* (2016) 238(3):470–82. doi: 10.1002/path.4674

39. Moon SS. Low skeletal muscle mass is associated with insulin resistance, diabetes, and metabolic syndrome in the Korean population: The Korea national health and nutrition examination survey (Knhanes) 2009-2010. *Endocr J* (2014) 61 (1):61–70. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.ej13-0244

40. Cleasby ME, Jamieson PM, Atherton PJ. Insulin resistance and sarcopenia: Mechanistic links between common Co-morbidities. *J Endocrinol* (2016) 229(2): R67–81. doi: 10.1530/joe-15-0533

41. Asakawa H, Tokunaga K, Kawakami F. Relationship of abdominal fat with metabolic disorders in diabetes mellitus patients. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2002) 55 (2):139–49. doi: 10.1016/s0168-8227(01)00294-7

42. Man REK, Gan ATL, Fenwick EK, Gupta P, Wong MYZ, Wong TY, et al. The relationship between generalized and abdominal obesity with diabetic kidney disease in type 2 diabetes: A multiethnic Asian study and meta-analysis. *Nutrients* (2018) 10(11):1685. doi: 10.3390/nu10111685

43. Hall ME, do Carmo JM, da Silva AA, Juncos LA, Wang Z, Hall JE. Obesity, hypertension, and chronic kidney disease. *Int J Nephrol renovasc Dis* (2014) 7:75–88. doi: 10.2147/ijnrd.s39739

44. Lv X, Zhou W, Sun J, Lin R, Ding L, Xu M, et al. Visceral adiposity is significantly associated with type 2 diabetes in middle-aged and elderly Chinese women: A cross-sectional study. *J Diabetes* (2017) 9(10):920–8. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12499

45. Hall JE, Henegar JR, Dwyer TM, Liu J, Da Silva AA, Kuo JJ, et al. Is obesity a major cause of chronic kidney disease? *Adv Renal replace Ther* (2004) 11(1):41–54. doi: 10.1053/j.arrt.2003.10.007

46. Wahba IM, Mak RH. Obesity and obesity-initiated metabolic syndrome: Mechanistic links to chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol CJASN* (2007) 2 (3):550–62. doi: 10.2215/cjn.04071206

47. Hirano T, Satoh N, Kodera R, Hirashima T, Suzuki N, Aoki E, et al. Dyslipidemia in diabetic kidney disease classified by proteinuria and renal dysfunction: A cross-sectional study from a regional diabetes cohort. *J Diabetes Invest* (2022) 13(4):657–67. doi: 10.1111/jdi.13697

48. Radcliffe NJ, Seah JM, Clarke M, MacIsaac RJ, Jerums G, Ekinci EI. Clinical predictive factors in diabetic kidney disease progression. *J Diabetes Invest* (2017) 8 (1):6–18. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12533

49. Yamakage H, Ito R, Tochiya M, Muranaka K, Tanaka M, Matsuo Y, et al. The utility of dual bioelectrical impedance analysis in detecting intra-abdominal fat area in obese patients during weight reduction therapy in comparison with waist circumference and abdominal ct. *Endocr J* (2014) 61(8):807–19. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.ej14-0092

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Federico Biscetti, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY Jie Lu, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, China Xiao Li, Qianfoshan Hospital, Shandong University, China Haofei Hu, Shenzhen Second People's Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yushan Mao maoyushan@nbu.edu.cn Yan Li

liyan@nbu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 26 January 2022 ACCEPTED 28 September 2022 PUBLISHED 19 October 2022

CITATION

Huang G, Li M, Mao Y and Li Y (2022) Development and internal validation of a risk model for hyperuricemia in diabetic kidney disease patients. *Front. Public Health* 10:863064. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.863064

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Huang, Li, Mao and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY)

The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Development and internal validation of a risk model for hyperuricemia in diabetic kidney disease patients

Guoqing Huang^{1,2}, Mingcai Li², Yushan Mao^{1*} and Yan Li^{1,2*}

¹Department of Endocrinology, The Affiliated Hospital of Medical School, Ningbo University, Ningbo, China, ²School of Medicine, Ningbo University, Ningbo, China

Purpose: This research aimed to identify independent risk factors for hyperuricemia (HUA) in diabetic kidney disease (DKD) patients and develop an HUA risk model based on a retrospective study in Ningbo, China.

Patients and methods: Six hundred and ten DKD patients attending the two hospitals between January 2019 and December 2020 were enrolled in this research and randomized to the training and validation cohorts based on the corresponding ratio (7:3). Independent risk factors associated with HUA were identified by multivariable logistic regression analysis. The characteristic variables of the HUA risk prediction model were screened out by the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) combined with 10-fold cross-validation, and the model was presented by nomogram. The C-index and receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve, calibration curve and Hosmer–Lemeshow test, and decision curve analysis (DCA) were performed to evaluate the discriminatory power, degree of fitting, and clinical applicability of the risk model.

Results: Body mass index (BMI), HbA1c, estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), and hyperlipidemia were identified as independent risk factors for HUA in the DKD population. The characteristic variables (gender, family history of T2DM, drinking history, BMI, and hyperlipidemia) were screened out by LASSO combined with 10-fold cross-validation and included as predictors in the HUA risk prediction model. In the training cohort, the HUA risk model showed good discriminatory power with a C-index of 0.761 (95% CI: 0.712–0.810) and excellent degree of fit (Hosmer–Lemeshow test, P > 0.05), and the results of the DCA showed that the prediction model could be beneficial for patients when the threshold probability was 9–79%. Meanwhile, the risk model was also well validated in the validation cohort, where the C-index was 0.843 (95% CI: 0.780–0.906), the degree of fit was good, and the DCA risk threshold probability was 7–100%.

Conclusion: The development of risk models contributes to the early identification and prevention of HUA in the DKD population, which is vital for preventing and reducing adverse prognostic events in DKD.

KEYWORDS

diabetic kidney disease, hyperuricemia, independent risk factors, prediction model, nomogram

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a metabolic disease caused by a combination of genetic, environmental factors and dietary habits and is characterized by chronic elevation of blood glucose and inadequate insulin secretion. With the prolonged course of DM and poor long-term glycemic control, the accumulation of abnormal substances in the metabolic process (such as advanced glycosylation end products, free fatty acids, and inflammationrelated mediators) can cause functional damage to multiple organs of the body, including the kidneys, retina, and heart and brain vessels. Among them, diabetic kidney disease (DKD) and cardiovascular disease are the leading causes of death and disability in diabetic patients, posing a significant threat to human physical and mental health.

DKD is one of the most important microvascular complications of DM, with an increased urinary albumin excretion rate and reduced glomerular filtration rate as the main clinical manifestations (1). The main pathological changes of DKD are proliferation of thylakoid cells, extracellular matrix accumulation, basement membrane thickening, diffuse glomerulosclerosis, and interstitial fibrosis (2, 3). In recent years, as the prevalence of DM has increased globally, the prevalence of DKD has also increased, with approximately 40% of DM patients suffering from DKD, which is a significant cause of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (4). Uric acid (UA) is the end product of the metabolism of purine compounds with a dynamic balance of production and clearance under normal conditions. However, the disruption of the balance inevitably causes a continuous increase in UA levels, which in turn results in the development of hyperuricemia (HUA). The kidney plays an important role in the excretion of uric acid, of which approximately 90% of HUA is the result of abnormal glomerular and/or tubular function (5).

The public has increasingly recognized HUA as a risk factor for DKD (6-8), and UA may become a new therapeutic target for DKD. However, other studies have shown no causal relationship between elevated UA levels and kidney disease only as a downstream marker of kidney damage (9, 10). Few studies on risk factors for HUA in the DKD population have been reported. There have been many studies on HUA risk prediction models, but most were developed based on healthy populations. Cao et al. (11) developed a simple HUA Cox proportional hazard model based on an urban Chinese population that showed good clinical discrimination between men and women [C-index: 0.783 (95% CI: 0.779-0.786) vs. 0.784 (95% CI: 0.778-0.789)]. Gao et al. (12) constructed a random forest prediction model for health checkups. In addition, risk prediction models based on machine learning, such as artificial neural networks, are also used for HUA prediction (13, 14). The predictive model is established to serve the clinic better, so the characteristics of solid predictive ability, visualization, and easy operation are

necessary. The least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) combined with 10-fold cross-validation was used to screen for characteristic variables, while the nomogram provides a tool for the visual representation of predictive models. The establishment of HUA risk prediction would contribute to the early intervention of DKD, the delay of the disease course, and the reduction of adverse prognostic events. The purpose of this study was, on the one hand, to identify independent risk factors for HUA in the DKD population and, on the other hand, to develop a risk model for HUA with the help of the nomogram.

Materials and methods

Patients

From January 2019 to December 2020, questionnaires were administered to T2DM patients who were outpatients and inpatients in two hospitals in Ningbo, including the Affiliated Hospital of Medical School, Ningbo University, Yinzhou No. 3 Hospital. Relevant clinical data were obtained and recorded through questionnaires, physical examinations, and laboratory tests. To ensure the accuracy of the study, the completeness of each individual data was checked, those with more missing values (exceeding 20% of the total) were removed, and those with fewer missing values (<20% of the total) were filled with multiple imputation (15). After data processing, complete information was obtained for 1,682 T2DM patients. Finally, 610 patients with clearly diagnosed DKD were included in the study by reviewing past medical history and inquiry. The diagnosis of DKD meets one of the following criteria (16): (1) random urine albumin creatinine ratio (ACR) \geq 30 mg/g or urinary albumin excretion rate \geq 30 mg/24 h, and the critical value is reached or exceeded in two out of three tests within 3 to 6 months; (2) estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) < 60mL/min/1.73 m² for more than 3 months; (3) renal biopsy consistent with DKD pathological changes. The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Affiliated Hospital of Medical School, Ningbo University (KY20171112), and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Inclusion criteria: T2DM; age \geq 18 years; clearly diagnosed DKD. exclusion criteria: other renal diseases; severe life-threatening organ dysfunction of the heart, lungs, kidney and liver; tumors; hormone use within the past 6 months.

Procedure

The demographic and clinical data for this study were primarily information that was readily available, relatively complete, and comparable in clinical practice, which was collected through a questionnaire. All staffs involved in the questionnaire received standardized training. The questionnaire survey collected participants' general characteristics [gender, age, family history of DM, duration of T2DM, body mass index (BMI), systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP)], biochemical indicators in the last 3 months [glycated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), fasting blood glucose (FBG), postprandial (2 h) blood glucose (PBG), triglycerides (TG), total cholesterol (TC), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), and UA], and chronic complications. Biochemical indicators were obtained from each hospital's electronic laboratory record system. Confirmation of chronic complications required a review of medical history and inquiry and was recorded only if there was a clear previous diagnosis.

Statistical analysis

Six-hundred ten patients with DKD were enrolled in this research, and data information for all variables was expressed as counts (%). Statistical analysis was performed with R software (version 4.1.2; https://www.R-project.org). Comparison of the count data between the two groups was performed by chi-square test. All tests were two-tailed, and a *P* value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Participants were randomized to training and validation cohorts according to a certain ratio (7:3) (17, 18), while the random sampling process used the createDataPartition function in the caret package. In addition, we knew from the calculation that the sample size was sufficient for the subsequent statistical analysis, which complied with the rule of 10 events per variable (19, 20). Independent risk factors were identified by multivariable logistic regression analysis. The LASSO is a method applied for data dimensional reduction (21, 22), which could construct a penalty function to obtain a double-standard error. The characteristic variables associated with DKD were screened out by LASSO combined with 10-fold cross-validation. Finally, the HUA risk prediction model is constructed by logistic regression analysis and presented by nomogram (23). The participant screening flow diagram for this study is shown in Figure 1.

The risk predictive models were evaluated in terms of discriminatory ability [C-index and receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve], calibration ability (Hosmer-Lemeshow test and calibration curve), and clinical applicability [decision curve analysis (DCA)] (17).

Results

Characteristics of the research cohort

Six hundred and ten participants were enrolled in this study, including 412 individuals with DKD without HUA and 198 individuals with DKD with HUA. The percentage of HUA in the



DKD population was found to be as high as 32.4% in the study. We observed a similar proportion of males in both groups (52.4 vs. 53.5%), an overwhelming majority of age >60 years (73.5 vs. 75.8%), and a predominance of T2DM duration of 15-20 years (34.7 vs. 26.3%). In the DKD population, the HUA group had a higher proportion of smoking history, drinking history, obese patients, FBG >7 mmol/L, HbA1c >8%, hypertension and eGFR \leq 120 mL/min/1.73m², and hyperlipidemia compared with the control group. BMI (P = 0.025), SBP (P = 0.004), PBG (P = 0.017), HbA1c (P < 0.001), UA (P < 0.001), eGFR (P < 0.001) and hypertension (P < 0.001) were found to be significantly different between the two groups by univariate analysis (Table 1). A total of 430 (135 with HUA) and 180 (63 with HUA) participants were assigned to the training and validation cohorts, respectively, by randomization sampling, while it could be seen that the variables did not differ in the training and validation cohorts (Table 1).

Independent risk factors

These variables were incorporated into multivariate logistic regression analyses according to the results of the univariate analysis in Table 1 (with a screening criterion of P < 0.1). BMI, HbA1c, eGFR, and hyperlipidemia were identified as independent risk factors for HUA in the DKD population (Table 2).

Construction of predictive models

In the training cohort, seven nonzero characteristic variables, such as gender, family history of T2DM, drinking history, BMI, UA, eGFR, and hyperlipidemia, were screened out by LASSO combined with 10-fold cross-validation (Figure 2; Table 3). Since UA is one of the diagnostic criteria for HUA, we selected gender, family history of T2DM, drinking history, BMI,

	DKD without HUA	DKD with HUA	P-Value	Training cohort (135 with HUA)	Validation cohort (63 with HUA)	P-Value
N	412	198		430	180	
gender (male), %	216 (52.4)	106 (53.5)	0.863	234 (54.4)	88 (48.9)	0.215
Age, %			0.595			0.859
\leq 50 years old	27 (6.6)	15 (7.6)		29 (6.7)	13 (7.2)	
50-60 years old	82 (19.9)	33 (16.7)		79 (18.4)	36 (20.0)	
> 60 years old	303 (73.5)	150 (75.8)		322 (74.9)	131 (72.8)	
Education level, %			0.712			0.146
Primary/illiterate	283 (68.7)	135 (68.2)		286 (66.5)	132 (73.3)	
Middle/high school	121 (29.4)	61 (30.8)		138 (32.1)	44 (24.4)	
University and above	8 (1.9)	2 (1.0)		6 (1.4)	4 (2.2)	
Family history of T2DM, %	86 (20.9)	41 (20.7)	0.999	89 (20.7)	38 (21.1)	0.913
Smoking history, %	92 (22.3)	52 (26.3)	0.309	106 (24.7)	38 (21.1)	0.403
Drinking history, %	67 (16.3)	38 (19.2)	0.363	76 (17.7)	29 (16.1)	0.724
Duration of T2DM, %			0.070			0.121
\leq 5 years	8 (1.9)	5 (2.5)		9 (2.1)	4 (2.2)	
5-10 years	138 (33.5)	60 (30.3)		131 (30.5)	67 (37.2)	
10-15 years	73 (17.7)	48 (24.2)		88 (20.5)	33 (18.3)	
15-20 years	143 (34.7)	52 (26.3)		149 (34.7)	46 (25.6)	
> 20 years	50 (12.1)	33 (16.7)		53 (12.3)	30 (16.7)	
BMI, %			0.025			0.353
\leq 24 kg/m ²	184 (44.7)	69 (34.8)		175 (40.7)	78 (43.3)	
24-28 kg/m ²	171 (41.5)	88 (44.4)		190 (44.2)	69 (38.3)	
> 28 kg/m ²	57 (13.8)	41 (20.7)		65 (15.1)	33 (18.3)	
SBP, %			0.004			0.677
≤140 mmHg	269 (65.3)	101 (51.0)		256 (59.5)	114 (63.3)	
140–160 mmHg	98 (23.8)	73 (36.9)		126 (29.3)	45 (25.0)	
160–180 mmHg	40 (9.7)	21 (10.6)		43 (10.0)	18 (10.0)	
> 180 mmHg	5 (1.2)	3 (1.5)		5 (1.2)	3 (1.7)	
DBP, %			0.562			0.428
≤90 mmHg	388 (94.2)	183 (92.4)		398 (92.6)	173 (96.1)	
90–100 mmHg	16 (3.9)	12 (6.1)		23 (5.3)	5 (2.8)	
100–110 mmHg	6 (1.5)	3 (1.5)		7 (1.6)	2 (1.1)	
>110 mmHg	2 (0.5)	0 (0.0)		2 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	
FBG, %			0.633			0.754
\leq 7 mmol/L	174 (42.2)	91 (46.0)		191 (44.4)	74 (41.1)	
7–11 mmol/L	209 (50.7)	96 (48.5)		211 (49.1)	94 (52.2)	
>11 mmol/L	29 (7.0)	11 (5.6)		28 (6.5)	12 (6.7)	
PBG, %			0.017			0.628
≤11 mmol/L	128 (31.1)	85 (42.9)		147 (34.2)	66 (36.7)	
11-15 mmol/L	185 (44.9)	75 (37.9)		182 (42.3)	78 (43.3)	
>15 mmol/L	99 (24.0)	38 (19.2)		101 (23.5)	36 (20.0)	
HbA1c, %			< 0.001			0.372
≤8%	152 (36.9)	110 (55.6)		179 (41.6)	83 (46.1)	
8-10%	143 (34.7)	58 (29.3)		149 (34.7)	52 (28.9)	
>10%	117 (28.4)	30 (15.2)		102 (23.7)	45 (25.0)	
TC (>6.2 mmol/L), %	37 (9.0)	16 (8.1)	0.761	35 (8.1)	18 (10.0)	0.528
TG (>4.1 mmol/L), %	71 (17.2)	43 (21.7)	0.185	81 (18.8)	33 (18.3)	0.910
LDL (>3.4 mmol/L), %	68 (16.5)	22 (11.1)	0.088	66 (15.3)	24 (13.3)	0.617

TABLE 1 Characteristics of participants in different cohorts.

(Continued)

	DKD without HUA	DKD with HUA	P-Value	Training cohort (135 with HUA)	Validation cohort (63 with HUA)	P-Value
HDL (>1 mmol/L), %	265 (64.3)	114 (57.6)	0.110	271 (63.0)	108 (60.0)	0.522
UA, %			< 0.001			0.890
\leq 360 μ mol/L	325 (78.9)	17 (8.6)		245 (57.0)	97 (53.9)	
360-420 µmol/L	73 (17.7)	37 (18.7)		76 (17.7)	34 (18.9)	
420–480 µmol/L	10 (2.4)	49 (24.7)		40 (9.3)	19 (10.6)	
$>480 \mu mol/L$	4 (1.0)	95 (48.0)		69 (16.0)	30 (16.7)	
eGFR, %			< 0.001			0.164
>120, mL/min/1.73 m ²	320 (77.7)	70 (35.4)		269 (62.6)	121 (67.2)	
90–120, mL/min/1.73 m ²	55 (13.3)	39 (19.7)		76 (17.7)	18 (10.0)	
60-90, mL/min/1.73 m2	25 (6.1)	46 (23.2)		49 (11.4)	22 (12.2)	
30-60, mL/min/1.73 m ²	7 (1.7)	34 (17.2)		27 (6.3)	14 (7.8)	
\leq 30, mL/min/1.73 m ²	5 (1.2)	9 (4.5)		9 (2.1)	5 (2.8)	
Hypertensive, %	310 (75.2)	179 (90.4)	< 0.001	356 (82.8)	133 (73.9)	0.014
Hyperlipidemia, %	204 (49.5)	115 (58.1)	0.057	227 (52.8)	92 (51.1)	0.723
Atherosclerosis, %	394 (95.6)	187 (94.4)	0.545	405 (94.2)	176 (97.8)	0.062
CVD, %	103 (25.0)	54 (27.3)	0.554	109 (25.3)	48 (26.7)	0.761

TABLE 1 (Continued)

DKD, diabetic kidney disease; HUA, hyperuricemia; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; FBG, fasting blood glucose; PBG, postprandial (2 h) blood glucose; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; UA, uric acid; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; CVD, cardiovascular disease.

TABLE 2 Multivariate logistic regression analysis.

Variable	Coefficients	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	P-value
BMI			
\leq 24 kg/m ²		1	1
24-28 kg/m ²	0.441	1.554 (1.002–2.426)	< 0.05
$> 28 \text{ kg/m}^2$	0.83	2.294 (1.310-4.021)	< 0.01
HbA1c			
$\leq 8\%$		1	1
8-10%	-0.406	0.666 (0.424-1.041)	>0.05
>10%	-0.707	0.493 (0.287-0.834)	< 0.01
eGFR			
>120 mL/min/1.73 m ²		1	1
90–120 mL/min/1.73 m ²	1.200	3.322 (1.996-5.528)	< 0.01
60-90 mL/min/1.73 m ²	2.144	8.541	< 0.01
		(4.859-15.367)	
30-60 mL/min/1.73 m ²	3.211	24.814	< 0.01
		(10.849-64.722)	
\leq 30 mL/min/1.73 m ²	2.221	9.214	< 0.01
		(2.892-32.562)	
Hyperlipidemia	0.600	1.822 (1.216–2.758)	< 0.01

BMI, body mass index; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

eGFR, and hyperlipidemia as predictors to construct the HUA risk model by logistic regression analysis, which was visualized by nomogram (Figure 3).

Validation of predictive models

The C-index and the area under the ROC curve (AUC) were used to assess the discriminatory ability of the risk model. In the training cohort, the C-index was 0.761 (95% CI: 0.712–0.810), and the AUC was 0.761, while in the validation cohort, the values were 0.843 (95% CI: 0.780–0.906) and 0.843 (Figure 4).

From the calibration curve, the predicted values were very close to the theoretical values in the training and validation cohorts, showing an excellent degree of fit (Figure 5), which was further confirmed by the Hosmer–Lemeshow test (P > 0.05) (Table 4).

DCA is a method that has been used to evaluate the clinical applicability of risk models. Figure 6 shows that the risk threshold probabilities for the training and validation cohorts were 9–79% and 7–100%, respectively, which suggested that the risk prediction model could benefit patients within this threshold probability range.

Discussion

DKD seriously affects the quality of life of T2DM patients and threatens their lives, while an increasing number of scholars have started to pay attention to and study the relationship between UA and DKD (24–26). Through a retrospective investigation in Ningbo, China, 610 DKD patients were enrolled, including 198 HUA patients. The multivariate logistic regression analysis identified BMI, HbA1c, eGFR, and hyperlipidemia as



Characteristic variables were screened using LASSO regression analysis. (A) The selection of the best parameter (lambda) in the LASSO model uses 10-fold cross-validation with the lowest standard. The relationship curve between partial likelihood deviation (binomial deviation) and log (lambda) was plotted. Dotted vertical lines were drawn at the optimal values by using the minimum criteria and the one SE of the minimum criteria (the one SE criteria). (B) LASSO coefficient profiles of the seven characteristic variables. A coefficient profile plot was produced against the log (lambda) sequence. LASSO, least absolute shrinkage and selection operator; SE, standard error.

TABLE 3 Coefficients and lambda.min value of the LASSO regression.

Variables	Coefficients	Lambda.min
Gender	-1.106	0.012
Family history of T2DM	0.154	
Drinking history	0.475	
BMI	0.291	
UA	1.879	
eGFR	0.416	
Hyperlipidemia	0.147	

BMI, body mass index; UA, uric acid; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

independent risk factors for HUA in the DKD population. The characteristic variables, such as gender, family history of T2DM, drinking history, BMI, eGFR, and hyperlipidemia, were screened as predictors for the HUA risk model by LASSO combined with 10-fold cross-validation. We then validated the risk prediction model in terms of discrimination, fitting degree, and clinical applicability. In the training and validation cohorts, the C-index was 0.761 (95% CI: 0.712–0.810) and 0.843 (95% CI: 0.780–0.906), respectively; the DCA showed that the participants could benefit when the risk probability thresholds were 9–79% and 7–100%; meanwhile,

the risk model passed the Hosmer-Lemeshow test with a high goodness of fit.

The proportion of HUA among DKD patients was found to be 32.4% in the study, higher than the 13% in Zhengzhou, China (27), which might be related to the region as well as the inclusion of the study population. Current research in this area is still limited and more studies are necessary in the future. The relationship between DKD and HUA is complex, causally indistinguishable, and mutually reinforcing (28), and the prevailing view is that UA is a modifiable and independent risk factor for chronic kidney disease (29). In contrast, we identified independent risk factors associated with HUA based on the DKD population. Obesity as a risk factor for HUA has been proven in several studies (30-32). The accumulation of visceral fat in obese people affects the metabolic capacity of the kidneys, thus inhibiting the excretion of UA (33, 34). Our research showed that hyperlipidemia is a risk factor for HUA, which was supported by a previous study (35). Although the cause of the increased prevalence of HUA due to lipid metabolism is unknown, potential mechanisms may be related to the metabolic pathways of free fatty acids (36). A chronic hyperglycemic state stimulates the pancreas to produce insulin overload, and elevated insulin promotes UA reabsorption by the proximal renal tubules (37). Therefore, a higher HbA1c often means a higher



incidence of HUA (38). In addition, DKD patients already have impaired renal excretion performance, which, together with the above risk factors, would further increase the elevation of UA.

The construction of predictive models is important for the early diagnosis and prevention of diseases. Various HUA risk prediction models have been established in recent years based on normal populations in different regions (11–13, 39), all showing good clinical differentiation. However, the available HUA risk models still have some limitations. Although Cox regression models, artificial neural networks, and random forest models demonstrate good clinical predictive value, the clinical applicability is limited due to their low visualization. Nomograms are often used to visualize risk prediction models due to their simplicity, visualization, and operability. It mainly assigns a value to each predictor based on the regression

coefficient and uses the corresponding algorithm to derive a predictive value for the corresponding individual outcome event (40). In addition, previous studies have revealed that the nomogram model outperforms other machine learning models (artificial neural networks and classification tree models) in accuracy and clinical utility (41, 42). In this study, LASSO combined with 10-fold cross-validation screened for characteristic variables associated with HUA, such as gender, family history of T2DM, drinking history, BMI, eGFR, and hyperlipidemia, which are the most readily available variables in clinical practice. The establishment of visual predictive models can better contribute to the early diagnosis and prevention of HUA in the DKD population, which is of great significance for countries or regions with relatively scarce medical resources.

Compared to previous studies, we have the following advantages. First, we identified risk factors associated with





FIGURE 5

Calibration curves. (A) Training cohort and (B) validation cohort. The x-axis represents the predicted HUA risk. The y-axis represents the actual diagnosed HUA. The diagonal dotted line represents a perfect prediction by an ideal model. The solid line represents the performance of the nomogram, of which a closer fit to the diagonal dotted line represents a better prediction.

	χ^2	P-Value
Training cohort	3.696	0.930
Validation cohort	7.456	0.590

HUA based on the DKD population, which has rarely been reported. HUA is well known as a risk factor for DKD, while the identification of HUA risk factors could help delay the progression of DKD and reduce the occurrence of adverse prognostic events. Second, we may be the first to develop an HUA risk prediction model based on a DKD population,

TABLE4 Hosmer-Lemeshow test



Decision curve analysis. (A) Training cohort and (B) validation cohort. The black line represents the net benefit when none of the participants are considered to develop HUA, while the light gray line represents the net benefit when all participants are considered to develop HUA. The area between the blue line and light gray line in the model curve indicates the clinical utility of the model.

which has important implications for the early diagnosis and prevention of the disease. Certainly, there are some limitations in our study. First, the diagnosis of DKD is predominantly clinical, so the presence of nondiabetic kidney disease cannot be completely ruled out. Second, as a cross-sectional study, there is no escape from the fact that our sample size was limited. Third, the HUA risk prediction model is only validated by internal datasets, while the validation of external datasets is necessary. Furthermore, we will expand the sample size to improve the stability of the model; meanwhile, we will cooperate with multiple centers to obtain external datasets to validate the model.

Conclusions

Briefly, based on a multicenter study in Ningbo, China, we identified independent risk factors (BMI, SBP, eGFR, and hyperlipidemia) associated with HUA and constructed an HUA risk prediction model in the DKD population. The establishment of risk prediction helps us to identify individuals at high risk of HUA early in the DKD population, which is important for the prevention and reduction of adverse prognostic events in DKD.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

The study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Affiliated Hospital of Medical School, Ningbo University, Ningbo, China. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

GH and ML conceived and designed the research, drafted the manuscript, and took part in the discussion. GH performed the statistical and YL manuscript. All analysis. YM revised the authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by grants from Natural Science Fund of Ningbo, China (No. 2018A610248), NINGBO Medical & Health Leading Academic Discipline Project (No. 2022-F24), Zhejiang Medicine and Health Technology Project, China (No. 2018ZH029 and 2020KY871), the Major Project for Science and Technology Innovation 2025 in Ningbo, China (No. 2019B10035), Ningbo Social Development, China (No. 2019C50080), and Ningbo Social Welfare Research (No. 2022S047).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. McGrath K, Edi R. Diabetic Kidney Disease: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prevention. Am Fam Physician. (2019) 99:751–9.

2. Zhang L, Wen Z, Han L, Zheng Y, Wei Y, Wang X, et al. Research progress on the pathological mechanisms of podocytes in diabetic nephropathy. *J Diabetes Res.* (2020) 2020:7504798. doi: 10.1155/2020/7504798

3. Lin Y-C, Chang Y-H, Yang S-Y, Wu K-D, Chu T-S. Update of pathophysiology and management of diabetic kidney disease. *J Formos Med Assoc.* (2018) 117:662– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.jfma.2018.02.007

4. Fioretto P. Diabetic kidney disease: the onset of a new era? *J Nephrol.* (2020) 33:899–900. doi: 10.1007/s40620-020-00849-3

5. Dalbeth N, Merriman TR, Stamp LK. Gout. Lancet. (2016) 388:2039–52. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736[16]00346-9

6. Hayashino Y, Okamura S, Tsujii S, Ishii H. Association of serum uric acid levels with the risk of development or progression of albuminuria among Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes: a prospective cohort study [Diabetes Distress and Care Registry at Tenri (DDCRT 10)]. *Acta Diabetol.* (2016) 53:599–607. doi: 10.1007/s00592-015-0825-x

7. Yan D, Tu Y, Jiang F, Wang J, Zhang R, Sun X, et al. Uric Acid is independently associated with diabetic kidney disease: a cross-sectional study in a Chinese population. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0129797. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129797

 Liang C-C, Lin P-C, Lee M-Y, Chen S-C, Shin S-J, Hsiao P-J, Lin K-D, Hsu W-H. Association of serum uric acid concentration with diabetic retinopathy and albuminuria in Taiwanese Patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17. doi: 10.3390/ijms17081248

9. Ahola AJ, Sandholm N, Forsblom C, Harjutsalo V, Dahlström E, Groop P-H. The serum uric acid concentration is not causally linked to diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetes. *Kidney Int.* (2017) 91:1178–85. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.11.025

10. Jordan DM, Choi HK, Verbanck M, Topless R, Won H-H, Nadkarni G, et al. No causal effects of serum urate levels on the risk of chronic kidney disease: A Mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med.* (2019) 16:e1002725. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002725

11. Cao J, Wang C, Zhang G, Ji X, Liu Y, Sun X, et al. Incidence and simple prediction model of hyperuricemia for urban Han chinese adults: a prospective cohort study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2017) 14. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14010067

12. Gao Y, Jia S, Li D, Huang C, Meng Z, Wang Y, et al. Prediction model of random forest for the risk of hyperuricemia in a Chinese basic health checkup test. *Biosci Rep.* (2021) 41. doi: 10.1042/BSR20203859

13. Zeng J, Zhang J, Li Z, Li T, Li G. Prediction model of artificial neural network for the risk of hyperuricemia incorporating dietary risk factors in a Chinese adult study. *Food Nutr Res.* (2020) 64. doi: 10.29219/fnr.v64.3712

14. Lee S, Choe EK, Park B. Exploration of machine learning for hyperuricemia prediction models based on basic health checkup tests. *J Clin Med.* (2019) 8. doi: 10.3390/jcm8020172

15. Xin F, Fu L, Yang B, Liu H, Wei T, Zou C, et al. Development and validation of a nomogram for predicting stroke risk in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Aging.* (2021) 13:15061–77. doi: 10.18632/aging.203071

16. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2020) 43(Suppl 1):S14-S31.

17. Lyu J, Li Z, Wei H, Liu D, Chi X, Gong D-W, et al. potent risk model for predicting new-onset acute coronary syndrome in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Northwest China. *Acta Diabetol.* (2020) 57:705-13. doi: 10.1007/s00592-020-01484-x

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

18. Chen Y, Huang S, Chen T, Liang D, Yang J, Zeng C, et al. Machine learning for prediction and risk stratification of lupus nephritis renal flare. *Am J Nephrol.* (2021) 52:152–60. doi: 10.1159/000513566

19. Peduzzi P, Concato J, Kemper E, Holford TR, Feinstein AR. A simulation study of the number of events per variable in logistic regression analysis. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (1996) 49:1373–9. doi: 10.1016/S0895-4356(96)00236-3

20. Vittinghoff E, McCulloch CE. Relaxing the rule of ten events per variable in logistic and Cox regression. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2007) 165:710-8. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwk052

21. Sauerbrei W, Royston P, Binder H. Selection of important variables and determination of functional form for continuous predictors in multivariable model building. *Stat Med.* (2007) 26:5512–28. doi: 10.1002/sim.3148

22. Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Regularization paths for generalized linear models via coordinate descent. J Stat Softw. (2010) 33:1–22. doi: 10.18637/jss.v033.i01

23. Shi R, Zhang T, Sun H, Hu F. Establishment of clinical prediction model based on the study of risk factors of stroke in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* (2020) 11:559. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00559

24. Mauer M, Doria A. Uric acid and diabetic nephropathy risk. *Contrib Nephrol.* (2018) 192:103–9. doi: 10.1159/000484284

25. Li GX, Jiao XH, Cheng XB. Correlations between blood uric acid and the incidence and progression of type 2 diabetes nephropathy. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2018) 22:506–11.

26. Hovind P, Rossing P, Johnson RJ, Parving H-H. Serum uric acid as a new player in the development of diabetic nephropathy. *J Ren Nutr.* (2011) 21:124–7. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2010.10.024

27. Duan J-Y, Duan G-C, Wang C-J, Liu D-W, Qiao Y-J, Pan S-K, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of chronic kidney disease and diabetic kidney disease in a central Chinese urban population: a cross-sectional survey. *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:115. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-01761-5

28. Johnson RJ, Nakagawa T, Jalal D, Sánchez-Lozada LG, Kang D-H, Ritz E. Uric acid and chronic kidney disease: which is chasing which? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2013) 28:2221–8. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft029

29. Mende C. Management of chronic kidney disease: the relationship between serum uric acid and development of nephropathy. *Adv Ther.* (2015) 32:1177–91. doi: 10.1007/s12325-015-0272-7

30. Aune D, Norat T, Vatten LJ. Body mass index and the risk of gout: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Eur J Nutr.* (2014) 53:1591–601. doi: 10.1007/s00394-014-0766-0

31. Thottam GE, Krasnokutsky S, Pillinger MH. Gout and metabolic syndrome: a tangled web. Curr Rheumatol Rep. (2017) 19:60. doi: 10.1007/s11926-017-0688-y

32. Song P, Wang H, Xia W, Chang X, Wang M, An L. Prevalence and correlates of hyperuricemia in the middle-aged and older adults in China. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:4314. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22570-9

 Borghi C, Tykarski A, Widecka K, Filipiak KJ, Domienik-Karłowicz J, Kostka-Jeziorny K, et al. Expert consensus for the diagnosis and treatment of patient with hyperuricemia and high cardiovascular risk. *Cardiol J.* (2018) 25:545– 63. doi: 10.5603/CJ.2018.0116

34. Lee J, Sparrow D, Vokonas PS, Landsberg L, Weiss ST. Uric acid and coronary heart disease risk: evidence for a role of uric acid in the obesity-insulin resistance syndrome. The normative aging study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1995) 142:288–94. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a 117634

35. Zhang Y, Wei F, Chen C, Cai C, Zhang K, Sun N, et al. Higher triglyceride level predicts hyperuricemia: a prospective study of 6-year follow-up. *J Clin Lipidol.* (2018) 12:185–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2017.10.009

36. Erem C, Hacihasanoglu A, Deger O, Kocak M, Topbas M. Prevalence of dyslipidemia and associated risk factors among Turkish adults: trabzon lipid study. *Endocrine.* (2008) 34:36–51. doi: 10.1007/s12020-008-9100-z

37. Li C, Hsieh M-C, Chang S-J. Metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and hyperuricemia. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2013) 25:210–6. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e32835d951e

38. Wang J, Chen R-P, Lei L, Song Q-Q, Zhang R-Y, Li Y-B, et al. Prevalence and determinants of hyperuricemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with central obesity in Guangdong Province in China. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 22:590–8.

39. Shi J-C, Chen X-H, Yang Q, Wang C-M, Huang Q, Shen Y-M, et al. A simple prediction model of hyperuricemia for use in a rural setting. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:23300. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-02716-y

40. Park SY. Nomogram: an analogue tool to deliver digital knowledge. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2018) 155:1793. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2017.12.107

41. Zheng X, Fang F, Nong W, Feng D, Yang Y. Development and validation of a model to estimate the risk of acute ischemic stroke in geriatric patients with primary hypertension. *BMC Geriatr.* (2021) 21:458. doi: 10.1186/s12877-021-02392-7

42. Ye Y, Xiong Y, Zhou Q, Wu J, Li X, Xiao X. Comparison of machine learning methods and conventional logistic regressions for predicting gestational diabetes using routine clinical data: a retrospective cohort study. *J Diabetes Res.* (2020) 2020:4168340. doi: 10.1155/2020/4168340

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Vinod Tiwari, Indian Institute of Technology (BHU) India

REVIEWED BY Ping-Hsun Wu, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Gratiela Gradisteanu Pircalabioru, University of Bucharest, Romania

Yanqiu Xu xuyanqiu@shyueyanghospital.com Yi Wang drwangyi0110@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Renal Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 12 August 2022 ACCEPTED 10 October 2022 PUBLISHED 20 October 2022

CITATION

Han S, Chen M, Cheng P, Zhang Z, Lu Y, Xu Y and Wang Y (2022) A systematic review and meta-analysis of gut microbiota in diabetic kidney disease: Comparisons with diabetes mellitus, non-diabetic kidney disease, and healthy individuals. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1018093. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1018093

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Han, Chen, Cheng, Zhang, Lu, Xu and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A systematic review and metaanalysis of gut microbiota in diabetic kidney disease: Comparisons with diabetes mellitus, non-diabetic kidney disease, and healthy individuals

Shisheng Han^{1†}, Min Chen^{1†}, Pei Cheng^{2†}, Zeng Zhang³, Yan Lu¹, Yangiu Xu^{1*} and Yi Wang^{1*}

¹Department of Nephrology, Yueyang Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese and Western Medicine, Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai, China, ²Department of Hemodialysis, Lin'an Third People's Hospital, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ³Department of Endocrine, Yueyang Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese and Western Medicine, Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai, China

Background: Gut microbiota has been reported to play an important role in diabetic kidney disease (DKD), however, the alterations of gut bacteria have not been determined.

Methods: Studies comparing the differences of gut microbiome between patients with DKD and non-DKD individuals using high-throughput sequencing technology, were systematically searched and reviewed. Outcomes were set as gut bacterial diversity, microbial composition, and correlation with clinical parameters of DKD. Qualitative data were summarized and compared through a funnel R script, and quantitative data were estimated by meta-analysis.

Results: A total of 15 studies and 1640 participants were included, the comparisons were conducted between DKD, diabetes mellitus (DM), nondiabetic kidney disease (NDKD), and healthy controls. There were no significant differences of α -diversity between DKD and DM, and between DKD and NDKD, however, significant lower microbial richness was found in DKD compared to healthy controls. Different bacterial compositions were found between DKD and non-DKD subjects. The phylum *Actinobacteria* were found to be enriched in DKD compared to healthy controls. At the genus level, we found the enrichment of *Hungatella*, *Bilophila*, and *Escherichia* in DKD compared to DM, patients with DKD showed lower abundances of *Faecalibacterium* compared to those with NDKD. The genera *Butyricicoccus*, *Faecalibacterium*, and *Lachnospira* were depleted in DKD compared to healthy controls, whereas *Hungatella*, *Escherichia*, and *lactobacillus* were significantly enriched. The genus *Ruminococcus torques group* was demonstrated to be inversely correlated with estimated glomerular filtration rate of DKD.

Conclusions: Gut bacterial alterations was demonstrated in DKD, characterized by the enrichment of the genera *Hungatella* and *Escherichia*, and the depletion of butyrate-producing bacteria, which might be associated with the occurrence and development of DKD. Further studies are still needed to validate these findings, due to substantial heterogeneity.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/, identifier CRD42022340870.

KEYWORDS

gut microbiota, diabetic kidney disease, diabetes mellitus, systematic review, meta-analysis

Introduction

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) or diabetic nephropathy (DN), is one of the most common microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus (DM), characterized by progressive renal impairment and albuminuria (1). The condition is a major cause of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage kidney disease (ESKD), and is associated with higher risk of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in diabetic patients (2). Data from the United States Renal Data System indicated that DKD was the leading attributable cause of ESKD, accounting for 46.6% in 2019 (3). Numerous efficacious therapies have been successfully administrated for DKD and have shown renal benefits, such as renin-angiotensin system (RAS) inhibitors, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors, incretin-based therapeutic agents, and finerenone (4); however, substantial residual risk of irreparable renal failure remains (5). Given that the pathological mechanism of DKD has not yet been elucidated, more understanding of the pathogenesis of DKD is urgent for its prevention and treatment. Gut microbiome is relatively stable and participates in various physiological processes (6). However, gut dysbiosis, characterized by imbalance of gut bacterial composition, was found to be associated with the onset and progression of numerous chronic diseases (7). Recently, mounting evidence supports the important role of gut microbiota and their metabolites in diabetes and DKD (8). Excess acetate produced by gut dysbiosis has been shown to be involved in renal injury by activating intrarenal RAS (9), and contributed to tubulointerstitial injury through regulating cholesterol homeostasis in vivo and in vitro (10). Gut microbiota depletion mediated by antibiotic and faecal microbiota transplantation attenuated glomerular injury and stabilized metabolic homeostasis (11). Dietary fiber showed

renoprotective effects of relieving albuminuria and attenuating glomerular injury and interstitial fibrosis, through reshaping gut microbial ecology and promoting the expansion of short-chain fatty acid (SCFA)-producing bacteria in diabetic mice (12). Patients with DN receiving supplementation of probiotics for 12 weeks showed significantly lower serum creatinine and albuminuria than those receiving placebo (13, 14). Given the potential pathogenic role of intestinal dysbiosis in DKD according to recent evidence, characterizing the gut microbiota in DKD might be beneficial for formulating therapeutic strategy. Previous investigations have reported the existence of gut dysbiosis in patients with DKD compared to healthy volunteers, including the changes bacterial diversity and alterations of microbial composition, however, their findings were inconsistent (15). Additionally, the differences of gut microbiota between DKD and DM or non-diabetic kidney disease (NDKD) were also not determined. This systematic review was designed to compare the differences of microbial diversity and bacterial composition between patients with DKD and non-DKD individuals, aiming to characterize the alterations of gut bacteria in DKD and provide potential microbiota targets for the intervention of DKD.

Materials and methods

Registration and statement

This systematic review was pre-registered in International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO, CRD42022340870) and performed in accordance with the guidelines of Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (Checklist, Supplementary Table 1) (16).

Search strategy

The literature search was conducted on PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, China national knowledge infrastructure, Cochrane Library, and *ClinicalTrials.gov*, from inception until 3 July 2022. Eligible studies comparing gut microbiota between patients with DKD and non-DKD persons were retrieved using the search terms with DKD, gut microbiota, and their relevant keywords. Our detailed searching strategies for each database is detailed in Supplementary Table 2.

Eligible criteria and outcomes

Studies comparing the diversity and/or composition of gut microbiota between patients with DKD and non-DKD individuals using high-throughput sequencing technology, were included. The inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria according to the PICOS principle are shown in Table 1. The primary outcome was gut microbial diversity, and the secondary outcomes were gut microbial composition and the correlations between clinical parameters of DKD and specific bacteria. In this review, we compared α -diversity and β -diversity between different groups. Bacterial α -diversity was evaluated by observed species/Chao1/ACE-based richness index and Shannon/Simpson-based community diversity index. β -diversity represents the differences of gut microbial structure between DKD and non-DKD individuals.

Study selection, data extraction, and quality assessment

After removal of duplicates, two reviewers screened titles and abstracts of the retrieved records independently (S.H. and P.C.), and disagreements were solved by discussing with a third researcher (Y.X.). The full texts were screened for eligible studies by Y.L. and Y.W. For each included study, two reviewers (Z.Z. and M.C.) extracted the following data independently: author, publication year, country, study design, diagnostic criteria of DKD, characteristics of all groups, including sample size, age, sex, matched factors, serum creatinine, estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), urinary albumin-creatinine ratio (UACR), and urinary total protein (UTP), stool sample collection and storage, DNA extraction method, sequencing platform, bioinformatics pipelines, and outcomes. Methodological quality was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for case-control study and the modified version for cross-sectional study. The NOS scale has three domains for evaluation: selection, comparability, and exposure/outcome, maximizing 9 scores for case-control study and 7 scores for cross-sectional study. A total score of \geq 7 for case-control studies and \geq 4 scores for cross-sectional studies were considered as high quality (17).

Statistical analysis

The quantitative and qualitative data of gut microbiota diversity and relative abundance between DKD and non-DKD individuals reported in each study were record, and were synthesized by qualitative summary and meta-analysis, respectively. For qualitative analysis, the results of each prespecified outcome were summarized and presented as stacked histograms. A funnel R script was adopted to explore differential bacteria between different groups at the significance levels of 80% and 95%, through calculating a binomial Poisson distribution score2 (18). For meta-analysis, standardized mean difference (SMD) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated to evaluate the differences in diversity indices and relative abundances of gut bacteria between DKD and non-DKD groups. Heterogeneity was quantified using Cochrane I^2 test, which was considered significant when $I^2 > 50\%$ (19). Metaanalysis was then conducted to estimate pooled SMD using a fixed-effects model or a random-effects model according to heterogeneity. Sensitivity analysis and subgroup analysis were performed according to different inclusion criteria of DKD. All the statistical processes and results visualization were conducted

	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Participant	Patients with DKD diagnosed clinically or biopsy-proven DN	Patients receiving dialysis; patients with diabetes and other chronic kidney disease
Exposure	DKD/DN	-
Comparator	DKD vs. Non-DKD, including diabetes mellitus, non-diabetic kidney disease, and healthy controls	-
Outcomes	Gut microbial diversity and composition	Insufficient data for analysis; not high-throughput sequencing technology for detecting gut microbiome
Study design	Observational study	-

TABLE 1 Eligible criteria based on PICOS.

DKD, diabetic kidney disease; DN, diabetic nephropathy.

by Stata (version 14.0), RStudio (Open source, version 2021.9.2 + 382), and GraphPad Prism (version 8.0).

Results

Study characteristics

According to our retrieval strategy, a total of 8618 records were searched from the electronic databases and registers. After removing duplicates and screening titles and abstracts, 8569 publications were excluded. Ultimately, 15 studies were selected according to the inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria during full-text screen. The study selection process and reasons for exclusion are shown in Supplementary Figure 1.

The characteristics of included studies in this review are presented in Table 2, including 15 cross-sectional studies published from 2019 to 2022 (20-34). One study was conducted in Denmark (22), and the other fourteen studies were completed in China. Two studies included patients with biopsy-proven DN (20, 31), and the remaining 13 studies enrolled patients with DKD who were diagnosed clinically. Eight studies compared the differences of gut microbiota among patients with DKD, patients with DM, and healthy volunteers (20, 21, 24, 25, 28, 30, 32, 34), four studies reported the differences of intestinal microbiota between DKD and healthy controls (22, 26, 29, 31), one study conducted the comparison between DKD and type 2 DM (33), and the other two studies analyzed the differences of gut bacteria between patients with DKD and those with NDKD (23, 27). All the included studies stated that they have excluded subjects with gastro-intestinal or systemic diseases known to affect gut microbiota, and those taking antibiotics or prebiotics/ probiotics within 1 to 3 months before enrollment. According to the included studies, 830 fecal specimens were collected from patients with DKD, 514 from healthy volunteers, 256 from diabetic individuals, and 40 from patients with NDKD. All the enrolled studies reported that fresh stool samples were collected and stored at -80°C until DNA extraction, and 16S ribosomal gene amplicon sequencing was adopted for gut microbiota analysis. The amplified region was V3-V4 in eight studies (20, 23, 25-27, 29, 32, 34), V3 in one study (24), and V4 in four studies (21, 22, 28, 30), two studies did not report the amplified region (31, 33). Illumina sequencing platform was adopted in 14 studies, while only one study used the Ion S5TM platform (32).

Six studies were awarded seven scores according to the modified NOS scale for cross-sectional studies, because of adequate selection for subjects, sufficient ascertainment of outcome, and controls of at least two confounding factors (20–22, 31, 33, 34). Three studies were assessed for six scores, because there were only one factor were matched between cases and

controls (23, 29, 32). Six studies were given six scores, due to the absence of detailed diagnostic criteria of DKD (24–28, 30).

Bacterial diversity

The purpose of this review was to explore the alterations of gut microbiota in patients with DKD. According to the existing evidence, the comparisons of intestinal bacteria were carried out between DKD and DM, DKD and healthy control, and DKD and NDKD, respectively.

The qualitative comparisons of microbial diversity indices between patients with DKD, diabetes individuals, and healthy controls are presented in Figure 1A. Three of four studies reported non-significantly changes of observed species (21, 25, 28) and ACE index (20, 30, 34) between the DKD and DM groups, while Tao et al. (20) and Cai et al. (32) reported an increased indices of observed species and ACE in patients with DKD, respectively. The Chao1 index was found to be significantly higher in patients with DKD than diabetes patients in one study (32), lower in one study (28), and not significantly changed in four studies (20, 25, 30, 34). Six (20, 25, 28, 30, 32, 34) and five (20, 28, 30, 32, 34) studies reported that there were no significant differences between DKD and DM in Shannon and Simpson index. Two studies reported the differences of gut microbiome in α -diversity between DKD and NDKD patients (23, 27). Opposite results were shown in the observed species and Shannon index. For Chao1, ACE and Simpson index, one study suggested that they were significantly higher in patients with DKD than in those with NDKD, while another study showed non-significant differences.

Compared with healthy controls, significant lower observed species (21, 26–28) and ACE index (20, 26–28) of gut microbiome in patients with DKD were found in four studies, whereas other three studies reported unchanged proportion (20, 22, 29, 30, 32, 34). Two (26, 28) and six studies (20, 25, 27, 30, 32, 34) reported significantly lower and non-significant alterations of the Chao1 index in DKD patients compared to healthy volunteers, respectively. Shannon index was shown to be significantly higher in DKD patients in one study (31), lower in one study (27), and not changed in eight studies compared to healthy participants (20, 22, 25, 26, 28, 30, 32, 34). For the Simpson index, the number of studies reporting a significant increase (27, 29), a significant decrease (32), and non-significant change in DKD groups compared to healthy groups (20, 22, 26, 28, 30, 34), were 2, 1, and 6, respectively.

Based on the available data of α -diversity index, we conducted a quantitative meta-analysis (Figure 1B). The results showed that there were no statistical differences in α -diversity indices of gut bacteria between DKD and DM patients, as well as those between DKD and NDKD individuals. Compared to healthy volunteers, patients with DKD showed significantly lower microbial richness

TABLE 2 Characteristics of the included study.

Study	Location	Comparisons	Eligible crite- ria of DKD/ DN	Case [n (female %, age)]	Control [n (female %, age)]	Matched factors	Sequencing platform (Region)	Database	Outcomes	Modified NOS score
Tao 2019 (20)	Guangdong, China	DN vs. T2DM vs. HC	Biopsy-proven DN, eGFR ≥ 60 mL/ min/1.73 m ² and UACR ≥ 30 mg/g	14 (36%), 52.93 ± 9.98	T2DM: 14 (36%), 53.29 ± 9.00; HC: 14 (36%), 52.86 ± 9.91	Age, sex, BMI	Illumina MiSeq (V3-V4)	RDP, Silva	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition; clinical correlation	7
Bao 2019 (21)	Sichuan, China	DKD vs. T2DM vs. HC	DM complicated with massive proteinuria; or with DR and CKD; microalbuminuria in T1DM of more than 10 years	25 (36%), 63.7 ± 13.3	T2DM: 30 (54%), 62 ± 13.3; HC: 30 (47%), 60.2 ± 9.7	Age, sex	Illumina TruSeqTM (V4)	Greengenes	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition	7
Winther 2020 (22)	Copenhagen, Denmark	T1DKD vs. HC	T1DM with eGFR ≥ 15 mL/min/1.73 m ² and excluded non-diabetic kidney disease	161 (42%), 60 ± 10	50 (44%), 59 ± 13	Age, sex, BMI	Illumina HiSeq2500 (V4)	Dada2 R package	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition; clinical correlation	7
Yu 2020 (23)	Henan, China	DKD vs. MN	Diabetes more than 5 years with UACR ≥ 30 mg/g and presence of DR	129 (36%), 56 (49, 65)	142 (36%), 49 (43, 56)	Sex	Illumina MiSeq (V3-V4)	RDP, Silva	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition	6
Feng 2020 (24)	Sichuan, China	DKD vs. T2DM vs. HC	Clinically diagnosed DKD and not on dialysis	57 (41%), 55.23 ± 11.21	T2DM: 68 (47%), 54.36 ± 11.12; HC: 36 (42%), 54.84 ± 11.17	Age, sex	Illumina HiSeq 2500 (V3)	NR	β-diversity; microbial composition	6
Chen 2021 (25)	Beijing, China	DKD vs. DM vs. HC	DKD with UAER ≥ 30 mg/24h or UACR ≥ 30 mg/g	60 (32%), 60.53 ± 9.62	DM: 20 (40%), 55.2 ± 14.77; HC: 20 (60%), 55.15 ± 13.77	Age, BMI, diet	Illumina MiSeq (V3-V4)	RDP, Silva	α-diversity; microbial composition; clinical correlation	6
Du 2021 (26)	Tianjin, China	DKD vs. HC	DN stage 3 or 4, without detailed criteria, not uremia	43 (26%), 60.86 ± 5.69	37 (33%), 61.78 ± 6.40	Age, sex, BMI	Illumina MiSeq (V3-V4)	RDP, Silva	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition	6
Sun 2021 (27)	Shandong, China	DKD vs. NDKD vs. HC	Clinically diagnosed DKD	25 (36%), 62.52 ± 13.61	NDKD: 40 (23%), 53.98 ± 13.81; HC:24 (34%), 56 ± 9	Age, sex	Illumina MiSeq (V3-V4)	RDP, Silva	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition	6
Song 2021 (28)	Inner Mongolia, China	DKD vs. T2DM vs. HC	Diagnosed DKD	20 (40%), 58.2 ± 9.4	T2DM: 20 (50%), 54.1 ± 13.5 HC: 20	Age, sex	Ilumina, NovaSeq PE250 (V4)	Dada2 R package	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition;	6

(Continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

Study	Location	Comparisons	Eligible crite- ria of DKD/ DN	Case [n (female %, age)]	Control [n (female %, age)]	Matched factors	Sequencing platform (Region)	Database	Outcomes	Modified NOS score
					(55%), 50.2 ± 12.6				clinical correlation	
Zhang 2021 (29)	Henan, China	DKD/DN vs. HC	Proteinuria or renal impairment caused by diabetes, and other kidney diseases were excluded, meeting one of the following conditions: UACR ≥ 30mg/g or UAER ≥ 30mg/24M or eGFR ≤ 60mL/ min/1.73 m ² or biopsy-proven DN	180 (38%), 55.27 (26- 87)	179 (42%), 52.05 (39- 69)	SCr	Illumina MiSeq (V3-V4)	RDP	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition; clinical correlation	6
Chu 2021 (30)	Zhejiang, China	T2DKD vs. T2DM vs. HC	DKD with UACR ≥ 30 - 300mg/g or UAER 20-200 ug/ min	47 (45%), 69.06 ± 11.23	T2DM: 53 (42%), 68.47 ± 10.82 HC: 42 (43%), 67.11 ± 9.26	Age, sex	Ilumina HiSeq (V4)	NCBI- BLAST	α-diversity; microbial composition	6
Xin 2021 (31)	Shanxi, China	DN vs. HC	Biopsy-proven DN	20 (50%), 55.1 ± 13.83	20 (50%), 50.9 ± 9.49	Age, sex	Ilumina Novaseq6000 (NR)	HUMAnN3	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition; clinical correlation	7
Cai 2022 (32)	Zhejiang, China	DKD vs. T2DM vs. HC	DKD diagnosed clinically: UAER >300 mg/24h and presence of DR, and excluded other kidney diseases	31 (26%), 61.35 ± 10.04	T2DM: 32 (32%), 56.34 ± 10.79; HC: 34 (65%), 56.12 ± 8.11	Age	Ion S5TM (V3- V4)	Ion 530TM Chip	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition	6
He 2022 (33)	Shanxi, China	DKD vs. T2DM	Diagnosed DKD stage 3 or4, presenting normal renal function and UACR > 30 mg/g, renal impairment due to other causes was excluded.	10 (10%), 56.00 ± 14.97	10 (20%), 64.90 ± 7.37	Age, sex, BMI	Illumina HiSeq4000 (NR)	Non- Redundant	β-diversity; microbial composition; clinical correlation	7
Yang 2022 (34)	Guizhou, China	DKD vs. T2DM vs. HC	T2DM with ACR > 265 mg/g or UAER > 300 mg/ 24h; and/or DR with ACR 22 (male, 31 female) - 265 mg/g; or UAER 30 - 300 mg/24h and/or eGFR < 60 min/ mL.	8 (50%), 58.75 ± 7.40	T2DM: 9 (56%), 57.67 ± 4.61; HC: 8 (50%), 57.13 ± 2.8	Age, sex, BMI	Illumina MiSeq (V3-V4)	Greengenes	α-diversity; β-diversity; microbial composition	7

DKD, diabetic kidney disease; DN, diabetic nephropathy; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; HC, healthy controls; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; UACR, urinary albumin creatinine ratio; UAER, urinary albumin excretion rate; NOS, Newcastle-Ottawa Scale; DR, diabetes retinopathy; CKD, chronic kidney disease; BMI, body mass index; SCr, serum creatinine; NR, not reported; RDP, ribosomal database project.



Gualitative analysis and meta-analysis for α - and p-diversity. (A) Qualitative comparisons for α - and p- diversity; (B) Meta-analysis for α -diversity indices. (C) Network meta-analysis for ACE and Chao1 index; (D) Network meta-analysis for Observed sp. and Shannon index. Data are shown as standardized mean difference (95% confidence interval). The estimate is for the column-defining treatment compared to the row-defining treatment. Statistical significance is defined as 95% CIs that do not overlap zero (bold text). DKD, diabetic kidney disease; DM, diabetes mellitus; HC, healthy controls; NDKD, non-diabetic kidney disease; N, number of study.

index (Observed sp., SMD = -0.74, 95%CI -1.22, -0.27, I^2 = 68.5%; ACE, SMD = -0.66, 95%CI -1.13, -0.19, I^2 = 67.1%; Chao1, SMD = -0.58, 95%CI -0.97, -0.19, I^2 = 67.1%), whereas no significant differences were found in Shannon and Simpson index. Considering that the comparisons were conducted among multiple groups, and the tests for subgroup differences were significant in microbial richness indexes (Supplementary Figure 2), we further performed a random-effects network metaanalysis for α -diversity utilizing previously reported routines (35). No inconsistency was found in the α -diversity indexes, except Simpson index, which showed significant inconsistency (P = 0.02). The results of network comparisons agreed with the above findings, involving observed species, Chao1, ACE, and Shannon index. Additionally, we found that patients with DM also showed lower microbial richness than healthy subjects (Figures 1C, D).

Four studies reported significant differences of β -diversity between DKD and DM (20, 32–34), while three studies showed no significant changes (21, 24, 28). Whether compared with patients with NDKD (23, 27) or healthy controls (20–22, 24, 26–29, 31, 32, 34), significant differences in β -diversity were

observed in patients with DKD, indicating fecal microbial alterations in DKD.

Microbial composition at phylum level

Six phyla were reported dominating the gut microbiota, including *Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria*, and *Verrucomicrobia* (Figure 2A). Compared to DM group, *Firmicutes* and *Actinobacteria* were found to be depleted in DKD group in one study (20), whereas eight studies reported non-significant differences (21, 24, 25, 28, 30, 32–34). The relative abundances of *Proteobacteria* were shown to be enriched in patients with DKD compared to diabetic persons in three studies (20, 32, 33), while six studies did not find any difference between the two groups (21, 24, 25, 28, 30, 34). The proportions of *Bacteroidetes, Fusobacteria*, and *Verrucomicrobia* did not show differences between DKD and DM according to the results of nine studies (20, 21, 24, 25, 28, 30, 32–34). Only two studies compared gut microbiota between DKD and NDKD at phylum level, their results





showed that the abundances of *Firmicutes* were similar between the two groups, while the comparisons of *Bacteroidetes*, *Actinobacteria*, *Proteobacteria*, *Fusobacteria*, and *Verrucomicrobia* showed inconsistent results (23, 27).

Eleven studies reported the relative abundances of bacterial phyla between patients with DKD and healthy controls (20, 21, 24-30, 32, 34). Three studies showed decreased abundances of Firmicutes in DKD (21, 28, 32), whereas eight studies reported non-significant differences between patients with DKD and healthy volunteers (20, 24-27, 29, 30, 34). For Bacteroidetes, only one studies found that it was depleted in DKD group (29), while ten studies showed that the Bacteroidetes taxa was not statistically different between DKD patients and healthy individuals (20, 21, 24-28, 30, 32, 34). Actinobacteria was found to be higher in patients with DKD than those in healthy controls in six studies (24-27, 29, 34), however, five studies indicated non-significant differences (20, 21, 28, 30, 32). Regarding Proteobacteria, three studies supported increased abundances in DKD (27, 29, 32), while the remaining eight studies did not find differences between DKD and healthy controls (20, 21, 24-26, 28, 30, 34). None of the included studies reported differences in Fusobacteria between DKD and healthy controls. Verrucomicrobia was reported to be enriched in patients with DKD in one study (29), however, no significant changes were observed in ten studies (20, 21, 24-28, 30, 32, 34).

Due to the limited data, we can only calculate the differences in the average abundances of bacterial phyla between DKD and non-DKD individuals at the study level (Figure 2B). Compared with diabetic population, patients with DKD might have mildly increased taxa of *Bacteroidetes*. The average abundance of *Firmicutes* was found to be lower in patients with DKD than that in healthy controls, whereas *Actinobacteria* was significantly enriched in DKD patients, which was consistent with the results of qualitative analysis.

Microbial composition at genus level

Eight studies reported the differences of gut bacteria between DKD and DM at the genus level (20, 21, 24, 25, 28, 32-34). The genera that were reported to be statistically different between the two groups in two or more studies are presented in Figure 3A. Hungatella was shown to be enriched in DKD compared to DM in three studies (20, 28, 32), Bilophila and Escherichia were found to have higher proportions in DKD patients in two studies (20, 33). The proportion of studies reporting significantly higher or lower abundances of specific genera were compared using a funnel R script, which also suggested that the genera Hungatella, Bilophila, and Escherichia might be the differential bacteria between DKD and DM (Figure 3B). When comparing the genera between DKD and NDKD, we found that only Faecalibacterium had consistent results in the two studies, that is, it was depleted in DKD patients (Figure 3A) (23, 27). Twelve studies presented the comparisons of gut microbiome between DKD and healthy individuals at the genus level (20-22, 24-29, 31, 32, 34). Faecalibacterium (21, 22, 26, 27, 29, 31), Lachnospira (21, 22, 25, 27, 31, 32), Roseburia (21, 25-27, 31), and Butyricicoccus (22, 26, 27, 32) were reported to be depleted in DKD in at least four studies, whereas Hungatella (20, 22, 28, 31, 32), Lactobacillus (21, 22, 26, 27, 29), and Escherichia (20, 27, 29, 31) were found to be enriched in DKD in five or four studies (Figure 3C). The funnel plot indicated that the genera Hungatella were enriched in DKD, whereas Butyricicoccus, Faecalibacterium, and Lachnospira were depleted (Figure 3D).



Only two studies detailed the abundances of gut microbiota between DKD patients and healthy volunteers at genus level. Metaanalysis suggested that *Bifidobacterium* (SMD = 5.25, 95%CI 3.47, 7.03, $I^2 = 76.3\%$) and *Lactobacillus* (SMD = 4.05, 95%CI 2.95, 5.14, $I^2 = 64.7\%$) had higher relative proportion in DKD patients compared to healthy persons, while *Roseburia* (SMD = -3.25, 95%CI -4.01, -2.49, $I^2 = 44.7\%$) was enriched in healthy volunteers (Figure 4). The results of *Lactobacillus* and *Roseburia* were consistent with that from qualitative analysis. However, this result should be interpreted with caution, due to the limited data and substantial heterogeneity.

Correlation of gut microbiota and clinical parameters of DKD

The phyla and genera of gut bacteria with statistical correlation with clinical parameters of DKD were recorded, including UACR, UTP, eGFR, and serum creatinine. Three phyla and thirty-four genera were reported to have a positive or negative association with proteinuria or renal function in at least one study (Figure 5). In particular, Three studies supported a negative correlation between the genus *Ruminococcus torques group (R. torques)* and eGFR in patients with DKD. Two studies reported that *Hungatella* was positively correlated with serum creatinine and negatively correlated with eGFR, suggesting the harmful effect of *Hungatella* on aggravating kidney injury of DKD (28, 31).

Sensitivity analysis and subgroup analysis

Considering that the definition of DKD was not consistent across the enrolled studies, involving clinically diagnosed DKD and biopsy-proven DN, we conducted sensitivity analysis and subgroup analysis to test the stability of the results and compare the differences of gut bacteria between different inclusion criteria. When biopsy-proven DN was excluded, the results based on patients with clinically diagnosed DKD were consistent with the findings from the qualitative and quantitative analyses of all the included 15 studies (Supplementary Figures 3A–C, E, F).

The subgroup of biopsy-proven DN consisted of two studies and 82 participants (20, 31). Detailed α -diversity index was reported in one study (20), indicating higher observed species in biopsy-proven DN than those in DM, and a lower ACE index in DN group compared to healthy controls (Supplementary



FIGURE 4

Meta-analysis of the genera between DKD and HC. DKD, diabetic kidney disease; HC, healthy controls; SMD, standardized mean difference; CI, confidence interval.

Figure 3D). At the genus level, three genera were found predominantly in biopsy-proven DN versus DM, including *Hungatella, Escherichia*, and *Bilophila.* Moreover, *Hungatella* and *Escherichia* were still identified to be enriched in DN group when compared to healthy controls (Supplementary Figures 3G, H). These changes in bacterial composition were consistent with the findings from clinically diagnosed DKD, as well as the results from all of the 15 studies, suggesting the potential important roles of *Hungatella* and *Escherichia* in DKD.

Discussion

Accumulating evidence has demonstrated that alterations of composition and function in gut microbiota were correlated with increased risk of the occurrence and development of diabetes and its associated complications (36). This review was designed to comprehensively characterize the alterations of gut microbiome in DKD, by comparing with diabetes, NDKD, and healthy controls. A total of 15 cross-sectional studies and 1640 participants were



Correlation of gut microbiota and clinical parameters of DKD. UACR, urinary albumin-creatinine ratio; UTP, urinary total protein; CRE, creatinine; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

included for comparison. There was no significant difference in the α-diversity of gut microbiota between DKD and diabetes subjects, as well as the comparison between DKD and NDKD. Lower microbial richness indices were found in DKD patients compared to healthy volunteers. Unlike α -diversity, β -diversity analysis suggested significant microbial differences between DKD and NDKD and healthy controls; four of seven studies showed significant differences in β-diversity between DKD and DM individuals. At the phylum level, Actinobacteria was found to be enriched in DKD compared to healthy controls, however, no significant difference was found when comparing with DM. Actinobacteria was closely related to the metabolism of trimethylamine-N- oxide (TMAO), high levels of circulating TMAO were demonstrated to contribute to renal dysfunction through promoting inflammation (37), oxidative stress, and fibrosis (38). Patients with DKD had a significantly higher level of TMAO than those with diabetes, moreover, TMAO also showed positive correlation with UACR (34). At the genus level, Hungatella, Bilophila, and Escherichia showed higher abundances in DKD compared to DM, and Faecalibacterium was found to be depleted in DKD compared to NDKD. The genera Hungatella, Bilophila, and Escherichia are all gram-negative, recognized by their pathogenic and infectious potential, since many members are opportunistic pathogens that induce inflammation and disrupt gut barrier function (39-41). Interestingly, patients with type 2 diabetes receiving empagliflozin showed similar gut microbiota alterations with our findings, accompanying with improved glucose metabolism and decreased interleukin-6 (IL-6), that is, depleted taxa of the harmful bacteria of Escherichia, Bilophila, and Hungatella, and enrichment of SCFA-producing bacteria, such as Roseburia and Faecalibacterium (42). Hungatella was reported as a TMAO-producer (41), whereas Bilophila is a sulfate-reducing bacteria, which have pro-inflammatory effects and have been shown to be associated with a variety of inflammatory or immune diseases, such as diabetes and metabolic syndrome (43). The genus Escherichia was found to be enriched in the stool samples of patients with DKD compared to diabetic persons and healthy volunteers in this review. This findings have also been validated in cohorts of CKD, Escherichia was identified as the biomarker for the advanced CKD, and the abundance was positively correlated with CKD stages (44). It is documented that Escherichia can metabolize tryptophan into indole, which can be converted into indoxyl sulphate (IS) and Kynurenine, and then participate the process of renal impairment (45). IS and Kynurenine have been proved to have renal injury effects, such as promoting endothelial dysfunction (46), inducing tubulointerstitial injury (47), and aggravating renal oxidative stress and inflammation (48). Serum levels of IS and Kynurenine were shown to be positively associated with the progression of DKD (49, 50). Escherichia are also conditional pathogens that can enhance gut infiltration through penetrating the intestinal epithelial barrier and aggravate gut leakiness, resulting in the escape of pathogenic and commensal bacteria and subsequent immune responses (51). The enrichment of Hungatella, Escherichia, and Lactobacillus were found in patients with DKD compared to healthy controls, whereas decreased proportions of the genera Butyricicoccus, Lachnospira, Faecalibacterium, and Roseburia were indicated according to the qualitative and quantitative analyses. These four genera are butyrate-producing bacteria (52-54), and have been reported diversified renoprotective effects for DKD in vivo and in vitro, such as improving intestinal barrier function (55), attenuating fibrosis and collagen deposition, inhibiting inflammation (56), and ameliorating TGF-B1-induced fibrogenesis, apoptosis and DNA damage in the diabetic kidney (57). Lactobacillus have been used widely in foods and probiotic products and showed beneficial effects (58), however, upregulated inflammatory cytokines were also significantly increased in Lactobacillus-treated mice, such as tumor necrosis factor- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β (59), therefore, the specific role of Lactobacillus in DKD needs to be further studied. Taken together, the alterations of gut microbiome in DKD are mainly manifested as the depletion of beneficial bacteria and enrichment of harmful bacteria and potential pathogenic bacteria. Especially, Hungatella and Escherichia were found predominantly in the comparison between DKD and DM and between DKD and healthy controls. This phenomenon has also been found consistently in the subgroup of clinically diagnosed DKD and biopsy-proven DN, indicating a potential pathogenic mechanism of Hungatella and Escherichia for DKD.

The genus *R. torques* was demonstrated to be inversely correlated with eGFR of DKD in this review. *R. torques* belongs to mucin-degrading bacteria, which has been suggested to be positively associated with insulin resistance and hyperglycemia (60, 61). The enrichment of *R. torques* was found to have harmful effect on the gut barrier function of elevated lipopolysaccharides translocation, leading to aggravated inflammation in type 2 diabetic rats (62), which might be associated with their renal injury effect.

The advantages of this review is that we systematically searched and screened eligible literature comparing gut microbiome between DKD and non-DKD participants, including diabetes, NDKD, and healthy volunteers. Additionally, all the fecal samples were analyzed using highthroughput sequencing, which may reduce the risk of bias from detection. A recent systematic review also focused on gut bacterial alteration in DKD (15), however, it only compared the differences of gut microbiota between DKD and healthy controls, and studies using bacterial culture and polymerase chain reaction for bacterial analysis were also included in the systematic review. Furthermore, patients with diabetes and other CKD were excluded, which also reduce the bias from participant selection.

Several deficiencies of this review should be considered. First, the definition of DKD was not consistent across the enrolled studies, including biopsy-proven DN and clinically diagnosed DKD, which lead to high heterogeneity of subject selection. Although we have carried out sensitivity analysis and subgroup analysis and obtained relatively stable results, more homogeneous studies are still required to clarify the characteristics of gut microbiota in DKD. Second, some included studies had small sample sizes, while some studies did not match confounding factors between DKD and control group, such as age or sex, which may lead to potential bias. Third, not all of the studies reported the data of all specific outcomes, leading to limited available data, which may result in unstable results that do not fully reflect the underlying differences of gut microbiota. Fourth, most of the studies were conducted in China, and only one cohort was from Europe; therefore, it is still difficult to clarify the differences in intestinal microbiota of DKD patients between different ethnic groups.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this review indicated alterations of gut microbiota in DKD. Although there were no differences in α diversity indices between DKD and DM, we found the enrichment of the genera *Hungatella*, *Bilophila*, and *Escherichia* in DKD group. A lower microbial richness and β -diversity were found in DKD compared to healthy controls, more specifically, the phylum *Actinobacteria*, and the genera *Hungatella*, *Butyricicoccus*, *Faecalibacterium*, and *Lachnospira* were proved to be the main differential bacteria. *Faecalibacterium* were significantly depleted in DKD compared to NDKD. Given the potential weakness, substantial heterogeneity, and limited available data, more highquality evidence is needed to confirm the characteristics of gut microbiota in DKD.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

References

1. Mallik R, Chowdhury TA. Pharmacotherapy to delay the progression of diabetic kidney disease in people with type 2 diabetes: past, present and future. *Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab* (2022) 13:20420188221081601. doi: 10.1177/20420188221081601

2. Fineberg D, Jandeleit-Dahm KA, Cooper ME. Diabetic nephropathy: diagnosis and treatment. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2013) 9:713-23. doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2013.184

3. Johansen KL, Chertow GM, Gilbertson DT, Herzog CA, Ishani A, Israni AK, et al. US Renal data system 2021 annual data report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the united states. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2022) 79:A8–12. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2022.02.001

4. Mima A. A narrative review of diabetic kidney disease: Previous and current evidence-based therapeutic approaches. *Adv Ther* (2022) 39:3488–500. doi: 10.1007/s12325-022-02223-0

Author contributions

Conceptualization, YW. Methodology, SH, PC, ZZ, YL, MC, YX, and YW. Software, SH. Funding acquisition, SH and ZZ. All authors contributed to the manuscript writing.

Funding

This research was funded by National Natural Science Foundation of China, grant number 82274391, 82004263, and the Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality, China, grant number 20Y21902100, 19401934700.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.1018093/full#supplementary-material

5. Tuttle KR, Agarwal R, Alpers CE, Bakris GL, Brosius FC, Kolkhof P, et al. Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic targets for diabetic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2022) 102:248–60. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2022.05.012

6. Sonnenburg JL, Bäckhed F. Diet-microbiota interactions as moderators of human metabolism. *Nature* (2016) 535:56–64. doi: 10.1038/nature18846

7. Wang P, Wang T, Zheng X, Cui W, Shang J, Zhao Z. Gut microbiota, key to unlocking the door of diabetic kidney disease. *Nephrol (Carlton)* (2021) 26:641–9. doi: 10.1111/nep.13874

8. Fang Q, Liu N, Zheng B, Guo F, Zeng X, Huang X, et al. Roles of gut microbial metabolites in diabetic kidney disease. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:636175. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.636175

9. Lu CC, Hu ZB, Wang R, Hong ZH, Lu J, Chen PP, et al. Gut microbiota dysbiosis-induced activation of the intrarenal renin-angiotensin system is involved

in kidney injuries in rat diabetic nephropathy. Acta Pharmacol Sin (2020) 41:1111–8. doi: 10.1038/s41401-019-0326-5

10. Hu ZB, Lu J, Chen PP, Lu CC, Zhang JX, Li XQ, et al. Dysbiosis of intestinal microbiota mediates tubulointerstitial injury in diabetic nephropathy *via* the disruption of cholesterol homeostasis. *Theranostics* (2020) 10:2803–16. doi: 10.7150/thno.40571

11. Lu J, Chen PP, Zhang JX, Li XQ, Wang GH, Yuan BY, et al. GPR43 deficiency protects against podocyte insulin resistance in diabetic nephropathy through the restoration of AMPK α activity. *Theranostics* (2021) 11:4728–42. doi: 10.7150/thno.56598

12. Li YJ, Chen X, Kwan TK, Loh YW, Singer J, Liu Y, et al. Dietary fiber protects against diabetic nephropathy through short-chain fatty acid-mediated activation of G protein-coupled receptors GPR43 and GPR109A. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2020) 31:1267–81. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2019101029

13. Mafi A, Namazi G, Soleimani A, Bahmani F, Aghadavod E, Asemi Z. Metabolic and genetic response to probiotics supplementation in patients with diabetic nephropathy: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Food Funct* (2018) 9:4763–70. doi: 10.1039/c8fo00888d

14. Jiang H, Zhang Y, Xu D, Wang Q. Probiotics ameliorates glycemic control of patients with diabetic nephropathy: A randomized clinical study. *J Clin Lab Anal* (2021) 35:e23650. doi: 10.1002/jcla.23650

15. Wang Y, Zhao J, Qin Y, Yu Z, Zhang Y, Ning X, et al. The specific alteration of gut microbiota in diabetic kidney diseases-a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Front Immunol* (2022) 13:908219. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.908219

16. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

17. Yeung SSY, Reijnierse EM, Pham VK, Trappenburg MC, Lim WK, Meskers CGM, et al. Sarcopenia and its association with falls and fractures in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* (2019) 10:485–500. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12411

18. Han S, Shang L, Lu Y, Wang Y. Gut microbiome characteristics in IgA nephropathy: Qualitative and quantitative analysis from observational studies. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2022) 12:904401. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.904401

19. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* (2003) 327:557–60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557

20. Tao S, Li L, Li L, Liu Y, Ren Q, Shi M, et al. Understanding the gut-kidney axis among biopsy-proven diabetic nephropathy, type 2 diabetes mellitus and healthy controls: an analysis of the gut microbiota composition. *Acta Diabetol* (2019) 56:581–92. doi: 10.1007/s00592-019-01316-7

21. Bao X, Wang Z, He Y, Wang S, Li Z, Li P, et al. Patterns of intestinal microbiome imbalance in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and diabetes kidney disease. *Chin J Lab Med* (2019) 42:469–78. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1009-9158.2019.06.014

22. Winther SA, Henriksen P, Vogt JK, Hansen TH, Ahonen L, Suvitaival T, et al. Gut microbiota profile and selected plasma metabolites in type 1 diabetes without and with stratification by albuminuria. *Diabetologia* (2020) 63:2713–24. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05260-y

23. Yu W, Shang J, Guo R, Zhang F, Zhang W, Zhang Y, et al. The gut microbiome in differential diagnosis of diabetic kidney disease and membranous nephropathy. *Ren Fail* (2020) 42:1100–10. doi: 10.1080/0886022X.2020.1837869

24. Feng C, Zeng L, Wang S, Zhou H, Luo X. Analysis of microinflammation and intestinal microbial diversity in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and diabetes kidney disease. *Chin J Microecol* (2020) 32:1273–8. doi: 10.13381/ j.cnki.cjm.202011006

25. Chen W, Zhang M, Guo Y, Wang Z, Liu Q, Yan R, et al. The profile and function of gut microbiota in diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2021) 14:4283–96. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S320169

26. Du X, Liu J, Xue Y, Kong X, Lv C, Li Z, et al. Alteration of gut microbial profile in patients with diabetic nephropathy. *Endocrine* (2021) 73:71-84. doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02721-1

27. Sun L. Exploration of the imbalance pattern of intestinal flora in patients with diabetic nephropathy and analysis of the efficacy of vitamin D. Shandong, China: Shandong university (2021). doi: 10.27272/d.cnki.gshdu.2021.001431

28. Song D, Mi Y, Wang C. Patterns of intestinal flora imbalance in diabetic kidney disease and type 2 diabetes based upon high-throughput sequencing. *J Clin Nephrol* (2021) 21:887–94. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-2390.2021.11.002

29. Zhang W. Alteration of gut microbiota in diabetic kidney disease and its influence on disease progression. Henan, China: Zhengzhou university (2021). doi: 10.27466/d.cnki.gzzdu.2021.000763

30. Chu H, Li L. Intestinal microflora diversity in elderly T2DM patients with early nephropathy. *Chin J Microecol* (2021) 33:916–9. doi: 10.13381/j.cnki.cjm.202108010

31. Xin X. The analysis of intestinal microbiota characteristics and potential biomarkers in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Shanxi, China: Shanxi Medical University (2021). doi: 10.27288/d.cnki.gsxyu.2021.000895

32. Cai K, Ma Y, Cai F, Huang X, Xiao L, Zhong C, et al. Changes of gut microbiota in diabetic nephropathy and its effect on the progression of kidney injury. *Endocrine* (2022) 76:294–303. doi: 10.1007/s12020-022-03002-1

33. He X, Sun J, Liu C, Yu X, Li H, Zhang W, et al. Compositional alterations of gut microbiota in patients with diabetic kidney disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2022) 15:755–65. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S347805

34. Yang M, Zhang R, Zhuang C, Wu Y, Yang Q, Yu Z, et al. Serum trimethylamine n-oxide and the diversity of the intestinal microbial flora in type 2 diabetes complicated by diabetic kidney disease. *Clin Lab* (2022) 68:1049–58. doi: 10.7754/Clin.Lab.2021.210836

35. White IR. Network meta-analysis. Stata J (2015) 15:951–85. doi: 10.1177/ 1536867X1501500403

36. Lin JR, Wang ZT, Sun JJ, Yang YY, Li XX, Wang XR, et al. Gut microbiota and diabetic kidney diseases: Pathogenesis and therapeutic perspectives. *World J Diabetes* (2022) 13:308–18. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v13.i4.308

37. Chen ML, Zhu XH, Ran L, Lang HD, Yi L, Mi MT. Trimethylamine-N-Oxide induces vascular inflammation by activating the NLRP3 inflammasome through the SIRT3-SOD2-mtROS signaling pathway. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2017) 6: e006347. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.006347

38. Falony G, Vieira-Silva S, Raes J. Microbiology meets big data: The case of gut microbiota-derived trimethylamine. *Annu Rev Microbiol* (2015) 69:305–21. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-091014-104422

39. Pinaud L, Sansonetti PJ, Phalipon A. Host cell targeting by enteropathogenic bacteria t3ss effectors. *Trends Microbiol* (2018) 26:266-83. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2018.01.010

40. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature* (2014) 505:559–63. doi: 10.1038/nature12820

41. Genoni A, Christophersen CT, Lo J, Coghlan M, Boyce MC, Bird AR, et al. Long-term paleolithic diet is associated with lower resistant starch intake, different gut microbiota composition and increased serum TMAO concentrations. *Eur J Nutr* (2020) 5:1845–58. doi: 10.1007/s00394-019-02036-y

42. Deng X, Zhang C, Wang P, Wei W, Shi X, Wang P, et al. Cardiovascular benefits of empagliflozin are associated with gut microbiota and plasma metabolites in type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2022) 107:1888–96. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgac210

43. Su L, Hong Z, Zhou T, Jian Y, Xu M, Zhang X, et al. Health improvements of type 2 diabetic patients through diet and diet plus fecal microbiota transplantation. *Sci Rep* (2022) 12:1152. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-05127-9

44. Wu IW, Lin CY, Chang LC, Lee CC, Chiu CY, Hsu HJ, et al. Gut microbiota as diagnostic tools for mirroring disease progression and circulating nephrotoxin levels in chronic kidney disease: Discovery and validation study. *Int J Biol Sci* (2020) 16:420–34. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.37421

45. Matsumoto T, Kojima M, Takayanagi K, Taguchi K, Kobayashi T. Role of sequol, indoxyl sulfate, and trimethylamine n-oxide on vascular function. *Am J Hypertens* (2020) 33:793–803. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpaa053

46. Pawlak K, Myśliwiec M, Pawlak D. Kynurenine pathway - a new link between endothelial dysfunction and carotid atherosclerosis in chronic kidney disease patients. Adv Med Sci (2010) 55:196–203. doi: 10.2478/v10039-010-0015-6

47. Tanaka S, Watanabe H, Nakano T, Imafuku T, Kato H, Tokumaru K, et al. Indoxyl sulfate contributes to adipose tissue inflammation through the activation of NADPH oxidase. *Toxins (Basel)* (2020) 12:502. doi: 10.3390/toxins12080502

48. Ji C, Luo Y, Zou C, Huang L, Tian R, Lu Z. Effect of astragaloside IV on indoxyl sulfate-induced kidney injury in mice *via* attenuation of oxidative stress. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol* (2018) 19:53. doi: 10.1186/s40360-018-0241-2

49. Atoh K, Itoh H, Haneda M. Serum indoxyl sulfate levels in patients with diabetic nephropathy: relation to renal function. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2009) 83:220–6. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2008.09.053

50. Brekdar F, Khayat MI, Zrieki A. Plasma kynurenine: A promising marker for the assessment of renal functions. *Int J Tryptophan Res* (2022) 15:11786469221102093. doi: 10.1177/11786469221102093

51. Croxen MA, Law RJ, Scholz R, Keeney KM, Wlodarska M, Finlay BB. Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic escherichia coli. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2013) 26:822–80. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00022-13

 Pircalabioru GG, Liaw J, Gundogdu O, Corcionivoschi N, Ilie I, Oprea L, et al. Effects of the lipid profile, type 2 diabetes and medication on the metabolic syndrome-associated gut microbiome. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:7509. doi: 10.3390/ jms23147509

53. Mompeo O, Spector TD, Hernandez MM, Le Roy C, Istas G, Le Sayec M, et al. Consumption of stilbenes and flavonoids is linked to reduced risk of obesity independently of fiber intake. *Nutrients* (2020) 12:1871. doi: 10.3390/nu12061871

54. Charoensiddhi S, Chanput WP, Sae-Tan S. Gut microbiota modulation, anti-diabetic and anti-inflammatory properties of polyphenol extract from mung bean seed coat (vigna radiata l.). *Nutrients* (2022) 14:2275. doi: 10.3390/nu14112275

55. Tang G, Du Y, Guan H, Jia J, Zhu N, Shi Y, et al. Butyrate ameliorates skeletal muscle atrophy in diabetic nephropathy by enhancing gut barrier function and FFA2-mediated P13K/Akt/mTOR signals. *Br J Pharmacol* (2022) 179:159–78. doi: 10.1111/bph.15693

56. Zhou T, Xu H, Cheng X, He Y, Ren Q, Li D, et al. Sodium butyrate attenuates diabetic kidney disease partially *via* histone butyrylation modification. *Mediators Inflammation* (2022) 2022:7643322. doi: 10.1155/2022/7643322

57. Khan S, Jena G. Sodium butyrate, a HDAC inhibitor ameliorates eNOS, iNOS and TGF- β 1-induced fibrogenesis, apoptosis and DNA damage in the kidney of juvenile diabetic rats. *Food Chem Toxicol* (2014) 73:127–39. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2014.08.010

58. Slattery C, Cotter PD, O'Toole PW. Analysis of health benefits conferred by lactobacillus species from kefir. *Nutrients* (2019) 11:1252. doi: 10.3390/nu11061252

59. Roh YS, Cho A, Cha YS, Oh SH, Lim CW, Kim B. Lactobacillus aggravate bile duct ligation-induced liver inflammation and fibrosis in mice. *Toxicol Res* (2018) 34:241–7. doi: 10.5487/TR.2018.34.3.241

60. Brahe LK, Le Chatelier E, Prifti E, Pons N, Kennedy S, Hansen T, et al. Specific gut microbiota features and metabolic markers in postmenopausal women with obesity. *Nutr Diabetes* (2015) 5:e159. doi: 10.1038/nutd.2015.9

61. Mrozinska S, Kapusta P, Gosiewski T, Sroka-Oleksiak A, Ludwig-Słomczyńska AH, Matejko B, et al. The gut microbiota profile according to glycemic control in type 1 diabetes patients treated with personal insulin pumps. *Microorganisms* (2021) 9:155. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms9010155

62. Zeng Z, Guo X, Zhang J, Yuan Q, Chen S. Lactobacillus paracasei modulates the gut microbiota and improves inflammation in type 2 diabetic rats. *Food Funct* (2021) 12:6809–20. doi: 10.1039/d1fo00515

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Federico Biscetti, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY Antonio Lucacchini, University of Pisa, Italy Luiza Ghila, University of Bergen, Norway

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiaohong Wu drxhwu@163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 15 July 2022 ACCEPTED 31 October 2022 PUBLISHED 17 November 2022

CITATION

Huang Q, Fei X, Zhong Z, Zhou J, Gong J, Chen Y, Li Y and Wu X (2022) Stratification of diabetic kidney diseases via data-independent acquisition proteomics-based analysis of human kidney tissue specimens. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:995362. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.995362

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Huang, Fei, Zhong, Zhou, Gong, Chen, Li and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Stratification of diabetic kidney diseases *via* data-independent acquisition proteomics-based analysis of human kidney tissue specimens

Qinghua Huang^{1,2}, Xianming Fei³, Zhaoxian Zhong⁴, Jieru Zhou⁵, Jianguang Gong⁶, Yuan Chen⁷, Yiwen Li⁶ and Xiaohong Wu^{1,2*}

¹Department of Endocrinology, Geriatric Medicine Center, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ²Key Laboratory of Endocrine Gland Diseases of Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ³Laboratory Medicine Center, Department of Clinical Laboratory, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ⁴Department of Commerce, Westlake Omics (Hangzhou) Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ⁵Graduate School, Jinzhou Medical University, Jinzhou, Liaoning, China, ⁶Laboratory of Kidney Disease, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, Affiliated People's Hospital, Zhejiang, China

Aim: The aims of this study were to analyze the proteomic differences in renal tissues from patients with diabetes mellitus (DM) and diabetic kidney disease (DKD) and to select sensitive biomarkers for early identification of DKD progression.

Methods: Pressure cycling technology–pulse data-independent acquisition mass spectrometry was employed to investigate protein alterations in 36 formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded specimens. Then, bioinformatics analysis was performed to identify important signaling pathways and key molecules. Finally, the target proteins were validated in 60 blood and 30 urine samples.

Results: A total of 52 up- and 311 down-regulated differential proteins were identified as differing among the advanced DKD samples, early DKD samples, and DM controls (adjusted p<0.05). These differentially expressed proteins were mainly involved in ion transport, apoptosis regulation, and the inflammatory response. UniProt database analysis showed that these proteins were mostly enriched in signaling pathways related to metabolism, apoptosis, and inflammation. NBR1 was significantly up-regulated in both early and advanced DKD, with fold changes (FCs) of 175 and 184, respectively (both p<0.01). In addition, VPS37A and ATG4B were significantly down-regulated with DKD progression, with FCs of 0.140 and 0.088, respectively, in advanced DKD and 0.533 and 0.192, respectively, in early DKD compared with the DM control group (both p<0.01). Bioinformatics analysis showed that NBR1,
VPS37A, and ATG4B are closely related to autophagy. We also found that serum levels of the three proteins and urine levels of NBR1 decreased with disease progression. Moreover, there was a significant difference in serum VPS37A and ATG4B levels between patients with early and advanced DKD (both p<0.05). The immunohistochemistry assaay exhibited that the three proteins were expressed in renal tubular cells, and NBR1 was also expressed in the cystic wall of renal glomeruli.

Conclusion: The increase in NBR1 expression and the decrease in ATG4B and VPS37 expression in renal tissue are closely related to inhibition of the autophagy pathway, which may contribute to DKD development or progression. These three proteins may serve as sensitive serum biomarkers for early identification of DKD progression.

KEYWORDS

diabetic kidney disease, progression, autophagy, tissue proteomics, identification

Introduction

Approximately half of all patients with type 2 diabetes will develop diabetic kidney disease (DKD), which is clinically defined as the presence of impaired renal function, elevated urinary albumin excretion, or both (1). DKD is recognized as a leading cause of end-stage renal disease (2). In addition to causing increased mortality, DKD imposes severe health consequences and financial burdens on patients (3). The severity of DKD can be assessed by clinical and pathological methods, and DKD is pathologically graded into four stages (stage I to IV) according to the Renal Pathology Society classification system (4). Both stages 1 and 2 are described as early DKD, and stages 3 and 4 represent progression to advanced DKD (4, 5). In clinical practice, the urinary albumin excretion rate in 24 hours and the albumin-creatinine ratio are commonly used to diagnose DKD and monitor its progression. However, the microalbumin level in the urine is not a sensitive and specific predictor of DKD progression (6, 7). At present, there is a lack of sensitive indicators to predict and identify the progression of diabetic nephropathy, and finding new biomarkers to identify DKD in the early stages is a substantial challenge.

In past decades, proteomic approaches have been used in a number of biomarker studies. High-throughput profiling of the proteome is used to assess biological samples to identify, quantify, and discern the function of all observable proteins in health and disease (8). In the past 10 years, proteomic studies of DKD have enriched our knowledge of the molecular mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of this condition (9). Using mass spectrometry (MS) techniques, many biomarkers in blood, urine, and tissue have been found that are valuable predictors of and diagnostic or prognostic biomarkers for DKD and its progression (10). Urinary CKD 273 score, serum C3f, MCP-1, transthyretin and cystatin C, and more are powerful predictors for DKD (10–13). However, many biomarker studies are limited by small sample sizes, heterogeneity of results, and a lack of large-scale validation studies. Due to the limitations of detection techniques and the difficulty in obtaining human kidney specimens, previous studies of the pathogenic mechanisms of DKD have been based on blood and urine samples from patients or animal models (14, 15). However, these approaches cannot fully clarify the actual molecular mechanisms of DKD, because they are not based on human renal tissue, which hinders the effort to find new sensitive biomarkers for the early identification of DKD progression.

Recently, the pressure cycling technique (PCT) was developed for use in semi-automatic assessment of small volumes of clinical tissue (16). In addition, Pulse-dataindependent acquisition (DIA) technology, which is based on traditional DIA technology, has become available. PulseDIA divides a sample into multiple short gradient injections, each of which has a different mass spectral window, and the mass spectral data collected from the various injections are combined and analyzed to achieve a higher rate of peptide and protein identification than traditional DIA. PCT-PulseDIA is a combination of PCT and PulseDIA that provides higher quantitative accuracy and deeper proteomic coverage and is less time-consuming than traditional methods (17). These features make it suitable for proteomic analysis of kidney tissue from patients with DKD. Thus, in this study we subjected renal biopsy specimens from patients with DKD to proteomics analysis and validated the results by measuring protein levels in blood and urine, with the aim of identifying effective biomarkers for the early diagnosis of DKD and identification of its progression.

Materials and methods

Renal tissue preparation

A total of 36 formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) kidney specimens were collected: four from patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM control group), 17 from patients with early DKD (stage IIa-IIb), and 15 from patients with advanced DKD (stage III-IV). There were no significant differences in age, gender, BMI, or blood pressure among the three groups (p>0.05) (Table 1). Diagnoses were made by a single pathologist (Dr. JG Gong) according to Tervaert's pathological classification of diabetic nephropathy. The experiments were carried out with the understanding and written consent of each subject and in accordance with the declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the ethics committee of Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital.

Pressure circulation technology-based sample preparation

The FFPE tissue samples were prepared for proteomic analysis as described previously (18). Samples were dewaxed, hydrated, and acidified using heptane, a decreasing ethanol series (100%, 90%, and 75%), and 0.1% formic acid in sequence. The samples were next kept under basic hydrolysis conditions in Tris-HCl (100 mM, pH=10) at 95°C for 30 min and then transferred to a solution containing 30 μ L lysis buffer (6 M urea, 2 M thiourea), 5 μ L Tris (2-carboxyethyl) phosphine (TECP, 10 mM), and 2.5 μ L iodoacetamide (IAA) (40 mM). In PCT-Micro Tubes, the samples were lysed, reduced, and hydroxylated at 30°C using PCT (90 cycles, 45,000 psi, 30 s on-time and 10 s off-time). Trypsin (enzyme:substrate ratio, 1:50; Hualishi Scientific, China) and LysC (enzyme:substrate ratio, 1:40; Hualishi Scientific, China) were then added, followed by PCT-assisted digestion (120 cycles, 20,000 psi, 50 s on-time and 10 s off-time). Then, 1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) was added to terminate the digestion process. The resulting peptides were desalted with 2% acetonitrile (ACN) and 0.1% TFA and reconstituted. Peptide concentrations were measured with a Nanoscan (Analytic Jena, Germany) at A280, and samples were stored at 4°C for further analysis. All chemical reagents, unless otherwise specified, were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich.

PulseDIA proteomic analysis

PulseDIA MS was performed as previously described (19). The peptides from each sample were redissolved and analyzed on a nanoElute UHPLC (Bruker Daltonics, Germany) coupled to a timsTOF Pro mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics, Germany). Peptide powder was reconstituted in buffer A (0.1% formic acid in water). Peptide digests were separated at a flowrate of 300 nL/min using a 60 min gradient on a 15 cm analytical column with an integrated Toaster column oven at 50° C. The mobile phase B was 0.1% formic acid in ACN. The timsTOF Pro was operated in positive ion data-dependent acquisition Parallel Accumulation Serial Fragmentation (PASEF) mode. The capillary voltage was set to 4500 V. The MS and MS/MS spectra were acquired from 100 to 1,700 m/z and an ion mobility range (1/K0) from 0.7 to 1.3 Vs/cm². The ramp and accumulation time were set to 100 ms to achieve a duty cycle close to 100%. To perform diaPASEF acquisition, we defined two 15 Th isolation windows: from m/z 384 to 1008 and from m/z 475 to 1099. SpectronautTM (version 14.6) was used to compare all PulseDIA data against a renal-specific spectral library (20) including 539,631 peptide precursors, 448,338 peptides, 13,624 protein groups, and 9205 proteins with a false discovery rate of 0.01. The other parameters were set to the default values.

Collection and analysis of blood and urine samples

To validate the utility of the selected proteins, we recruited 150 patients with type 2 diabetes: 50 without DKD, 50 with early DKD, and 50 with advanced DKD. Venous blood and spot urine

TABLE 1 Biological characteristics o	of the patients in different groups.
--------------------------------------	--------------------------------------

Grouping	n	Age (year)	Sex (male, %)	BMI (kg/m2)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)
DM controls	4	58.00 ± 11.78	2/4 (50.00)	23.91 ± 4.46	134.00 ± 8.37	81.25 ± 7.32
Early DKD	17	55.53 ± 8.92	13/17 (76.47)	26.34 ± 4.05	142.75 ± 25.00	82.69 ± 15.14
Advanced DKD	15	56.00 ± 12.90	10/15 (66.67)	24.06 ± 2.32	150.67 ± 20.12	77.33 ± 12.92
p-value		0.53	0.61	0.19	0.20	0.40

†Data were presented by mean ± SD (for Age, BMI, SBP, and DBP) or percentage (for Sex). DM, diabetes mellitus; DKD, diabetic kidney disease; BMI: body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure. P- value was tested by one way ANOVA.

were collected from 20 and 30 patients, respectively, from each group. Sera were separated from the blood samples by centrifugation at 1500 g for 5 minutes. Then, the levels of ATG4B, VPS37A, and NBR1 protein expression were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (mlbio Co. Ltd., China) using a microplate reader (BIO-RAD, USA) to read the OD values of the reaction wells to calculate the concentrations. Urine creatinine levels were measured using a biochemical analyzer (AU5800, Beckman-Coulter, USA), and the protein:creatinine ratio was calculated to eliminate the influence of different urine volumes from each patient.

Immunohistochemistry assay of FFPE

To confirm the expression site of the three proteins in cells of renal tissue, an immunohistochemistry (IHC) assay was used. The detailed methods was as follows: 1) Deparaffinizing and rehydration: Immerse slides in xylene for 10 minutes, and repeat this step one time, then rehydrate two times by sequentially incubating with 100%, 95%, and 75% ethanol for 3 minutes each, finally rinse the slides with distilled water for 1 minute and place them in PBS buffer. 2) Antigen retrieval: Transfer slides to a microwave-proof container and cover with citrate buffer. After heating them in the microwave on medium power for 10 minutes, the slides were cooled in the citrate buffer for approximately 35 minutes. 3) Block endogenous peroxidase: Add appropriate amount of endogenous peroxidase blocker, and incubate at room temperature for 10 minutes;then rinse with PBS buffer for 3 minutes and 3 times. 4) Primary antibody incubation: Primary antibodies for NBR1 (polyclonal), VPS37A (monoclonal), and ATG4B (polyclonal) (proteintech, Wuhan Sanying, China) were diluted at 1:200, and 100 µ L of the antibodies was added for 60 min at 37°C, then the slides were rinsed with PBS buffer for 3 minutes and 3 times. 5) Enzymelabeled antibody treatment: After adding 100 µ L of enzymelabeled goat anti-rabbit IgG polymer solution (ZSGB-Bio, China),the slides were incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes and were rinsed with PBS buffer for 3 minutes and 3 times. 6) Color develops: Mix one drop of Liquid DAB plus chromogen immediately with 1 ml of substrate buffer to add on the slides, and incubate them at room temperature for 5 to 8 min. 7) Redying: Rinse the slides with tap water, and incubate with hematoxylin staining solution for 20 seconds. Then differentiate and rinse the slides to ensure the color returning to blue. 8) Dehydration and sealing: Immerse slides sequentially into 60%, 80%, 95% and 100% ethanol baths for 5 minutes each, then in xylene for 5 minutes. Repeat this step again in fresh xylene for 5 minutes. Mount the section with sufficient mounting media and cover with a cover slip, then air-dry them in a fume hood. 9) Results reading: The staining results were observed under a light microscope and read on the stained FFPE by a qualified pathologist.

Bioinformatics and statistical analyses

Statistically significant differences in protein expression in tissue samples, and their concentrations in serum and urine samples from the DM control group and patients with early DKD and advanced DKD, were determined by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and p-values were adjusted using the Benjamini & Hochberg correction. P-values less than 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. Soft clustering analysis of statistically significant differences in protein expression was performed using the R package "Mfuzz" (21). The average protein expression levels in each group were used as the input data for clustering. The time series were separated according to disease progression, with the initial stage being the DM controls. Metascape analysis was performed to outline the significant canonical pathways (22). The p-value was calculated in Metascape by right-tailed Fisher's exact test, and p-values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

Results

Patient characteristics and study design

In this study, we aimed to identify differentially expressed proteins in renal tissues and confirm them in blood and urine samples from patients with advanced DKD compared with patients with early DKD and DM controls. Advanced DKD and early DKD are defined as stage III/IV and stage IIa/IIb DKD, respectively, diagnosed using the Tervaert criteria for DKD pathological stages. Patients with type 2 diabetes without complications were included as the control group. For the first part of the study, we enrolled 36 patients with type 2 diabetes (T2M), including 4 with DM, 17 with early DKD (stage IIa-IIb), and 15 with advanced DKD (stage III-IV). The FFPE samples were successfully prepared, and the proteins were extracted by PCT. The DDA-MS data were then used to construct a tissuespecific spectral library of the FFPE tissues from the early DKD, advanced DKD, and control patients. All FFPE samples were subjected to PulseDIA to identify differentially expressed proteins. Finally, bioinformatics analysis was performed to determine the regulatory pathways that the differentially expressed proteins participate in. Samples for proteomic analysis were processed via a PCT-DIA workflow as described in the Methods section (Figure 1A). The histopathological characteristics are shown in Figure 1B. The clinical characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1. For the second part of the study, 150 patients with T2D, including 50 DM controls, 50 patients with early DKD, and 50 patients with advanced DKD, were enrolled. There was no significant difference in gender, BMI, or blood pressure among the three groups (p>0.05), although there was a significant difference in



age. The detailed clinical characteristics of these patients are not presented here. The expression levels of the proteins selected from the PCT-PulseDIA analysis were detected in 60 blood and 90 urine samples by ELISA to validate their utility as biomarkers.

Analysis of proteomics profiles

Two technical replicates of each sample in the discovery set were analyzed to enhance the robustness of the proteome maps generated from the FFPE tissues. In total, 36 specimens were analyzed by MS. We identified 9205 differentially expressed proteins in all the samples based on the proteomics data files. These proteins were related to DKD, and their expression levels are shown in the heatmap in Figure 2A. One-way ANOVA analysis comparing the three groups showed that the adjusted pvalues for 502 of the proteins were less than 0.05. Of these, 52 were up-regulated and 311 were down-regulated with DKD progression, while the changes in expression of the rest of the proteins were irregular. The Venn diagram in Figure 2B shows the number of identified proteins displaying significant quantitative similarities and differences among the three groups. There were 8968, 9041, and 7432 proteins identified in the advanced DKD, early DKD, and DM control groups, respectively. A total of 7308 proteins were shared by all three groups, demonstrating that a large set of overlapping proteins (79.4%) was detected, which validated the robustness of the proteome maps to some extent. In addition, 88 and 131 proteins were only identified in advanced DKD and early DKD, respectively, while 50 proteins were only identified in the DM controls. Additionally, principal component analysis (PCA) of the 9205 differentially expressed proteins grouped by pathological stage (Figure 2C) revealed that the advanced DKD group shared more proteins with the early DKD group than with the DM control group.

Biological pathway analysis of proteins differentially expressed in DKD

The 502 proteins identified by clustering analysis as changing in expression level with disease progression are



shown in Figure 3A. Each group clustered proteins with different expression trends, namely up-regulation, down-regulation, upregulation followed by down-regulation, or down-regulation followed by up-regulation. The results from the Mfuzz pathway analysis are shown in Figure S1. The proteins that were down-regulated with disease progression are mostly related to metabolism, cellular detoxification, and more, with cellular response to chemical stress and neutrophil degranulation appearing to be the most important pathways. The proteins that were down-regulated and then up-regulated are mainly involved in the regulation of proteolysis, protein phosphorylation, and more, with the main pathways being post-translational protein phosphorylation and neutrophil degranulation. The post-translational protein phosphorylation pathway was also highlighted in the analysis of proteins whose expression was first up-regulated and then down-regulated. In order to better analyze the differences between individual groups, Student's t test was used for pairwise group comparisons (fold change [FC]=1.50 was set as the cutoff value). Compared with the early DKD group, 138 and 173 proteins were up- and down-regulated in the advanced DKD group, respectively (Figure 3B); meanwhile, 389 and 376 upregulated proteins and 1261 and 956 down-regulated proteins were found in the advanced DKD and early DKD groups, respectively, compared with DM-controls group (Figures 3C, D). Pathway analysis of the proteins identified in the variance analysis showed that the terminal complement pathway was the most significantly differentially regulated pathway between advanced DKD and early DKD, and that neutrophil degranulation and vesicle-mediated transport may play an important role in DKD development and progression (Figure S2).

Based on ANOVA and Mfuzz analysis with a cutoff value of an adjusted p-value of less than 0.05, 52 proteins showed an upward trend in expression level with DKD progression, while 311 proteins showed a downward trend. When the cutoff value was set to an adjusted p-value of less than 0.01, 17 proteins were up-regulated as DKD progressed, and 100 proteins were downregulated. The heatmap in Figure 4A shows the expression levels of 363 proteins identified as being differentially expressed among the three groups. Then, PCA was performed by Mfuzz analysis (Figure S3). These proteins form a network that promotes the occurrence and progression of DKD (Figures 4B, C). Next, protein-protein interaction enrichment analysis was carried out using the following databases: STRING (23), BioGrid (24), OmniPath (25), and InWeb_IM (26). Only physical interactions identified by STRING (physical score >0.132) and BioGrid were used in the final analysis. The resulting network contains the subset of proteins that interact physically with at least one other protein on the list. If a protein-protein interaction network contains between 3 and 500 proteins, the Molecular Complex Detection (MCODE) algorithm (27) can be applied to identify



densely connected network components. The MCODE networks identified for individual protein lists generated in this study are shown in Figures 4B, C. Pathway and process enrichment analysis was applied to each MCODE component independently, and the three best-scoring terms by p-value were retained as the functional description of the corresponding components, as shown in the tables underneath the corresponding network plots in Figures 4B, C.

The enriched pathways identified by this analysis included multiple metabolic pathways, the iron death pathway, the autophagy pathway, the neutrophil threshing pathway, and other pathways involved in the occurrence and development of nephropathy. Annotation using the Metascape database identified cellular aminosyl metabolism, carbohydrate metabolism, proteolysis regulation, aminosaccharide and nucleotide glucose metabolism, cell REDOX homeostasis, and other biological metabolic processes as playing very important roles in this process, with adjusted p-values of less than 0.05 (Figure 4D) and 0.01 (Figure 4E). Three proteins in the autophagy pathway, ATG4B (Figure 5A), VPS37A (Figure 5B), and NBR1 (Figure 5C), showed significant changes in expression with progression of the disease. NBR1 was significantly upregulated in both early and advanced DKD, with FCs of 175 and 184, respectively, compared to the DM control group (both p<0.01). Compared with the DM control group, VPS37A and ATG4B were significantly down-regulated with DKD progression, with FCs of 0.140 and 0.088 in advanced DKD, but 0.533 and 0.192 in early DKD, respectively (both p<0.01).

ELISA and immunohistochemistry analysis

ELISA analysis showed that serum levels of NBR1, VPS37A, and ATG4B decreased with disease progression. There were significant differences in NBR1 expression among the three groups [early DKD (67.67: 22.18-99.60) pg/ml vs. DM control (70.96: 35.73-205.57) pg/ml, vs. advanced DKD (35.94: 16.02-98.78) pg/ml; both p<0.05], and in VPS37A and ATG4B expression between the early and advanced DKD groups [(23.54: 11.29-35.24) and (27.49: 15.31-50.66) pg/ml vs. (15.31: 6.21-44.34) and (20.49: 8.97-59.18) pg/ml, p<0.05; respectively]. However, there was no statistical difference in NBR1 expression between the early and advanced DKD groups, or for VPS37A and ATG4B expression between the DM control and early DKD



groups (all p>0.05) (Figures 5D-F). Moreover, ELISA analysis of urine samples revealed that NBR1 exhibited remarkable differences in expression among the groups (p<0.05 respectively) (Figure 5G), but there were no statistically significant differences in VPS37A and ATG4B expression among the groups (all p>0.05) (Figures 5H, I). The FFPEs

from the DM-controls were detected by IHC assay, respectively. The results of IHC assay in each group exhibited that NBR1, VPS37A, and ATG4B were all expressed in the epithelial cells of renal tubule (Figures 6A-C), and NBR1 was also expressed in the cystic wall of renal glomeruli (Figures 6A1-3).



Discussion

In the present study, by performing proteomics analysis of human kidney tissue and pathway annotation and enrichment, we found that a total of 363 proteins were differentially expressed among patients with advanced DKD, patients with early DKD, and DM controls, and that these proteins were mainly correlated with ion transport, apoptosis regulation, and the inflammatory response and enriched in signaling pathways related to metabolism, apoptosis, and inflammation. Moreover, we found that the autophagy-related protein NBR1 was significantly upregulated in early and advanced DKD, but ATG4B and VPS37A were significantly down-regulated with DKD progression; indeed, the autophagy pathway ranked first out of the 20 main pathways that were most highly enriched in differentially regulated proteins. Finally, we found that NBR1, ATG4B, and VPS37A are mainly expressed in renal tubules, and that NBR1 levels in the sera and urine decreased with DKD progression. Our findings indicate that NBR1, ATG4B, and VPS37A may be new, sensitive biomarkers for early identification of DKD development or progression.

DKD can be diagnosed by clinical and pathological methods, and pathological diagnosis is the gold standard (4).

However, early identification of DKD and monitoring its progression remain great challenges. In our study, we identified 52 proteins that were up-regulated and 311 proteins that were down-regulated with DKD progression. GO enrichment analysis showed that the differentially expressed proteins were involved in a variety of biological functions, including biological adhesion, biological regulation, developmental processes, localization, growth, immunity, response to stimuli, and prosodic processes, which is consistent with the previous studies of pathogenic factors (28). We also found that proteins that are differentially expressed among advanced DKD, early DKD, and DM are involved in multiple biological functions, including cell redox stability, small molecule biosynthesis, carbohydrates metabolism, and proteolysis regulation, which have also been mentioned in previous studies of the pathogenesis of DKD (29, 30).

Autophagy, which is an intracellular stress response, is currently of great interest to DKD researchers. In a diabetic state, hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia in the kidney can inhibit autophagy, which leads to reduced autophagic activity in podocytes by blocking the AMP-activated protein kinase signaling pathway and activation of mammalian target of



The expressed sites of NBR1, VPS37A, and ATG4B in renal tissue of DM patients. (A-C) show the NBR1, VPS37A, and ATG4B expression, respectively, and the marks of 1, 2, and 3 represent the different magnification time under a light microscope (x 100, x 200, and x 400, respectively). What marked with the red arrows means the expressions in renal tubular cells, and the expressions in the cystic wall of renal glomeruli was marked with the purple arrows. DM, diabetes mellitus.

rapamycin pathway (31). Recent studies have found that autophagy dysfunction can worsen renal hypertrophy, tubular damage, inflammation, fibrosis, and albuminuria in diabetic mice, indicating that autophagy plays a protective role in DKD (32). In our study, we found that multiple metabolic pathways, the iron death pathway, the autophagy pathway, the neutrophil threshing pathway, and other pathways are involved in the occurrence and development of nephropathy. The autophagy pathway ranked first out of the top 20 most significantly altered signaling pathways. We identified 12 differentially expressed proteins related to autophagy signaling, and NBR1 expression in particular was significantly increased in patients with DKD. NBR1 is closely related to renal cancer, and also participates in regulation of the autophagy pathway in renal clear cell cancer (33). Our results also showed that there was no obvious difference in NBR1 expression between patients with early and advanced DKD, suggesting that NBR1-mediated dysregulation of the autophagy pathway is likely to play a more important role in DKD development than in DKD progression. We further observed that ATG4B and VPS37A expression decreased significantly in kidney tissues from DM to advanced DKD, indicating the autophagy levels decreased along with DKD occurrence and progression.

In order to validate our results, we measured NBR1, ATG4B, and VPS37A levels in serum and urine samples from DM controls and patients with DKD. We found that the concentration of each of these biomarkers in serum decreased with disease progression. These results were the opposite of what was observed for NBR1 in the renal tissue analysis; further exploration is needed to determine the explanation for this observation. However, the changes in serum ATG4B and VPS37A levels were consistent with those seen in renal tissues, which partially validates the decrease in autophagy during DKD progression and suggests these two proteins could be used as blood biomarkers to evaluate DKD progression. Moreover, while we observed a similar trend in urine NBR1 levels throughout DKD development and progression, urine VPS37A and ATG4B levels did not vary significantly among the groups. Therefore, further prospective studies with a greater number of urine samples may be needed to obtain more definitive results. Moreover, we also used IHC assay to detect the expressed sites of the three proteins in renal cells of DM patients. We found that they were all expressed in the renal tubular epithelial cells, indicating that abnormal autophagy of renal tubule cells may be mainly contribute to the development and progression of DKD. However, NBR1 were also expressed in the cystic wall of renal glomeruli, indicating that its expression may be affected no matter whether the ball or the gym is

injured, so it is more likely to show the difference of blood and urine concentration expression in different stages. Therefore, a significant downward trend of this protein was found in the verification test of blood and urine, which further indicated that NBR1 may be an important autophagy protein associated with the development and progression of DKD. Although little is known about the role of ATG4B in DKD, miR-34a is thought to regulate autophagy by targeting ATG4B, leading to acute kidney injury (34). VPS37A is a very important protein in the cellular autophagy pathway, but its role in the pathogenesis of nephropathy is not well characterized. Its correlation with prostate cancer has been explored recently (35). VPS34 interacts with the PI3K complex to promote the nucleation of membrane bubbles and the formation of autophagosomes, and as such, plays a very important role in regulation of the autophagy pathway (36). However, confirming the correlation between VPS34 and nephropathy will require further intensive investigation. Therefore, the key proteins NBR1, ATG4B, and VPS37A, which have only rarely been reported to be associated with DKD in previous studies, are expected to serve as new, sensitive biomarkers for early identification of the development or progression of DKD.

The present study had some limitations. The difficulty of obtaining renal biopsy specimens resulted in a small sample number. The number of blood and urine samples used for the validation experiment was also relatively small. Therefore, the conclusions from our study need to be verified with further experiments in a larger sample size. Despite the size of our study, the results are relatively consistent with previous studies. Moreover, our study identified novel biomarkers associated with autophagy in DKD development or progression, and further confirmed the reliability of proteomics approaches.

Conclusions

In this study, we effectively identified several candidate markers of DKD progression by proteomic analysis of human kidney tissue. NBR1, ATG4B, and VPS37A, which are all members of the autophagy pathway, are expected to serve as effective biomarkers of DKD development and progression, and suggest that inhibition of autophagy may be a key event in DKD progression. This study may lead to improvement in the early identification of DKD development or progression and help identify new therapeutic targets for DKD.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

QHH and XHW designed the project. JGG revised the slides and collected the FFPE samples. ZXZ performed the experiments for discovery set and performed the targeted proteomic sample preparation and analysis. YC performed the Immunohistochemistry and ELISA ananlysis. QHH, XMF, XHW, and JRZ conducted the proteomic data analysis and document search. YWL designed and guided the additional experiments. QHH wrote the manuscript with inputs from all co-authors. XHW supervised the project. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Medicine and Health Science and Technology Project of Zhejiang Province (Grant number 2022KY523), and the Public Welfare Technology Application Research Project of Zhejiang Province, China (Grant number LGD20H070002) and the Research Project of Zhejaing Provincial People's Hospital (Grant number ZRY2020B014) granted to Huang QH, and the Medicine and Health Science and Technology Project of Zhejiang Province (Grant number 2020KY022 and 2021KY060) to XMF, and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81970714), Science and technology innovation leading talent project of Zhejiang Province health innovative talents project to XHW.

Acknowledgments

We thank Emily Crow, PhD, from Liwen Bianji (Edanz) (www.liwenbianji.cn), for editing the English text of a draft of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

ZZ was employed by Westlake Omics (Hangzhou) Biotechnology Co. Ltd.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the

References

1. Yau A, Parikh SV, Almaani S. Diabetic kidney disease: The "Silent" majority? Kidney Int Rep (2021) 6:2939-41. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2021.10.023

2. Cheng Y, Chen Y, Wang G, Liu P, Xie G, Jing H, et al. Protein methylation in Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Front Med (Lausanne)* (2022) 9:736006. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.736006

3. Piwkowska A, Zdrojewski Ł, Heleniak Z, Dębska-Ślizień A. Novel markers in Diabetic Kidney Disease-current state and perspectives. *Diagnost (Basel)* (2022) 12:1205. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics12051205

4. Tervaert TW, Mooyaart AL, Amann K, Cohen AH, Cook HT, Drachenberg CBc, et al. Renal pathology society. *Pathol Classification Diabetic Nephropathy J Am Soc Nephrol* (2010) 21:556–63. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2010010010

5. Gonzalez Suarez ML, Thomas DB, Barisoni L, Fornoni A. Diabetic nephropathy: Is it time yet for routine kidney biopsy? *World J Diabetes* (2013) 15:4: 245–255. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v4.i6.245

6. de Boe IH, Rue TC, Cleary PA, Lachin JM, Molitch ME, Steffes MW, et al. Long-term renal outcomes of patients with type1 diabetes mellitus and microalbuminuria: an analysis of the diabetes control and complications trial/epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications cohort. *Arch Intern Med* (2011) 171:412–20. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.16

7. Son MK, Yoo HY, Kwak BO, Park HW, Kim KS, Chung S, et al. Regression and progression of microalbuminuria in adolescents with childhood onset diabetes mellitus[J]. Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2015) 20:13–20. doi: 10.6065/ apem.2015.20.1.13

8. Pena MJ, Mischak H, Heerspink HJL. Proteomics for prediction of disease progression and response to therapy in diabetic kidney disease. *Diabetologia* (2016) 59:1819–31. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4001-9

9. Papale M, Di Paolo S, Vocino G, Rocchetti MT, Gesualdo L. Proteomics and diabetic nephropathy: what have we learned from a decade of clinical proteomics studies. *J Nephrol* (2014) 27:221–8. doi: 10.1007/s40620-014-0044-5

10. Jung CY, Yoo TH. Pathophysiologic mechanisms and potential biomarkers in Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Diabetes Metab J* (2022) 46:181–97. doi: 10.4093/ dmj.2021.0329

11. Sauriasari R, Safitri DD, Azmi NU. Current updates on protein as biomarkers for diabetic kidney disease: A systematic review. *Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 12:20420188211049612. doi: 10.1177/ 20420188211049612

12. Overgaard AJ, Hansen HG, Lajer M, Pedersen L, Tarnow L, Rossing P, et al. Plasma proteome analysis of patien ts with type 1 diabetes with diabetic nephropathy. *Proteome Sci* (2010) 8:4. doi: 10.1186/1477-5956-8-4

13. Hansen HG, Overgaard J, Lajer M, Hubalek F, Højrup P, Pedersen L, et al. Finding diabetic nephropathy biomar kers in the plasma peptidome by highthroughput magnetic bead processing and MALDI-TOF- MSanalysis. *Proteomics Clin Appl* (2010) 4:697–705. doi: 10.1002/prca.200900169

14. Znrbig P, Jerums G, Hovind P, Macisaac RJ, Mischak H, Nielsen SE, et al. Urinary pmteomics forearIy diagnosis in diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes* (2012) 61:3304–13. doi: 10.2337/db12-0348

15. Mori Y, Ajay AK, Chang JH, Mou S, Zhao H, Kishi S, et al. KIM-1 mediates fatty acid uptake by renal tubular cells to promote progressive diabetic kidney disease. *Cell Metab* (2021) 33:1042–1061.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.04.004

reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.995362/full#supplementary-material

16. Zhu Y, Guo T. High-throughput proteomic analysis of fresh-frozen biopsy tissue samples using pressure cycling technology coupled with SWATH mass spectrometry. *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1788:279–87. doi: 10.1007/7651_2017_87

17. Cai X, Ge W, Yi X, Sun R, Zhu J, Lu C, et al. PulseDIA: Data-independent acquisition mass spectrometry using multi-injection pulsed gas-phase fractionation. J Proteome Res (2021) 20:279–88. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.0c00381

18. Gao H, Zhang F, Liang S, Zhang Q, Lyu M, Qian L, et al. Accelerated lysis and p roteolytic digestion of biopsy-level fresh-frozen and FFPE tissue samples using pressure cycling technology. *J Proteome Res* (2020) 19:1982–90. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.9b00790

19. Zhu Y, Weiss T, Zhang Q, Sun R, Wang B, Yi X, et al. High-throughput proteomic analysis of FFPE tissue samples facilitates tumor stratification. *Mol Oncol* (2019) 13:2305–28. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12570

20. Sun Y, Li L, Zhou Y, Ge W, Wang H, Wu R, et al. Stratification of follicular thyroid tumours using data-independent acquisition proteomics and a comprehensive thyroid tissue spectral library. *Mol Oncol* (2022) 16:1611-24. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.13198

21. Kumar L, Futschik ME. Mfuzz: a software package for soft clustering of microarray data. *Bioinformation* (2007) 2:5-7. doi: 10.6026/97320630002005

22. Zhou Y, Zhou B, Chang M, Chang M, Khodabakhshi AH, Tanaseichuk O, et al. Metascape provides a biologist-oriented resource for the analysis of systemslevel datasets. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:1523. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09234-6

23. Szklarczyk D, Gable AL, Lyon D, Junge A, Wyder S, Huerta-Cepas J, et al. STRING v11: protein-protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2019) 47:D607–613. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1131

24. Stark C, Breitkreutz BJ, Reguly T, Boucher L, Breitkreutz A, Tyers M. BioGRID: a general repository for interaction datasets. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2006) 34: D535–539. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkj109

25. Turei D. OmniPath: guidelines and gateway for literature-curated signaling pathway resources. *Nat Methods* (2016) 13:966–7. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.4083

26. Li T, Wernersson R, Hansen RB, Horn H, Mercer J, Slodkowicz G, et al. A scored human protein-protein interaction network to catalyze genomic interpretation. *Nat Methods* (2017) 14:61–4. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.4083

27. Bader GD, Hogue CW. An automated method for finding molecular complexes in large protein interaction networks. *BMC Bioinf* (2003) 4:2. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-4-2

 Kolset SO, Reinholt FP, Jenssen T. Diabetic nephropathy and extracellular matrix. J Histochem Cytochem (2012) 60:976–86. doi: 10.1369/0022155412465073

29. Hung PH, Hsu YC, Chen TH, Lin CL. Recent advances in diabetic kidney diseases: From kidney injury to kidney fibrosis. . *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22:11857. doi: 10.3390/ijms222111857

30. Inagi R. Organelle stress and glycation in kidney disease. *Glycoconj J* (2021) 38:341–6. doi: 10.1007/s10719-021-09989-5

31. Teh YM, Mualif SA, Lim SK. A comprehensive insight into autophagy and its potential signaling pathways as a therapeutic target in podocyte injury. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2022) 143:106153. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2021.106153

32. Ma Z, Li L, Livingston MJ, Zhang D, Mi Q, Zhang M, et al. p53/microRNA-214/ULK1 axis impairs renal tubular autophagy in diabetic kidney disease. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130:5011–26. doi: 10.1172/JCI135536 33. Xiao W, Xiong Z, Yuan C, Bao L, Liu D, Yang X, et al. Low neighbor of Brca1 gene expression predicts poor clinical outcome and resistance of sunitinib in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:5594819–94833. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.21999

34. Liu J, Hong Q, Wang Z, Yu YY, Zou X, Xu LH, et al. MicroRNA-34a suppresses autophagy in tubular epithelial cells in acute kidney injury. *Am J Nephro* (2015) 42:168–75. doi: 10.1159/000439185

35. Fu F, Wan X, Wang D, Kong Z, Zhang Y, Huang W, et al. MicroRNA-19a acts as a prognostic marker and promotes prostate cancer progression *via* inhibiting VPS37A expression. *Oncotarget* (2017) 9:1931–43. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.23026

36. Li Z, Yuan Y, Meng Y, Rong Y, Bai H, Chen L. Autophagy upregulation ameliorates cell injury in sequestosome 1 knockout podocytes *in vitro*. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2017) 490:98–103. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.05.102

Frontiers in Endocrinology

Explores the endocrine system to find new therapies for key health issues

The second most-cited endocrinology and metabolism journal, which advances our understanding of the endocrine system. It uncovers new therapies for prevalent health issues such as obesity, diabetes, reproduction, and aging.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



